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Acclaim for Philip Roth's

The Plot Against America

"Once again, Philip Roth has published a novel that you must

read

—

now. ... A stunning work."

—The Christian Science Monitor

"It's not a prophecy; it's a nightmare, and it becomes more night-

marish—and also funnier and more bizarre—as is goes along. . .

.

[A] sinuous and brilliant book." —The New Yorker

"Intimately observed characters in situations fraught with society's

deepest, most bitter tensions. . . . Too ingeniously excruciating to

put down." —Newsweek

"Never has [Roth's voice] been more nuanced . . . beautifully par-

ticularized. ... [A] novelist who for 45 years has been continu-

ously reinventing himself, never more notably than in The Plot

Against America!' —The Boston Globe

"Ingenious. . . . Roth's gorgeous and forceful prose, which swirls

and dances and rages . . . has never seemed more precise and

lucid." —Fort Worth Star-Telegram



"Raises the stakes as high as a patriotic novel can take them. . .

.

Effortlessly, it seems, Roth has led us to suspend disbelief; then he

makes us believe; then he suspends this belief and finally removes

it. ... A fabulous yarn." —Los Angeles Times Book Review

"A remarkable act of historical imagination and one of [Roth's]

most moving novels." —People

"Roth takes readers on a harrowing safari across interdimensional

borders into a bizarre version of his hometown. . . . [His] delivery

is so matter-of-fact, so documentary deadpan that when we're 10

pages into the book our own world starts to seem like a flimsy

fantasy." —Time

"The most compelling of living writers. . . . [His] every book is

like a dispatch from the deepest recesses of the national mind."

—New York

"A richly terrifying historical novel. . . . [Roth is] the greatest fic-

tion writer America has ever produced." —Esquire

"The writing is extraordinary, complex but highly readable, evoca-

tive, and colored with a tenderness and affection. . . . This is one

of Roth's finest books." —O, The Oprah Magazine

"Provocative. ... At times, deeply affecting. . . . An intimate

glimpse of one family's harrowing encounter with history."

—The New York Times

"An epic built—painstakingly, passionately, nearly perfectly—of

the small structures of the particular. . . . Roth is at the peak of his

powers, and he may have more for us yet."

—The Times (London)



"A harrowing novel of political psychology. ... It may be the

saddest book Roth has written and the most frightening."

—The Village Voice

"Roth is writing the best books of his life, chronicling the Ameri-

can century. . . . Today's artists need to tell us about our world,

but maybe they need to do it in camouflage. Philip Roth, an old

master, has shown the way." —The Guardian (London)

"One of the world's most brilliant writers. . . . His words fly off the

page, his sentences gathering a momentum that hauls the reader

along to a place beyond mere critical appraisal."

—The Observer (London)

"In The Plot Against America, Philip Roth has reasserted the

supremacy of the novel over all other literary forms. This is the

first fictional masterpiece of the 21st century, and it rings entirely

true." —Evening Standard (London)





Philip Roth

In 1997 Philip Roth won the Pulitzer Prize for American

Pastoral. In 1998 he received the National Medal of Arts at

the White House, and in 2002 received the highest award

of the American Academy of Arts and Letters, the Gold

Medal in Fiction, previously awarded to John Dos Passos,

William Faulkner, and Saul Bellow, among others. He has

twice won the National Book Award, the PEN/Faulkner

Award, and the National Book Critics Circle Award. In

2005, The Plot Against America received the Society of

American Historians Award for "the outstanding histori-

cal novel on an American theme for 2003-2004."
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The Plot Against America





June 1940-October 1940

Vote for Lindbergh

or Vote for War

Fear presides over these memories, a perpetual fear. Of

course no childhood is without its terrors, yet I wonder if I

would have been a less frightened boy if Lindbergh hadn't

been president or if I hadn't been the offspring of Jews.

When the first shock came in June of 1940—the nomination for

the presidency of Charles A. Lindbergh, America's international

aviation hero, by the Republican Convention at Philadelphia—my
father was thirty-nine, an insurance agent with a grade school ed-

ucation, earning a little under fifty dollars a week, enough for the

basic bills to be paid on time but for little more. My mother

—

who'd wanted to go to teachers' college but couldn't because of the

expense, who'd lived at home working as an office secretary after

finishing high school, who'd kept us from feeling poor during the

worst of the Depression by budgeting the earnings my father

turned over to her each Friday as efficiently as she ran the house-

hold—was thirty-six. My brother, Sandy, a seventh-grader with a

prodigy's talent for drawing, was twelve, and I, a third-grader a

term ahead of himself—and an embryonic stamp collector in-

spired like millions of kids by the country's foremost philatelist,

President Roosevelt—was seven.

We lived in the second-floor flat of a small two-and-a-half-fam-
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ily house on a tree-lined street of frame wooden houses with red-

brick stoops, each stoop topped with a gable roof and fronted by a

tiny yard boxed in with a low-cut hedge. The Weequahic neigh-

borhood had been built on farm lots at the undeveloped southwest

edge of Newark just after World War One, some half dozen of the

streets named, imperially, for victorious naval commanders in the

Spanish-American War and the local movie house called, after

FDR's fifth cousin—and the country's twenty-sixth president

—

the Roosevelt. Our street, Summit Avenue, sat at the crest of the

neighborhood hill, an elevation as high as any in a port city that

rarely rises a hundred feet above the level of the tidal salt marsh to

the city's north and east and the deep bay due east of the airport

that bends around the oil tanks of the Bayonne peninsula and

merges there with New York Bay to flow past the Statue of Liberty

and into the Atlantic. Looking west from our bedroom's rear win-

dow we could sometimes see inland as far as the dark treeline of

the Watchungs, a low-lying mountain range fringed by great es-

tates and affluent, sparsely populated suburbs, the extreme edge

of the known world—and about eight miles from our house. A
block to the south was the working-class town of Hillside, whose

population was predominantly Gentile. The boundary with Hill-

side marked the beginning of Union County, another New Jersey

entirely.

We were a happy family in 1940. My parents were outgoing, hos-

pitable people, their friends culled from among my father's associ-

ates at the office and from the women who along with my mother

had helped to organize the Parent-Teacher Association at newly

built Chancellor Avenue School, where my brother and I were

pupils. All were Jews. The neighborhood men either were in busi-

ness for themselves—the owners of the local candy store, grocery

store, jewelry store, dress shop, furniture shop, service station, and

delicatessen, or the proprietors of tiny industrial job shops over by

the Newark-Irvington line, or self-employed plumbers, electri-

cians, housepainters, and boilermen—or were foot-soldier sales-

men like my father, out every day in the city streets and in people's
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houses, peddling their wares on commission. The Jewish doctors

and lawyers and the successful merchants who owned big stores

downtown lived in one-family houses on streets branching off

the eastern slope of the Chancellor Avenue hill, closer to grassy,

wooded Weequahic Park, a landscaped three hundred acres whose

boating lake, golf course, and harness-racing track separated the

Weequahic section from the industrial plants and shipping termi-

nals lining Route 27 and the Pennsylvania Railroad viaduct east of

that and the burgeoning airport east of that and the very edge of

America east of that—the depots and docks of Newark Bay, where

they unloaded cargo from around the world. At the western end of

the neighborhood, the parkless end where we lived, there resided

an occasional schoolteacher or pharmacist but otherwise few pro-

fessionals were among our immediate neighbors and certainly

none of the prosperous entrepreneurial or manufacturing families.

The men worked fifty, sixty, even seventy or more hours a week;

the women worked all the time, with little assistance from labor-

saving devices, washing laundry, ironing shirts, mending socks,

turning collars, sewing on buttons, mothproofing woolens, polish-

ing furniture, sweeping and washing floors, washing windows,

cleaning sinks, tubs, toilets, and stoves, vacuuming rugs, nursing

the sick, shopping for food, cooking meals, feeding relatives, tidy-

ing closets and drawers, overseeing paint jobs and household re-

pairs, arranging for religious observances, paying bills and keep-

ing the family's books while simultaneously attending to their

children's health, clothing, cleanliness, schooling, nutrition, con-

duct, birthdays, discipline, and morale. A few women labored

alongside their husbands in the family-owned stores on the nearby

shopping streets, assisted after school and on Saturdays by their

older children, who delivered orders and tended stock and did the

cleaning up.

It was work that identified and distinguished our neighbors for

me far more than religion. Nobody in the neighborhood had a

beard or dressed in the antiquated Old World style or wore a skull-

cap either outdoors or in the houses I routinely floated through
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with my boyhood friends. The adults were no longer observant in

the outward, recognizable ways, if they were seriously observant at

all, and aside from older shopkeepers like the tailor and the kosher

butcher—and the ailing or decrepit grandparents living of neces-

sity with their adult offspring—hardly anyone in the vicinity spoke

with an accent. By 1940 Jewish parents and their children at the

southwestern corner of New Jersey's largest city talked to one an-

other in an American English that sounded more like the language

spoken in Altoona or Binghamton than like the dialects famously

spoken across the Hudson by our Jewish counterparts in the five

boroughs. Hebrew lettering was stenciled on the butcher shop win-

dow and engraved on the lintels of the small neighborhood syna-

gogues, but nowhere else (other than at the cemetery) did one's

eye chance to land on the alphabet of the prayer book rather than

on the familiar letters of the native tongue employed all the time

by practically everyone for every conceivable purpose, high or low.

At the newsstand out front of the corner candy store, ten times

more customers bought the Racing Form than the Yiddish daily,

the Forvertz.

Israel didn't yet exist, six million European Jews hadn't yet ceased

to exist, and the local relevance of distant Palestine (under British

mandate since the 1918 dissolution by the victorious Allies of the

last far-flung provinces of the defunct Ottoman Empire) was a

mystery to me. When a stranger who did wear a beard and who

never once was seen hatless appeared every few months after dark

to ask in broken English for a contribution toward the establish-

ment of a Jewish national homeland in Palestine, I, who wasn't an

ignorant child, didn't quite know what he was doing on our land-

ing. My parents would give me or Sandy a couple of coins to drop

into his collection box, largess, I always thought, dispensed out of

kindness so as not to hurt the feelings of a poor old man who,

from one year to the next, seemed unable to get it through his head

that we'd already had a homeland for three generations. I pledged

allegiance to the flag of our homeland every morning at school. I

sang of its marvels with my classmates at assembly programs. I ea-
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gerly observed its national holidays, and without giving a second

thought to my affinity for the Fourth of July fireworks or the

Thanksgiving turkey or the Decoration Day double-header. Our

homeland was America.

Then the Republicans nominated Lindbergh and everything

changed.

For nearly a decade Lindbergh was as great a hero in our neigh-

borhood as he was everywhere else. The completion of his thirty-

three-and-a-half-hour nonstop solo flight from Long Island to

Paris in the tiny monoplane the Spirit of St. Louis even happened

to coincide with the day in the spring of 1927 that my mother dis-

covered herself to be pregnant with my older brother. As a conse-

quence, the young aviator whose daring had thrilled America and

the world and whose achievement bespoke a future of unimagin-

able aeronautical progress came to occupy a special niche in the

gallery of family anecdotes that generate a child's first cohesive

mythology. The mystery of pregnancy and the heroism of Lind-

bergh combined to give a distinction bordering on the divine to

my very own mother, for whom nothing less than a global annun-

ciation had accompanied the incarnation of her first child. Sandy

would later record this moment with a drawing illustrating the

juxtaposition of those two splendid events. In the drawing—com-

pleted at the age of nine and smacking inadvertently of Soviet

poster art—Sandy envisioned her miles from our house, amid a

joyous crowd on the corner of Broad and Market. A slender young

woman of twenty-three with dark hair and a smile that is all robust

delight, she is surprisingly on her own and wearing her floral-pat-

terned kitchen apron at the intersection of the city's two busiest

thoroughfares, one hand spread wide across the front of the apron,

where the span of her hips is still deceptively girlish, while with the

other she alone in the crowd is pointing skyward to the Spirit of St.

Louis, passing visibly above downtown Newark at precisely the

moment she comes to realize that, in a feat no less triumphant for

a mortal than Lindbergh's, she has conceived Sanford Roth.
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Sandy was four and I, Philip, wasn't yet born when in March

1932, Charles and Anne Morrow Lindbergh's own first child, a boy

whose arrival twenty months earlier had been an occasion for na-

tional rejoicing, was kidnapped from his family's secluded new

house in rural Hopewell, New Jersey. Some ten weeks later the de-

composing body of the baby was discovered by chance in woods a

few miles away. The baby had been either murdered or killed acci-

dentally after being snatched from his crib and, in the dark, still in

bedclothes, carried out a window of the second-story nursery and

down a makeshift ladder to the ground while the nurse and mother

were occupied in their ordinary evening activities in another part

of the house. By the time the kidnapping and murder trial in Flem-

ington, New Jersey, concluded in February 1935 with the conviction

of Bruno Hauptmann—a German ex-con of thirty-five living in

the Bronx with his German wife—the boldness of the world's first

transatlantic solo pilot had been permeated with a pathos that

transformed him into a martyred titan comparable to Lincoln.

Following the trial, the Lindberghs left America, hoping through

a temporary expatriation to protect a new Lindbergh infant from

harm and to recover some measure of the privacy they coveted.

The family moved to a small village in England, and from there,

as a private citizen, Lindbergh began taking the trips to Nazi Ger-

many that would transform him into a villain for most Ameri-

can Jews. In the course of five visits, during which he was able to

familiarize himself at first hand with the magnitude of the Ger-

man war machine, he was ostentatiously entertained by Air Mar-

shal Goring, he was ceremoniously decorated in the name of the

Fuhrer, and he expressed quite openly his high regard for Hitler,

calling Germany the world's "most interesting nation" and its

leader "a great man." And all this interest and admiration after

Hitler's 1935 racial laws had denied Germany's Jews their civil, so-

cial, and property rights, nullified their citizenship, and forbidden

intermarriage with Aryans.

By the time I began school in 1938, Lindbergh's was a name that

provoked the same sort of indignation in our house as did the
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weekly Sunday radio broadcasts of Father Coughlin, the Detroit-

area priest who edited a right-wing weekly called Social Justice and

whose anti-Semitic virulence aroused the passions of a sizable au-

dience during the country's hard times. It was in November 1938

—

the darkest, most ominous year for the Jews of Europe in eighteen

centuries—that the worst pogrom in modern history, Kristall-

nacht, was instigated by the Nazis all across Germany: synagogues

incinerated, the residences and businesses of Jews destroyed, and,

throughout a night presaging the monstrous future, Jews by the

thousands forcibly taken from their homes and transported to

concentration camps. When it was suggested to Lindbergh that in

response to this unprecedented savagery, perpetrated by a state on

its own native-born, he might consider returning the gold cross

decorated with four swastikas bestowed on him in behalf of the

Fuhrer by Air Marshal Goring, he declined on the grounds that for

him to publicly surrender the Service Cross of the German Eagle

would constitute "an unnecessary insult" to the Nazi leadership.

Lindbergh was the first famous living American whom I learned

to hate—just as President Roosevelt was the first famous living

American whom I was taught to love—and so his nomination by

the Republicans to run against Roosevelt in 1940 assaulted, as

nothing ever had before, that huge endowment of personal secu-

rity that I had taken for granted as an American child of American

parents in an American school in an American city in an America

at peace with the world.

The only comparable threat had come some thirteen months ear-

lier when, on the basis of consistently high sales through the worst

of the Depression as an agent with the Newark office of Metropol-

itan Life, my father had been offered a promotion to assistant man-

ager in charge of agents at the company's office six miles west of

our house in Union, a town whose only distinction I knew of was

a drive-in theater where movies were shown even when it rained,

and where the company expected my father and his family to live

if he took the job. As an assistant manager, my father could soon
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be making seventy-five dollars a week and over the coming years

as much as a hundred a week, a fortune in 1939 to people with our

expectations. And since there were one-family houses selling in

Union for a Depression low of a few thousand dollars, he would be

able to realize an ambition he had nurtured growing up penniless

in a Newark tenement flat: to become an American homeowner.

"Pride of ownership" was a favorite phrase of my father's, em-

bodying an idea real as bread to a man of his background, one hav-

ing to do not with social competitiveness or conspicuous con-

sumption but with his standing as a manly provider.

The single drawback was that because Union, like Hillside, was

a Gentile working-class town, my father would most likely be the

only Jew in an office of some thirty-five people, my mother the

only Jewish woman on our street, and Sandy and I the only Jewish

kids in our school.

On the Saturday after my father was offered the promotion—

a

promotion that, above all, would answer a Depression family's

yearning for a tiny margin of financial security—the four of us

headed off after lunch to look around Union. But once we were

there and driving up and down the residential streets peering out

at the two-story houses—not quite identical but each, nonetheless,

with a screened front porch and a mown lawn and a piece of

shrubbery and a cinder drive leading to a one-car garage, very

modest houses but still roomier than our two-bedroom flat and

looking a lot like the little white houses in the movies about small-

town salt-of-the-earth America—once we were there our innocent

buoyancy about the family ascent into the home-owning class was

supplanted, predictably enough, by our anxieties about the scope

of Christian charity. My ordinarily energetic mother responded to

my father's "What do you think, Bess?" with enthusiasm that even

a child understood to be feigned. And young as I was, I was able to

surmise why: because she was thinking, "Ours will be the house

'where the Jews live.' It'll be Elizabeth all over again."

Elizabeth, New Jersey, when my mother was being raised there

in a flat over her father's grocery store, was an industrial port a
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quarter the size of Newark, dominated by the Irish working class

and their politicians and the tightly knit parish life that revolved

around the town's many churches, and though I never heard her

complain of having been pointedly ill-treated in Elizabeth as a girl,

it was not until she married and moved to Newark's new Jewish

neighborhood that she discovered the confidence that led her to

become first a PTA "grade mother," then a PTA vice president in

charge of establishing a Kindergarten Mothers' Club, and finally

the PTA president, who, after attending a conference in Trenton on

infantile paralysis, proposed an annual March of Dimes dance on

January 30—President Roosevelt's birthday—that was accepted by

most Newark schools. In the spring of 1939 she was in her second

successful year as a leader with progressive ideas—already sup-

porting a young social studies teacher keen on bringing "visual ed-

ucation" into Chancellor's classrooms—and now she couldn't help

but envision herself bereft of all that had been achieved by her be-

coming a wife and a mother on Summit Avenue. Should we have

the good fortune to buy and move into a house on any of the

Union streets we were seeing at their springtime best, not only

would her status slip back to what it had been when she was grow-

ing up the daughter of a Jewish immigrant grocer in Irish Catholic

Elizabeth, but, worse than that, Sandy and I would be obliged to re-

live her own circumscribed youth as a neighborhood outsider.

Despite my mother's mood, my father did everything he could

to keep up our spirits, remarking on how clean and well-kept

everything looked, reminding Sandy and me that living in one of

these houses the two of us would no longer have to share a small

bedroom and a single closet, and explaining the benefits to be de-

rived from paying off a mortgage rather than paying rent, a lesson

in elementary economics that abruptly ended when it was neces-

sary for him to stop the car at a red light beside a parklike drink-

ing establishment dominating one corner of the intersection.

There were green picnic tables set out beneath the shade trees full

with foliage, and on this sunny weekend afternoon there were wait-

ers in braided white coats moving swiftly about, balancing trays
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laden with bottles and pitchers and plates, and men of every age

gathered at each of the tables, smoking cigarettes and pipes and ci-

gars and drinking deeply from tall beakers and earthenware mugs.

There was music, too—an accordion being played by a stout little

man in short pants and high socks who wore a hat ornamented

with a long feather.

"Sons of bitches!" my father said. "Fascist bastards!" and then

the light changed and we drove on in silence to look at the office

building where he was about to get his chance to earn more than

fifty dollars a week.

It was my brother who, when we went to bed that night, ex-

plained why my father had lost control and cursed aloud in front

of his children: the homey acre of open-air merriment smack in

the middle of town was called a beer garden, the beer garden had

something to do with the German-American Bund, the German-

American Bund had something to do with Hitler, and Hitler, as I

hadn't to be told, had everything to do with persecuting Jews.

The intoxicant of anti-Semitism. That's what I came to imagine

them all so cheerfully drinking in their beer garden that day—like

all the Nazis everywhere, downing pint after pint of anti-Semitism

as though imbibing the universal remedy.

My father had to take off a morning of work to go over to the

home office in New York—to the tall building whose uppermost

tower was crowned with the beacon his company proudly desig-

nated "The Light That Never Fails"—and inform the superinten-

dent of agencies that he couldn't accept the promotion he longed

for.

"It's my fault," announced my mother as soon as he began to re-

count at the dinner table what had transpired there on the eigh-

teenth floor of 1 Madison Avenue.

"It's nobody's fault," my father said. "I explained before I left

what I was going to tell him, and I went over and I told him, and

that's it. We're not moving to Union, boys. We're staying right

here."

"What did he do?" my mother asked.

• 10 •
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"He heard me out."

"And then?" she asked.

"He stood up and he shook my hand."

"He didn't say anything?"

"He said, 'Good luck, Roth.'"

"He was angry with you."

"Hatcher is a gentleman of the old school. Big six-foot goy.

Looks like a movie star. Sixty years old and fit as a fiddle. These are

the people who run things, Bess—they don't waste their time get-

ting angry at someone like me."

"So now what?" she asked, implying that whatever happened as

a result of his meeting with Hatcher was not going to be good and

could be dire. And I thought I understood why. Apply yourself and

you can do it—that was the axiom in which we had been schooled

by both parents. At the dinner table, my father would reiterate to

his young sons time and again, "If anybody asks 'Can you do this

job? Can you handle it?' you tell 'em 'Absolutely.' By the time they

find out that you can't, you'll already have learned, and the job'll

be yours. And who knows, it just might turn out to be the oppor-

tunity of a lifetime." Yet over in New York he had done nothing

like that.

"What did the Boss say?" she asked him. The Boss was how the

four of us referred to the manager of my father's Newark office,

Sam Peterfreund. In those days of unadvertised quotas to keep

Jewish admissions to a minimum in colleges and professional

schools and of unchallenged discrimination that denied Jews sig-

nificant promotions in the big corporations and of rigid restric-

tions against Jewish membership in thousands of social organiza-

tions and communal institutions, Peterfreund was one of the first

of the small handful of Jews ever to achieve a managerial position

with Metropolitan Life. "He's the one who put you up for it," my
mother said. "How must he feel?"

"Know what he said to me when I got back? Know what he told

me about the Union office? It's full of drunks. Famous for drunks.

Beforehand he didn't want to influence my decision. He didn't

11



JUNE I94O-OCTOBER 1940

want to stand in my way if this was what I wanted. Famous for

agents who work two hours in the morning and spend the rest of

their time in the tavern or worse. And I was supposed to go in

there, the new Jew, the big new sheeny boss the goyim are all dying

to work for, and I was supposed to go in there and pick 'em up off

the barroom floor. I was supposed to go in there and remind them

of their obligation to their wives and their children. Oh, how they

would have loved me, boys, for doing them the favor. You can

imagine what they would have called me behind my back. No, I'm

better off where I am. We're all better off."

"But can the company fire you for turning them down?"

"Honey, I did what I did. That's the end of it."

But she didn't believe what he'd told her the Boss had said; she

believed that he was making up what the Boss had said to get her

to stop blaming herself for refusing to move her children to a Gen-

tile town that was a haven for the German-American Bund and by

doing so denying him the opportunity of his lifetime.

The Lindberghs returned to resume their family life in America in

April 1939. Only months later, in September, having already an-

nexed Austria and overrun Czechoslovakia, Hitler invaded and

conquered Poland, and France and Great Britain responded by de-

claring war on Germany. Lindbergh had by then been activated as

a colonel in the Army Air Corps, and he now began traveling

around the country for the U.S. government, lobbying for the

development of American aviation and for expanding and mod-

ernizing the air wing of the armed forces. When Hitler quickly oc-

cupied Denmark, Norway, Holland, and Belgium, and all but de-

feated France, and the second great European war of the century

was well under way, the Air Corps colonel made himself the idol of

the isolationists—and the enemy of FDR—by adding to his mis-

sion the goal of preventing America from being drawn into the war

or offering any aid to the British or the French. There was already

strong animosity between him and Roosevelt, but now that he was

declaring openly at large public meetings and on network radio
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and in popular magazines that the president was misleading the

country with promises of peace while secretly agitating and plan-

ning for our entry into the armed struggle, some in the Republican

Party began to talk up Lindbergh as the man with the magic to beat

"the warmonger in the White House" out of a third term.

The more pressure Roosevelt put on Congress to repeal the arms

embargo and loosen the strictures on the country's neutrality so as

to prevent the British from being defeated, the more forthright

Lindbergh became, until finally he made the famous radio speech

before a hall full of cheering supporters in Des Moines that named

among the "most important groups who have been pressing this

country toward war" a group constituting less than three percent

of the population and referred to alternately as "the Jewish people"

and "the Jewish race."

"No person of honesty and vision," Lindbergh said, "can look on

their pro-war policy here today without seeing the dangers in-

volved in such a policy both for us and for them." And then, with

remarkable candor, he added:

A few far-sighted Jewish people realize this and stand op-

posed to intervention. But the majority still do not . . . We
cannot blame them for looking out for what they believe to

be their own interests, but we must also look out for ours.

We cannot allow the natural passions and prejudices of

other peoples to lead our country to destruction.

The next day the very accusations that had elicited roars of

approval from Lindbergh's Iowa audience were vigorously de-

nounced by liberal journalists, by Roosevelt's press secretary, by

Jewish agencies and organizations, even from within the Repub-

lican Party by New York's District Attorney Dewey and the Wall

Street utilities lawyer Wendell Willkie, both potential presidential

nominees. So severe was the criticism from Democratic cabinet

members like Interior Secretary Harold Ickes that Lindbergh re-

signed his reserve commission as an Army colonel rather than

serve under FDR as his commander in chief. But the America First
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Committee, the broadest-based organization leading the battle

against intervention, continued to support him, and he remained

the most popular proselytizer of its argument for neutrality. For

many America Firsters there was no debating (even with the facts)

Lindbergh's contention that the Jews' "greatest danger to this coun-

try lies in their large ownership and influence in our motion pic-

tures, our press, our radio, and our government." When Lindbergh

wrote proudly of "our inheritance of European blood," when he

warned against "dilution by foreign races" and "the infiltration of

inferior blood" (all phrases that turn up in diary entries from those

years), he was recording personal convictions shared by a sizable

portion of America First's rank-and-file membership as well as by

a rabid constituency even more extensive than a Jew like my father,

with his bitter hatred of anti-Semitism—or like my mother, with

her deeply ingrained mistrust of Christians—could ever imagine

to be flourishing all across America.

The 1940 Republican Convention. My brother and I went to sleep

that night—Thursday, June 27—while the radio was on in the liv-

ing room, and our father, our mother, and our older cousin Alvin

sat listening together to the live coverage from Philadelphia. After

six ballots, the Republicans still hadn't selected a candidate. Lind-

bergh's name was yet to be uttered by a single delegate, and because

of an engineering conclave at a midwestern factory where he'd

been advising on the design of a new fighter plane, he wasn't pres-

ent or expected to be. When Sandy and I went to bed the conven-

tion remained divided among Dewey, Willkie, and two powerful

Republican senators, Vandenberg of Michigan and Taft of Ohio,

and it didn't look as though a backroom deal was about to be bro-

kered anytime soon by party bigwigs like former president Hoover,

who'd been ousted from office by FDR's overwhelming 1932 vic-

tory, or by Governor Alf Landon, whom FDR had defeated even

more ignominiously four years later in the biggest landslide in

history.

Because it was the first muggy evening of the summer, the win-
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dows were open in every room and Sandy and I couldn't help but

continue to follow from bed the proceedings being aired over our

own living room radio and the radio playing in the flat downstairs

and—since an alleyway only barely wide enough for a single car

separated one house from the next—the radios of our neighbors to

either side and across the way. As this was long before window air

conditioners bested the noises of a neighborhood's tropical nights,

the broadcast blanketed the block from Keer to Chancellor—

a

block on which not a single Republican lived in any of the thirty-

odd two-and-a-half-family houses or in the small new apartment

building at the Chancellor Avenue corner. On streets like ours the

Jews voted straight Democratic for as long as FDR was at the top

of the ticket.

But we were two kids and fell asleep despite everything and

probably wouldn't have awakened till morning had not Lindbergh

—with the Republicans deadlocked on the twentieth ballot—made

his unanticipated entrance onto the convention floor at 3:18 a.m.

The lean, tall, handsome hero, a lithe, athletic-looking man not yet

forty years old, arrived in his flying attire, having landed his own

plane at the Philadelphia airport only minutes earlier, and at the

sight of him, a surge of redemptive excitement brought the wilted

conventioneers up onto their feet to cry "Lindy! Lindy! Lindy!"

for thirty glorious minutes, and without interruption from the

chair. Behind the successful execution of this spontaneous pseudo-

religious drama lay the machinations of Senator Gerald P. Nye of

North Dakota, a right-wing isolationist who quickly placed in nom-

ination the name of Charles A. Lindbergh of Little Falls, Minne-

sota, whereupon two of the most reactionary members of Con-

gress—Congressman Thorkelson of Montana and Congressman

Mundt of South Dakota—seconded the nomination, and at pre-

cisely four a.m. on Friday, June 28, the Republican Party, by accla-

mation, chose as its candidate the bigot who had denounced Jews

over the airwaves to a national audience as "other peoples" em-

ploying their enormous "influence ... to lead our country to

destruction," rather than truthfully acknowledging us to be a small
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minority of citizens vastly outnumbered by our Christian coun-

trymen, by and large obstructed by religious prejudice from at-

taining public power, and surely no less loyal to the principles of

American democracy than an admirer of Adolf Hitler.

"No!" was the word that awakened us, "No!" being shouted in a

man's loud voice from every house on the block. It can't be. No.

Not for president of the United States.

Within seconds, my brother and I were once more at the radio

with the rest of the family, and nobody bothered telling us to go

back to bed. Hot as it was, my decorous mother had pulled a robe

over her thin nightdress—she too had been asleep and roused by

the noise—and she sat now on the sofa beside my father, her fingers

over her mouth as though she were trying to keep from being sick.

Meanwhile my cousin Alvin, able no longer to remain in his seat,

set about pacing a room eighteen-by-twelve with a force in his gait

befitting an avenger out searching the city to dispose of his nemesis.

The anger that night was the real roaring forge, the furnace that

takes you and twists you like steel. And it didn't subside—not while

Lindbergh stood silently at the Philadelphia rostrum and heard

himself being cheered once again as the nation's savior, nor when

he gave the speech accepting his party's nomination and with it the

mandate to keep America out of the European war. We all waited

in terror to hear him repeat to the convention his malicious vilifi-

cation of the Jews, but that he didn't made no difference to the

mood that carried every last family on the block out into the street

at nearly five in the morning. Entire families known to me previ-

ously only fully dressed in daytime clothing were wearing pajamas

and nightdresses under their bathrobes and milling around in their

slippers at dawn as if driven from their homes by an earthquake.

But what shocked a child most was the anger, the anger of men

whom I knew as lighthearted kibbitzers or silent, dutiful bread-

winners who all day long unclogged drainpipes or serviced fur-

naces or sold apples by the pound and then in the evening looked

at the paper and listened to the radio and fell asleep in the living
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room chair, plain people who happened to be Jews now storming

about the street and cursing with no concern for propriety,

abruptly thrust back into the miserable struggle from which they

had believed their families extricated by the providential migration

of the generation before.

I would have imagined Lindbergh's not mentioning the Jews in

his acceptance speech to be a promising omen, an indication that

he had been chastened by the outcry that had caused him to relin-

quish his Army commission or that he had changed his mind since

the Des Moines speech or that he had already forgotten about us

or that secretly he knew full well that we were committed irrevoca-

bly to America—that though Ireland still mattered to the Irish and

Poland to the Poles and Italy to the Italians, we retained no alle-

giance, sentimental or otherwise, to those Old World countries

that we had never been welcome in and that we had no intention

of ever returning to. If I could have thought through the meaning

of the moment in so many words, this is probably what I would

have been thinking. But the men out on the street thought differ-

ently. Lindbergh's not mentioning the Jews was to them a trick

and no more, the initiation of a campaign of deceit intended both

to shut us up and to catch us off guard. "Hitler in America!" the

neighbors cried. "Fascism in America! Storm troopers in Amer-

ica!" After their having gone without sleep all night long, there

was nothing that these bewildered elders of ours didn't think and

nothing that they didn't say aloud, within our hearing, before they

started to drift back to their houses (where all the radios still blared

away), the men to shave and dress and grab a cup of coffee before

heading for work and the women to get their children clothed and

fed and ready for the day.

Roosevelt raised everyone's spirits by his robust response on learn-

ing that his opponent was to be Lindbergh rather than a senator of

the stature of Taft or a prosecutor as aggressive as Dewey or a big-

time lawyer as smooth and handsome as Willkie. When awakened

at four a.m. to be told the news, he was said to have predicted from
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his White House bed, "By the time this is over, the young man will

be sorry not only that he entered politics but that he ever learned

to fly." Whereupon he fell immediately back into a sound sleep

—

or so went the story that brought us such solace the next day. Out

on the street, when all anyone could think about was the menace

posed to our safety by this transparently unjust affront, people had

oddly forgotten about FDR and the bulwark he was against op-

pression. The sheer surprise of the Lindbergh nomination had ac-

tivated an atavistic sense of being undefended that had more to

do with Kishinev and the pogroms of 1903 than with New Jersey

thirty-seven years later, and as a consequence, they had forgot-

ten about Roosevelt's appointment to the Supreme Court of Felix

Frankfurter and his selection as Treasury secretary of Henry Mor-

genthau, and about the close presidential adviser, financier Ber-

nard Baruch, and about Mrs. Roosevelt and Ickes and Agriculture

Secretary Wallace, all three ofwhom, like the president, were known

to be friends of the Jews. There was Roosevelt, there was the U.S.

Constitution, there was the Bill of Rights, and there were the pa-

pers, America's free press. Even the Republican Newark Evening

News published an editorial reminding readers of the Des Moines

speech and openly challenging the wisdom of Lindbergh's nomi-

nation, and PM, the new left-wing New York tabloid that cost a

nickel and that my father had begun bringing home with him after

work along with the Newark News—and whose slogan read, "PM
is against people who push other people around"—leveled its as-

sault on the Republicans in a lengthy editorial as well as in news

stories and columns on virtually every one of its thirty-two pages,

including anti-Lindbergh columns in the sports section by Tom
Meany and Joe Cummiskey. On the front page the paper featured

a large photo of Lindbergh's Nazi medal and, in its Daily Picture

Magazine, where it claimed to run photographs that other papers

suppressed—controversial photos of lynch mobs and chain gangs,

of strikebreakers wielding clubs, of inhuman conditions in Amer-

ica's penitentiaries—there was page after page showing the Repub-

lican candidate touring Nazi Germany in 1938, culminating in the
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full-page picture of him, the notorious medal around his neck,

shaking the hand of Hermann Goring, the Nazi leader second only

to Hitler.

On Sunday night we waited through the lineup of comedy pro-

grams for Walter Winchell to come on at nine. And when he did

and proceeded to say what we had hoped he would say just as con-

temptuously as we wanted him to say it, applause erupted from

across the alleyway, as though the famous newsman weren't walled

off in a radio studio on the far side of the great divide that was the

Hudson but were here among us and fighting mad, his tie pulled

down, his collar unbuttoned, his gray fedora angled back on his

head, lambasting Lindbergh from a microphone atop the oilcloth

covering on the kitchen table of our next-door neighbor.

It was the last night of June 1940. After a warm day, it had grown

cool enough to sit comfortably indoors without perspiring, but

when Winchell signed off at nine-fifteen, our parents were moved

to go outside for the four of us to take in the lovely evening to-

gether. We were just going to walk to the corner and back—after

which my brother and I would go to sleep—but it was nearly mid-

night before we got to bed and by then sleep was out of the ques-

tion for kids so overcome by their parents' excitement. Because

Winchell's fearless bellicosity had propelled all of our neighbors

outdoors as well, what had begun for us as a cheerful little evening

stroll ended as an impromptu block party for everyone. The men
dragged beach chairs from the garages and unfolded them at the

foot of the alleyways, the women carried pitchers of lemonade

from the houses, the youngest of the children ran wildly from

stoop to stoop, and the older ones sat laughing and talking off by

themselves, and all because war had been declared on Lindbergh

by America's best-known Jew after Albert Einstein.

It was Winchell, after all, whose column had famously ushered

in the three dots separating—and somehow magically validating

—

each hot news item ever so tenuously grounded in fact, and it was

Winchell who'd more or less originated the idea of firing into the
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face of the credulous masses buckshot pellets of insinuating gos-

sip—ruining reputations, compromising celebrities, bestowing

fame, making and breaking showbiz careers. It was his column

alone that was syndicated in hundreds of papers all across the

country and his Sunday-night quarter of an hour that was the

country's most popular news program, the rapid-fire Winchell de-

livery and the pugnacious Winchell cynicism lending every scoop

the sensational air of an expose. We admired him as a fearless out-

sider and a cunning insider, a pal of J. Edgar Hoover, director of the

FBI, as well as a neighbor of the mobster Frank Costello and a con-

fidant of Roosevelt's inner circle, even a sometimes guest invited to

the White House to amuse the president over a drink—the in-the-

know street fighter and hardboiled man about town whom his en-

emies feared and who was on our side. Manhattan-born Walter

Winschel (a.k.a. Weinschel) had transformed himself from a New
York vaudeville dancer into a callow Broadway columnist earning

big money by embodying the passions of the cheesiest of the new

subliterate dailies, though ever since the rise of Hitler, and long be-

fore anyone else in the press had the foresight or the wrath to take

them on, fascists and anti-Semites had become his number one

enemy. He'd already labeled as "ratzis" the German-American

Bund and hounded its leader, Fritz Kuhn, over the air and in print

as a secret foreign agent, and now—after FDR's joke, the Newark

News editorial, and the thoroughgoing denunciation by PM—Wal-

ter Winchell had only to disclose Lindbergh's "pro-Nazi philoso-

phy" to his thirty million Sunday-evening listeners and to call

Lindbergh's presidential candidacy the greatest threat ever to Amer-

ican democracy for all the Jewish families on block-long little

Summit Avenue to resemble once again Americans enjoying the vi-

tality and high spirits of a secure, free, protected citizenry instead

of casting themselves about outdoors in their nightclothes like in-

mates escaped from a lunatic asylum.

My brother was known throughout the neighborhood for being

able to draw "anything"—a bike, a tree, a dog, a chair, a cartoon
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character like Li '1 Abner—though his interest of late was in real

faces. Kids were always gathering around to watch him wherever he

would park himself after school with his large spiral pad and his

mechanical pencil and begin to sketch the people nearby. In-

evitably the onlookers would start to shout, "Draw him, draw her,

draw me," and Sandy would take up the exhortation, if only to stop

them from screaming in his ear. All the while his hand was work-

ing away, he'd look up, down, up, down—and behold, there lived

so-and-so on a sheet of paper. What's the trick, they all asked him,

how'd you do it, as if tracing—as if outright magic—might have

played some part in the feat. Sandy's answer to all this pestering

was a shrug or a smile: the trick to doing it was his being the quiet,

serious, unostentatious boy that he was. Compelling attention

wherever he went by turning out the likenesses people requested

had seemingly no effect on the impersonal element at the core of

his strength, the inborn modesty that was his toughness and that

he later sidestepped at his peril.

At home, he was no longer copying illustrations from Collier's or

photos from Look but studying from an art manual on the figure.

He'd won the book in an Arbor Day poster contest for schoolkids

that had coincided with a citywide tree-planting program admin-

istered by the Department of Parks and Public Property. There'd

even been a ceremony where he'd shaken the hand of a Mr. Bann-

wart, who was superintendent of the Bureau of Shade Trees. The

design of his winning poster was based on a red two-cent stamp in

my collection commemorating the sixtieth anniversary of Arbor

Day. The stamp seemed to me especially beautiful because visible

within each of its narrow, vertical white borders was a slender tree

whose branches arched at the top to meet and form an arbor—and

until the stamp became mine and I was able to examine through

my magnifying glass its distinguishing marks, the meaning of

"arbor" had been swallowed up in the familiar name of the holiday.

(The small magnifying glass—along with an album for twenty- five

hundred stamps, a stamp tweezers, a perforation gauge, gummed
stamp hinges, and a black rubber dish called a watermark detec-
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tor—had been a gift from my parents for my seventh birthday. For

an additional ten cents they'd also bought me a small book of

ninety-odd pages called The Stamp Collector's Handbook, where,

under "How to Start a Stamp Collection," I'd read with fascination

this sentence: "Old business files or private correspondence often

contain stamps of discontinued issues which are of great value, so

if you have any friends living in old houses who have accumulated

material of this sort in their attics, try to obtain their old stamped

envelopes and wrappers." We didn't have an attic, none of our

friends living in flats and apartments had attics, but there'd been

attics just beneath the roofs of the one-family houses in Union

—

from my seat in the back of the car I could see little attic windows

at either end of each of the houses as we'd driven around the town

on that terrible Saturday the year before, and so all I could think of

when we got home in the afternoon were the old stamped en-

velopes and the embossed stamps on the prepaid newspaper wrap-

pers secreted up in those attics and how I would now have no

chance "to obtain" them because I was a Jew.)

The appeal of the Arbor Day commemorative stamp was greatly

enhanced by its representing a human activity as opposed to a fa-

mous person's portrait or a picture of an important place—an ac-

tivity, what's more, being performed by children: in the center of

the stamp, a boy and a girl looking to be about ten or eleven are

planting a young tree, the boy digging with a spade while the girl,

supporting the trunk of the tree with one hand, holds it steadily in

place over the hole. In Sandy's poster the boy and the girl are repo-

sitioned and stand on opposite sides of the tree, the boy is pictured

as right-handed rather than left-handed, he wears long pants in-

stead of knickers, and one of his feet is atop the blade pressing it

into the ground. There is also a third child in Sandy's poster, a boy

about my age, who is now the one wearing the knickers. He stands

back and to the side of the sapling and holds ready a watering

can—as I held one when I modeled for Sandy, clad in my best

school knickers and high socks. Adding this child was my mother's

idea, to help distinguish Sandy's artwork from that on the Arbor
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Day stamp—and protect him from the charge of "copying"—but

also to provide the poster with a social content that implied a

theme by no means common in 1940, not in poster art or anywhere

else either, and that for reasons of "taste" might even have proved

unacceptable to the judges.

The third child planting the tree was a Negro, and what encour-

aged my mother to suggest including him—aside from the desire

to instill in her children the civic virtue of tolerance—was an-

other stamp of mine, a brand-new ten-cent issue in the "educators

group," five stamps that I'd purchased at the post office for a total

of twenty-one cents and paid for over the month of March out of

my weekly allowance of a nickel. Above the central portrait, each

stamp featured a picture of a lamp that the U.S. Post Office De-

partment identified as the "Lamp of Knowledge" but that I thought

of as Aladdin's lamp because of the boy in the Arabian Nights

with the magic lamp and the ring and the two genies who give

him whatever he asks for. What I would have asked for from a

genie were the most coveted of all American stamps: first, the cel-

ebrated 1918 twenty-four-cent airmail, a stamp said to be worth

$3,400, where the plane pictured at the center, the Army's Flying

Jenny, is inverted; and after that, the three famous stamps in the

Pan-American Exposition issue of 1901 that had also been mistak-

enly printed with inverted centers and were worth over a thousand

dollars apiece.

On the green one-cent stamp in the educators group, just above

the picture of the Lamp of Knowledge, was Horace Mann; on the

red two-cent, Mark Hopkins; on the purple three-cent, Charles W.

Eliot; on the blue four-cent, Frances E. Willard; on the brown ten-

cent was Booker T. Washington, the first Negro to appear on an

American stamp. I remember that after placing the Booker T.

Washington in my album and showing my mother how it com-

pleted the set of five, I had asked her, "Do you think there'll ever be

a Jew on a stamp?" and she replied, "Probably—someday, yes. I

hope so, anyway." In fact, another twenty-six years had to pass, and

it took Einstein to do it.
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Sandy saved his weekly allowance of twenty-five cents—and

what change he earned shoveling snow and raking leaves and wash-

ing the family car—until he had enough to bicycle to the station-

ery store on Clinton Avenue that carried art supplies and, over a

period of months, to buy a charcoal pencil, then sandpaper blocks

to sharpen the pencil, then charcoal paper, then the little tubu-

lar metal contraption he blew into to apply the fine fixative mist

that prevented the charcoal from smudging. He had big bulldog

clips, a masonite board, yellow Ticonderoga pencils, erasers, sketch-

pads, drawing paper—equipment that he stored in a grocery car-

ton at the bottom of our bedroom closet and that my mother,

when she was cleaning, wasn't permitted to disturb. His energetic

meticulousness (passed on from our mother) and his breathtaking

perseverance (passed on from our father) served only to magnify

my awe of an older brother who everyone agreed was intended for

great things, while most boys his age didn't look as though they

were intended even to eat at a table with another human being. I

was then the good child, obedient both at home and at school

—

the willfulness largely inactive and the attack set to go off at a later

date—as yet altogether too young to know the potential of a rage

of one's own. And nowhere was I less intransigent than with him.

For his twelfth birthday, Sandy had gotten a large, flat black

portfolio made of hard cardboard that folded along a sewn seam

and was secured at the top edge with two attached lengths of rib-

bon that he tied in a bow in order to fasten the leaves. The port-

folio measured about two feet by a foot and a half, too big to fit

into the drawers of our bedroom dresser or to be stacked upright

against the wall in the crowded bedroom closet he and I shared. He

was allowed to store it—along with his spiral sketchpads—laid out

flat beneath his bed, and in it he saved the drawings he considered

his best, beginning with his compositional masterwork of 1936, the

ambitious picture of our mother pointing overhead at the Paris-

bound Spirit of St. Louis. Sandy had several large portraits of the

heroic aviator, in both pencil and charcoal, stowed away in his

portfolio. They were part of a series he was assembling of promi-
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nent Americans that concentrated primarily on those living emi-

nences most revered by our parents, such as President and Mrs.

Roosevelt, New York mayor Fiorello La Guardia, United Mine

Workers president John L. Lewis, and the novelist Pearl Buck,

who'd won the Nobel Prize in 1938 and whose picture he copied

from the jacket of one of her bestsellers. A number of drawings in

the portfolio were of family members, and of those at least half

were of our sole surviving grandparent, our paternal grandmother,

who, on the Sundays when my uncle Monty brought her around to

visit, would sometimes serve Sandy as a model. Under the sway of

the word "venerable," he drew every wrinkle he could find in her

face and every gnarl in her arthritic fingers while—as dutifully as

she'd scrubbed floors on her knees all her life and cooked for a

family of nine on a coal stove—tiny, sturdy Grandma sat in the

kitchen and "posed."

We were alone together in the house only a few days after the

Winchell broadcast when Sandy removed the portfolio from under

his bed and carried it into the dining room. There he opened it out

on the table (reserved for entertaining the Boss and celebrating

special family occasions) and carefully lifted the Lindbergh por-

traits from the tracing paper protecting each drawing and lined

them up on the tabletop. In the first, Lindbergh was wearing his

leather flying cap with the loose straps dangling over each ear; in

the second, the cap was partially hidden beneath large heavy gog-

gles pushed up from his eyes and onto his forehead; in the third, he

was bareheaded, nothing to mark him as an aviator other than the

uncompromising gaze out to the distant horizon. To gauge the

value of this man, as Sandy had rendered him, wasn't difficult. A
virile hero. A courageous adventurer. A natural person of gigantic

strength and rectitude combined with a powerful blandness. Any-

thing but a frightening villain or a menace to mankind.

"He's going to be president," Sandy told me. "Alvin says Lind-

bergh's going to win."

He so confused and frightened me that I pretended he was mak-

ing a joke and laughed.
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"Alvin's going to go to Canada and join the Canadian army," he

said. "He's going to fight for the British against Hitler."

"But nobody can beat Roosevelt," I said.

"Lindbergh's going to. America's going to go fascist."

Then we just stood there together under the intimidating spell

of the three portraits. Never before had being seven felt like such a

serious deficiency.

"Don't tell anybody I've got these," he said.

"But Mom and Dad saw them already," I said. "They've seen

them all. Everybody has."

"I told them I tore them up."

There was nobody more truthful than my brother. He wasn't

quiet because he was secretive and deceitful but because he never

bothered to behave badly and so had nothing to hide. But now

something external had transformed the meaning of these draw-

ings, making them into what they were not, and so he'd told our

parents that he'd destroyed them, making himself into what he

was not.

"Suppose they find them," I said.

"How will they do that?" he asked.

"I don't know."

"Right," he said. "You don't. Just keep your little trap shut and

nobody'll find anything."

I did as he told me for many reasons, one being that the third-

oldest U.S. postage stamp I owned—which I couldn't possibly tear

up and throw away—was a ten-cent airmail issued in 1927 to com-

memorate Lindbergh's transatlantic flight. It was a blue stamp,

about twice as long as it was high, whose central design, a picture

of the Spirit of St. Louis flying eastward over the ocean, had pro-

vided Sandy with the model for the plane in the drawing celebrat-

ing his conception. Adjacent to the white border at the left of the

stamp is the coastline of North America, with the words "New

York" jutting out into the Atlantic, and adjacent to the border at

the right the coastlines of Ireland, Great Britain, and France, with

the word "Paris" at the end of a dotted arc that charts the flight
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path between the two cities. At the top of the stamp, directly be-

neath the white letters that boldly spell out united states post-

age are the words lindbergh-air mail in slightly smaller type

but large enough certainly to be read by a seven-year-old with per-

fect vision. The stamp was already valued at twenty cents by Scott's

Standard Postage Stamp Catalogue, and what I immediately real-

ized was that its worth would only continue increasing (and so

rapidly as to become my single most valuable possession) if Alvin

was right and the worst happened.

On the sidewalk during the long vacation months we played a new

game called "I Declare War," using a cheap rubber ball and a piece

of chalk. With the chalk you drew a circle some five or six feet in

diameter, partitioned it into as many pielike segments as there were

players, and chalked into each the name of one of various foreign

countries that had been in the news throughout the year. Next,

each player picked "his" country and stood straddling the edge of

the circle, one foot inside and one out, so that when the time came

he could flee in a hurry. Meanwhile a designated player, holding

the ball aloft in his hand, announced slowly, in an ominous ca-

dence, "I—declare—war—on
—

" There was a suspenseful pause,

and then the kid declaring war would slam the ball down, in the

same instant shouting "Germany!" or "Japan!" or "Holland!" or

"Italy!" or "Belgium!" or "England!" or "China!"—sometimes even

shouting "America!"—and everybody would take off except the

one on whom the surprise attack had been launched. His job was

to catch the ball on the bounce as quickly as he could and call

"Stop!" Everybody now allied against him would have to freeze in

place, and the victim country would begin the counterattack, try-

ing to eliminate one aggressor country at a time by walloping each

as hard as he could with the ball, beginning by throwing at those

closest to him and advancing his position with each murderous

thwack.

We played this game incessantly. Until it rained and temporarily

the names of the countries were washed away, people had to either
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step on them or step over them when they made their way down

the street. In our neighborhood there was no other graffiti to speak

of in those days, just this, the remnants of the hieroglyphics of our

simple street games. Harmless enough, and yet it drove some of the

mothers crazy who had to hear us at it for hours on end through

their open windows. "Can't you kids do something else? Can't you

find another game to play?" But we couldn't—declaring war was all

we thought about too.

On July 18, 1940, the Democratic Convention meeting in Chicago

overwhelmingly nominated FDR for a third term on the first bal-

lot. We listened on the radio to his acceptance speech, delivered

with the confidently intoned upper-class enunciation that, for

close to eight years now, had inspired millions of ordinary fami-

lies like ours to remain hopeful in the midst of hardship. There

was something about the inherent decorum of the delivery that,

alien though it was, not only calmed our anxiety but bestowed on

our family a historical significance, authoritatively merging our

lives with his as well as with that of the entire nation when he

addressed us in our living room as his "fellow citizens." That Amer-

icans could choose Lindbergh—that Americans could choose any-

body—rather than the two-term president whose voice alone con-

veyed mastery over the tumult of human affairs . . . well, that was

unthinkable, and certainly so for a little American like me who'd

never known a presidential voice other than his.

Some six weeks later, on the Saturday before Labor Day, Lind-

bergh surprised the country by failing to appear at the Detroit

Labor Day parade, where he had been scheduled to launch his

campaign with a motorcade through the working-class heartland

of isolationist America (and the anti-Semitic stronghold of Father

Coughlin and Henry Ford), and by arriving unannounced instead

at the Long Island airfield from which his spectacular transatlantic

flight had begun thirteen years before. The Spirit of St. Louis had

been secretly trucked in under a tarp and stored overnight in a re-

mote hangar, though by the time Lindbergh taxied the plane onto
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the field the next morning, every wire service in America and every

radio station and newspaper in New York had a reporter on hand

to witness the takeoff, westward this time across America to Cali-

fornia rather than eastward across the Atlantic to Europe. Of

course, by 1940, commercial air service had been hauling transcon-

tinental freight, passengers, and mail for more than a decade, and

doing so largely as a result of the incentive of Lindbergh's solo feat

and his industrious efforts as a million-dollar-a-year consultant to

the newly organized airlines. But it wasn't the wealthy advocate of

commercial aviation who was launching his campaign that day,

nor was it the Lindbergh who had been decorated in Berlin by the

Nazis, nor the Lindbergh who, in a nationwide radio broadcast,

had blamed overly influential Jews for attempting to drive the

country into war, nor was it even the stoical father of the infant

kidnapped and killed by Bruno Hauptmann in 1932. It was rather

the unknown airmail pilot who'd dared to do what had never been

done by any aviator before him, the adored Lone Eagle, boyish and

unspoiled still, despite the years of phenomenal fame. On the hol-

iday weekend that closed out the summer of 1940, Lindbergh came

nowhere near besting the record time for a coast-to-coast nonstop

flight that he'd himself set a decade back with an aircraft more ad-

vanced than the old Spirit of St. Louis. Nonetheless, when he ar-

rived at Los Angeles Airport, a crowd consisting largely of aircraft

workers—tens of thousands of them, employed by the big new

manufacturers in and around L.A.—was as overcome with enthu-

siasm as any ever to greet him anywhere.

The Democrats called the flight a publicity gimmick stage-man-

aged by Lindbergh's staff, when in fact the decision to fly to Cali-

fornia had been made only hours earlier by Lindbergh alone and

not by the professionals who had been assigned by the Republican

Party to steer the political novice through his first political cam-

paign and who, like everyone else, had been expecting him to turn

up in Detroit.

His speech was unadorned and to the point, delivered in a high-

pitched, flat, midwestern, decidedly un-Rooseveltian American
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voice. His flight outfit of high boots and jodhpurs and a light-

weight jumper worn over a shirt and tie was a replica of the one in

which he'd crossed the Atlantic, and he spoke without removing

his leather headgear or flight goggles, which were pushed up onto

his forehead exactly as Sandy had them positioned in the charcoal

drawing hidden beneath his bed.

"My intention in running for the presidency," he told the rau-

cous crowd, once they had stopped chanting his name, "is to pre-

serve American democracy by preventing America from taking

part in another world war. Your choice is simple. It's not between

Charles A. Lindbergh and Franklin Delano Roosevelt. It's between

Lindbergh and war."

That was the whole of it—forty-one words, if you included the

A for Augustus.

After a shower and a snack and an hour's nap there at the L.A.

airport, the candidate climbed back into the Spirit of St. Louis and

flew to San Francisco. By nightfall he was in Sacramento. And

wherever he landed in California that day, it was as though the

country hadn't known the stock market crash and the miseries of

the Depression (or the triumphs of FDR, for that matter), as

though even the war he was there to prevent us from entering

hadn't so much as crossed anyone's mind. Lindy flew down out of

the sky in his famous plane, and it was 1927 all over again. It was

Lindy all over again, straight-talking Lindy, who had never to look

or to sound superior, who simply was superior—fearless Lindy, at

once youthful and gravely mature, the rugged individualist, the

legendary American man's man who gets the impossible done by

relying solely on himself.

Over the next month and a half he proceeded to spend one full

day in each of the forty-eight states, until in late October he made

his way back to the Long Island runway from which he'd taken off

on Labor Day weekend. Throughout the daylight hours he would

hop from one city, town, or village to the next, landing on high-

ways if there was no nearby airstrip and setting down and taking

off from a stretch of pasture when he flew to talk with farmers and
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their families in the remotest of America's rural counties. His air-

field remarks were broadcast over local and regional radio stations,

and several times a week, from the state capital where he was

spending the night, he broadcast a message to the nation. It was al-

ways succinct and went like this: To prevent a war in Europe is now

too late. But it is not too late to prevent America from taking part

in that war. FDR is misleading the nation. America will be carried

to war by a president who falsely promises peace. The choice is

simple. Vote for Lindbergh or vote for war.

As a young pilot in aviations early, novelty days, Lindbergh,

along with an older, more experienced sidekick, had entertained

crowds throughout the Midwest by skydiving in a parachute or

walking out parachuteless onto the plane's wing, and the Demo-

crats were now quick to belittle his barnstorming in the Spirit of St.

Louis by likening it to these stunts. At press conferences, Roosevelt

no longer bothered to make a derisive quip when questioned by

newsmen about the unorthodox Lindbergh campaign, but simply

moved on to discuss Churchill's fear of an imminent German in-

vasion of Britain or to announce that he would be asking Congress

to fund the first American peacetime draft or to remind Hitler that

the United States would not tolerate any interference with the

transatlantic aid our merchant vessels were supplying to the British

war effort. It was clear from the start that the president's campaign

was to consist of remaining in the White House, where, in contrast

to what Secretary Ickes labeled Lindbergh's "carnival antics," he

planned to address the hazards of the international situation with

all the authority at his command, working round the clock if nec-

essary.

Twice during the state-by-state tour, Lindbergh was lost in bad

weather and each time several hours passed before radio contact

with him was reestablished and he was able to let the country know

that all was well. But then in October, on the very day Americans

were stunned to learn that in the latest of the destructive night

raids on London the Germans had bombed St. Paul's Cathedral, a

news flash at dinnertime reported that the Spirit of St. Louis had
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been seen to explode in the air over the Alleghenies and plummet

to the earth in flames. This time it was six long hours before a sec-

ond flash corrected the first with the news that it was engine trou-

ble and not a midair explosion that had forced Lindbergh to make

an emergency landing on treacherous terrain in the mountains of

western Pennsylvania. Before the emendation was aired, however,

our phone rang continuously—friends and relatives calling to

speculate with our parents on the initial account of the fiery and

probably fatal accident. In front of Sandy and me our parents said

nothing to indicate relief at the prospect of Lindbergh's death,

though neither did they say that they hoped it wasn't so nor were

they among the jubilant when, around eleven that night, word

came through that, far from having gone down in flames, the Lone

Eagle had emerged safely from the undamaged plane and was wait-

ing only for a replacement part so as to take off and resume his

campaign.

On the October morning that Lindbergh landed at Newark Air-

port, among the entourage waiting to welcome him to New Jersey

was Rabbi Lionel Bengelsdorf of B'nai Moshe, the first of the city's

Conservative temples, organized by Polish Jews. B'nai Moshe was a

few blocks from the heart of the old pushcart ghetto, still the city's

poorest district though home no longer to B'nai Moshe's congre-

gants but to a community of impoverished Negroes, recent mi-

grants from the South. For years B'nai Moshe had been losing out

in the competition for the well-to-do; by 1940, these families had

either left and affiliated themselves to the congregations of B'nai

Jeshurun and Oheb Shalom—each planted impressively amid the

old mansions on High Street—or joined the other long-established

Conservative temple, B'nai Abraham, located several miles west of

where it had been originally housed in a former Baptist church and

adjacent now to the homes of the Jewish doctors and lawyers liv-

ing in Clinton Hill. The new B'nai Abraham was the most splendid

of the city's temples, a circular building austerely designed in what

was called "the Greek style" and vast enough to hold a thousand
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worshipers on the High Holidays. Joachim Prinz, an emigre ex-

pelled from Berlin by Hitler's Gestapo, had replaced the retiring

Julius Silberfeld as the temple's rabbi the year before and was al-

ready emerging as a forceful man with a broad social outlook who

offered his prosperous congregants a perspective on Jewish history

marked strongly by his own recent experience at the bloody scene

of the Nazi crime.

Rabbi Bengelsdorf's sermons were broadcast weekly over sta-

tion WNJR to the hoi polloi he called his "radio congregation," and

he was the author of several books of inspirational poetry rou-

tinely given as gifts to bar mitzvah boys and newlyweds. He'd been

born in South Carolina in 1879, the son of an immigrant dry goods

merchant, and whenever he addressed a Jewish audience, whether

from the pulpit or over the air, his courtly southern accent, along

with his sonorous cadences—and the cadences of his own multi-

syllabic name—left an impression of dignified profundity. On the

subject, for instance, of his friendship with Rabbi Silberfeld of

B'nai Abraham and Rabbi Foster of B'nai Jeshurun, he once told

his radio audience, "It was fated: just as Socrates, Plato, and Aris-

totle belonged together in the ancient world, so we belong together

in the religious world." And the homily on selflessness that he prof-

fered to explain to radio listeners why a rabbi of his standing was

content to stay on at the head of a waning congregation, he intro-

duced by saying, "Perhaps you will be interested in my answer to

questions that have been asked of me by literally thousands of peo-

ple. Why do you renounce the commercial benefits of a peripatetic

ministry? Why do you choose to remain in Newark, at Temple

B'nai Moshe, as your only pulpit, when you have six opportunities

every day to leave it for other congregations?" He had studied at

the great institutions of learning in Europe as well as at American

universities and was reputed to speak ten languages; to be versed in

classical philosophy, theology, art history, and ancient and modern

history; to never compromise on questions of principle; to never

refer to notes at the lectern or on a lecture platform; to never be

without a set of index cards pertaining to the topics most engaging
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him at the moment, to which he added new reflections and im-

pressions every day. He was also an excellent equestrian, known to

bring his horse to a halt so as to jot down a thought, employing his

saddle as a makeshift desk. Early each morning, he exercised by

riding out along the bridle paths of Weequahic Park, accompa-

nied—until her death from cancer in 1936—by his wife, the heiress

to Newark's wealthiest jewelry manufacturer. Her family mansion

on Elizabeth Avenue, where the couple had been living just across

from the park since their marriage in 1907, housed a treasury of

Judaica said to be among the most valuable private collections in

the world.

By 1940 Lionel Bengelsdorf claimed the longest record of serv-

ice at his own temple of any rabbi in America. The newspapers re-

ferred to him as the religious leader of New Jersey Jewry and, in

reporting on his numerous public appearances, invariably men-

tioned his "gift for oratory" along with the ten languages. In 1915,

at the 250th anniversary celebration of the founding of Newark,

he had sat at the side of Mayor Raymond and delivered the invo-

cation just as he delivered invocations annually at the parades for

Memorial Day and the Fourth of July: rabbi exalts declara-

tion of independence was a headline that appeared annually

in the Star-Ledger every July fifth. In his sermons and talks calling

"the development of American ideals" the first priority of Jews

and "the Americanization of Americans" the best means to pre-

serve our democracy against "Bolshevism, radicalism, and anar-

chism," he frequently quoted from Theodore Roosevelt's final mes-

sage to the nation, in which the late president said, "There can be

no divided allegiance here. Any man who says he is an American,

but something else also, isn't an American at all. We have room for

but one flag, the American flag." Rabbi Bengelsdorf had spoken

on the Americanization of Americans in every Newark church and

public school, before most every fraternal, civic, historical, and cul-

tural group in the state, and news articles in the Newark papers

about his speeches were datelined with the names of scores of cities

around the countrv to which he'd been called to address confer-
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ences and conventions on that theme as well as on issues ranging

from crime and the prison reform movement
—

"The prison re-

form movement is saturated with the highest ethical principles and

religious ideals"—to the causes of the World War
—

"The war is the

result of the worldly ambitions of the European peoples and their

effort to reach the goals of military greatness, power, and wealth"

—to the importance of day nurseries
—

"The nurseries are life gar-

dens of human flowers in which each child is helped to grow in an

atmosphere of joy and gladness"—to the evils of the industrial

age
—"We believe that the worth of the workingman is not to be

computed by the material value of his production"—to the suf-

frage movement, whose proposal to extend to women the franchise

to vote he strongly opposed, arguing that "if men are not capable

of handling the business of the state, why not help them become

so. No evil has ever been cured by doubling it." My uncle Monty,

who hated all rabbis but had an especially venomous loathing of

Bengelsdorf dating back to his childhood as a charity student in

the B'nai Moshe religious school, liked to say of him, "The pom-

pous son of a bitch knows everything—it's too bad he doesn't

know anything else."

Rabbi Bengelsdorf's appearance at the airport—where, according

to the caption beneath the photograph on the front page of the

Newark News, he stood first in line to shake Lindbergh's hand

when he emerged from the cockpit of the Spirit of St. Louis—was a

source of consternation to great numbers of the city's Jews, my
parents among them, as was the quotation attributed to him in the

paper's account of Lindbergh's brief visit. "I am here," Rabbi Ben-

gelsdorf told the News, "to crush all doubt of the unadulterated

loyalty of the American Jews to the United States of America. I

offer my support to the candidacy of Colonel Lindbergh because

the political objectives of my people are identical with his. Amer-

ica is our beloved homeland. America is our only homeland. Our

religion is independent of any piece of land other than this great

country, to which, now as always, we commit our total devotion
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and allegiance as the proudest of citizens. I want Charles Lind-

bergh to be my president not in spite of my being a Jew but because

I am a Jew—an American Jew."

Three days later, Bengelsdorf participated in the huge rally held

at Madison Square Garden to mark the end of Lindbergh's flying

tour. By then the election was but two weeks away, and though

there appeared to be growing Lindbergh support among voters

throughout the traditionally Democratic South, and close contests

were predicted m the most conservative midwestern states, na-

tional polls showed the president comfortably ahead in the popu-

lar vote and well ahead in electoral votes. Republican Party leaders

were reported to be in despair over their candidate's stubborn re-

fusal to allow anyone other than himself to determine the strategy

of his campaign, and so, to draw him out of the repetitious auster-

ity of his interminable barnstorming and envelop him in an at-

mosphere more like that of the boisterous Philadelphia nominat-

ing convention, the Madison Square Garden rally was organized

and broadcast nationwide on the evening of the second Monday in

October.

The fifteen speakers introducing Lindbergh that night were de-

scribed as "prominent Americans from all walks of life." Among
them was a farm leader to talk about the harm a war would do to

American farming, which was in crisis still from the First World

War and the Depression; a labor leader to talk about the disaster a

war would represent for American workers, whose lives would be

regimented by government agencies; a manufacturer to talk about

the catastrophic long-term consequences for American industry of

wartime overexpansion and onerous taxation; a Protestant clergy-

man to talk about the brutalizing effect of modern warfare on the

young men who would be doing the fighting; and a Catholic priest

to talk about the inevitable deterioration of the spiritual life of a

peace-loving nation like our own and the destruction of decency

and kindness because of the hatred bred by war. Lastly there was a

rabbi, New Jersey's Lionel Bengelsdorf, who received an especially

heart)' welcome from the full house of Lindbergh supporters when
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his turn came to take the lectern and who was there to expatiate on

how Lindbergh's association with the Nazis was anything but com-

plicitous.

"Yep," Alvin said, "they bought him. The fix is in. They slipped a

gold ring through his big Jew nose, and now they can lead him any-

where."

"You don't know that," my father said, but not because he wasn't

himself steamed up by Bengelsdorf's behavior. "Listen to the man,"

he told Alvin, "give the man a hearing. It's only fair"—words ut-

tered largely for Sandy's benefit and mine, to keep the startling

turn of events from seeming as terrible to the two of us as it did to

the adults. The night before, I had fallen onto the floor in my sleep,

something that hadn't happened since I'd first graduated from a

crib to a bed and to prevent me from rolling out of it my parents

had to set a pair of kitchen chairs at the side of the mattress. When
it was assumed automatically that my falling like that after all these

years could only have had to do with Lindbergh's showing up at

Newark Airport, I insisted that I didn't remember a bad dream

about Lindbergh, that I just remembered waking up on the floor

between my brother's bed and mine, even though I happened to

know that I virtually never got to sleep any longer without envi-

sioning the Lindbergh drawings stashed away in my brother's port-

folio. I kept wanting to ask Sandy if he couldn't hide them in our

cellar storage bin instead of under the bed beside mine, but be-

cause I'd sworn not to speak about the drawings to anyone—and

because I couldn't bring myself to part with my own Lindbergh

stamp—I didn't dare to raise them as an issue, though they were

indeed haunting me and rendering unapproachable the brother

whose reassurance I'd never needed more.

It was a cold evening. The heat was on and the windows were

closed, but even without being able to hear them you knew that ra-

dios were playing up and down the block and that families who

wouldn't otherwise consider listening to a Lindbergh rally were

tuned in because of the scheduled appearance there of Rabbi Ben-

gelsdorf. Among his own congregants, a few important people had
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already begun to call for his resignation, if not for his immediate

removal by the temple's board of trustees, while the majority con-

tinuing to support him tried to believe that their rabbi was merely

exercising his democratic right of free speech and that, horrified

though they were by his public endorsement of Lindbergh, to at-

tempt to silence a conscience as renowned as his did not fall within

their rights.

That night Rabbi Bengelsdorf disclosed to America what he

claimed to be the true motive behind Lindbergh's personal flying

missions to Germany in the 1930s. "Contrary to the propaganda

disseminated by his critics," the rabbi informed us, "he did not

once visit Germany as a sympathizer or a supporter of Hitler's but

rather he traveled each and every time as a secret adviser to the U.S.

government. Far from his betraying America, as the misguided and

the ill-intentioned continue to charge, Colonel Lindbergh has al-

most single-handedly served to strengthen America's military pre-

paredness by imparting his knowledge to our own military and by

doing everything within his power to advance the cause of Ameri-

can aviation and to expand America's air defenses."

"Jesus!" cried my father. "Everybody knows—

"

"Shhh," whispered Alvin, "shhh—let the great orator speak."

"Yes, in 1936, long before the beginning of the European hostil-

ities, the Nazis awarded Colonel Lindbergh a medal, and, yes," con-

tinued Bengelsdorf, "yes, the colonel accepted their medal. But all

the while, my friends, all the while secretly exploiting their admi-

ration in order better to protect and preserve our democracy and

to preserve our neutrality through strength."

"I cannot believe
—

" my father began.

"Try," muttered Alvin evilly.

"This is not America's war," Bengelsdorf announced, and the

crowd at Madison Square Garden responded with a full minute of

applause. "This," the rabbi told them, "is Europe's war." Again sus-

tained applause. "It is one of a thousand-year-long sequence of Eu-

ropean wars dating back to the time of Charlemagne. It is their sec-

ond devastating war in less than half a century. And can anyone
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forget the tragic cost to America of their last great war? Forty thou-

sand Americans killed in action. A hundred and ninety-two thou-

sand Americans wounded. Seventy-six thousand Americans dead

of disease. Three hundred and fifty thousand Americans on dis-

ability today because of their participation in that war. And just

how astronomical will the price be this time? The number of our

dead—tell me, President Roosevelt, will it be merely doubled or

tripled or will it perhaps be quadrupled? Tell me, Mr. President,

what sort of America will the massive slaughter of innocent Amer-

ican boys leave in its wake? Of course, the Nazi harassment and

persecution of its German Jewish population is a cause of enor-

mous anguish to me as it is to every Jew. During the years I was

studying theology with the faculties of the great German universi-

ties in Heidelberg and in Bonn, I made many distinguished friends

there, great men of learning who, today, simply because they are

Germans of Jewish extraction, have been dismissed from long-held

scholarly positions and are being ruthlessly persecuted by the Nazi

hoodlums who have taken command of their homeland. I oppose

their treatment with every ounce of my strength, and so too does

Colonel Lindbergh oppose their treatment. But how will this cruel

fate that has befallen them in their own land be alleviated by our

great country going to war with their tormentors? If anything, the

predicament of all of Germany's Jews would only worsen immea-

surably—worsen, I fear, tragically. Yes, I am a Jew, and as a Jew I

feel their suffering with a familial sharpness. But I am an American

citizen, my friends"—again the applause
—

"I am an American

born and raised, and so I ask you, how would my pain be lessened

if America were now to enter the war and, along with the sons of

our Protestant families and the sons of our Catholic families, the

sons of our Jewish families were to fight and die by the tens of

thousands on a blood-soaked European battleground? How would

my pain be diminished by my having to console my very own con-

gregants
—

"

It was my mother, usually the least ardent member of our fam-

ily, the one ordinarily quieting the rest of us when we turned
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demonstrative, who all at once found the sound of Bengelsdorf's

southern accent so intolerable that she had to leave the room. But

until he finished his speech and was loudly cheered off the stage by

the Garden audience, no one else moved or said another word. I

wouldn't dare to, and my brother was preoccupied—as he often

was in such a setting—with sketching what we all looked like, now

while listening to the radio. Alvin's was the silence of murderous

loathing, and my father—divested for perhaps the first time in his

life of that relentless passion he brought to the struggle against set-

back and disappointment—was too stirred up to speak.

Pandemonium. Unspeakable delight. Lindbergh had at last

stepped onto the Garden stage, and like someone half demented,

my father leaped from the sofa and snapped off the radio just

as my mother came back into the living room and asked, "Who
would like something? Alvin," she said, with tears in her eyes, "a

cup of tea?"

Her job was to hold our world together as calmly and as sensi-

bly as she could; that was what gave her life fullness and that was

all she was trying to do, and yet never had any of us seen her ren-

dered so ridiculous by this commonplace maternal ambition.

"What the hell is going on!" my father began to shout. "What the

hell did he do that for? That stupid speech! Does he think that one

single Jew is now going to go out and vote for this anti-Semite be-

cause of that stupid, lying speech? Has he completely lost his mind?

What does this man think he is doing?"

"Koshering Lindbergh," Alvin said. "Koshering Lindbergh for

the goyim."

"Koshering what?" my father said, exasperated with Alvin's

seemingly speaking sarcastic nonsense at a moment of so much

confusion. "Doing what?"

"They didn't get him up there to talk to Jews. They didn't buy

him off for that. Don't you understand?" Alvin asked, fiery now

with what he took to be the underlying truth. "He's up there talk-

ing to the goyim—he's giving the goyim all over the country his

personal rabbi's permission to vote for Lindy on Election Day.
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Don't you see, Uncle Herman, what they got the great Bengelsdorf

to do? He just guaranteed Roosevelt's defeat!"

At about two a.m. that night, while soundly asleep, I again rolled

out ofmy bed, but this time I remembered afterward what I'd been

dreaming before I hit the floor. It was a nightmare all right, and it

was about my stamp collection. Something had happened to it.

The design on two sets of my stamps had changed in a dreadful

way without my knowing when or how. In the dream, I'd gotten

the album out of my dresser drawer to take with me to my friend

Earl's and I was walking with it toward his house as I'd done

dozens of times before. Earl Axman was ten and in the fifth grade.

He lived with his mother in the new four-story yellow-brick apart-

ment house built three years earlier on the large empty lot near

the corner of Chancellor and Summit, diagonally across from the

grade school. Before that he'd lived in New York. His father was

a musician with the Glen Gray Casa Loma Orchestra—Sy Axman,

who played tenor saxophone beside Glen Gray's alto. Mr. Ax-

man was divorced from Earl's mother, a theatrically good-looking

blonde who'd briefly been a singer with the band before Earl was

born and, according to my parents, was originally from Newark

and a brunette, a Jewish girl named Louise Swig who'd gone to

South Side and became famous locally in musical revues at the

YMHA. Among all the boys I knew, Earl was the only child with

divorced parents, and the only one whose mother wore heavy

makeup and off-the-shoulder blouses and billowing ruffled skirts

with a big petticoat underneath. She'd also made a record of the

song "Gotta Be This or That" when she was with Glen Gray, and

Earl played it for me often. I never came upon another mother like

her. Earl didn't call her Ma or Mom—he called her, scandalously,

Louise. She had a closet in her bedroom full of those petticoats,

and when Earl and I were alone together at his house, he'd show

them to me. He even let me touch one once, whispering, while I

waited to decide whether to do it, "Wherever you want." Then he

opened a drawer and showed me her brassieres and offered to let
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me touch one of those, but that I declined. I was still young enough

to admire a brassiere from afar. His parents each gave him a full

dollar a week to spend on stamps, and when the Casa Loma Or-

chestra wasn't playing in New York and was out touring, Mr.

Axman sent Earl envelopes with airmail stamps postmarked from

cities everywhere. There was even one from "Honolulu, Oahu,"

where Earl, who wasn't above cloaking his absent father in splen-

dor—as though to the son of an insurance agent having a saxo-

phonist with a famous swing band for a father (and a peroxide-

blond singer for a mother) weren't amazing enough—claimed that

Mr. Axman had been taken to a "private home" to see the canceled

two-cent Hawaiian "Missionary" stamp of 1851, issued forty-seven

full years before Hawaii was annexed to the United States as a ter-

ritory, an unimaginable treasure valued at $100,000 whose central

design was just the numeral 2.

Earl owned the best stamp collection around. He taught me
everything practical and everything esoteric that I learned as a

small kid about stamps—about their history, about collecting mint

versus used, about technical matters like paper, printing, color,

gum, overprints, grills, and special printing, about the great for-

geries and design errors—and, prodigious pedant that he was,

had begun my education by telling me about the French collector

Monsieur Herpin, who coined the word "philately," explaining its

derivation from two Greek words, the second of which, ateleia,

meaning freedom from tax, never quite made sense to me. And

whenever we'd finished up in his kitchen with our stamps and he

was momentarily done with his domineering, he'd giggle and say,

"Now let's do something awful," which was how I got to see his

mother's underwear.

In the dream, I was walking to Earl's with my stamp album

clutched to my chest when someone shouted my name and began

chasing me. I ducked into an alleyway and scurried back into one

of the garages to hide and to check the album for stamps that

might have come loose from their hinges when, while fleeing my
pursuer, I'd stumbled and dropped the album at the very spot on

• 42 •



VOTE FOR LINDBERGH OR VOTE FOR WAR

the sidewalk where we regularly played "I Declare War." When I

opened to my 1932 Washington Bicentennials—twelve stamps

ranging in denomination from the half-cent dark brown to the

ten-cent yellow—I was stunned. Washington wasn't on the stamps

anymore. Unchanged at the top of each stamp—lettered in what

I'd learned to recognize as white-faced roman and spaced out on

either one or two lines—was the legend "United States Postage."

The colors of the stamps were unchanged as well—the two-cent

red, the five-cent blue, the eight-cent olive green, and so on—all

the stamps were the same regulation size, and the frames for the

portraits remained individually designed as they were in the origi-

nal set, but instead of a different portrait of Washington on each of

the twelve stamps, the portraits were now the same and no longer

of Washington but of Hitler. And on the ribbon beneath each por-

trait, there was no longer the name "Washington" either. Whether

the ribbon was curved downward as on the one-half-cent stamp

and the six, or curved upward as on the four, the five, the seven,

and the ten, or straight with raised ends as on the one, the one and

a half, the two, the three, the eight, and the nine, the name lettered

across the ribbon was "Hitler."

It was when I looked next at the album's facing page to see what,

if anything, had happened to my 1934 National Parks set of ten that

I fell out of the bed and woke up on the floor, this time screaming.

Yosemite in California, Grand Canyon in Arizona, Mesa Verde in

Colorado, Crater Lake in Oregon, Acadia in Maine, Mount Rainier

in Washington, Yellowstone in Wyoming, Zion in Utah, Glacier in

Montana, the Great Smoky Mountains in Tennessee—and across

the face of each, across the cliffs, the woods, the rivers, the peaks,

the geyser, the gorges, the granite coastline, across the deep blue

water and the high waterfalls, across everything in America that

was the bluest and the greenest and the whitest and to be preserved

forever in these pristine reservations, was printed a black swastika.
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Loudmouth Jew

In
june 1941, just six months after Lindbergh's inauguration,

our family drove the three hundred miles to Washington, D.C.,

to visit the historic sites and the famous government buildings.

My mother had been saving in a Christmas Club account at the

Howard Savings Bank for close to two years, a dollar a week out of

the household budget to cover the bulk of our prospective travel

expenses. The trip had been planned back when FDR was a sec-

ond-term president and the Democrats controlled both Houses,

but now with the Republicans in power and the new man in the

White House considered a treacherous enemy, there was a brief

family discussion about our driving north instead to see Niagara

Falls and to take the boat cruise in rain slickers through the St.

Lawrence River's Thousand Islands and then to cross over in our

car into Canada to visit Ottawa. Some among our friends and

neighbors had already begun talking about leaving the country and

migrating to Canada should the Lindbergh administration openly

turn against the Jews, and so a trip to Canada would also familiar-

ize us with a potential haven from persecution. Back in February,

my cousin Alvin had already left for Canada to join the Canadian

armed forces, just as he said he would, and fight on the British side

against Hitler.
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Till his departure Alvin had been my family's ward for close to

seven years. His late father was my father's oldest brother; he died

when Alvin was six, and Alvin's mother—a second cousin of my
mother's and the one who'd introduced my parents to each other

—died when Alvin was thirteen, and so he'd come to live with us

during the four years he attended Weequahic High, a quick-witted

boy who gambled and stole and whom my father was dedicated to

saving. Alvin was twenty-one in 1940, renting a furnished room

upstairs from a Wright Street shoeshine parlor just around the cor-

ner from the produce market, and by then working almost two

years for Steinheim & Sons, one of the city's two biggest Jewish

construction firms—the other was run by the Rachlin brothers.

Alvin got the job through the elder Steinheim, the founder of the

company and an insurance customer of my father's.

Old man Steinheim, who had a heavy accent and couldn't read

English but who was, in my father's words, "made of steel," still at-

tended High Holiday services at our local synagogue. On a Yom
Kippur several years back, when the old man saw my father outside

the synagogue with Alvin, he mistook my cousin for my older

brother and asked, "What does the boy do? Let him come over and

work for us." There Abe Steinheim, who'd turned his immigrant fa-

ther's little building company into a multimillion-dollar opera-

tion—though only after a major family war had put his two broth-

ers out on the street—took a liking to solid, stocky Alvin and the

cocksure way he carried himself, and instead of sticking him in the

mailroom or using him as an office boy, he made Alvin his driver:

to run errands, to deliver messages, to whisk him back and forth to

the construction sites to check on the subcontractors (whom Abe

called "the chiselers," though it was he, Alvin said, who chiseled

them and took advantage of everyone). On Saturdays during the

summer, Alvin drove him down to Freehold, where Abe owned half

a dozen trotters that he raced at the old harness track, horses he

liked to refer to as "hamburgers." "We got a hamburger running

today at Freehold," and down they'd shoot in the Caddy to watch
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his horse lose every time. He never made any money at it, but that

wasn't the idea. He raced horses on Saturdays for the Road Horse

Association at the pretty trotting track in Weequahic Park, and he

talked to the papers about restoring the flat track at Mount Holly,

whose glory days were long past, and this was how Abe Steinheim

managed to became commissioner of racing for the state of New
Jersey and got a shield on his car that enabled him to drive up on

the sidewalk and sound a siren and park anywhere. And it was how

he became friendly with the Monmouth County officials and in-

sinuated himself into the horsy set at the shore—Wall Township

and Spring Lake goyim who would take him to their fancy clubs

for lunch, where, as Abe told Alvin, "Everybody sees me and all

they're doing is whispering, can't wait to whisper, 'Look at what's

here,' but they don't mind drinking my booze and getting treated

to great dinners and so in the end it pays off." He had his deep-sea-

fishing boat docked at the Shark River Inlet and he would take

them out on it and liquor them up and hire guys to catch the fish

for them, so that whenever a new hotel went up anywhere from

Long Branch to Point Pleasant, it was on a site the Steinheims got

for next to nothing—Abe, like his father, having the great wisdom

of buying things only at discount.

Every three days Alvin would drive him the four blocks from the

office to 744 Broad Street for a quick trim in the lobby barber shop

behind the cigar stand, where Abe Steinheim bought his Trojans

and his dollar-fifty cigars. Now, 744 Broad was one of the two

tallest office buildings in the state, where the National Newark and

Essex Bank occupied the top twenty floors and the city's presti-

gious lawyers and financiers occupied the rest and where New Jer-

sey's biggest moneymen regularly frequented the barber shop

—

and yet a part of Alvin's job was to call immediately beforehand to

tell the barber to get ready, Abe was coming, and whoever was in

the chair, to throw him out. At dinner the night that Alvin got the

job, my father told us that Abe Steinheim was the most colorful,

the most exciting, the greatest builder Newark had ever seen. "And

a genius," my father said. "He didn't get there without being a ge-
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nius. Brilliant. And a handsome man. Blond. Husky, but not fat.

Always looks nice. Camelhair coats. Black-and-white shoes. Beau-

tiful shirts. Impeccably dressed. And a beautiful wife—polished,

classy, a Freilich by birth, a New York Freilich, a very wealthy

woman in her own right. Abe's shrewd as they come. And the man
has guts. Ask anybody in Newark: the riskiest project and Stein-

heim takes it on. He does buildings where no one else will take a

chance. Alvin will learn from him. He'll watch him and see what it

is to work round the clock for something that's yours. He could be

an important inspiration in Alvin's life."

Largely so my father could keep tabs on him and my mother

could know that he wasn't surviving on hotdogs alone, Alvin came

to our house a couple of times a week to eat a good meal, and

miraculously, instead of his getting stern lectures about honesty

and responsibility and hard work at the dinner table every night

—

as in the days after he'd been caught with his hand in the till at the

Esso station where he worked after school and, until my father pre-

vailed on Simkowitz, the owner, to drop the charges and himself

made good with the money, looked to be headed for the Rahway

reformatory—Alvin conversed heatedly with my father about pol-

itics, about capitalism particularly, a system that, ever since my
father had gotten him to take an interest in reading the paper

and talking about the news, Alvin deplored but that my father de-

fended, patiently reasoning with his rehabilitated nephew, and not

like a member of the National Association of Manufacturers but as

a devotee of Roosevelt's New Deal. He'd warn Alvin, "You don't

have to tell Mr. Steinheim about Karl Marx. Because the man won't

hesitate—you'll be out on your keister. Learn from him. That's why

you're there. Learn from him and be respectful, and this could be

the opportunity of a lifetime."

But Alvin couldn't bear Steinheim and reviled him constantly

—

he's a fake, he's a bully, he's a cheapskate, he's a screamer, he's a

shouter, he's a swindler, he's a man without a friend in the world,

people cannot stand to be anywhere near him, and I, said Alvin,

have to chauffeur him around. He's cruel to his sons, is uninter-
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ested even in looking at a grandchild, and his skinny wife, who

never dares to say or do anything to displease him, he humiliates

whenever the mood takes him. Everybody in the family has to live

in apartments in the same luxury building that Abe built on a

street of big oaks and maples near Upsala College in East Orange

—

from dawn to dusk the sons work for him in Newark and he's

screaming and yelling at them, then at night he's on the house

phone with them in East Orange and he's still screaming and

yelling. Money is everything, though not to buy things but so as to

be able always to weather the storm: to protect his position and in-

sure his holdings and buy anything he wants in real estate at a dis-

count, which is how he made a killing after the crash. Money,

money, money—to be in the middle of the chaos and in the mid-

dle of the deals and make all the money in the world.

"Some guy retires at the age of forty- five with five million bucks.

Five million in the bank, which is as good as a zillion, and you

know what Abe says?" Alvin is asking this of my twelve-year-old

brother and me. Supper is over and he's with us in the bedroom

—

all of us lying shoeless atop the covers, Sandy on his bed, Alvin on

mine, and I beside Alvin, in the crook between his strong arm and

his strong chest. And it's bliss: stories about man's avarice, his zeal-

ousness, his unbounded vitality and staggering arrogance, and to

tell these stories, a cousin himself unbounded, even after all my
father's work, a captivating cousin still emotionally among the

rawest of the raw, who at twenty-one already has to shave his black

stubble twice a day in order not to look like a hardened criminal.

Stories of the carnivore descendants of the giant apes who once

inhabited the ancient forests and have left the trees, where all day

long they nibbled on leaves, to come to Newark and work down-

town.

"What does Mr. Steinheim say?" Sandy asks him.

"He says, 'The guy has five million. That's all he has. Still young

and in his prime, with a chance someday to be worth fifty, sixty,

maybe as much as a hundred million, and he tells me, "I'm taking

it all off the table. I'm not you, Abe. I'm not hanging around for the
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heart attack. I have enough to call it a day and spend the rest of my
life playing golf." ' And what does Abe say? 'This is a man who is a

total schmuck.' Every subcontractor when he comes into the office

on Friday to collect money for the lumber, the glass, the brick, Abe

says, 'Look, we're out of money, this is the best I can do,' and he

pays them a half, a third—if he can get away with it, a quarter

—

and these people need the money to survive, but this is the method

that Abe learned from his father. He's doing so much building that

he gets away with it and nobody tries to kill him."

"Would somebody try to kill him?" Sandy asks.

"Yeah," Alvin says, "me."

"Tell us about the wedding anniversary," I say.

"The wedding anniversary," he repeats. "Yeah, he sang fifty

songs. He hires a piano player," Alvin tells us, exactly the way he

tells the tale of Abe at the piano every time I ask to hear it, "and no

one gets a word in, no one knows what is going on, all the guests

spend the whole night eating his food, and he is standing in his tux

by the piano singing one song after another, and when they leave

he's still at the piano, still singing songs, every popular song you

can think of, and he doesn't even listen when they say goodbye."

"Does he scream and yell at you?" I ask Alvin.

"At me? At everybody. He screams and yells wherever he goes. I

drive him to Tabatchnick's on Sunday mornings. The people are

lined up to buy their bagels and lox. We walk in and he's scream-

ing—and there's a line of six hundred people, but he's yelling, 'Abe

is here!' and they move him to the front of the line. Tabatchnick

comes running out of the back, they push everyone aside, and

Abe must order five thousand dollars' worth of stuff, and we drive

home and there is Mrs. Steinheim, who weighs ninety-two pounds

and knows when to get the hell out of the way, and he phones the

three sons and they're there in five seconds flat, and the four of

them eat a meal for four hundred people. The one thing he spends

on is food. Food and cigars. You mention Tabatchnick's, Kartz-

man's, he doesn't care who is there, how many people—he gets

there and buys out the whole store. They eat up every single slice
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of everything every Sunday morning, sturgeon, herring, sable,

bagels, pickles, and then I drive him over to the renting office to see

how many apartments are vacant, how many are rented, how many

are being fixed up. Seven days a week. Never stops. Never takes a

vacation. No manana—that's his slogan. It drives him crazy if any-

body misses a minute of work. He cannot go to sleep without

knowing that the next day there are more deals that will bring

more money—and the whole damn thing makes me sick. The man
to me is one thing only—a walking advertisement for the over-

throw of capitalism."

My father called Alvin's complaints kid stuff, and to be kept to

himself on the job, especially after Abe decided that he was going

to send Alvin to Rutgers. You're too smart, Abe told Alvin, to be so

dumb, and then something happened beyond anything that my fa-

ther could realistically have hoped for. Abe gets on the phone to the

president of Rutgers and starts shouting at him. "You're going to

take this boy, where he finished in high school is not the issue, the

boy is an orphan, potentially a genius, you're going to give him a

full scholarship, and I'll build you a college building, the most beau-

tiful in the world—but not so much as a shithouse goes up unless

this orphan boy goes to Rutgers all expenses paid!" To Alvin he

explains, "I've never liked to have a formal chauffeur who was a

chauffeur who was an idiot. I like kids like you with something

going for them. You're going to Rutgers, and you'll come home and

drive me in the summers, and when you graduate Phi Beta Kappa,

then the two of us sit down and talk."

Abe would have had Alvin beginning as a freshman in New
Brunswick in September 1941 and, after four years of college, com-

ing back as a somebody into the business, but instead, in February,

Alvin left for Canada. My father was furious with him. They ar-

gued for weeks before finally, without telling us, Alvin took the ex-

press train from Newark's Penn Station straight up to Montreal. "I

don't get your morality, Uncle Herman. You don't want me to be a

thief but it's okay with you if I work for a thief." "Steinheim's not a

thief. Steinheim's a builder. What he's doing is what they do," my
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father said, "what they all have to do because the building trade is

a cutthroat business. But his buildings don't fall down, do they?

Does he break the law, Alvin? Does he?" "No, he just screws the

workingman every chance he gets. I didn't know your morality was

also for that." "My morality stinks," said my father, "everybody in

this city knows about my morality. But the issue isn't me. It's your

future. It's going to college. A four-year free college education."

"Free because he browbeats the president of Rutgers the way he

browbeats the whole goddamn world." "Let the president of Rut-

gers worry about that! What is the matter with you? You really

want to sit there and tell me that the worst human being ever born

is a man who wants to make you an educated person and find you

a place in his building company?" "No, no, the worst human being

ever born is Hitler, and frankly I'd rather be fighting that son of a

bitch than waste my time with a Jew like Steinheim, who only

brings shame on the rest of us Jews by his goddamn—" "Oh, don't

talk to me like a child—and the 'goddamn's I can live without too.

The man doesn't bring shame on anyone. You think if you worked

for an Irish builder it would be better? Try it—go work for Shan-

ley, you'll see what a lovely fellow he is. And the Italians, would they

be better, you think? Steinheim shoots his mouth off—the Italians

shoot guns." "And Longy Zwillman doesn't shoot guns?" "Please, I

know all about Longy—I grew up on the same street with Longy.

What does any of this have to do with Rutgers?" "It has to do with

me, Uncle Herman, and being indebted to Steinheim for the rest of

my life. Isn't it enough that he has three sons that he's already de-

stroying? Isn't it enough that they have to attend every Jewish hol-

iday with him and every Thanksgiving with him and every New
Year's Eve with him—I have to be there to be shouted at too? All

of them working in the same office and living in the same build-

ing and waiting around for only one thing—to split it all up on the

day he dies. I can assure you, Uncle Herman, their grief won't last

long." "You're wrong. Dead wrong. There is more to these people

than just money." " You re wrong! He holds them in his hand with

the money! The man is totally berserk, and they stay and take it for
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fear of losing the money!" "They stay because they're a family. All

families go through a lot. A family is both peace and war. We're

going through a little war right now. I understand it. I accept it. But

that's no reason to give up the college you missed out on and that

now you can have and to run off half-cocked to fight Hitler in-

stead." "So," said Alvin, as though at last he had the goods not only

on his employer but on his family protector as well, "you're an iso-

lationist after all. You and Bengelsdorf. Bengelsdorf, Steinheim

—

they make a good couple." "Of what?" my father asked sourly, hav-

ing finally run out of patience. "Of Jewish fakes." "Oh," said my
father, "against the Jews now too?" "Those Jews. The Jews who are

a disgrace to the Jews—yes, absolutely!"

The argument went on for four consecutive nights, and then, on

the fifth, a Friday, Alvin didn't report to eat, though the idea had

been to keep him showing up regularly for dinner until my father

wore him down and the boy came to his senses—the boy whom
my father had single-handedly changed from a callow good-for-

nothing into the family's conscience.

The next morning we learned from Billy Steinheim, who was

closest to Alvin of any of the sons and concerned enough about

him to telephone us first thing Saturday, that after having received

his Friday pay packet Alvin had thrown the keys to the Caddy in

Billy's father's face and walked out, and when my father rushed off

in our car to Wright Street to talk to Alvin in his room and get the

whole story and gauge just how much damage he had done to his

chances, the shoeshine parlor proprietor who was Alvin's landlord

told him that the tenant had paid the rent and packed his things

and was off to fight against the very worst human being ever born.

Given the magnitude of Alvin's seething, no one less nefarious

would do.

The November election hadn't even been close. Lindbergh got fifty-

seven percent of the popular vote and, in an electoral sweep, car-

ried forty-six states, losing only FDR's home state ofNew York and,

by a mere two thousand votes, Maryland, where the large popula-
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tion of federal office workers had voted overwhelmingly for Roo-

sevelt while the president was able to retain—as he could nowhere

else below the Mason-Dixon Line—the loyalty of nearly half the

Democrats' old southern constituency. Though on the morning

after the election disbelief prevailed, especially among the poll-

sters, by the day after that everybody seemed to understand every-

thing, and the radio commentators and the news columnists made

it sound as if Roosevelt's defeat had been preordained. What had

happened, they explained, was that Americans had shown them-

selves unwilling to break the tradition of the two-term presidency

that George Washington had instituted and that no president be-

fore Roosevelt had dared to challenge. Moreover, in the aftermath

of the Depression, the resurgent confidence of young and old

alike had been quickened by Lindbergh's relative youth and by the

graceful athleticism that contrasted so starkly with the serious

physical impediments under which FDR labored as a polio victim.

And there was the wonder of aviation and the new way of life it

promised: Lindbergh, already the record-breaking master of long-

distance flight, could knowledgeably lead his countrymen into

the unknown of the aeronautical future while assuring them, by

his strait-laced, old-fashioned demeanor, that modern engineering

achievements need not erode the values of the past. It turned out,

the experts concluded, that twentieth-century Americans, weary

of confronting a new crisis in every decade, were starving for nor-

malcy, and what Charles A. Lindbergh represented was normalcy

raised to heroic proportions, a decent man with an honest face

and an undistinguished voice who had resoundingly demonstrated

to the entire planet the courage to take charge and the fortitude to

shape history and, of course, the power to transcend personal

tragedy. If Lindbergh promised no war, then there would be no

war—for the great majority it was as simple as that.

Even worse for us than the election were the weeks following

the inauguration, when the new American president traveled to

Iceland to meet personally with Adolf Hitler and after two days

of "cordial" talks to sign "an understanding" guaranteeing peaceful
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relations between Germany and the United States. There were dem-

onstrations against the Iceland Understanding in a dozen Ameri-

can cities, and impassioned speeches on the floor of the House and

the Senate by Democratic congressmen who'd survived the Repub-

lican landslide and who condemned Lindbergh for dealing with a

murderous fascist tyrant as his equal and for accepting as their

meeting place an island kingdom whose historic allegiance was

to a democratic monarchy whose conquest the Nazis had already

achieved—a national tragedy for Denmark, plainly deplorable to

the people and their king, but one that Lindbergh's Reykjavik visit

appeared tacitly to condone.

When the president returned from Iceland to Washington—

a

flight formation of ten large Navy patrol planes escorting the new

two-engine Lockheed Interceptor that he himself piloted home

—

his address to the nation was a mere five sentences long. "It is now
guaranteed that this great country will take no part in the war in

Europe." That was how the historic message began, and this is how

it was elaborated and concluded: "We will join no warring party

anywhere on this globe. At the same time we will continue to arm

America and to train our young men in the armed forces in the

use of the most advanced military technology. The key to our in-

vulnerability is the development of American aviation, including

rocket technology. This will make our continental borders unas-

sailable to attack from without while maintaining our strict neu-

trality."

Ten days later the president signed the Hawaii Understanding in

Honolulu with Prince Fumimaro Konoye, premier of the Japanese

imperial government, and Foreign Minister Matsuoka. As emis-

saries of Emperor Hirohito, the two had already signed a triple al-

liance with the Germans and the Italians in Berlin in September of

1940, the Japanese endorsing the "new order in Europe" established

under the leadership of Italy and Germany, who in turn endorsed

the "New Order in Greater East Asia" established by Japan. The

three countries further pledged to support one another militarily

should any of them be attacked by a nation not engaged in the Eu-
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ropean or Sino-Japanese war. Like the Iceland Understanding, the

Hawaii Understanding made the United States a party in all but

name to the Axis triple alliance by extending American recognition

to Japan's sovereignty in East Asia and guaranteeing that the

United States would not oppose Japanese expansion on the Asian

continent, including annexation of the Netherlands Indies and

French Indochina. Japan pledged to recognize U.S. sovereignty on

its own continent, to respect the political independence of the

American commonwealth of the Philippines—scheduled to be en-

acted in 1946—and to accept the American territories of Hawaii,

Guam, and Midway as permanent U.S. possessions in the Pacific.

In the aftermath of the Understandings, Americans everywhere

went about declaiming, No war, no young men fighting and dying

ever again! Lindbergh can deal with Hitler, they said, Hitler re-

spects him because he's Lindbergh. Mussolini and Hirohito respect

him because he's Lindbergh. The only ones against him, the people

said, are the Jews. And certainly that was true in America. All the

Jews could do was worry. Our elders on the street speculated in-

cessantly about what they would do to us and whom we could rely

on to protect us and how we might protect ourselves. The younger

kids like me came home from school frightened and bewildered

and even in tears because of what the older boys had been telling

one another about what Lindbergh had said about us to Hitler and

what Hitler had said about us to Lindbergh during their meals to-

gether in Iceland. One reason my parents decided to keep to our

long-laid plans to visit Washington was to convince Sandy and

me—whether or not they themselves believed it—that nothing

had changed other than that FDR was no longer in office. America

wasn't a fascist country and wasn't going to be, regardless of what

Alvin had predicted. There was a new president and a new Con-

gress but each was bound to follow the law as set down in the

Constitution. They were Republican, they were isolationist, and

among them, yes, there were anti-Semites—as indeed there were

among the southerners in FDR's own party—but that was a long

way from their being Nazis. Besides, one had only to listen on Sun-
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day nights to Winchell lashing out at the new president and "his

friend Joe Goebbels" or hear him listing the sites under considera-

tion by the Department of the Interior for building concentration

camps—sites mainly located in Montana, the home state of Lind-

bergh's "national unity" vice president, the isolationist Democrat

Burton K. Wheeler—to be assured of the fervor with which the

new administration was being scrutinized by favorite reporters of

my father's, like Winchell and Dorothy Thompson and Quentin

Reynolds and William L. Shirer, and, of course, by the staff of PM.

Even I now took my turn with PM when my father brought it

home at night, and not just to read the comic strip Barnaby or to

flip through the pages of photographs but to have in my hands

documentary proof that, despite the incredible speed with which

our status as Americans appeared to be altering, we were still living

in a free country.

After Lindbergh was sworn into office on January 20, 1941, FDR
returned with his family to their estate at Hyde Park, New York,

and hadn't been seen or heard from since. Because it was as a boy

in the Hyde Park house that he had first become interested in col-

lecting stamps—when his mother, as the story went, had passed on

to him her own childhood albums—I imagined him there spend-

ing all of his time arranging the hundreds of specimens that he

had accumulated during his eight years in the White House. As

every collector knew, no president before him had ever commis-

sioned his postmaster general to issue so many new stamps, nor

had there been another American president so intimately involved

with the Post Office Department. Practically my first goal when I

got my album was to accumulate all the stamps that I knew FDR
had a hand in designing or had personally suggested, beginning

with the 1936 three-cent Susan B. Anthony stamp commemorat-

ing the sixteenth anniversary of the women's suffrage amendment

and the 1937 five-cent Virginia Dare stamp marking the birth at

Roanoke three hundred and fifty years earlier of the first English

child born in America. The 1934 three-cent Mother's Day stamp

designed originally by FDR—and displaying in the left-hand cor-
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ner the legend "In Memory and in Honor of the Mothers ofAmer-

ica" and to the right of center the artist Whistler's celebrated por-

trait of his mother—was given to me in a block of four by my own

mother to help get my collection going. She'd also contributed to

my purchasing the seven commemorative stamps Roosevelt had

approved in his first year as president, which I wanted because

prominently displayed on five of them was "1933," the year I was

born.

Before we went to Washington, I asked permission to take my
stamp album on the trip. Out of fear that I would lose it and be

heartbroken afterward, my mother at first said no but then allowed

herself to be won over when I insisted on the necessity of at least

having with me my president stamps—the sixteen, that is, that I

owned of the 1938 set that progressed sequentially and by denom-

ination from George Washington to Calvin Coolidge. The 1922

Arlington National Cemetery stamp and the 1923 Lincoln Memor-

ial and Capitol Buildings stamps were far too expensive for my
budget, but I nonetheless offered as another reason for taking my
collection along that the three famous sites were clearly pictured in

black and white on the album page reserved for them. In fact, I was

afraid to leave the album at home in our empty flat because of the

nightmare I'd had, afraid that either because I'd done nothing

about removing the ten-cent Lindbergh airmail stamp from my
collection or because Sandy had lied to our parents and his Lind-

bergh drawings remained intact under his bed—or because of the

one filial betrayal conspiring with the other—a malignant trans-

formation would occur in my absence, causing my unguarded

Washingtons to turn into Hitlers, and swastikas to be imprinted on

my National Parks.

Immediately upon entering Washington, we made a wrong turn in

the heavy traffic, and while my mother was trying to read the road

map and direct my father to our hotel, there appeared before us the

biggest white thing I had ever seen. Atop an incline at the end of

the street stood the U.S. Capitol, the broad stairs sweeping upward
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to the colonnade and capped by the elaborate three-tiered dome.

Inadvertently, we had driven right to the very heart of American

history, and whether we knew it in so many words, it was Ameri-

can history, delineated in its most inspirational form, that we were

counting on to protect us against Lindbergh.

"Look!" my mother said, turning to Sandy and me in the back

seat. "Isn't it thrilling?"

The answer, of course, was yes, but Sandy appeared to have

fallen into a patriotic stupor, and I took my cue from him and let

silence register my awe as well.

Just then a motorcycle policeman pulled alongside us. "What's

up, Jersey?" he called through the open window.

"We're looking for our hotel," answered my father. "What's it

caUed, Bess?"

My mother, enthralled only a moment earlier by the dwarfing

majesty of the Capitol, immediately went pale, and her voice was

so feeble when she tried to speak that she couldn't be heard above

the traffic.

"Gotta get you folks out of here," the cop shouted. "Speak up,

missus."

"The Douglas Hotel!" It was my brother eagerly calling out to

him and trying to get a good look at the motorcycle. "On K Street,

Officer."

"Attaboy," and he raised his arm in the air, signaling the cars be-

hind us to stop and for ours to follow him as he made a U-turn and

started in the opposite direction up Pennsylvania Avenue.

Laughing, my father said, "We're getting the royal treatment."

"But how do you know where he's taking us?" my mother asked.

"Herman, what's happening?"

With the cop out front, we were headed past one big federal

building after another when Sandy excitedly pointed toward a

rolling lawn just to our left. "Up there!" he shouted. "The White

House!" whereupon my mother began to cry.

"It isn't," she tried to explain just before we reached the hotel

and the cop waved goodbye and roared away, "it isn't like living in
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a normal country anymore. I'm terribly sorry, children—please

forgive me." But then she began to cry again.

In a little room at the rear of the Douglas there was a double bed

for my parents and cots for my brother and me, and no sooner had

my father tipped the bellhop who'd unlocked our door and set our

bags down inside the room than our mother was her old self—or

pretended as much by arranging the contents of our suitcases in

the dresser and noting appreciatively that the drawers were freshly

laid with lining paper.

We'd been on the road since leaving home at four in the morn-

ing and it was after one in the afternoon when we got back down

to the street to look for a place to have lunch. The car was parked

across from the hotel, and standing beside it was a sharp-faced lit-

tle man in a double-breasted gray suit who doffed his hat and said,

"My name is Taylor, folks. I am a professional guide to the nation's

capital. If you don't want to be wasting time, you might want to

hire someone like me. I'll drive for you so you don't get lost, I'll

take you to the sights, tell you all there is to know, I'll wait and pick

you up, I'll make sure you eat where the price is right and the food

is tasty, and all it will cost, using your own automobile, is nine dol-

lars a day. Here's my authorization," he said, and he unfolded a

document of several pages to show to my father. "Issued by the

Chamber of Commerce," he explained. "Verlin M. Taylor, sir, offi-

cial D.C. guide since 1937. January 5, 1937, to be exact—the very day

the Seventy-fifth U.S. Congress convened."

The two shook hands, and in his insurance man's best busi-

nesslike manner my father flipped through the guide's papers be-

fore handing them back to him. "Looks good to me," my father

said, "but I don't think nine bucks a day is in the cards, Mr. Taylor,

not for this family anyway."

"I appreciate that. But on your own, sir, you doing the driving

and not knowing your way around and then trying to find a park-

ing space in this city—well, you and the family won't see a half of

what you'll be able to see with me, and you won't enjoy it anywhere

near as much either. Why, I could drive you to a nice place to have

59



NOVEMBER I94O-JUNE I94I

your lunch, wait for you with the car, and then we can start right

off with the Washington Monument. After that, down the Mall to

the Lincoln Memorial. Washington and Lincoln. Our two greatest

presidents—that's how I always like to begin. You know that Wash-

ington never did live in Washington. President Washington chose

the site, he signed the bill making it the permanent seat of the gov-

ernment, but it was his successor, John Adams, who was the first

president to move into the White House in 1800. November 1, to be

exact. His wife, Abigail, joined him there two weeks later. Among
the many interesting curios in the White House, there is still a cel-

ery glass owned by John and Abigail Adams."

"Well, that's something that I did not know," my father replied,

"but let me take this up with my wife." Quietly he asked her, "Can

we afford this? He sure knows his oats." Our mother whispered,

"But who sent him? How did he spot our car?" "That's his job,

Bess—to find who's the tourists. That's how the man makes a liv-

ing." My brother and I were huddled up beside them, hoping our

mother would shut up and that the easy-talking guide with the

pointy face and the short legs would be hired for the duration.

"What do you want?" my father said, turning to Sandy and me.

"Well, if it costs too much ..." Sandy began.

"Forget the cost," my father replied. "Do you like this guy or

not?"

"He's a character, Dad," Sandy whispered. "He looks like one of

those duck decoys. I like when he says 'to be exact.'

"

"Bess," my father said, "the man is a bona fide guide to Wash-

ington, D.C. Don't believe he's ever cracked a smile but he's an alert

little guy and he couldn't be more polite. Let me see if he'll take

seven bucks." Here he stepped away from us, walked up to the

guide, they spoke seriously for a few minutes and then, the deal

struck, the two again shook hands, and my father said aloud,

"Okay, let's eat!" as always teeming with energy even when there

was nothing to do.

It was hard to say what was most unbelievable: my being out of

New Jersey for the first time in my life, my being three hundred
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miles from home in the nation's capital, or our family's being

chauffeured in our own automobile by a stranger called by the

same surname as the twelfth president of the United States, whose

profile adorned the twelve-cent red-violet stamp in the album in

my lap, hinged between the blue eleven-cent Polk and the green

thirteen-cent Fillmore.

"Washington," Mr. Taylor was telling us, "is divided into four

sections: northwest, northeast, southeast, and southwest. With some

few exceptions, the streets running north and south are numbered

and the streets running east and west are lettered. Of all the exist-

ing capitals in the Western world, this city alone was developed

solely to provide a home for the national government. That is what

makes it different not only from London and Paris but from our

own New York and Chicago."

"Did you hear that?" my father asked, looking over his shoulder

at Sandy and me. "Did you hear that, Bess, what Mr. Taylor said

about why Washington is so special?"

"Yes," she said, and took my hand in hers to assure herself by as-

suring me that everything was now going to be all right. But I had

only my one concern from the time we entered Washington until

we left—preserving my stamp collection from harm.

The cafeteria where Mr. Taylor dropped us off was clean and

cheap and the food as good as he'd said it would be, and when

we finished our meal and headed for the street, there was our car

pulling up to double-park out front. "What timing!" my father

cried.

"Over the years," Mr. Taylor said, "you learn to estimate how

long it takes a family to eat their lunch. Was that okay, Mrs. Roth?"

he asked our mother. "Everything to your taste?"

"Very nice, thank you."

"So's everybody ready for the Washington Monument," he said,

and off we drove. "You know, of course, who the monument com-

memorates—our first president, and in the opinion of most, our

best president alongside President Lincoln."

"I'd include FDR in that list, you know. A great man, and the
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people of this country turned him out of office," my father said.

"And just look what we got instead."

Mr. Taylor listened courteously but offered no response. "Now"

he resumed, "you've all seen photos of the Washington Monu-

ment. But they don't always communicate just how impressive it is.

At five hundred fifty-five feet, five and one-eighth inches above

ground, it is the tallest masonry structure in the world. The new

electric elevator will carry you to the top in one and a quarter min-

utes. Otherwise you can take a winding staircase of eight hundred

and ninety-three steps to the top by foot. The view from up there

has a radius of some fifteen to twenty miles. It's worth a look.

There—see it?" he said. "Straight ahead."

Minutes later Mr. Taylor found a parking spot on the monu-

ment grounds and, when we left the car, trotted bandy-legged

alongside us, explaining, "The monument was cleaned just a few

years back for the first time. Just imagine that for a cleaning job,

Mrs. Roth. They used water mixed with sand and steel-bristled

brushes. Took five months and cost a hundred thousand dollars."

"Under FDR?" my father asked.

"I believe so, yes."

"And do people know?" my father asked. "Do people care? No.

They want an airmail pilot running the country instead. And that's

not the worst of it."

Mr. Taylor remained outside while we entered the monument.

At the elevator, our mother, who again had taken hold of my hand,

drew close to our father and whispered, "You mustn't talk like

that."

"Like what?"

"About Lindbergh."

"That? That's just expressing my opinion."

"But you don't know who this man is."

"I sure do. He's an authorized guide with the documents to

prove it. This is the Washington Monument, Bess, and you're tell-

ing me to keep my thoughts to myself as though the Washington

Monument is situated in Berlin."
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His speaking so bluntly distressed her even more, especially as

the others waiting for the elevator could overhear our conversa-

tion. Turning to another of the fathers, who was standing alongside

his wife and two kids, my father asked him, "Where you folks from?

We're from Jersey." "Maine," the man replied. "Hear that?" my fa-

ther said to my brother and me. Altogether some twenty children

and adults entered the elevator, filling it up about halfway, and as

the car rose through the housing of iron pillars, my father used the

minute and a quarter it took to get to the top to ask the remaining

families where each was from.

Mr. Taylor was waiting outside when we finished our tour. He

asked Sandy and me to describe what we'd seen from the windows

five hundred feet up and then he guided us on a quick walking tour

around the exterior of the monument, recounting the fitful history

of its construction. Next he took some pictures of the family with

our Brownie box camera; then my father, over Mr. Taylor's objec-

tions, insisted on taking a picture of him with my mother, Sandy,

and me with the Washington Monument as the background, and

finally we got into our car and, with Mr. Taylor again at the wheel,

started down the Mall for the Lincoln Memorial.

This time, while he parked, Mr. Taylor warned us that the Lin-

coln Memorial was like no other edifice anywhere in the world and

that we should prepare ourselves to be overwhelmed. Then he ac-

companied us from the parking area to the great pillared building

with the wide marble stairs that led us up past the columns to the

hall's interior and the raised statue of Lincoln in his capacious

throne of thrones, the sculpted face looking to me like the most

hallowed possible amalgamation—the face of God and the face of

America all in one.

Gravely my father said, "And they shot him, the dirty dogs."

The four of us stood directly at the base of the statue, which was

lit so as to make everything about Abraham Lincoln seem colos-

sally grand. What ordinarily passed for great just paled away, and

there was no defense, for either an adult or a child, against the

solemn atmosphere of hyperbole.
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"When you think of what this country does to its greatest pres-

idents . .

."

"Herman," my mother pleaded, "don't start."

"I'm not starting anything. This was a great tragedy. Isn't that

right, boys? The assassination of Lincoln?"

Mr. Taylor came over and quietly told us, "Tomorrow we'll go to

Ford's Theatre, where he was shot, and across the street to the Pe-

tersen House, to see where he died."

"I was saying, Mr. Taylor, it is the damnedest thing what this

country does to its great men."

"Thank goodness we have President Lindbergh," said the voice

of a woman just a few feet away. She was elderly and she was stand-

ing apart, by herself, consulting a guidebook, and her remark

seemed spoken to no one and yet prompted somehow by her over-

hearing my father.

"Compare Lincoln to Lindbergh? Boy oh boy," my father moaned.

In fact the elderly lady was not alone but with a group of tour-

ists, among whom was a man of about my father's age who might

have been her son.

"Something bothering you?" he asked my father, assertively step-

ping in our direction.

"Not me," my father told him.

"Something bothering you about what the lady just said?"

"No, sir. Free country."

The stranger took a long, gaping look at my father, then my
mother, then Sandy, then me. And what did he see? A trim, neatly

muscled, broad-chested man five feet nine inches tall, handsome

in a minor key, with soft grayish-green eyes and thinning brown

hair clipped close at the temples and presenting his two ears to

the world a little more comically than was necessary. The woman
was slender but strong and she was tidily dressed, with a lock of

her wavy dark hair over one eyebrow and roundish cheeks a little

rouged and a prominent nose and chunky arms and shapely legs

and slim hips and the lively eyes of a girl half her age. In both

adults a surfeit of prudence and a surfeit of energy, and with the
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couple two boys still pretty much all soft surfaces, young children

of youthful parents, keenly attentive and in good health and incor-

rigible only in their optimism.

And the conclusion the stranger drew from his observations he

demonstrated with a mocking movement of the head. Then, hiss-

ing noisily so as to mislead no one about his assessment of us, he

returned to the elderly lady and their sightseeing party, walking

slowly off with a rolling gait that seemed, along with the silhouette

of his broad back, intended to register a warning. It was from there

that we heard him refer to my father as "a loudmouth Jew," fol-

lowed a moment later by the elderly lady declaring, "I'd give any-

thing to slap his face."

Mr. Taylor led us quickly away to a smaller hall just off the main

chamber where there was a tablet inscribed with the Gettysburg

Address and a mural whose theme was the Emancipation.

"To hear words like that in a place like this," said my father, his

choked voice quivering with indignation. "In a shrine to a man like

this!"

Meanwhile Mr. Taylor, pointing to the painting, said, "See there?

An angel of truth is freeing a slave."

But my father could see nothing. "You think you'd hear that here

if Roosevelt was president? People wouldn't dare, they wouldn't

dream, in Roosevelt's day ..." my father said. "But now that our

great ally is Adolf Hitler, now that the best friend of the president

of the United States is Adolf Hitler—why, now they think they can

get away with anything. It's disgraceful. It starts with the White

House . .

."

Whom was he talking to other than me? My brother was trail-

ing after Mr. Taylor, asking about the mural, and my mother was

trying to prevent herself from saying or doing anything, strug-

gling against the very emotions that had overpowered her earlier

in the car—and back then without anything like this much justi-

fication.

"Read that," my father said, alluding to the tablet bearing the

Gettysburg Address. "Just read it. 'All men are created equal.'

"
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"Herman," gasped my mother, "I can't go on with this."

We came back out into the daylight and gathered together on

the top step. The tall shaft of the Washington Monument was a

half mile away, at the other end of the reflecting pool that lay at the

base of the terraced approach to the Lincoln Memorial. There were

elm trees planted all around. It was the most beautiful panorama

I'd ever seen, a patriotic paradise, the American Garden of Eden

spread before us, and we stood huddled together there, the family

expelled.

"Listen," my father said, pulling my brother and me close to

him, "I think it's time we all had a nap. It's been a long day for

everybody. I say we go back to the hotel and get some rest for an

hour or two. What do you say, Mr. Taylor?"

"Up to you, Mr. Roth. After supper I thought the family might

enjoy a tour in the car of Washington by night, with the famous

monuments all lit up."

"Now you're talkin'," my father told him. "Sound good, Bess?"

But my mother wasn't so easy to cheer up as Sandy and I. "Honey,"

my father told her, "we ran into a screwball. Two screwballs. We
might have gone up to Canada and run into somebody just as bad.

We're not going to let that ruin our trip. Let's have a nice rest, all of

us, and Mr. Taylor will wait for us, and we'll go on from there.

Look," he then said, with a sweep of his outstretched arm. "This is

something every American should see. Turn around, boys. Take

one last look at Abraham Lincoln."

We did as he instructed but it was impossible any longer to feel

the raptures of patriotism turning me inside out. As we began the

long descent down the marble staircase, I heard some kids behind

us asking their parents, "Is that really him? Is he buried there under

all that stuff?" My mother was directly beside me on the stairs, try-

ing to act like someone whose panic wasn't running wild within

her, and suddenly I felt that it had fallen to me to hold her together,

to become all at once a courageous new creature with something

of Lincoln himself clinging to him. But all I could do when she of-

fered me a hand was to take it and clutch it like the unripened
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being I was, a boy whose stamp collection still represented nine-

tenths of his knowledge of the world.

In the car, Mr. Taylor plotted the rest of our day. We'd go back to

the hotel, nap, and at quarter to six he'd come to pick us up and

drive us to dinner. We could return to the cafeteria near Union Sta-

tion where we'd had our lunch, or he could recommend a couple

of other popular-priced restaurants whose quality he could vouch

for. And after dinner, he'd take us on the tour of Washington by

night.

"Nothing fazes you, does it, Mr. Taylor?" my father said.

He replied only with a noncommittal nod.

"Where you from?" my father asked him.

"Indiana, Mr. Roth."

"Indiana. Imagine that, boys. And what's your hometown out

there?" my father asked him.

"Didn't have one. My father's a mechanic. Fixed farm machin-

ery. Moved all the time."

"Well," said my father, for reasons that can't have been clear to

Mr. Taylor, "I take my hat off to you, sir. You should be proud of

yourself."

Again, Mr. Taylor gave only a nod: he was a no-nonsense man in

a tight suit and with something decidedly military about his effi-

ciency and his bearing—like a hidden person, except there was

nothing to hide, everything impersonal about him being plainly

visible. Voluble talking about Washington, D.C., close-mouthed

about everything else.

When we got back to the hotel, Mr. Taylor parked the car and ac-

companied us in as though he were not just our guide but our

chaperone, and a good thing it was, because inside the lobby of the

small hotel we discovered our four suitcases standing beside the

front desk.

The new man at the desk introduced himself as the manager.

When my father asked what our bags were doing downstairs, the

manager said, "Folks, I have to apologize. Had to pack these up for

you. Our afternoon clerk made a mistake. The room he gave you
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was being held for another family. Here's your deposit." And he

handed my father an envelope containing a ten-dollar bill.

"But my wife wrote you people. You wrote us back. We had a

reservation months ago. That's why we sent the deposit. Bess,

where's the copies of the letters?"

She pointed to the bags.

"Sir" said the manager, "the room is occupied and there are no

vacancies. We will not charge you for what use you all made of the

room today or for the bar of soap that is missing."

"Missing?" Just the word to send him right off the rails. "Are you

saying we stole it?"

"No, sir, I am not. Perhaps one of the children took the soap as

a souvenir. No harm done. We're not going to haggle about some-

thing so small or start looking through their pockets for the soap."

"What is the meaning of this!" my father demanded to know,

and under the manager's nose pounded his fist on the front desk.

"Mr. Roth, if you're going to make a scene here . .

."

"Yes," my father said, "I am going to make a scene till I find out

what's up with that room!"

"Well, then," replied the manager, "I have no choice but to phone

the police."

Here my mother—who was holding my brother and me around

the shoulders, shielding us alongside her and at a safe distance

from the desk—called my father's name, trying to prevent him

from going further. But it was too late for that. It always had been.

Never could he have consented to quietly occupying the place that

the manager wished to assign him.

"This is that goddamn Lindbergh!" my father said. "All you lit-

tle fascists are in the saddle now!"

"Shall I call the District police, sir, or will you take your bags and

your family and leave immediately?"

"Call the police," my father replied. "You do that."

There were now five or six guests aside from us in the lobby.

They'd entered while the argument was under way and they were

lingering to find out what was going to come of it.
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It was then that Mr. Taylor stepped up to my father's side and

said, "Mr. Roth, you are perfectly in the right, but the police are the

wrong solution."

"No, that is the right solution. Call the police," my father re-

peated to the manager. "There are laws in this country against peo-

ple like you."

The manager reached for the phone, and while he dialed, Mr.

Taylor went over to our bags, swept up two in either hand, and car-

ried them out of the hotel.

My mother said, "Herman, it's over. Mr. Taylor took the bags."

"No, Bess," he said bitterly. "I've had enough of their guff. I want

to talk to the police."

Mr. Taylor reentered the lobby on the run and without stopping

bore down on the desk, where the manager was completing his

call. In a lowered voice, he spoke only to my father. "There is a nice

hotel not very far away. I telephoned them from the booth outside.

They have a room for you. It's a nice hotel on a nice street. Let's

drive over there and get the family registered."

"Thank you, Mr. Taylor. But right now we are waiting for the

police. I want them to remind this man of the words in the Get-

tysburg Address that I read carved up there just today."

The people watching all smiled at one another when my father

mentioned the Gettysburg Address.

I whispered to my brother, "What happened?"

"Anti-Semitism," he whispered back.

From where we were standing we saw the two policemen when

they arrived on their motorcycles. We watched them cut their en-

gines and come into the hotel. One of them stationed himself just

inside the door, where he could keep an eye on everybody while the

other approached the front desk and beckoned the manager over

to where the two of them could speak confidentially.

"Officer
—

" my father said.

The policeman spun around and said, "I can attend to only one

party to a dispute at a time, sir," and resumed talking with the

manager, his chin cupped thoughtfully in one hand.
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My father turned to us. "Got to be done, boys." To my mother he

said, "There's nothing to worry about."

Having finished his discussion with the manager, the policeman

now came around to talk to my father. He didn't smile as he had

intermittently while standing and listening to the manager, but he

spoke nonetheless without a trace of anger and in a tone that

seemed friendly at first. "What's the problem, Roth?"

"We sent a deposit for a room at this hotel for three nights. We
received a letter confirming everything. My wife has the paperwork

in our bags. We get here today, we register, we occupy the room and

unpack, we go out to sightsee, and when we come back we're

evicted because the room was reserved for somebody else."

"And the problem?" the cop asked.

"We're a family of four, Officer. We drove all the way from New
Jersey. You can't just throw us into the street."

"But," said the cop, "if somebody else reserves a room
—

"

"But there is nobody else! And if there was, why should we take

a back seat to them?"

"But the manager returned your deposit. He even packed up

your belongings for you."

"Officer, you're not understanding me. Why should our reserva-

tion take a back seat to theirs? I was with my family at the Lincoln

Memorial. They have the Gettysburg Address up on the wall. You

know what the words are that are written there? 'All men are cre-

ated equal.'

"

"But that doesn't mean all hotel reservations are created equal."

The policeman's voice carried to the bystanders at the edge of

the lobby; unable any longer to control themselves, some of them

laughed aloud.

My mother left Sandy and me standing alone in order to step

forward now and intervene. She had been waiting for a moment

when she wouldn't make things worse, and, despite her rapid

breathing, seemed to believe this was it. "Dear, let's just go," she be-

seeched my father. "Mr. Taylor found us a room nearby."

"No!" my father cried, and he threw off the hand with which she
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had tried to snatch his arm. "This policeman knows why we were

evicted. He knows, the manager knows, everybody in this lobby

knows."

"I think you ought to listen to your wife," the cop said. "I think

you ought to do what she tells you, Roth. Leave the premises." Jerk-

ing his head in the direction of the door, he said, "And before you

wear out my patience."

There was more resistance in my father, but there was still some

sanity in him as well, and he was able to understand that his argu-

ment had run out of interest to anyone other than himself. We left

the hotel with everybody watching us. The only one to speak was

the other cop. From where he'd stationed himself just beside the

potted plant in the entranceway, he nodded amiably and, as we ap-

proached, put a hand out to muss my hair. "How you doin', young

fella?" "Good," I replied. "Whattaya got there?" "My stamps," I said,

but just kept going before he could ask to see my collection and I

had to show it to him to avoid arrest.

Mr. Taylor was waiting on the sidewalk outside. My father said

to him, "That has never happened to me before in my life. I'm out

among people all the time, people from all backgrounds, from all

walks of life, and never . .

."

"The Douglas has changed hands," Mr. Taylor said. "This is a

new ownership."

"But we had friends who stayed there and were a hundred per-

cent satisfied," my mother told him.

"Well, Mrs. Roth, it's changed hands. But I've got you a room at

the Evergreen, and everything is going to work out fine."

Just then there was the loud roar of a low-flying plane passing

over Washington. Down the street where some people were out

walking, they stopped and one of the men raised his arms to the

sky, as though, in June, it had begun to snow.

Sandy, who could recognize just about anything flying from its

silhouette, knowledgeable Sandy pointed and cried, "It's the Lock-

heed Interceptor!"

"It's President Lindbergh," Mr. Taylor explained. "Every after-
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noon about this time he takes a little spin along the Potomac. Flies

up to the Alleghenies, then down along the Blue Ridge Mountains,

and on out to the Chesapeake Bay. People look forward to it."

"It's the world's fastest plane," my brother said. "The Germans'

Messerschmitt no flies three hundred and sixty-five miles an hour

—the Interceptor flies five hundred miles an hour. It can outma-

neuver any fighter in the world."

We all watched along with Sandy, who was unable to conceal his

enchantment with the very Interceptor that the president had

flown to and from Iceland for his meeting with Hitler. The plane

climbed steeply with tremendous force before disappearing into

the sky. Down the street, the people out walking burst into ap-

plause, somebody shouted "Hurray for Lindy!" and then they con-

tinued on their way.

At the Evergreen, my mother and father slept together in one

single bed and Sandy and I in the other. Twin beds were the best

Mr. Taylor had been able to locate on such short notice, but after

what had happened at the Douglas nobody complained—either

that the beds weren't exactly made for rest or that the room was

smaller even than our first accommodations or that the matchbox

bathroom, heavily doused though it was with disinfectant, didn't

smell right—especially as we were welcomed graciously when we

arrived by a cheerful woman at the front desk and our suitcases

stacked on a dolly by an elderly Negro in a bellhop's uniform, a

lanky man the woman called Edward B., who upon unlocking

the door to the ground-floor room at the nether end of an air-

shaft, humorously announced, "The Evergreen Hotel welcomes the

Roth family to the nation's capital!" and ushered us in as though

the dimly lit crypt were a boudoir at the Ritz. My brother hadn't

stopped staring at Edward B. from the time he loaded our luggage,

and the next morning, before anyone else was awake, he stealthily

dressed, grabbed his sketchpad, and raced to the lobby to draw

him. As it happened, a different Negro bellhop was on duty, one

not picturesquely grooved and crannied quite like Edward B.,
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though from an artistic point of view no less of a find—very dark

with strongly African facial features of a kind Sandy had never be-

fore gotten to draw from anything other than a photo in a back

issue of National Geographic.

We spent most of the morning with Mr. Taylor showing us

around the Capitol and Congress, and later the Supreme Court

and the Library of Congress. Mr. Taylor knew the height of every

dome and the dimensions of every lobby and the geographic ori-

gins of all the marble flooring and the names of the subjects and

the events commemorated in every painting and mural in every

government building we entered. "You are something," my father

told him. "A small-town boy from Indiana. You should be on In-

formation Please"

After lunch, we drove south along the Potomac into Virginia to

tour Mount Vernon. "Of course, Richmond, Virginia," Mr. Taylor

explained, "was the capital of the eleven southern states that left

the Union to form the Confederate States of America. Many of the

great battles of the Civil War were fought in Virginia. Some twenty

miles due west is the Manassas National Battlefield Park. The park

includes both battlefields where the Confederates routed the Union

forces near the little stream of Bull Run, first under General P.G.T.

Beauregard and General J. E. Johnston in July 1861, and then under

General Robert E. Lee and General Stonewall Jackson in August

1862. General Lee was in command of the Army of Virginia, and

the president of the Confederacy, who governed from Richmond,

was Jefferson Davis, if you remember your history. To the south-

west a hundred and twenty-five miles from here is Appomattox,

Virginia. You know what happened in the courthouse there in

April 1865. April 9, to be exact. General Lee surrendered to General

U. S. Grant, thus ending the Civil War. And you all know what hap-

pened to Lincoln six days later: he was shot."

"Those dirty dogs," my father said again.

"Well, there it is," said Mr. Taylor, just as Washington's house

came into view.
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"Oh, it's so beautiful," my mother said. "Look at the porch. Look

at the tall windows. Children, this isn't a replica—this is the real

house where George Washington lived."

"And his wife, Martha," Mr. Taylor reminded her, "and his two

stepchildren, whom the general doted on."

"Did he?" my mother asked. "I didn't know that. My younger

son has Martha Washington on a stamp," she told him. "Show Mr.

Taylor your stamp," and I immediately found it, the brown 1938

one-and-a-half-cent stamp that pictured the first president's wife

in profile, her hair covered with what my mother had identified for

me, when I first got the stamp, as something between a bonnet and

a snood.

"Yep, that's her all right," said Mr. Taylor. "And she is also, as I'm

sure you know, on a four-cent nineteen hundred and twenty-three

and on an eight-cent nineteen hundred and two. And that nineteen

hundred and two stamp, Mrs. Roth, that is the first stamp ever to

show an American woman."

"Did you know that?" my mother asked me.

"Yes," I said, and for me all the complications of our being a Jew-

ish family in Lindbergh's Washington simply vanished and I felt

the way I felt in school when, at the start of an assembly program,

you rose to your feet and sang the national anthem, giving it every-

thing you had.

"She was a great companion to General Washington," Mr. Taylor

told us. "Martha Dandridge was her maiden name. The widow of

Colonel Daniel Parke Custis. Her two children were Patsy and John

Parke Custis. She brought to her marriage to Washington one of

the largest fortunes in Virginia."

"That's what I always tell my boys," my father said, laughing as

we hadn't heard him laugh all day. "Marry like President Washing-

ton. It's as easy to love 'em rich as poor."

The visit to Mount Vernon was the happiest time we had on that

trip, perhaps because of the beauty of the grounds and the gardens

and the trees and of the house, commandingly situated on a bluff
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overlooking the Potomac; perhaps because of the unusualness to

us of the furnishings, the decoration, and the wallpaper—wallpa-

per about which Mr. Taylor knew a million things; perhaps because

we got to see from only a few feet away the four-poster bed in

which Washington slept, the desk where he wrote, the swords that

he wore, and the books that he owned and read; or perhaps just be-

cause we were fifteen miles from Washington, D.C., and from

Lindbergh's spirit hovering over everything.

Mount Vernon was open until four-thirty, so we had plenty of

time to see all the rooms and the outbuildings and to wander the

grounds and then to visit the souvenir shop, where I succumbed to

the temptation of a letter opener that was a four-inch pewter

replica of a Revolutionary musket and bayonet. I bought it with

twelve of the fifteen cents I'd been saving for our visit the next day

to the stamp division of the Bureau of Engraving and Printing,

while Sandy prudently bought with his savings an illustrated his-

tory of Washington's life, a book whose pictures he could use to

suggest more portraits for the patriotic series stored in the portfo-

lio under his bed.

It was the end of the day and we were off to have a drink in the

cafeteria just as a low-flying plane in the distance came zooming

our way. As the roar grew louder, people shouted, "It's the presi-

dent! It's Lindy!" Men, women, and children all ran out onto the

great front lawn and began to wave at the approaching plane,

which as it crossed over the Potomac tipped its wings. "Hurray!"

people shouted. "Hurray for Lindy!" It was the same Lockheed

fighter we'd seen in the air over the city the previous afternoon,

and we had no choice but to stand there like patriots and watch

with the rest of them as it banked and flew back over George Wash-

ington's home before it turned to follow the Potomac north.

"It wasn't him—it was her!" Someone claiming to have been

able to see into the cockpit had begun to spread word that the pilot

of the Interceptor was the president's wife. And it could have been

true. Lindbergh had taught her to fly when she was still his young
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bride and she'd often flown alongside him on his air trips, and so

now people began telling their children that it was Anne Morrow

Lindbergh whom they'd just seen flying over Mount Vernon, a his-

torical event they would never forget. By then her audacity as a

pilot of the most advanced American aircraft, combined with her

demure manner as a well-bred daughter of the privileged classes

and her literary gifts as the author of two published books of lyric

poetry, had established her in all the polls as the nation's most ad-

mired woman.

So our perfect outing was ruined—and not so much because a

recreational flight piloted by one or another of the Lindberghs

happened by chance to have passed over our heads for the second

day in a row but because of what the stunt, as my father called it,

had inspired in everyone except us. "We knew things were bad," my
father told the friends he immediately sat down to phone when we

got home, "but not like this. You had to be there to see what it

looked like. They live in a dream, and we live in a nightmare."

It was the most eloquent line I'd ever heard him speak, and ar-

guably distinguished by more precision than any ever written by

Lindbergh's wife.

Mr. Taylor drove us back to the Evergreen so we could wash up

and rest, and promptly at five forty-five returned to drive us to the

inexpensive cafeteria near the railroad station; we'd all meet up af-

terward, he said, to start the night tour of Washington postponed

from the day before.

"Why don't you come along tonight?" my father said to him. "It

must get lonely eating by yourself all the time."

"I wouldn't want to invade your privacy, Mr. Roth."

"Listen here, you're a wonderful guide, and we would enjoy it.

Treat's on us."

The cafeteria was even more popular at night than it was during

the day, every chair occupied and customers standing in line wait-

ing to have their selections spooned out by the three men in white

aprons and white caps who were so busy serving they didn't have

time to stop and dry their perspiring faces. At our table my mother
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took solace in resuming her motherly mealtime role
—

"Darling,

try not to lower your chin to the plate when you take a bite"—and

our having Mr. Taylor seated beside us as if he were a relative or

family friend, though not so novel an adventure as being thrown

out of the Douglas Hotel, provided the opportunity to watch

someone eat who'd grown up in Indiana. My father was the only

one of us paying attention to the other diners, all of them laughing

and smoking and diligently digging into the Frenchified evening

special—roast beef au jus and pecan pie a la mode—while he sat

there fingering his water glass, seemingly trying to figure out how

the problems in their lives could be so unlike his own.

When he got around to expressing his thoughts—which contin-

ued to take precedence over his eating—it wasn't to one of us but

to Mr. Taylor, who was just starting in on the piece of pie topped

with American cheese that he'd chosen for dessert. "We are a Jew-

ish family, Mr. Taylor. You know that by now, if you didn't already,

because that's the reason we were evicted yesterday. That was a big

shock," he said. "That's hard to get over just like that. It's a shock

because though it's something that could have happened without

this man being president, he is the president and he is no friend of

the Jews. He is the friend of Adolf Hitler."

"Herman," my mother whispered, "you'll frighten the little one."

"The little one knows everything already," he said, and resumed

addressing Mr. Taylor. "You ever listen to Winchell? Let me quote

you Walter Winchell: 'Was there any more to their diplomatic

understanding, other things they talked about, other things they

agreed on? Did they reach an understanding about America's Jews

—and if so, what was it?' That's the kind of guts Winchell has.

Those are the words he has the guts to speak to the entire country."

Surprisingly, someone had stepped up so close to our table that

he was hanging half over it—a heavyset, mustached elderly man
with a white paper napkin jammed into his belt who seemed in-

flamed with whatever he had in mind to say. He had been eating at

a nearby table and his companions there were all leaning our way,

eager to hear what was coming next.
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"Hey, what's doin', bud?" my father said. "Back up, will ya?"

"Winchell is a Jew," the man announced, "in the pay of the Brit-

ish government."

What happened next was that my father's hands rose violently

from the table, as though to drive his knife and his fork upward

into the stranger's holiday-goose of a belly. He hadn't to elaborate

further to communicate his abhorrence, and yet the man with the

mustache did not budge. The mustache wasn't a dark close-clipped

little square patch like Hitler's but one conceived of in a less offi-

cious, more whimsical spirit, a conspicuously substantial white

walrus mustache of the type displayed by President Taft on the

light red 1938 fifty-cent stamp.

"If ever there was a case of a loudmouth Jew with too much

power
—

" the stranger said.

"That is enough!" Mr. Taylor cried and, jumping to his feet,

placed himself—undersized as he was—between the large figure

looming over us and my outraged father, pinned in below by all

that ludicrous bulk.

Loudmouth Jew. And for the second time in less than forty-

eight hours.

Two of the aproned men from behind the serving counter had

rushed out onto the floor of the cafeteria and taken hold of our as-

sailant from either side. "This is not your corner saloon," one of

them told him, "and don't you forget it, mister." At his table, they

pushed him down into his chair, and then the one who'd chastised

him came over to us and said, "I want you folks to fill your coffee

cups as much as you like. Let me bring the boys some more ice

cream. You folks just stay and finish up your supper. I am the

owner, my name is Wilbur, and all the desserts you want is on the

house. Let's bring you fresh ice water while we're at it."

"Thank you," my father said, speaking with the eerie imperson-

ality of a machine. "Thank you," he repeated. "Thank you."

"Herman, please," my mother whispered, "let's just go."

"Absolutely not. No. We're finishing our food." He cleared his
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throat to continue. "We're touring Washington by night. We are

not going home till we tour Washington by night."

The evening, in other words, was to be seen through to the end

without our being frightened away. For Sandy and me that meant

consuming big new dishes of ice cream, delivered to our table by

one of the countermen.

It took a few minutes for the cafeteria to come alive again with

the squeaking of chairs and the rattle of cutlery and the light tin-

kle of plates, if not yet the full dinnertime clamor.

"Would you like more coffee?" my father said to my mother.

"You heard the owner—he wants you to fill your cup."

"No," she murmured, "no more."

"And you, Mr. Taylor—coffee?"

"Nope, I'm fine."

"So," my father said to Mr. Taylor—stiffly, lamely, but beginning

again to push back at everything awful that was surging in. "What

kind of job did you do before this one? Or have you always been a

guide in Washington?"

And it was here that we heard once again from the man who'd

stepped up to inform us that, like Benedict Arnold before him,

Walter Winchell had sold out to the British. "Oh, don't you worry,"

he was assuring his friends, "the Jews will find out soon enough."

In all that quiet there was no mistaking what he'd said, espe-

cially as he hadn't bothered to modulate the taunt in any way. Half

the diners didn't even look up, pretending to have heard nothing,

but more than a few twisted round to look right at the offending

objects.

I'd seen tarring and feathering only once, in a Western movie,

but I thought, "We are going to be tarred and feathered," envision-

ing all our humiliation sticking to the skin like a coat of thick filth

that you could never get off.

My father was stalled for a moment, having to decide once again

whether to attempt to control the event or give in to it. "I was ask-

ing Mr. Taylor," he suddenly said to my mother while taking her
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hands in both of his, "about what he did before being a guide." And
he looked at her like someone casting a spell, someone whose art is

to prevent your will from being free of his and keep you from act-

ing on your own.

"Yes," she said, "I heard." And then, her anguish once again fill-

ing her with tears, she nonetheless drew herself up erect in her seat

and said to Mr. Taylor, "Yes, please tell us."

"Keep eating your ice cream, boys," my father said, reaching out

and patting our forearms until we looked him right in the eye. "Is

it good?"

"Yes," we said.

"Well, you just keep eating and take your time." He smiled to

make us smile, and then said to Mr. Taylor, "The job before this

one, your old job—what was it you did again, sir?"

"I was a college teacher, Mr. Roth."

"Is that right?" my father said. "Hear that, boys? You're eating

your dinner with a college teacher."

"A college history teacher," added Mr. Taylor for the sake of ac-

curacy.

"Should have known," my father admitted.

"Little college in northwest Indiana," Mr. Taylor told the four of

us. "When they shut half the place down in '32, that was it for me."

"And so what'd you do then?" my father asked.

"Well, you can imagine. What with unemployment and all the

strikes, I did a little of everything. Harvested mint up in the Indi-

ana mucklands. Packed meat for the slaughterhouse in Hammond.

Packed soap for Cudahy in East Chicago. Worked a year for Real

Silk Hosiery Mills in Indianapolis. Even worked a stint at Logans-

port, at the mental hospital there, worked as an orderly for people

suffering mental diseases. Hard times finally washed me up here."

"And what was the name of that college where you taught?" my
father asked.

"Wabash."

"Wabash? Well," said my father, soothed by the very sound of the

word, "everybody has heard of that."
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"Four hundred and twenty-six students? I'm not so sure they

have. What everybody has heard of is something that one of our

distinguished graduates once said, though they don't necessarily

know him for being a Wabash man. They know him for being U.S.

vice president, 1912 to 1920. That is our two-term vice president

Thomas Riley Marshall."

"Sure," my father said. "Vice President Marshall, the Democratic

governor of Indiana. Vice president under another great Demo-

crat, Woodrow Wilson. Man of dignity, President Wilson. It was

President Wilson," he said, after two days of tutelage under Mr.

Taylor, himself in the mood now to elucidate, "who had the cour-

age to appoint Louis D. Brandeis to the Supreme Court. First Jew-

ish member ever of the Supreme Court. You know that, boys?"

We did—it was hardly the first time he'd told us. It was only the

first time he'd told us in a booming voice in a cafeteria like this one

in Washington, D.C.

Sailing on, Mr. Taylor said, "And what the vice president said has

been famous nationwide ever since. One day, in the United States

Senate—while he was presiding over a Senate debate—he said to

the senators there, 'What this country needs,' he said, 'is a really

good five-cent cigar.'

"

My father laughed—that was indeed a folksy observation that

had won the heart of his whole generation and that even Sandy

and I knew through his repeating it to us. So he laughed genially,

and then, to further astonish not only his family but probably

everyone in the cafeteria, to whom he'd already extolled Woodrow

Wilson for appointing a Jew to the Supreme Court, he proclaimed,

"What this country needs now is a new president."

No riot ensued. Nothing. Indeed, by not quitting he appeared

almost to have won the day.

"And isn't there a Wabash River?" my father next asked Mr. Taylor.

"Longest tributary of the Ohio. Runs four hundred and seventy-

five miles clear across the state east to west."

"And there is a song, too," my father remembered almost dream-
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"Right you are," replied Mr. Taylor. "A very famous song. Maybe

as famous as 'Yankee Doodle' itself. Written by Paul Dresser in 1897.

'On the Banks of the Wabash, Far Away.'

"

"Of course!" cried my father.

"The favorite song," said Mr. Taylor, "of our Spanish-American

War soldiers in 1898 and adopted as the state song of Indiana in

1913. March 4, to be exact."

"Sure, sure, I know that one," my father told him.

"I expect every American does," Mr. Taylor said.

And all at once, in a brisk cadence, my father began to sing it,

and strongly enough for everyone in the cafeteria to hear.

" 'Through the sycamores the candlelights are gleaming

"Good," said our guide with admiration, "very good," and out-

right bewitched by my father's baritone bravura, the solemn little

encyclopedia smiled at last.

"My husband," said my dry-eyed mother, "has a lovely singing

voice."

"That he does," said Mr. Taylor, and though there was no ap-

plause—other than from Wilbur, back of the serving counter

—

here we abruptly got up to go before we outstayed our tiny tri-

umph and the man with the presidential mustache went berserk.
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Following Christians

On june 22, 1941, the Hitler-Stalin Non-Aggression Pact

—signed two years earlier by the two dictators only days

before invading and dividing up Poland—was broken

without warning when Hitler, having already overrun continental

Europe, dared to undertake the conquest of the enormous land-

mass that stretched from Poland across Asia to the Pacific by stag-

ing a massive assault to the east against Stalin's troops. That eve-

ning, President Lindbergh addressed the nation from the White

House about Hitler's colossal expansion of the war and astonished

even my father by his candid praise for the German Fuhrer. "With

this act," the president declared, "Adolf Hitler has established him-

self as the world's greatest safeguard against the spread of Com-

munism and its evils. This is not to minimize the effort of imperial

Japan. Dedicated as the Japanese are to modernizing Chiang Kai-

shek's corrupt and feudal China, they are equally dedicated to

rooting out the fanatical Chinese Communist minority, whose aim

is to seize control of that vast country and, like the Bolsheviks in

Russia, to turn China into a Communist prison camp. But it is

Hitler to whom the entire world must be grateful tonight for strik-

ing at the Soviet Union. If the German army is successful in its

struggle against Soviet Bolshevism—and there is every reason to

believe that it will be—America will never have to face the threat

of a voracious Communist state imposing its pernicious system on

83



JUNE I94I-DECEMBER 1941

the rest of the world. I can only hope that the internationalists still

serving in the United States Congress recognize that if we had al-

lowed our nation to be dragged into this world war on the side of

Great Britain and France, we would now find our great democracy

allied with the evil regime of the USSR. Tonight the German army

may well be waging the war that would otherwise have had to be

fought by American troops."

Our troops were at the ready, however, and would be, the presi-

dent reminded his countrymen, for a long time to come because of

the peacetime draft established by Congress at his request, twenty-

four months of compulsory military training for eighteen-year-

olds, followed by eight years on call in the reserves which would

contribute enormously to fulfilling his dual goal of "keeping

America out of all foreign wars and of keeping all foreign wars out

of America." "An independent destiny for America"—that was the

phrase Lindbergh repeated some fifteen times in his State of the

Union speech and again at the close of his address on the night

of June 22. When I asked my father to explain what the words

meant—absorbed by the headlines and weighed down by all my
anxious thoughts, I was more and more asking what everything

meant—he frowned and said, "It means turning our back on our

friends. It means making friends with their enemies. You know

what it means, son? It means destroying everything that America

stands for."

Under the auspices of Just Folks—described by Lindbergh's newly

created Office of American Absorption as "a volunteer work pro-

gram introducing city youth to the traditional ways of heartland

life"—my brother left on the last day of June 1941 for a summer

"apprenticeship" with a Kentucky tobacco farmer. Because he'd

never been away from home before, and because the family had

never lived with such uncertainty before, and because my father

objected strenuously to what the OAA's existence implied about

our status as citizens—and also because Alvin, already off serving

with the Canadian army, had become a perpetual source of con-

• 84 •



FOLLOWING CHRISTIANS

cern—Sandy's was an emotional leave-taking. What had given

Sandy strength to resist our parents' arguments against his par-

ticipating in Just Folks—and planted the idea to apply in the first

place—was the support he'd received from my mother's vivid

younger sister, Evelyn, now executive assistant to Rabbi Lionel

Bengelsdorf, who'd been appointed by the new administration to

serve as the first director of the OAA office for the state ofNew Jer-

sey. The announced purpose of the OAA was to implement pro-

grams "encouraging America's religious and national minorities to

become further incorporated into the larger society," though by the

spring of 1941 the only minority the OAA appeared to take a seri-

ous interest in encouraging was ours. It was the intention of Just

Folks to remove hundreds of Jewish boys between the ages of

twelve and eighteen from the cities where they lived and attended

school and put them to work for eight weeks as field hands and day

laborers with farm families hundreds of miles from their homes.

Notices extolling the new summer program had been posted on

bulletin boards at Chancellor and at Weequahic, the high school

just next door, where the student population, like ours, was nearly

one hundred percent Jewish. One day in April, a representative

from the New Jersey OAA had come to talk to the boys twelve and

over about the program's mission, and that evening Sandy showed

up at the dinner table with an application blank that required a

parent's signature.

"Do you understand what this program is actually trying to

do?" my father asked Sandy. "Do you understand why Lindbergh

wants to separate boys like you from their families and ship them

out to the sticks? Do you have any idea what's behind all this?"

"But this doesn't have anything to do with anti-Semitism, if

that's what you think. You have one thing on your mind and one

thing only. This is just a great opportunity, that's all."

"Opportunity for what?"

"To live on a farm. To go to Kentucky. To draw all the things

there. Tractors. Barns. Animals. All kinds of animals."

"But they're not sending you all that way to draw animals," my
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father told him. "They're sending you there to fetch the slops for

the animals. They're sending you there to spread manure. You'll be

so bushed by the end of the day that you won't be able to stand on

your feet, let alone draw a picture of an animal."

"And your hands," my mother said. "There's barbed wire on

farms. There are machines with sharp blades. You could injure

your hands, and then where would you be? You'd never draw again.

I thought you were going to take classes at Arts High this summer.

You were going to take drawing with Mr. Leonard."

"I can always do that—this is seeing America!"

The next night Aunt Evelyn came to dinner, invited by my
mother for the hours Sandy was planning to be at a friend's house

doing his homework; that way he wouldn't be around to witness

the argument that was certain to flare up between Aunt Evelyn and

my father on the subject of Just Folks, and that did indeed erupt

upon her entering the house to announce that she would be tak-

ing care of Sandy's application the moment it reached the office.

"Don't do us any favors," said my unsmiling father.

"You mean to tell me you're not letting him go?"

"Why should I? Why would I?" he asked her.

"Why on earth wouldn't you," Aunt Evelyn replied, "unless

you're another Jew afraid of his shadow."

Their disagreement only grew more passionate during dinner,

my father maintaining that Just Folks was the first step in a Lind-

bergh plan to separate Jewish children from their parents, to erode

the solidarity of the Jewish family, and Aunt Evelyn intimating

none too gently that the greatest fear of a Jew like her brother-in-

law was that his children might escape winding up as narrow-

minded and frightened as he was.

Alvin was the renegade on my father's side, Evelyn was the mav-

erick on my mother's, a substitute elementary school teacher in the

Newark system who'd been active several years earlier in founding

the left-wing, largely Jewish Newark Teachers Union, whose few

hundred members were competing with a more staid, apolitical

teachers' association to negotiate contracts with the city. Evelyn
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was just thirty in 1941, and until two years before, when my mater-

nal grandmother died of heart failure after a decade as a coronary

invalid, it was Evelyn who'd cared for her in the tiny top-floor

apartment of a two-and-a-half-family house that mother and

daughter shared on Dewey Street, not far from Hawthorne Avenue

School, where Evelyn usually subbed. On the days when a neighbor

wasn't free to stop by to keep an eye on our grandmother, my
mother would take the bus over to Dewey Street and look after her

until Evelyn got home from work, and when Evelyn went to New
York to see a play with her intellectual friends on a Saturday night,

either our grandmother would be driven to our house by my father

to spend the evening with us or my mother would return to Dewey

Street to tend to her there. Many nights Aunt Evelyn never made

it home from New York—even when she'd planned to return be-

fore midnight—and so my mother would be forced to spend the

night away from her husband and children. And then there were

the afternoons Evelyn didn't get back until hours after school was

over, because of a long-standing off-and-on love affair with a sub-

stitute teacher from North Newark, like Evelyn a forceful union ad-

vocate, and unlike Evelyn married, Italian, and the parent of three

children.

My mother would always contend that if Evelyn hadn't got way-

laid at home for all those years nursing their invalid mother, she

would have settled down to marry after getting her teaching cer-

tificate and never have ended up falling in and out of "unsavory"

relationships with married men who were her fellow teachers. Her

large nose didn't prevent people from calling Aunt Evelyn "strik-

ing," and it was true, as my mother observed, that when tiny Eve-

lyn walked into a room—a vivacious brunette with a perfect, if

miniaturized, womanly silhouette, enormous dark eyes slanted

like a cat's, and crimson lipstick guaranteed to dazzle—everyone

turned to look, the women as well as the men. Her hair was lac-

quered to a metallic luster and pulled back in a chignon, her eye-

brows were dramatically plucked, and when she went off to sub,

she donned a brightly colored skirt with matching high-heeled
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shoes and a broad white belt and a semisheer, pastel-colored

blouse. My father considered her apparel in poor taste for a school-

teacher, and so did the principal at Hawthorne, but my mother,

who, wrongly or not, reproached herself for Evelyn's having had to

"sacrifice her youth" caring for their mother, was incapable of

judging her sister's boldness harshly, even when Evelyn resigned

from teaching, quit the union, and, seemingly without a qualm,

abandoned her political loyalties to work for Rabbi Bengelsdorf in

Lindbergh's OAA.

It would be several months before it occurred to my parents that

Aunt Evelyn was the rabbi's mistress and had been ever since he'd

met her at a reception following his speech to the Newark Teach-

ers Union on "The Classroom Development ofAmerican Ideals"

—

and they realized it only then because, on leaving the New Jersey

OAA to assume the job of federal director at the national head-

quarters in Washington, Bengelsdorf announced to the Newark

papers news of his engagement, at age sixty-three, to his thirty-

one-year-old firebrand of an assistant.

When he first ran off to fight Hitler, Alvin imagined that the quick-

est way to see action would be aboard one of the Canadian de-

stroyers that were protecting the merchant marine ships carrying

supplies to Great Britain. Stories in the newspaper regularly re-

ported the sinking by German submarines of one or more of the

Canadian ships in the North Atlantic, sometimes as close to the

mainland as the coastal fishing waters of Newfoundland—an es-

pecially ominous development for the British because Canada had

become virtually their only source of arms, food, medicine, and

machinery once the Lindbergh administration overturned the aid

legislation enacted by the Roosevelt Congress. In Montreal Alvin

met a young American defector who told him to forget about the

navy—it was the Canadian commandos who were in the thick of

things, carrying out nighttime raids on the Nazi-occupied conti-

nent, sabotaging utilities vital to the Germans, blowing up ammu-

nition arsenals, and, alongside British commandos and in concert
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with underground European resistance movements, destroying

dock and shipyard facilities up and down the coastline of western

Europe. When he recounted for Alvin all the many ways the com-

mandos taught you to kill a man, Alvin dropped his original plans

and went to join up. Like the rest of the Canadian armed forces, the

commandos were eager to accept qualified American citizens into

their ranks, and so, after sixteen weeks of training, Alvin was as-

signed to an active commando unit and shipped to a secret staging

area in the British Isles. And that was when we heard from him fi-

nally, receiving a six-word letter that read, "Off to fight. See you

soon."

It was just days after Sandy, all on his own, took the overnight

train to Kentucky that my parents received a second letter, this

one not from Alvin but from the War Department in Ottawa, ad-

vising Alvin's designated next of kin that their nephew had been

wounded in action and was in a convalescent hospital in Dor-

set, England. After the dinner dishes were cleared that night, my
mother sat back down at the kitchen table with a fountain pen and

the box of monogrammed stationery reserved for important cor-

respondence. My father seated himself across from her, and I stood

looking over her shoulder to observe how her cursive script uni-

formly unfurled because of the handwriting mechanics she'd em-

ployed as a secretary and taught early on to Sandy and me—the

third and fourth fingers positioned to support the hand, and the

forefinger nearer the pen point than the thumb. She spoke each

sentence aloud before writing it down in case my father wanted to

change or add anything.

Dearest Alvin,

This morning we received a letter from the Canadian

government telling us that you were wounded in action

and that you're in a hospital in England. The letter con-

tained nothing more specific other than a mailing address

for you.

Right now we are at the kitchen table, Uncle Herman,

Philip, and Aunt Bess. We all want to know everything
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about your condition. Sandy is away for the summer, but

we'll write him about you immediately.

Is there any chance you will be sent back to Canada? If

so, we would drive there to see you. In the meantime, we

send you our love and hope you will write us from Eng-

land. Please write or ask someone to write for you. What-

ever you want us to do, we will do.

Again, we love you and we miss you.

To this message we appended our three signatures. It was nearly

a month before we got a response.

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Roth:

Corporal Alvin Roth received your letter of July 5. 1 am
the senior nurse on his unit and I read the letter to him sev-

eral times to be sure he understood who it was from and

what it said.

Right now Cpl. Roth is not communicative. He lost his

left leg below the knee and was seriously wounded in his

right foot. The right foot is healing and that wound should

not leave him impaired. When his left leg is ready, he will

be fitted with a prosthesis and taught to walk with it.

This is a dark moment for Cpl. Roth, but I wish to assure

you that in time he should be able to resume his life as a

civilian with no significant physical problems. This hospi-

tal is limited to amputees and burn cases. I have seen many

men undergo the same psychological difficulties as Cpl.

Roth, but most of them come through, and I strongly be-

lieve that Cpl. Roth will too.

Sincerely,

Lt. A. F. Cooper

Once a week, Sandy wrote saying he was fine and reporting how

hot it was in Kentucky and concluding with a sentence about life

on the farm—something like "There's a bumper crop of blackber-

ries" or "The steer are being driven crazy by flies" or "Today they're

cutting alfalfa" or "Topping began," whatever that might mean.
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Then, below his signature—and perhaps to prove to his father that

he had stamina enough to do his artwork even after working all day

on the farm—he'd sketch a picture of a pig ("This pig," he noted,

"weighs over three hundred pounds!") or a dog ("Suzie, Orin's dog

—her specialty is scaring snakes") or a lamb ("Mr. Mawhinney

took 30 lambs to the stockyards yesterday") or of a barn ("They

just painted this place with creosote. P-U!"). Usually far more space

was taken up by the drawing than by the message, and, to my
mother's chagrin, the questions she would raise in her own weekly

letter, asking if he needed clothes or medicine or money, rarely got

answered. Of course I knew my mother cared for each of her chil-

dren with equal devotion, but not till Sandy was gone to Kentucky

did I learn how much he meant to her as someone distinct from his

little brother. Though she wasn't about to grow despondent over

being separated for eight weeks from a son already thirteen, all

summer long there was an undercurrent of the forlorn notice-

able in certain gestures and facial expressions, particularly at the

kitchen table when the fourth chair drawn up for dinner remained

empty night after night.

Aunt Evelyn was with us when we went to Penn Station to pick

Sandy up on the late-August Saturday that he arrived back in

Newark. She was the last one my father wanted coming along, but

just as when, against his own inclinations, he'd eventually allowed

Sandy to apply for Just Folks and accept the summer job in Ken-

tucky, he had yielded to his sister-in-law's influence over his son to

avoid making more difficult a predicament whose ultimate danger

still wasn't entirely clear.

At the station, Aunt Evelyn was the first of us to recognize Sandy

when he stepped from the train onto the platform, some ten

pounds heavier than when he'd left and his brown hair blondish

from his working in the fields under the summer sun. He'd grown

a couple of inches as well, so that his pants were now nowhere near

his shoe tops, and altogether my impression was of my brother in

disguise.

"Hey, farmer," Aunt Evelyn called, "over here!" and Sandy came
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loping in our direction, swinging his bags at his sides and sporting

an outdoorsy new walk to go with the new physique.

"Welcome home, stranger," my mother said, and, with the air of

a young girl, happily threw her arms around his neck, and the

words she murmured into his ear ("Was there ever a boy so hand-

some?") caused him to complain, "Ma! Cut it out!" which, of

course, handed the rest of the family a big laugh. We all hugged

him, and, standing beside the train he'd boarded seven hundred

fifty miles away, he flexed his biceps so I could feel them. In the car,

when he began answering our questions, we heard how husky his

voice had become, and we heard for the first time the drawl and the

twang.

Aunt Evelyn was triumphant. Sandy talked about the last job

he'd had out in the fields—going around with Orin, one of the

Mawhinneys' sons, picking up the tobacco leaves broken off during

harvesting. They were usually the lowest on the plant, Sandy said,

they were called "flyings," and it so happened they were top-grade

tobacco and fetched the highest price at the market. But the men
doing the cutting on a tobacco patch of twenty-five acres can't

bother about the leaves on the ground, he told us, as they have to

cut some three thousand sticks of tobacco a day in order to get

everything housed in the curing barn in two weeks. "Whoa, whoa

—what's a 'stick,' dear?" Aunt Evelyn asked, and gladly he obliged

her with the lengthiest possible explanation. And so what's a cur-

ing barn, she asked, what's topping, what's suckering, what's worm-

ing—and the more questions Aunt Evelyn came up with, the more

authoritative Sandy became, so that even when we got to Summit

Avenue and my father pulled the car into the alleyway, he was still

going on about raising tobacco as though expecting us all to head

right for the backyard and start preparing the weedy patch of dirt

next to the garbage cans for Newark's first crop ever of white bur-

ley. "It's the sweetened burley in Luckys," he informed us, "that

gives 'em the taste," and meanwhile I was itching to feel his biceps

again, which to me were no less extraordinary than the regional ac-

cent, if that's what it was—he said "cain't" for "can't" and "rimem-
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ber" for "remember" and "fahr" for "fire" and "agin" for "again" and

"awalkin " and "atalkin " for "walking" and "talking," and whatever

you wanted to call that concoction of English, it wasn't what we

natives of New Jersey spoke.

Aunt Evelyn was triumphant but my father was stymied, said al-

most nothing, and at the dinner table that evening looked espe-

cially glum when Sandy got around to reporting on what a para-

gon Mr. Mawhinney was. First off, Mr. Mawhinney had graduated

from the College of Agriculture at the University of Kentucky,

while my father, like most other Newark slum children before the

World War, hadn't been educated beyond the eighth grade. Mr.

Mawhinney owned not just one farm but three—the lesser two

rented to tenants—land that had been in his family going back

nearly to the days of Daniel Boone, and my father owned nothing

more impressive than a six-year-old car. Mr. Mawhinney could

saddle a horse, drive a tractor, operate a thresher, ride a fertilizer

drill, work a field as easily with a team of mules as with a team of

oxen; he could rotate crops and manage hired men, both white

and Negro; he could repair tools, sharpen plow points and mow-

ers, put up fences, string barbed wire, raise chickens, dip sheep, de-

horn cattle, slaughter pigs, smoke bacon, sugar-cure ham—and he

raised watermelons that were the sweetest and juiciest Sandy had

ever eaten. By cultivating tobacco, corn, and potatoes, Mr. Mawhin-

ney was able to make a living right out of the earth and then, at

Sunday dinner (where the six-foot-three-inch, two-hundred-and-

thirty-pound farmer consumed more fried chicken with cream

gravy than everyone else at the table combined), eat only food that

he himself had raised, and all my father could do was sell insur-

ance. It went without saying that Mr. Mawhinney was a Christian,

a long-standing member of the great overpowering majority that

fought the Revolution and founded the nation and conquered the

wilderness and subjugated the Indian and enslaved the Negro and

emancipated the Negro and segregated the Negro, one of the good,

clean, hard-working Christian millions who settled the frontier,

tilled the farms, built the cities, governed the states, sat in Con-
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gress, occupied the White House, amassed the wealth, possessed

the land, owned the steel mills and the ball clubs and the railroads

and the banks, even owned and oversaw the language, one of those

unassailable Nordic and Anglo-Saxon Protestants who ran Amer-

ica and would always run it—generals, dignitaries, magnates, ty-

coons, the men who laid down the law and called the shots and

read the riot act when they chose to—while my father, of course,

was only a Jew.

Sandy got the news about Alvin once Aunt Evelyn had gone home.

My father was at the kitchen table working on his account books

preparatory to going out to make his evening collections and my
mother was in the cellar with Sandy sorting through the clothes

he'd brought back from Kentucky, deciding what to repair and

what to throw out before putting everything else in the washtub.

My mother always did immediately whatever had to be done, and

she was set on disposing of his dirty clothes before she went to bed.

I was down there with them, unable to let my brother out of my
sight. He'd always known everything I didn't know, and he'd come

back from Kentucky knowing still more.

"I have to tell you about Alvin," my mother said to him. "I

didn't want to write because . . . well, I didn't want to shock you,

dear." Here, having gathered herself together to make certain she

wouldn't cry, she said in a low voice, "Alvin was wounded. He's in

a hospital in England. He's there recovering from his wounds."

Astonished, Sandy asked, "Who wounded him?" as though she

were reporting an occurrence in our neighborhood rather than in

Nazi-occupied Europe, where people were being maimed, wounded,

and killed all the time.

"We don't know any details," my mother said. "But it wasn't a su-

perficial wound. I have to tell you something very sad, Sanford."

And despite her attempt to keep everyone's courage up, her voice

began to waver when she said, "Alvin's lost a leg."

"A leg?" There aren't many words less abstruse than "leg," but it

took some doing for him to comprehend it.
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"Yes. According to a letter we got from one of his nurses, his left

leg below the knee." As if it might somehow soothe him, she added,

"If you'd like to read it, the letter's upstairs."

"But—how will he walk?"

"They're going to fit him with an artificial leg."

"But I don't understand who wounded him. How did he get

wounded?"

"Well, they were there to fight the Germans," she said, "so it

must have been one of them."

Still half staving off what was half sinking in, Sandy asked,

"Which leg?"

As tenderly as she could, she repeated, "The left."

"The whole leg? The whole thing?"

"No, no, no," she rushed to reassure him. "I told you, dear

—

below the knee."

Suddenly Sandy began to cry, and because he was so much big-

ger across the shoulders and through the chest and around the

wrists than he'd been just last spring, because his arms were now
brawny like a man's rather than stringy like a child's, I was so star-

tled to see tears running down his deeply tanned face that I started

crying too.

"Dear, it's awful," my mother said. "But Alvin is not dead. He is

still alive, and now at least he's out of the war."

"What?" Sandy erupted. "Did you hear what you just said to

me?"

"What do you mean?" she asked.

"Didn't you hear yourself? You said, 'He's out of the war.'"

"And he is. Absolutely. And because he is, he'll now come home

before anything more can possibly happen."

"But why was he even in the war, Ma?"

"Because—"

"Because of Dad!" Sandy shouted.

"Dear, no, this isn't true," and her hand flew up to cover her

mouth as though it were she who had spoken those unpardonable

words. "That is not so," she objected. "Alvin went off to Canada
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without telling us. He ran away on that Friday night. You remem-

ber how terrible it was. Nobody wanted Alvin to go to war—he just

went, on his own."

"But Dad wants the whole country to go to war. Well, doesn't

he? Isn't that why he voted for Roosevelt?"

"Lower your voice, please."

"First you say thank God that Alvin is out of the war
—

"

"Lower your voiced and the tension of the day now so over-

whelmed her that she lost her temper, and to the boy she had so

painfully missed all summer long, she snapped, "You don't know

what you're talking about!"

"But you won't listen? he shouted. "If it wasn't for President

Lindbergh
—

"

That name again! I would rather have heard a bomb go off than

to have to hear one more time the name that was tormenting us all.

Just then my father appeared in the dim light of the landing at

the top of the cellar stairs. It was probably a good thing that from

where we were standing by the deep laundry sink, all we could see

of him were trousers and shoes.

"He's upset about Alvin," my mother said, looking up to explain

what the shouting was about. "I made a mistake." To Sandy she

said, "I should never have told you tonight. It's not easy for a boy

to come home from a big experience like that . . . it's never easy to

go from one place to another . . . and anyway you're so tired ..."

and then, helpless, giving herself up to her own exhaustion, she

said, "The two of you, both of you, go upstairs now so I can do the

wash."

And so we turned to mount the stairs and found, fortunately,

that my father had already disappeared from the landing and was

off in the car to make his evening collections.

In bed, one hour later. The lights are out all over the house. We

whisper.

Did you really have a good time?
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I had a great time.

What made it so great?

Being on a farm is great. You get to get up early in the morning,

and you're outside all day, and there are all these animals. I drew a

lot of animals, I'll show you my drawings. And we had ice cream

every night. Mrs. Mawhinney makes it herself. There's fresh milk

there.

All milk is fresh.

No, we got it right from the cow. It was still warm. We put it on the

stove and we'd boil it and just take the cream off the top, and then

we'd drink it.

You couldn't get sick from it?

That's why you boil it.

But you don't just drink it right out of the cow.

I tried that once but it doesn't taste so good. It's so creamy.

Did you milk a cow?

Orin showed me how to do it. It's hard to do. Orin would squirt it,

and the cats would come around, and they'd try to catch the milk.

Did you have any friends?

Well, Orin's my best friend.

Orin Mawhinney?

Yeah. He's my age. He goes to school there. He works on the farm.

He gets up at four o'clock in the morning. He does chores. It's not

like us. He goes to school on the bus. It's about forty-five minutes

on the bus, and then he comes back in the evening, and he does

some more chores, and he does his homework, and he goes to

bed. He gets up at four o'clock the next morning. It's hard work to

be a farmer's son.

But they're rich, aren't they?
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They're pretty rich.

How come you talk like that now?

Why shouldn't I? That's the way they talk in Kentucky. You should

hear Mrs. Mawhinney. She's from Georgia. She makes pancakes

for breakfast every morning. With bacon. Mr. Mawhinney smokes

his own bacon. In a smokehouse. He knows how to.

You ate bacon every morning?

Every morning. It's delicious. And on Sundays when we got up we

had pancakes and bacon and eggs. From their own chickens. The

eggs—they're almost red in the middle, they're so fresh. You go

and take 'em from the chickens and bring 'em in and you eat 'em

right there.

Did you eat ham?

We had ham for dinner about two times a week. Mr. Mawhinney

makes his own ham. He has a special family recipe. He says if a

ham isn't hung up to be aged for a year he doesn't want to eat it.

Did you eat sausage?

Yeah. He makes the sausage, too. They grind it in a sausage grinder.

We had sausage sometimes instead of bacon. It's good. Pork chops.

They're good too. They're great. I don't really know why we don't

eat it.

Because it's stuff from a pig.

So what? Why do you think farmers raise pigs? For people to look

at 'em? It's like anything else you eat. You just eat it, and it's really

good.

You going to keep eating it now?

Sure.

It was really hot there, though, huh?

During the day. But we'd come in at lunchtime, and we'd have
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tomato and mayonnaise sandwiches. With lemonade—with lots of

lemonade. We'd rest inside and then we'd go back out into the fields

and do whatever we had to. Weeding. Weed all afternoon. Weed the

corn. Weed the tobacco. We had a vegetable garden, me and Orin,

and we'd weed that. We'd work with the hired hands, and there

were some Negroes, day laborers. And there's one Negro, Randolph,

who is a tenant, and he rose from hired hand. He's a grade-A

farmer, Mr. Mawhinney says.

Can you understand when the Negroes talk?

Sure.

Can you imitate one?

They say " 'bacca" for tobacco. They say "I 'clare." I 'clare this and

I 'clare that. But they don't talk much. Mostly they work. At hog-

killing time, Mr. Mawhinney has Clete and Old Henry who gut

the hogs. They're Negroes, they're brothers, and they take the intes-

tines home and eat 'em fried. Chitterlings.

Would you eat that?

Do I look like a Negro? Mr. Mawhinney says Negroes are starting

to move away from the farm because they think they can earn more

money in the city. Sometimes Old Henry got arrested on Saturday

nights. For drinking. Mr. Mawhinney pays the fine to get him out

because he needs him on Monday.

Do they have shoes?

Some. The kids are barefoot. The Mawhinneys give them their

clothes when they're done with them. But they were happy.

Anybody say anything about anti-Semitism?

They don't even think about it, Philip. I was the first Jew they ever

met. They told me that. But they never said anything mean. It's

Kentucky. People there are really friendly.

So, are you glad to be home?

99



JUNE 1941-DECEMBER I94I

Sort of. I don't know.

You going to go back next year?

Sure.

What if Mom and Dad won't let you?

I'll go anyway.

Seemingly as a direct consequence of Sandy's having eaten bacon,

ham, pork chops, and sausage, there was no containing the trans-

formation of our lives. Rabbi Bengelsdorf was coming to dinner.

Aunt Evelyn was bringing him.

"Why us?" my father said to my mother. Dinner was over, Sandy

was on his bed writing to Orin Mawhinney, and I was alone with

them in the living room, intent on seeing how my father was going

to take the news now that everything around us was moving at

once.

"She is my sister," said my mother, a touch belligerently, "he is

her boss—I can't tell her no."

"I can," he said.

"You will do nothing of the sort."

"Then explain again why we deserve this great honor? The big

shot has nothing more pressing than to come here?"

"Evelyn wants him to meet your son."

"That's ridiculous. Your sister has always been ridiculous. My
son is in the eighth grade at Chancellor Avenue School. He spent

the summer pulling weeds. This is all ridiculous."

"Herman, they're coming on Thursday night, and we're going to

make them welcome. You may hate him, but he's not nobody."

"I know that," he said impatiently. "That's why I hate him."

When he walked about the house now a copy of PM was con-

stantly in his hands, either rolled up like a weapon—as though he

were preparing, if called upon, to go to war himself—or turned

back to a page where there was something he wanted to read aloud

to my mother. He was perplexed on this particular evening as to
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why the Germans continued to advance so easily into Russia, and

so, rattling the paper in exasperation, he all at once exclaimed,

"Why don't those Russians fight? They have planes—why don't

they use them? Why doesn't anybody over there put up a fight?

Hitler walks into a country, crosses the border and walks right in,

and bingo, it's his. England," he announced, "is the only country in

Europe to stand up to that dog. He pounds away at those English

cities every single night, and they just come back and keep on

fighting him with the RAF. Thank God for the men of the RAF."

"When is Hitler going to invade England?" I asked him. "Why

doesn't he invade England now?"

"That was part of the deal he made with Mr. Lindbergh up in

Iceland. Lindbergh wants to be the savior of mankind," my father

explained to me, "and negotiate the peace that ends the war, and so

after Hitler takes Russia, and after he takes the Middle East, and

after he takes everything else he could possibly want, Lindbergh

will call a phony peace conference—the kind that's right up the

Germans' alley. The Germans will be there, and the price for world

peace and no German invasion of Great Britain will be installing in

England an English fascist government. Putting a fascist prime

minister in Downing Street. And when the English say no, then

Hitler will invade, and all with the consent of our president the

peacemaker."

"Is that what Walter Winchell says?" I asked, thinking that all he

had explained to me was just too smart for him.

"That's what / say," he told me, and probably that was true. The

pressure of what was happening was accelerating everyone's edu-

cation, my own included. "But thank God for Walter Winchell.

Without him we'd be lost. He's the last person left on the radio to

speak out against these dirty dogs. It's disgusting. It's worse than

disgusting. Slowly but surely, there's nobody in America willing to

speak out against Lindbergh's kissing Hitler's behind."

"What about the Democrats?" I asked.

"Son, don't ask me about the Democrats. I'm angry enough as

it is."
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My mother had me help her set the table in the dining room on

Thursday evening, and then sent me to my bedroom to change

into my good clothes. Aunt Evelyn and Rabbi Bengelsdorf were

to arrive at seven, forty-five minutes later than we would ordinar-

ily have finished eating in the kitchen, but seven was the earliest

the rabbi could manage to get to our house because of all his offi-

cial duties. This was the very traitor whom my father, usually so

respectful of the Jewish clergy, had accused aloud of making "a stu-

pid, lying speech" in behalf of Lindbergh at Madison Square Gar-

den, the "Jewish fake," according to Alvin, who'd guaranteed Roo-

sevelt's defeat by "koshering Lindbergh for the goyim," and so it

was puzzling to witness the lengths to which we were going to feed

him. I was myself instructed beforehand not to use the fresh tow-

els in the bathroom or to go anywhere near my father's armchair,

which was for the rabbi to occupy before we ate dinner.

First we all sat stiffly in the living room while my father offered

the rabbi a highball or, if he preferred, a shot of schnapps, both

of which Bengelsdorf declined in favor of a glass of tap water.

"Newark has the best drinking water in the world," the rabbi said,

and said it as he would say everything, with deep consideration.

Graciously he received the glass, on a coaster, from my mother,

whom I could still recall back in October running from the radio

in order not to have to hear him praise Lindbergh. "You have a most

agreeable house," he said to her. "Everything in its place and every-

thing placed perfectly. It bespeaks the love of order which I myself

share. I see you have a penchant for the color green."

"Forest green," said my mother, trying to smile and trying to

please but speaking with difficulty and unable as yet to look his

way.

"You should take great pride in your lovely home. I am honored

to be a guest here."

The rabbi was quite tall, built on the order of Lindbergh, a thin,

bald-headed man in a dark three-piece suit and gleaming black

shoes; his erect posture alone seemed to me to express an alle-
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giance to mankind's highest ideals. From the mellifluous southern

accent I'd heard on the radio I had envisioned somebody looking

far less severe, but just his eyeglasses were intimidating, in part be-

cause they were the owlish oval spectacles that pinched the nose to

stay on the face, like the ones that Roosevelt wore, and in part be-

cause the very fact that he wore them—and examined you through

them microscopically—made it clear that he was not a man with

whom to disagree. Yet when he spoke his tone was warm, friendly,

even confiding. I kept waiting for him to treat us with contempt or

order us around, but all he did was to talk in that accent (which

wasn't at all like Sandy's), and so softly that at times you had to

hold your breath to hear how learned he was.

"And you must be the boy," he said to Sandy, "who's made us all

so proud."

"I'm Sandy, sir," Sandy replied, flushing furiously. It was, to my
mind, a brilliant retort to a question that another successful boy,

trying to meet the sanctioned standard of modesty, might not have

been able to handle with such dispatch. No, nothing could now
undo Sandy, not with those muscles and that sun-bleached hair

and the abundance of pig he'd stashed away without asking per-

mission of anyone.

"And what was it like," the rabbi asked, "to work there in the

Kentucky fields under the burning sun?" He said "wuhk" for

"work" and "buhning" for "burning" and "theyuh" for "there," and

pronounced "Kentucky" as it was spelled and not, as Sandy now
did, as though the first three letters were K-i-n.

"I learned a lot, sir. I learned a lot about my country."

Aunt Evelyn visibly approved, as well she might have, since on

the phone the evening before she'd fitted him out with the answer

to just such a question. Since she had always to be superior to my
father, there could be no greater delight than to shape the existence

of his older son right in front of his nose.

"You were on a tobacco farm, your aunt Evelyn tells me."

"Yes, sir. White burley tobacco."
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"Did you know, Sandy, that tobacco was the economic foun-

dation of the first permanent English settlement in America, at

Jamestown in Virginia?"

"I didn't," he admitted, but added, "Though I'm not surprised to

hear it," and, in a flash, the worst was over.

"Many mishaps beset the Jamestown pioneers," the rabbi told

him. "But what saved them from starvation and saved the settle-

ment from extinction was the cultivation of tobacco. Think of it.

Without tobacco, the first representative government in the New
World would never have met at Jamestown, as it did in 1619. With-

out tobacco, the Jamestown colony would have collapsed, the col-

onization of Virginia would have failed, and the First Families of

Virginia, whose wealth derived from their tobacco plantations,

would themselves have never come to prominence. And when you

remember that the First Families of Virginia were the forebears of

the Virginia statesmen who were our country's Founding Fathers,

you appreciate tobacco's vital importance to the history of our

republic."

"You do," Sandy answered.

"I myself," said the rabbi, "was born in the American South. I

was born fourteen years after the tragedy of the Civil War. My fa-

ther as a young man fought for the Confederacy. His father came

from Germany to settle in Louisiana in 1850. He was a peddler. He

had a horse with a wagon and he wore a long beard and he sold to

the Negroes and to the white people both. Did you ever hear of

Judah Benjamin?" the rabbi asked Sandy.

"No, sir." But again he quickly righted himself, this time by re-

plying, "May I ask who he was?"

"Well, he was a Jew and second only to Jefferson Davis in the

government of the Confederacy. He was a Jewish lawyer who served

Davis as attorney general, as secretary of war, and as secretary of

state. Prior to the secession of the South he had served in the U.S.

Senate as one of Louisiana's two senators. The cause for which the

South went to war was neither legal nor moral in my judgment, yet

I have always held Judah Benjamin in the highest regard. A Jew was
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a rarity in America in those days, in the North no less than the

South, but don't think there wasn't anti-Semitism to contend with

back then. Nonetheless Judah Benjamin came close to the very pin-

nacle of political success in the Confederate government. After the

war was lost, he moved abroad to become a distinguished lawyer in

England."

Here my mother removed herself to the kitchen—purportedly

to check on the dinner—and Aunt Evelyn said to Sandy, "Maybe

this is a good time for the rabbi to see the drawings you made on

the farm."

Sandy got up and carried over to the rabbi's chair the several

sketchbooks that he'd filled with drawings during the summer and

that he'd been holding in his lap since we'd all gathered in the liv-

ing room.

The rabbi took one of the books and began slowly turning the

pages.

"Tell the rabbi a little something about each picture," Aunt Eve-

lyn suggested.

"That's the barn," Sandy said. "That's where they hang the to-

bacco to cure after they harvest it."

"Well, that is a barn, all right, and a beautifully drawn barn. I

very much like the pattern of light and dark. You're very talented,

Sanford."

"And that's a tobacco plant growing. That's what they look like.

See, it's shaped like a triangle. They're big. That one's still got the

blossom on top. It's before they top it."

"And this tobacco plant," the rabbi said, turning to a new page,

"with the bag on the top—that is something I've never seen before."

"That's how they get the seed. That's a seed plant. They cover the

blossom with a paper bag and tie it tight. It keeps the blossom the

way they want it."

"Very, very good," the rabbi said. "It isn't easy to draw a plant ac-

curately and still make it into a work of art. Look how you've shad-

owed the undersides of the leaves. Very good indeed."

"And that's a plow, of course," Sandy said, "and that's a hoe.
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That's a hand hoe. To do your weeding with. Though you can also

use just your hands."

"And did you weed much?" the rabbi asked teasingly.

"Oh, boy" Sandy said, and Rabbi Bengelsdorf smiled, looking

not at all now like a frightening figure. "And that's just the dog,"

Sandy went on, "Orin's dog. She's sleeping. And that's one of the

Negroes, Old Henry, and those are his hands. I thought they had

character."

"And who is this?"

"That's Old Henry's brother. That's Clete."

"I like the way you've rendered him. How weary the man looks,

slouching like that. I know those Negroes—I grew up with them,

and I respect them. And this? Just what would this be?" the rabbi

asked. "Here, with the bellows."

"Well, a person's inside. That's how he sprays against tobacco

worms. He has to dress like that from head to foot with big gloves

and heavy clothes all buttoned up so he doesn't get burned. When
he squirts the insecticide out through the bellows he can burn

himself with it. It's green, the dust, and when he's finished his

clothes are covered with it. I tried to get the look of the dust, I tried

to make it lighter where the dust is, but I don't think it came out

right."

"Well, I'm sure," said the rabbi, "that it's hard to draw dust," and

began to progress a little more rapidly through the remaining

pages until he came to the end and closed the book. "Kentucky was

an experience that wasn't wasted on you, was it, young man?"

"I loved it," Sandy replied, and my father, who had been silent

and unmoving on the sofa since yielding the rabbi his favorite

chair, got up and said, "I have to help Bess," the way he might have

said, "I'm now going to jump out the window and kill myself."

"The Jews of America," the rabbi told us at dinner, "are unlike

any other community of Jews in the history of the world. They

have the greatest opportunity accorded to our people in modern

times. The Jews of America can participate fully in the national life
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of their country. They need no longer dwell apart, a pariah com-

munity separated from the rest. All that is required is the courage

that your son Sandy displayed by going on his own into the un-

known of Kentucky to work for the summer as a farm hand there.

I believe that Sandy and the other Jewish boys like him in the Just

Folks program should serve as models not only for every Jewish

child growing up in this country but for every Jewish adult. And

this is not merely a dream of mine; it is the dream of President

Lindbergh."

Our ordeal had suddenly taken the worst possible turn. I'd not

forgotten how in Washington my father had stood up to the hotel

manager and the bullying policeman, and so now that Lindbergh's

name had been spoken with deference in his house I thought the

moment had come when he would stand up to Bengelsdorf.

But a rabbi was a rabbi, and he didn't.

My mother and Aunt Evelyn served the meal, three courses fol-

lowed by a marble cake freshly baked in our oven that afternoon.

We ate off the "good" dishes with the "good" silverware, and in the

dining room no less, where we had our best rug and our best fur-

niture and our best linens and where we ourselves ate only on spe-

cial occasions. From my side of the table you could see the photo-

graphic portraits of the family dead arranged atop the breakfront

that was our memorial shrine. Framed there were two grandfa-

thers, our maternal grandmother, a maternal aunt, and two uncles,

one of them Uncle Jack, Alvin's father and my father's beloved

older brother. In the aftermath of Rabbi Bengelsdorf's invoking

Lindbergh's name, I was more confused than ever. A rabbi was a

rabbi, but Alvin meanwhile was in a Canadian army hospital in

Montreal learning to walk on an artificial left leg after having lost

his own left leg battling Hitler, and in my own house—where I was

supposed to wear anything except my good clothes—I had to put

on my one tie and my one jacket to impress the very rabbi who

helped to elect the president whose friend was Hitler. How could I

not be confused, when our disgrace and our glory were one and

107



JUNE I94I-DECEMBER 1941

the same? Something essential had been destroyed and lost, we

were being coerced to be other than the Americans we were, and

yet, by the light of the cut-glass chandelier, amid the weighty, dark-

stained suite of dining room furniture, we were eating my mother's

pot roast in the company of the first famous visitor we had ever en-

tertained.

To further confound me and make me pay the full price for my
thoughts, Bengelsdorf began, all at once, to speak about Alvin,

whom he'd learned about from Aunt Evelyn. "I am saddened by the

casualty in your family. My heart goes out to all of you. Evelyn tells

me that when your nephew is released from the hospital he will

come to convalesce with you all. I'm sure you know the mental an-

guish that such a wound can provoke in someone still in the flower

of his youth. It will require all the love and patience you can muster

to bring him to where he can again resume a useful life. His story

is particularly tragic because there was no necessity whatsoever for

his having crossed over to Canada to join their armed forces. Alvin

Roth was born a citizen of the United States, and the United States

is not at war with anyone, has no intention of going to war with

anyone, and doesn't require the sacrifice of life or limb in warfare

from a single one of its young men. Some of us have gone to great

lengths to make this so. I have encountered considerable hostility

from members of the Jewish community for allying myself in the

1940 election with the Lindbergh campaign. But I have been sus-

tained by my abhorrence of war. It is terrible enough that young

Alvin should have lost his leg in a battle on the European continent

having nothing to do with the security of America or the well-

being of Americans . .

."

On he went, more or less repeating what he'd said at Madison

Square Garden in support of America's remaining neutral, but my
focus now was only on Alvin. He was coming to stay with us? I

looked at my mother. She'd told us nothing about it. When would

he arrive? Where would he sleep? It was bad enough, as my mother

had said in Washington, that we weren't living in a normal coun-

try; now we would never again be living in a normal house. A life of
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even more suffering was taking shape around me, and I wanted to

scream "No! Alvin can't stay here—he has only one leg!"

I was so upset that it was a while before I realized that the din-

ing room reign of decorum had ended and my father was no longer

allowing himself to be shoved aside. Somehow he had managed at

last to overturn the obstacles posed by Bengelsdorf's credentials

and by his own insufficiencies; he had ceased being intimidated by

the rabbinical grandeur, and, urged on by his irrepressible sense of

an impending disaster—and violently irritated by the condescen-

sion—he was letting Bengelsdorf have it, pince-nez and all.

"Hitler," I heard him saying, "Hitler is not business as usual,

Rabbi! This madman is not making a war from a thousand years

ago. He is making a war such as no one has ever seen on this planet.

He has conquered Europe. He is at war with Russia. Every night he

bombs London into rubble and kills hundreds of innocent British

civilians. He is the worst anti-Semite in history. And yet his great

friend our president takes him at his word when Hitler tells him

that they have an 'understanding.' Hitler had an understanding

with the Russians. Did he keep it? He had an understanding with

Chamberlain. Did he keep it? Hitler's goal is to conquer the world,

and that includes the United States of America. And since every-

where he goes he shoots the Jews, when the time is right he will

come and shoot the Jews here. And what will our president do

then? Protect us? Defend us? Our president will not lift a finger.

That is the understanding that they reached at Iceland, and any

adult who thinks otherwise is crazy."

Rabbi Bengelsdorf showed no impatience with my father but lis-

tened respectfully, as if in sympathy with at least some of what he

was hearing. Only Sandy seemed to be having trouble keeping his

feelings to himself, and when our father referred scornfully to

Lindbergh as "our president," he turned to me and made a face that

revealed how far he'd spun out of the family orbit merely by mak-

ing the ordinary American's adjustment to the new administra-

tion. My mother was seated to my father's right and, when he had

finished, gripped his hand in hers, though to communicate how
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proud she was of him or to signal him to be still wasn't clear. As for

Aunt Evelyn, she took all her cues from the rabbi, concealing her

thoughts behind a mask of benign sufferance while her shallow

brother-in-law dared to oppose with his piddling vocabulary a

scholar who could talk in ten languages.

Bengelsdorf did not immediately respond but instead created a

portentous interval in which quietly to insert his rejoinder: "I was

at the White House talking to the president just yesterday morn-

ing." Here he sipped from his glass of water, allowing time for us to

regain self-possession. "I was congratulating him," he continued,

"on the significant inroad he had made into allaying the Jewish

suspiciousness that dated back to his trips to Germany in the late

thirties, when he was secretly taking the measure of the German air

force for the U.S. government. I informed him that any number of

my own congregants who had voted for Roosevelt were now his

strong supporters, grateful that he had established our neutrality

and spared our country the agonies of yet another great war. I told

him that Just Folks and programs like it were beginning to con-

vince the Jews of America that he is anything but their enemy. Ad-

mittedly, before his becoming president he at times made public

statements grounded in anti-Semitic cliches. But he spoke from ig-

norance then, and admits as much today. I am pleased to tell you

that it took no more than two or three sessions alone with the pres-

ident to get him to relinquish his misconceptions and to appreci-

ate the manifold nature of Jewish life in America. This is not an evil

man, not in any way. This is a man of enormous native intelligence

and great probity who is rightly celebrated for his personal courage

and who wants now to enlist my aid to help him raze those bar-

riers of ignorance that continue to separate Christian from Jew

and Jew from Christian. Because there is ignorance as well among

Jews, unfortunately, many ofwhom persist in thinking of President

Lindbergh as an American Hitler when they know full well that he

is not a dictator who attained power in a putsch but a democratic

leader who came to office through a landslide victory in a fair and
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free election and who has exhibited not a single inclination toward

authoritarian rule. He does not glorify the state at the expense of

the individual but, to the contrary, encourages entrepreneurial in-

dividualism and a free enterprise system unencumbered by inter-

ference from the federal government. Where is the fascist statism?

Where is the fascist thuggery? Where are the Nazi Brown Shirts and

the secret police? When have you observed a single manifestation

of fascist anti-Semitism emanating from our government? What

Hitler perpetrated on Germany's Jews with the passage in 1935 of

the Nuremberg Laws is the absolute antithesis of what President

Lindbergh has undertaken to do for America's Jews through the es-

tablishment of the Office of American Absorption. The Nurem-

berg Laws deprived Jews of their civil rights and did everything to

exclude them from membership in their nation. What I have en-

couraged President Lindbergh to do is to initiate programs invit-

ing Jews to enter as far into the national life as they like—a national

life that I'm sure you would agree is no less ours to enjoy than any-

one else's."

A pouring forth of sentences as informed as these had never be-

fore occurred at our dining table or probably anywhere on our

block, and it was startling then—when the rabbi concluded by in-

quiring rather gently, even intimately, "Tell me, Herman, does what

I've explained begin to address your fears?"—to hear my father

respond flatly, "No. No. Not for a moment." And then, heedless of

rendering an affront that would not only arouse the rabbi's dis-

pleasure but insult his dignity and provoke his vindictive con-

tempt, my father added, "Hearing a person like you talk like that

—

frankly, it alarms me even more."

The following evening Aunt Evelyn phoned and bubblingly in-

formed us that out of the one hundred New Jersey boys who'd

gone west that summer under the sponsorship of Just Folks, Sandy

had been selected as the statewide "recruiting officer" to speak as a

veteran to eligible Jewish youngsters and their families about the

OAA program's many benefits and to encourage them to apply.
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Thus did the rabbi extract his revenge. Our father's older son was

now an honorary member of the new administration.

It was shortly after Sandy began spending his afternoons down-

town at Aunt Evelyn's OAA office that my mother put on her best

suit—the tailored gray jacket and skirt with the pale pinstripe that

she wore to preside over PTA meetings and as a poll watcher in the

school basement at election time—and went off to look for a job.

At dinner she announced that she had found work selling ladies'

dresses at Hahne's, a big downtown department store. She had

been hired early as holiday help to work six days a week and Wed-

nesday evenings, but as she was an experienced office secretary she

harbored the hope that over the coming weeks a job might open

up on the store's administrative floor and she would be retained

after Christmas as a permanent employee. She explained to Sandy

and me that her paycheck would contribute toward meeting the

larger household bills occasioned by Alvin's return while her real

intention (known to no one other than her husband) was to de-

posit her paychecks by mail into a Montreal bank account in case

we had to flee and start from scratch in Canada.

My mother was gone, my brother was gone, and Alvin would

soon be on his way home. My father had driven to Montreal to visit

him in the army hospital there. One Friday morning, hours before

Sandy and I got up for school, my mother made his breakfast, filled

his thermos, packed food—three paper bags marked with Sandy's

shading crayon, L for lunch, S for snack, D for dinner—and away

he headed for the international border three hundred and fifty

miles to the north. Since his boss could give him only the Friday

off, he'd have to drive all that day to see Alvin on Saturday and then

drive all day Sunday to be back for the morning staff meeting on

Monday. He had a flat tire going and two more coming home and

to make it to his meeting had to bypass us and drive from the high-

way directly downtown. By the time we saw him at dinner he'd

been sleepless for over a day and without a proper wash for longer

than that. Alvin, he told us, looked like a corpse, his weight down
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to something around a hundred pounds. Hearing this, I wondered

how much the leg weighed that he'd lost, and that evening, with-

out success, tried to weigh mine on the bathroom scale. "He's got

no appetite," my father said. "They put food in front of him and

he pushes it away. That boy, tough as he is, doesn't want to live,

doesn't want anything except to lie there emaciated with that terri-

ble grim face. I said, 'Alvin, I've known you since you were born.

You're a fighter. You don't give up. You've got your father's strength.

Your father could take the hardest blow and still keep going. So

could your mother.' I told him, 'When your father died, the woman
had to bounce back—she had no choice, she had you.' But I don't

know what sunk in. I hope something," he said, his voice growing

husky, "because while I was there, with all those sick boys in those

beds all around me, while I was sitting beside his bed in that hos-

pital
—

" and that was as far as he got. It was the first time I saw my
father cry. A childhood milestone, when another's tears are more

unbearable than one's own.

"It's because you're so tired," my mother said to him. She got up

from her chair and, trying to calm him, came around and began to

stroke his head. "When you finish eating," she said, "you'll take a

shower and go right to bed."

Pressing his skull firmly back into the grip of her hand, he

started to sob uncontrollably. "They blew his leg off," he told her,

and here my mother motioned for Sandy and me to leave her to

comfort him alone.

A new life began for me. I'd watched my father fall apart, and I

would never return to the same childhood. The mother at home
was now away all day working for Hahne's, the brother on call was

now off after school working for Lindbergh, and the father who'd

defiantly serenaded all those callow cafeteria anti-Semites in Wash-

ington was crying aloud with his mouth wide open—crying like

both a baby abandoned and a man being tortured—because he

was powerless to stop the unforeseen. And as Lindbergh's election

couldn't have made clearer to me, the unfolding of the unforeseen

was everything. Turned wrong way round, the relentless unfore-
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seen was what we schoolchildren studied as "History," harmless

history, where everything unexpected in its own time is chronicled

on the page as inevitable. The terror of the unforeseen is what the

science of history hides, turning a disaster into an epic.

As I was on my own, I began to spend all my after-school hours

with Earl Axman, my stamp mentor, and not just to pore over his

collection with my magnifying glass or to look through his

mother's bureau at her puzzling array of undergarments. Since my
homework took no time and my only other chore was setting the

table for dinner, I was now wholly available for mischief. And since,

in the afternoons, Earl's mother seemed always to be off at the

beauty parlor or over in New York shopping, Earl was free to pro-

vide it. He was nearly two years older than I, and because his glam-

orous parents were divorced—and because they were glamorous

—

he seemed never to have bothered being a model child. Of late,

increasingly irritated by being one myself, I'd taken to mumbling

in my bed, "Now let's do something awful," the suggestion with

which Earl alternately thrilled and unnerved me whenever he got

tired of what we were up to. Adventurousness was bound to assert

its appeal sooner or later, but disillusioned by a sense that my fam-

ily was slipping away from me right along with my country, I was

ready to learn of the liberties a boy from an exemplary household

could take when he stopped working to please everyone with his

juvenile purity and discovered the guilty enjoyment of secretly act-

ing on his own.

What I fell into with Earl was following people. He'd been doing

it a couple of times a week for months now—traveling downtown

alone after school and hanging around bus stops looking for men

on their way home from work. When the one he settled on boarded

his bus, Earl climbed aboard too, unobtrusively rode with him until

he got off, got off right after him, and then from a safe distance fol-

lowed him home. "Why?" I asked. "To see where they live." "But

that's all? That's it?" "That's a lot. I go all over. I even leave Newark.

I go anyplace I want. People live everywhere," Earl explained. "How
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do you get home before your mother?" "That's the trick—to go as

far as I can and get back before she does." The money for the bus

fares he readily confessed to stealing from his mother's handbags

and then, as gleefully as if he were springing the lock on the vault

at Fort Knox, opened wide a bedroom drawer where all kinds of

handbags were piled haphazardly atop one another. On the week-

ends when he went to stay with his father in New York, he stole

from the pockets of the suits hanging in his father's closet, and

when four or five musicians from the Casa Loma Orchestra came

over to his father's apartment to play poker on Sundays, he help-

fully piled their overcoats on the bed, then went through their

pockets and hid the change in a dirty sock at the bottom of his

suitcase. Then he'd nonchalantly saunter into the living room to

watch the card game all afternoon and listen to the funny stories

they told about playing at the Paramount and the Essex House and

the Glen Island Casino. In 1941 the band had just come back from

Hollywood, where they'd been in a movie, and so between hands

they talked about the stars and what they were like, inside infor-

mation that Earl passed on to me and that I then repeated to

Sandy, who invariably said, "That's bullshit," and warned me not to

hang around with Earl Axman. "Your friend," he told me, "knows

too much for a little kid." "He's got a great stamp collection." "Yeah,

and he's got a mother," Sandy said, "who'll go out with anybody.

She goes out with men who aren't even her age." "How do you

know?" "Everybody on Summit Avenue knows." "I don't," I said.

"Well," he told me, "that's not all you don't know," and, greatly

pleased with myself, I thought, "Maybe there's something that you

don't know either," but I nervously had to wonder if my best

friend's mother wasn't what the older boys called "a whore."

It turned out to be far easier than I could have believed getting

used to stealing from my mother and father, and easier than I

would have thought following people, even though the first few

times there wasn't a moment that didn't stun me, beginning with

being downtown unwatched at three-thirty in the afternoon.

Sometimes we'd go all the way to Penn Station to find someone,
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sometimes to Broad and Market, sometimes up Market to the

courthouse to wait at the bus stop and catch our prey there. We
never followed women. They didn't interest us, Earl said. We never

followed anybody we thought was Jewish. They didn't interest us.

Our curiosity was directed at men, the adult Christian men who

worked all day in downtown Newark. Where did they go when they

went home?

My apprehension was at its worst when we stepped up into the

bus and paid. The fare money was stolen, we were where we

shouldn't be, and where we were headed we had no idea—and by

the time we got to wherever that was, I was too dizzy with emotion

to understand what Earl told me when he whispered the name of

the neighborhood into my ear. I was lost, a lost boy—that's what I

pretended. What will I eat? Where will I sleep? Will dogs attack me?

Will I be arrested and thrown in jail? Will some Christian take me
in and adopt me? Or will I wind up being kidnapped like the Lind-

bergh child? I pretended either that I was lost in some far-off re-

gion unknown to me or that, with Lindbergh's connivance, Hitler

had invaded America and Earl and I were fleeing the Nazis.

And all the while I assailed myself with my fears, we were sur-

reptitiously turning corners and crossing streets and crouching be-

hind trees to stay out of sight until the climactic moment when the

man we were following reached his home and we watched him

open the door and go in. Then we would stand off at a distance and

look at the house—its door once again shut—and Earl would say

something like, "That lawn's really big," or "Summer's over—why

are there screens up?" or "See in the garage? That's the new Pon-

tiac." And then, because trying to sneak up to the windows to peer

in unobserved exceeded even Earl Axman's Peeping Jewism, he'd

lead us back to the bus that would return us to Penn Station. Often

at that hour, with everyone busy leaving work, the bus headed back

downtown would be empty of passengers other than us, and so it

was as though the driver were a chauffeur and the Public Service

bus our private limousine and the two of us the most daring two

boys alive. Earl was an extremely well-fed, white-skinned ten-year-
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old, already a bit of a vat, with full babyish cheeks and long dark

lashes and tight black ringlets perfumed with his father's hair oil,

and if the bus was empty, he would stretch himself out on the long

rear seat in a pashalike posture perfectly embodying his swagger-

ing mood, while sitting up beside him, lean and bony, I sported the

half-ashamed little sidekick's smile of sublimity.

From Penn Station we'd catch the 14 home, taking our fourth

bold bus ride of the afternoon. At dinner I'd think, "I followed

a Christian, and nobody knows. I could have been kidnapped,

and nobody knows. Using the money we've got between us, we

could've, if we'd wanted . .
." and would sometimes all but give my-

self away to my sharp-eyed mother because beneath the kitchen

table (and exactly like Earl when he was cooking up something) I

couldn't stop jiggling my knee. And night after night I went to

sleep under the exciting spell of the great new aim I'd unearthed

for my eight-year-old life: to escape it. When at school I heard a

bus through the open window climbing the Chancellor Avenue

hill, all I could think about was being on board; the whole of the

outside world had become a bus the way for a boy in South Dakota

it was a pony—the pony that carries him to the limits of permissi-

ble flight.

I joined Earl as apprentice liar and thief in late October and,

with no dwindling of the sense of momentousness, our secret

jaunts continued as the weather grew colder in November and then

on into December, when the Christmas decorations went up down-

town and there was an excess of men to choose from at just about

every bus stop. Christmas trees were for sale right on the down-

town sidewalks, something I'd never seen before, and selling the

trees for a buck apiece were kids who looked to be either hard-

ship cases or toughs recently released from reform school. Money

changing hands like that out in the open struck me at first as

against the law and yet nobody appeared concerned with conceal-

ing the transaction. There were cops in profusion, cops with night-

sticks walking the beat in their large blue overcoats, but they

looked happy enough and seemed to be in on it—in on Christmas,
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that is. Big wind-driven blizzards had been whipping in twice a

week since just after Thanksgiving, and so to either side of the

freshly cleared streets grimy hillocks of snow were already banked

as high as a car.

Unimpeded by the late-afternoon throngs, the vendors wrested

one tree free from the others, carried it a ways onto the busy side-

walk, and propped it on its sawed-off trunk to be sized up by the

customer. It was strange to see trees grown by some tree farmer

miles from the city massed along the wrought-iron railings out

front of the city's oldest churches and leaning in piles against the

facades of the imposing banks and insurance buildings, and

strange too, on a downtown street, to breathe in their rustic tang.

There were no trees for sale in our neighborhood—because there

was no one to buy them—and so the month of December, if it

smelled at all, smelled of something a hissing alley cat had tugged

from an overturned garbage can in somebody's yard, and of sup-

per heating on the stove of a flat whose steamy kitchen window

was open a crack to let in air from the alleyway, and of the bursts

of noxious coal gas spewed from the furnace chimneys, and of the

pail of ashes dragged up from the cellar to be emptied outdoors

over slippery patches of sidewalk. Compared with the fragrances of

North Jersey's damp spring and swampy summer and unsettled,

moody fall, the smells of a bitter-cold winter were almost unno-

ticeable—or so I was convinced until I traveled downtown with

Earl and saw the trees and took a whiff and discovered that, as with

many things, for Christians December was otherwise. What with

all of downtown strung with thousands of bulbs and the carolers

singing and the Salvation Army band reveling and on every street

corner another Santa Claus laughing, it was the month of the year

when the heart of my birthplace was sublimely theirs and theirs

alone. In Military Park there was a decorated Christmas tree forty

feet tall, and from the face of the Public Service building hung a

giant metal Christmas tree, illuminated by floodlights, that the

Newark News said was eighty feet tall, while I was barely four and

a half feet tall.
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My final trip with Earl occurred one afternoon a few days before

our Christmas vacation when we boarded the Linden bus behind a

man who was carrying in either hand a department store shopping

bag stuffed with gifts and decorated for the season in red and green;

just ten days later Mrs. Axman would suffer a nervous breakdown

and be taken away in an ambulance in the middle of the night, and

soon after that, on New Year's Day 1942, Earl would be whisked off

by his father, stamp collection and all. A mover's truck showed up

later in January and, while I watched, took all the household fur-

nishings away, including the bureau with Earl's mother's under-

wear, and no one on Summit Avenue saw the Axmans again.

Because the cold winter twilight now descended so quickly, fol-

lowing people home from the bus made us feel all the more satis-

fied with ourselves, as though we were about our business long

after midnight, when other kids had been asleep for hours. The

man with the shopping bags stayed on the bus past the Hillside line

and over into Elizabeth and got off just past the big cemetery, not

far from the corner where my mother had grown up, above her

father's grocery store. We got off after him quietly enough, the

two of us looking indistinguishable from a thousand other local

schoolkids in the standard-issue winter camouflage of hooded

mackinaw and thick woolen mittens and shapeless corduroy trou-

sers tucked into ill-fitting rubber galoshes with half of their mad-

dening toggles undone. But because we imagined ourselves more

concealed than we were by the deepening shadows, or because our

adroitness was losing its power to time, we must have tailed him

less skillfully than we were practiced at doing, and thus compro-

mised "the invincible duo," as Earl had vaingloriously dubbed the

pair of Christian-trackers we'd become.

There were two long blocks to traverse, both of them lined with

stately brick houses bright with Christmas lights that Earl identi-

fied in a whisper as "millionaires' mansions"; then there were two

shorter blocks of much smaller, modest frame houses of the kind

that by then we'd seen by the hundreds on the streets that we'd

traveled, each with a Christmas wreath on the door. On the second
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of the two blocks the man turned onto a narrow brick pathway

that curved up to a low shoebox of a shingled house that poked up

prettily out of the banked snow like the edible adornment on a big

frosted cake. Lamps were burning dimly upstairs and down, and

the Christmas tree could be seen twinkling through one of the

windows to the side of the front door. While the man set down his

shopping bags to get his key out, we drew closer and closer to the

undulating white lawn until, through the window, we were able to

discern the ornaments decorating the tree.

"Look," Earl whispered. "See the top? At the very top of the

tree—see that? It's Jesus!"

"No, it's an angel."

"What do you think Jesus is?"

I whispered back, "I thought he was their God."

"And chief of the angels—and there he is!"

This then was the culmination of our quest—Jesus Christ, who

by their reasoning was everything and who by my reasoning had

fucked everything up: because if it weren't for Christ there wouldn't

be Christians, and if it weren't for Christians there wouldn't be

anti-Semitism, and if it weren't for anti-Semitism there wouldn't

be Hitler, and if it weren't for Hitler Lindbergh would never be

president, and if Lindbergh weren't president . .

.

Suddenly the man we'd followed, standing now in the open door-

way with his shopping bags, twirled around and softly, as though

exhaling a smoke ring, called, "Boys."

So flabbergasted were we by being caught that I, for one, felt

summoned to step forward onto the path leading up to the house

and, like the model child I'd been two months before, clear my
conscience by telling him my name. Only Earl's arm held me back.

"Boys, don't hide. You don't have to," the man said.

"What now?" I whispered to Earl.

"Shhhhhh," he whispered back.

"Boys, I know you're there. Boys, it's getting awfully dark," he

warned in a friendly voice. "Aren't you freezing out there? Wouldn't

you like a nice cup of cocoa? Inside now, children, quickly inside
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now before it snows. There's hot cocoa, and I have spice cake and I

have seed cake and gingerbread men, I have animal crackers

frosted in all different colors, and there are marshmallows—there

are marshmallows, boys, marshmallows in the cupboard that we

can toast over a fire."

When I again looked at Earl to find out what to do, he was al-

ready on his way back to Newark. "Run for it," he shouted at me
over his shoulder, "beat it, Phil—it's a fairy!"
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The Stump

Alvin was discharged in January 1942, after forsaking

first the wheelchair and then the crutches and, over the

course of a long hospital rehabilitation, having been

trained by the Canadian army nurses to walk unassisted on his ar-

tificial limb. He would be receiving a monthly disability pension

from the Canadian government of a hundred and twenty-five dol-

lars, a little more than half of what my father earned each month

from the Metropolitan, and an additional three hundred dollars

in separation pay. As a handicapped veteran he was eligible for

further benefits should he choose to remain in Canada, where for-

eign volunteers into the Canadian armed forces, if they wished,

were granted citizenship immediately upon discharge. And why

didn't he become a Canuck? asked Uncle Monty. Since he couldn't

stand America anyway, why didn't he just stay up there and cash

in?

Monty was the most overbearing of my uncles, which probably

accounted for why he was also the richest. He'd made his fortune

wholesaling fruit and vegetables down near the railroad tracks at

the Miller Street market. Alvin's father, Uncle Jack, had begun the

business and taken in Monty, and after Uncle Jack died Monty had

taken in his youngest brother, my uncle Herbie; when he invited

my father in as well—back when my parents were penniless new-

lyweds—my father said no, having already been sufficiently bullied
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by Monty while they were growing up. My father could keep pace

with Monty's prodigious expenditure of energy, and his capacity

to endure all manner of hardship was no less remarkable than

Monty's, but he knew from the clashes of boyhood that he was no

match for the innovator who'd first gambled on bringing ripe

tomatoes to Newark in the wintertime by buying up carloads of

green tomatoes from Cuba and ripening them in specially heated

rooms on the creaky second floor of his Miller Street warehouse.

When they were ready, Monty packed them four to a box, got top

dollar, and was known thereafter as the Tomato King.

While we remained rent-paying tenants in a five-room second-

story flat in Newark the uncles in the wholesale produce business

lived in the Jewish section of suburban Maplewood, where each

owned a large, white, shuttered Colonial with a green lawn out

front and a polished Cadillac in the garage. For good or bad, the

exalted egoism of an Abe Steinheim or an Uncle Monty or a Rabbi

Bengelsdorf—conspicuously dynamic Jews all seemingly propelled

by their embattled status as the offspring of greenhorns to play the

biggest role that they could commandeer as American men—was

not in the makeup of my father, nor was there the slightest longing

for supremacy, and so though personal pride was a driving force

and his blend of fortitude and combativeness was heavily fueled,

like theirs, by the grievances attending his origins as an impover-

ished kid other kids called a kike, it was enough for him to make

something (rather than everything) of himself and to do so with-

out wrecking the lives around him. My father was born to contend

but also to protect, and to inflict damage on an enemy didn't make

his spirits soar as it did his older brother's (not to mention all the

rest of the brutal entrepreneurial machers). There were the bosses

and there were the bossed, and the bosses usually were bosses for

a reason—and in business for themselves for a reason, whether

the business was construction or produce or the rabbinate or the

rackets. It was the best they could come up with to remain unob-

structed—and, in their own eyes, unhumiliated—not least by the

discrimination of the Protestant hierarchy that kept ninety-nine
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percent of the Jews employed by the dominant corporations un-

complainingly in their place.

"If Jack was alive," Monty said, "the kid wouldn't have got out

the front door. You should never have let him go, Herm. He runs

away to Canada to become a war hero and this is where it lands

him, a goddamn gimp for the rest of his life." It was the Sunday

before the Saturday of Alvin's return, and Uncle Monty, wearing

clean clothes instead of the badly stained windbreaker and splat-

tered old pants and filthy cloth cap that were his usual market at-

tire, was leaning against our kitchen sink, a cigarette dangling out

of his mouth. My mother was not present. She had excused herself,

as she generally did when Monty was around, but I was a small boy

and mesmerized by him, as though he were indeed the gorilla that

she privately called him when her exasperation with his coarseness

got the upper hand.

"Alvin can't bear your president," my father replied, "that's why

he went to Canada. Not so long ago you couldn't bear the man ei-

ther. But now this anti-Semite is your friend. The Depression is

over, all you rich Jews tell me, and thanks not to Roosevelt but to

Mr. Lindbergh. The stock market is up, profits are up, business is

booming—and why? Because we have Lindbergh's peace instead of

Roosevelt's war. And what else matters, what besides money counts

with you people?" "You sound like Alvin, Herman. You sound like

a kid. What counts besides money? Your two boys count. You want

Sandy to come home one day like Alvin? You want Phil," he said,

looking over to where I sat listening at the kitchen table, "to come

home one day like Alvin? We're out of the war, and we're staying

out of the war. Lindbergh's done me no harm that I can see." I ex-

pected my father to respond "Just you wait," but probably because

I was there and frightened enough already, he didn't.

As soon as Monty left, my father told me, "Your uncle doesn't

use his head. Coming home like Alvin—that's not something that's

going to happen." "But what if Roosevelt is president again? Then

there would be a war," I said. "Maybe and maybe not," my father

replied, "nobody can predict that in advance." "But if there was a

• 124 •



THE STUMP

war," I said, "and if Sandy was old enough, then he would be

drafted to fight in the war. And if he fought in the war, then what

happened to Alvin could happen to him." "Son, anything can hap-

pen to anyone," my father told me, "but it usually doesn't." "Except

when it does," I thought, but I didn't dare to say as much because

he was already upset by my questions and might not even know

how to answer if I kept on going. Since what Uncle Monty said to

him about Lindbergh was exactly what Rabbi Bengelsdorf had told

him—and also what Sandy was secretly saying to me—I began to

wonder if my father knew what he was talking about.

It was close to a year after Lindbergh took office that Alvin re-

turned to Newark on an overnight train from Montreal, accompa-

nied by a Canadian Red Cross nurse and missing half of one of the

legs that he'd left with. We drove downtown to Penn Station to

meet him as we did to meet Sandy the summer before, only this

time Sandy was with us. A few weeks earlier, in the interest of fam-

ily harmony, I had been allowed to go off with Aunt Evelyn and

him to sit in the audience and listen as he impressed the congrega-

tion of a synagogue some forty miles south of Newark, in New
Brunswick, encouraging them to enroll their children in Just Folks

with stories of his Kentucky adventure and an exhibition of his

drawings. My parents had made it clear to me that Sandy's job with

Just Folks was something I needn't mention to Alvin; they'd them-

selves explain everything, but only after Alvin had a chance to get

used to being home and could better understand how America had

changed since he'd gone to Canada. It was a matter not of hiding

anything from Alvin or of lying to him but of protecting him from

whatever could interfere with his recovery.

The Montreal train was late that morning, and to pass the

time—and because the political situation was with him now every

moment of the day—my father had bought a copy of the Daily

News. Seated on a bench at Penn Station, he scanned the paper, a

right-wing New York tabloid that he unfailingly referred to as a

"rag," while the rest of us paced the platform, anxiously waiting for
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the next phase of our new life to begin. When the PA system an-

nounced that the Montreal train would be arriving even later than

expected, my mother, linking arms with Sandy and me, walked us

back to the bench to wait there together. My father had meanwhile

finished as much of the Daily News as he could bear and thrown it

into a trash basket. Since ours was a household where nickels and

dimes mattered, I was as perplexed to see him discard the paper

only minutes after buying it as I'd been to see him reading it in the

first place. "Can you believe these people?" he said. "This fascist

dog is still their hero." What he didn't say was that by making good

on his campaign promise to keep America out of the worldwide

war, the fascist dog had by now become the hero of virtually every

paper in the country with the exception of PM.

"Well," said my mother as the train finally entered the station

and began to pull to a stop, "here comes your cousin."

"What should we do?" I asked her, as she prompted us onto our

feet and the four of us stepped toward the platform's edge.

"Say hello. It's Alvin. Welcome him home."

"What about his leg?" I whispered.

"What about it, dear?"

I shrugged.

Here my father took me by the shoulders. "Don't be afraid," he

said to me. "Don't be afraid of Alvin and don't be afraid of his leg.

Let him see how you've grown up."

It was Sandy who broke away from us and went racing toward

the car that had come to a halt a couple of hundred feet down the

track. Alvin was being pushed from the train in a wheelchair by a

woman in a Red Cross uniform while the person who was barrel-

ing down on him shouting his name was the only one of us who'd

been won over to the other side. I didn't know any longer what to

make of my brother, but then I didn't know what to make of my-

self, so busy was I trying to remember to conceal everyone's secrets

while doing my best to suppress my fears and trying not to stop be-

lieving in my father as well as in the Democrats and FDR and who-
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ever else could keep me from teaming up with the rest of the coun-

try in adoring President Lindbergh.

"You're back!" Sandy cried. "You're home!" And then I watched

as my brother, who'd only just turned fourteen but was as strong

now as a young man of twenty, dropped to his knees on the plat-

form's concrete floor, the better to be able to throw his arms around

Alvin's neck. My mother began crying then, and my father quickly

took me by the hand, either to try to prevent me from going to

pieces or to protect himself from his own chaos of feelings.

I thought it must be my job to run to Alvin next, and so I pulled

away from my parents and broke for the wheelchair and, once

there, imitating Sandy, threw my arms around him, only to dis-

cover how rotten he smelled. I thought at first that the smell must

be coming from his leg, but it was coming from his mouth. I held

my breath and shut my eyes and only released my hold on Alvin

when I felt him lean forward in the chair to shake my father's hand.

I noticed then the wooden crutches strapped to one side of the

wheelchair, and for the first time dared to look straight at him. I'd

never before seen anyone so skeletal or so dejected. His eyes showed

no fear, however, or any trace of weeping, and they surveyed my fa-

ther with ferocity, as though it were the guardian who had com-

mitted the unpardonable act that had rendered the ward a cripple.

"Herman," he said, but that was all.

"You're here," my father said, "you're home. We're taking you

home."

Then my mother bent forward to kiss him.

"Aunt Bess," Alvin said.

The left trouser leg dropped straight down from the knee, a

sight generally familiar to adults but one that startled me, even

though I already knew of a man with no legs at all, a man who

began at the hips and was himself no more than a stump. I had

seen him before, begging on the sidewalk outside my father's down-

town office, but overwhelmed as I was by the colossal freakishness,

I'd never had to think much about it since there was never any dan-
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ger of his coming to live in our house. He did best with his begging

in baseball season when, as the men working there left the build-

ing at the end of the day, he would run through the afternoon's

final scores in his incongruously deep, declamatory voice, and each

of them would drop a couple of coins into the battered laundry

pail that was his alms box. He moved about on—appeared, in fact,

to live on—a small platform of plywood fitted beneath with roller

skates. Aside from my remembering the heavy, weatherbeaten work

gloves he wore all year round—to protect the hands that were

his means of ambulation—I'm unable to describe the rest of his

outfit because the fear of gaping merged with the terror of see-

ing to prevent me from ever looking long enough to register what

he wore. That he dressed at all seemed as miraculous as that he

was somehow able to urinate and defecate, let alone remember the

ball scores. Whenever I came along to the empty insurance office

on a Saturday morning with my father—largely for the delight of

twirling in his desk chair while he attended to the week's mail

—

he and the stump of a man would always greet each other with

a friendly nod. I discovered then that the grotesque injustice of a

man's being halved had not merely happened, which was incom-

prehensible enough, but happened to someone called Robert, as

commonplace as a male name could be and six letters long, like

my own. "How you doin', Little Robert?" my father said as we two

passed together into the building. "How you, Herman?" Little

Robert would reply. Eventually I asked my father, "Does he have a

last name?" "Do you?" my father asked me. "Yes." "Well, so does he."

"What is it? Little Robert what?" I asked. My father thought a

moment, then laughed and said, "To tell you the truth, son, I don't

know."

From the moment I found out that Alvin was returning to

Newark to convalesce in our house, I would involuntarily envision

Robert on his platform and wearing his work gloves whenever I lay

stiffly in the dark trying to force myself asleep: first my stamps cov-

ered with swastikas, then Little Robert, the living stump.

"I thought you'd be up on the leg they gave you. I thought they
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couldn't discharge you otherwise," I heard my father saying to

Alvin. "What's happened?"

Without bothering to look at him, Alvin snapped, "Stump broke

down."

"What's that mean?" my father asked.

"It's nothing. Don't worry about it."

"Does he have luggage?" my father asked the nurse.

But before she could answer, Alvin said, "Sure I got luggage.

Where do you think my leg is?"

Sandy and I were headed for the baggage counter on the main con-

course with Alvin and his nurse while my father hurried off to get

the car from the Raymond Boulevard lot, accompanied by my
mother, who went along with him at the last minute, more than

likely to talk over all they hadn't anticipated about Alvin's mental

state. Out on the platform, the nurse had summoned a redcap, and

together they helped Alvin to a standing position and then the red-

cap took charge of the wheelchair while the nurse walked at Alvin's

side as he hopped to the head of the escalator. There she took up

her place as a human shield, and he hopped after her, clutching

the moving banister as the escalator descended. Sandy and I stood

at Alvin's back, out of range at last of his unfragrant breath—and

where Sandy instinctively braced himself to catch him should Alvin

lose his balance. The redcap, carrying upside down and over his

head the wheelchair with the crutches still strapped to one side,

took the stairs parallel to the escalator and was already on the main

concourse to greet us when Alvin hopped from the escalator and

we stepped off behind him. The redcap placed the wheelchair right

side up on the concourse floor and firmly positioned it for Alvin

to sit back down, but Alvin turned on his one foot and began to

hop vigorously away, leaving his nurse—to whom he'd said neither

thank you nor goodbye—to watch him speed off along the crowded

marble floor in the direction of the baggage room.

"Can't he fall?" Sandy asked the nurse. "He's going so fast. What

if he slips and falls?"
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"Him?" the nurse replied. "That boy can hop anywhere. That

boy can hop a very long way. He won't fall. He's the world-cham-

pion hopper. He'd have been happier to hop from Montreal than

to have me helping him down here by train." She then confided to

us, two protected children entirely ignorant of the bitterness of

loss, "I've seen 'em angry before," she said, "I've seen the ones with-

out any limbs angry, but nobody before ever angry like him."

"Angry at what?" Sandy asked anxiously.

She was a strapping woman with stern gray eyes and hair short

as a soldier's under her gray Red Cross cap, but it was in the soft-

est maternal tones, with a gentleness that came as yet another of

the day's surprises, as though Sandy were one of her very own

charges, that she explained, "At what people get angry at—at how

things turn out."

My mother and I had to take the bus home because there wasn't

enough room in the little family Studebaker. Alvin's wheelchair

went into the trunk, though as it was the old unwieldy uncollapsi-

ble type, the lid of the trunk had to be tied shut with heavy twine

to accommodate it. His canvas overseas bag (with the artificial leg

somewhere inside) was stuffed so full that Sandy was unable to lift

it even with my help, and we had to drag it across the concourse

floor and through the door to the street; there my father took

charge and he and Sandy laid it flat out across the back seat. Prac-

tically doubled over at the waist, Sandy was perched atop the bag

for the ride home, Alvin's crutches straddling his lap. The crutches'

rubber-capped tips protruded from one of the rear side-windows,

and my father tied his pocket handkerchief around the ends to

warn off other drivers. My father and Alvin rode up front, and I

was unhappily preparing to squeeze between them just to the right

of the floor shift when my mother said she wanted my company on

the ride home. What she wanted, it turned out, was to prevent me
from having to witness any more of the misery.

"It's okay," she said as we headed around the corner for the un-
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derpass where the line formed for the 14 bus. "It's perfectly natural

to be upset. We all are."

I denied being in any way upset but found myself looking

around the bus stop for somebody to follow. Easily a dozen differ-

ent routes started out from this one Penn Station stop, and it hap-

pened that a Vailsburg bus bound for distant North Newark was

taking on passengers at the very moment that my mother and I

stood at the curbside of the underpass waiting for a 14 to show up.

I spotted just the man to follow, a businessman with a briefcase

who seemed to me—with my admittedly imperfect grasp of the

telling characteristics that Earl was so masterfully attuned to—not

to be Jewish. Yet I could only look with longing as the bus door

closed behind him and he rode off without my spying on him from

a nearby seat.

Once we were alone together on the bus, my mother said, "Tell

me what's bothering you."

When I didn't reply she began to explain Alvin's behavior at the

train station. "Alvin is ashamed. He feels ashamed for us to be see-

ing him in a wheelchair. When he left he was strong and inde-

pendent. Now he wants to hide and he wants to scream and he

wants to lash out, and it's terrible for him. And it's terrible too for

a boy like you to have to see your big cousin like this. But that's all

going to change. Just as soon as he understands that there's noth-

ing about the way he looks or about what happened for him to be

ashamed of, he's going to gain back the weight he lost, and he'll

start to walk everywhere on his artificial leg, and he's going to look

just as you remember him before he left for Canada . . . Does that

help any? Does what I'm telling you reassure you at all?"

"I don't need to be reassured," I said, but what I wanted to ask

was: "His stump—what does it mean that it's broken down? Do I

have to look at it? Will I ever have to touch it? Are they going to

fix it?"

On a Saturday a couple of weeks earlier I'd gone into the cellar

with my mother and helped her empty the cartons full of Alvin's
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belongings, rescued by my father from the Wright Street room

after Alvin had run off to join the Canadian army. Everything

washable my mother scrubbed on the washboard in the divided

cellar tub, soaping in one sink, rinsing in the other, and then feed-

ing a piece at a time into the wringer while I cranked the handle to

force out the rinse water. I hated that wringer; each piece of wash

emerged flattened out from between its two rollers, looking as if

it had been run over by a truck, and whenever I was down in the

cellar for whatever reason, I was always afraid to turn my back on

the thing. But now I steeled myself to drop each wet, deformed

item of mangled laundry into the laundry basket and carry the

basket upstairs so that my mother could dry everything on the

backyard clothesline. I fed her the clothespins as she leaned from

the window to hang out the wash, and while she stood in the kitchen

after dinner that evening ironing the shirts and pajamas that I had

just helped her to reel in, I sat at the kitchen table folding Alvin's

underwear and rolling each pair of socks into a ball, determined to

make everything turn out right by being the best little boy imagi-

nable, much, much better than Sandy and better even than my-

self.

After school the next day, it required two trips for me to carry

Alvin's good clothes around the corner to the tailor shop where

they did our dry cleaning. Later in the week I picked them up and

at home placed everything—topcoat, suit, sport jacket, and two

pairs of his pants—on wooden hangers in the half I'd apportioned

him of my bedroom closet and stacked the rest of the clean apparel

in the top two drawers that had formerly been Sandy's. Since Alvin

was going to be sleeping in our bedroom—to provide him with the

easiest possible access to the bathroom—Sandy had already got-

ten himself ready to move to the sun parlor at the front of the flat

by arranging his own belongings in the breakfront in the dining

room, beside the linen tablecloth and napkins. One evening a few

days before Alvin's scheduled return I shined his pair of brown

shoes and his pair of black shoes, ignoring as best I could any un-

certainty I had as to whether shining all four of them was still nec-
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essary. To make those shoes gleam, to get his good clothes clean, to

neatly pile the dresser drawers with his freshly washed things—and

all of it simply a prayer, an improvised prayer imploring the house-

hold gods to protect our humble five rooms and all they contained

from the vengeful fury of the missing leg.

I tried to gauge from what I saw beyond the bus window how

much time remained before we got to Summit Avenue and it was

too late to unseal my fate. We were on Clinton Avenue just passing

the Riviera Hotel, where, as I never failed to remember, my mother

and father had spent their wedding night. We were clear of down-

town, about halfway home, and directly ahead was Temple B'nai

Abraham, the great oval fortress built to serve the city's Jewish rich

and no less foreign to me than if it had been the Vatican.

"I could move into your bed," my mother said, "if that's what's

bothering you. For now, until everybody gets used to everybody

else again, I could sleep in your bed next to Alvin's bed and you

could go in and sleep with Daddy in our bed. Would that be bet-

ter?"

I said that I'd rather sleep alone in my own bed.

"What if Sandy moved back from the sun parlor to his bed," my
mother suggested, "and Alvin slept in yours and you slept where

Sandy was going to sleep, on the daybed in the sun parlor? Would

you be lonely up at the front of the house, or is that what you

would really prefer?"

Would I prefer it? I'd have loved it. But how possibly could

Sandy, who was now working for Lindbergh, share a room with

someone who had lost his leg going to war against Lindbergh's

Nazi friends?

We were turning onto Clinton Place from the Clinton Avenue

stop, the familiar residential corner where—back before Sandy de-

serted me for Aunt Evelyn on Saturday afternoons—he and I used

to disembark for the double feature at the Roosevelt Theater, whose

black-lettered marquee was a block away. Soon the bus would be

sailing past the narrow alleyways and the two-and-a-half-family

houses lining the level length of Clinton Place—streets that looked
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much like our own but whose red-brick bank of gabled front stoops

aroused not a one of the basic boyhood emotions that ours did

—

before arriving at the big final turn onto Chancellor Avenue. There

the grinding pull up the hill would begin, past the elegant fluted

piers of the spiffy new high school, on to the sturdy flagpole out

front ofmy grade school, and through to the crest of the hill, where

a band of Lerini Lenapes were said by our third-grade teacher to

have lived in a tiny village, cooking their food over hot stones and

drawing designs on their pots. This was our destination, the Sum-

mit Avenue stop, diagonally across from the platters of freshly

dipped chocolates profligately displayed in the lace-trimmed win-

dows of Anna Mae's, the sweetshop that had succeeded the Indi-

ans' tepees and whose tantalizing scent honeyed the air less than a

two-minute walk from our house.

In other words, the time left to say yes to the sun parlor was pre-

cisely measurable and running out, movie theater by movie the-

ater, candy store by candy store, stoop by stoop, and yet all I could

say was no, no, I'll be fine where I am, until my mother had noth-

ing soothing left to suggest and, despite herself, went gloomily

silent in a very ominous, undisguised way, as though the eventful-

ness of the morning was at last working her over the way it had me.

Meanwhile, since I didn't know how long I could go on concealing

that I couldn't bear Alvin because of his missing limb and his empty

trouser leg and his awful smell and his wheelchair and his crutches

and the way he wouldn't look up at any of us when he talked, I be-

gan to pretend that I was following somebody on our bus who

didn't look Jewish. It was then that I realized—employing all the cri-

teria imparted to me by Earl—that my mother looked Jewish. Her

hair, her nose, her eyes—my mother looked unmistakably Jewish.

But then so must I, who so strongly resembled her. I hadn't known.

What made Alvin smell bad was all the decay in his mouth. "You

lose your teeth when you've got problems," Dr. Lieberfarb ex-

plained after looking around with his little mirror and saying "Uh-

oh" nineteen times, and that very afternoon he started drilling. He
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was going to do all that work for nothing because Alvin had vol-

unteered to fight the fascists and because, unlike "the rich Jews"

who astonished my father by imagining themselves secure in Lind-

bergh's America, Lieberfarb remained undeluded about what "the

many Hitlers of this world" might yet have in store for us. Nineteen

gold inlays was a big deal, but that's how he showed solidarity with

my father, my mother, me, and the Democrats, as opposed to Uncle

Monty, Aunt Evelyn, Sandy, and all the Republicans currently en-

joying their countrymen's love. Nineteen inlays also took a long

time, particularly for a dentist who'd trained in night school while

working days packing cargo crates at Port Newark, and whose

touch was never that light. Lieberfarb was drilling away for months,

but within the first few weeks enough of the rot had been removed

so that it was no longer such a trial to be sleeping more or less next

to Alvin's mouth. The stump was something else. "Broken down"

means that the end of the stump goes bad: it opens up, it cracks, it

gets infected. There are boils, sores, edema, and you can't walk on

it with the prosthesis and so have to be without it and resort to

crutches until it heals and can take the pressure without breaking

down again. At fault was the fit of the artificial leg. The doctors

would tell him, "You've lost your fit," but he hadn't lost his fit, he

never had a fit, Alvin said, because the legmaker hadn't got the

measurements right to begin with.

"How long does it take to heal?" I asked him the night he finally

told me what "broken down" meant. Sandy up at the front of the

house and my parents in their bedroom had already been asleep

for hours, and so too were Alvin and I when he began to shout

"Dance! Dance!" and, with a frightening gasp, shot upright in his

bed, wide awake. When I flipped on the night lamp and saw him

covered with sweat, I got up and opened the bedroom door, and

though suddenly covered in sweat myself, I tiptoed across the little

back foyer, not to my parents' room, however, to report what had

happened, but into the bathroom to get Alvin a towel. He used it

to mop his face and his neck, then pulled off his pajama shirt to

wipe his chest and his underarms, and now at last I saw what had
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become of the upper man since the lower man had been blown

apart. No wounds, stitches, or disfiguring scars, but no strength ei-

ther, just the pale skin of a sickly boy adhering to the knobs and

ridges of bone.

This was our fourth night together. On the first three nights

Alvin had been careful to change into his pajamas in the bathroom

and then to hop back to hang his clothes in the closet, and since he

used the bathroom again to dress in the mornings, I hadn't as yet

had to look at the stump and could pretend I didn't know it was

there. At night I turned to the wall and, fatigued by all my worries,

fell right off to sleep and remained asleep until sometime in the

early hours when Alvin got up and hopped to the bathroom and

back to bed. He did all this without turning on the light and I lay

there afraid he was going to bang into something and crash to the

floor. At night, his every move made me want to run away, and not

merely from the stump. It was on this fourth night, when Alvin had

finished drying himself off with the towel and was lying there in

just his pajama bottoms, that he pulled up the pajamas' left leg to

take a look at the stump. I supposed this was a hopeful sign—that

he was starting to be less crazily agitated, at least with me—but I

still didn't want to look his way . . . and so I did, trying to be a sol-

dier in my bed. What I saw extending down from his knee joint was

something five or six inches long that resembled the elongated

head of a featureless animal, something on which Sandy, with

just a few well-placed strokes, could have crayoned eyes, a nose, a

mouth, teeth, and ears, and turned it into the likeness of a rat.

What I saw was what the word "stump" describes: the blunt rem-

nant of something whole that belonged there and once had been

there. If you didn't know what a leg looked like, this one might

have seemed normal to you, given how the hairless skin was

rounded off softly at the abbreviated end as though it were nature's

handiwork and not the result of a trying sequence of medical am-

putations.

"Is it healed?" I asked him.

"Not yet."
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"How long will it take?"

"Forever," he replied.

I was stunned. Then this is endless! I thought.

"Extremely frustrating," Alvin said. "You get on the leg they

make for you and the stump breaks down. You get on crutches and

it starts to swell up. The stump goes bad whatever you do. Get my
bandages from the dresser."

I did as he told me. I was going to have to handle the beige elas-

ticized wrappings he used to prevent his stump from swelling

when the artificial leg was off. They were coiled up in a corner of

the drawer beside his socks. Each was about three inches wide and

had a large safety pin stuck through the end to keep it from un-

rolling. I no more wanted to plunge my hand into that drawer than

to go down to the cellar and stick it into the wringer, but I did, and

when I delivered the bandages to the bed, one in each fist, he said,

"Good boy," and was able to make me laugh by petting my head

like a dog's.

Afraid to see what came next, I sat on my bed and watched.

"You put this bandage on," he explained, "to keep it from blow-

ing up." He held the stump in one hand and with the other undid

the safety pin and began to unroll one of the bandages in a criss-

crossing pattern over the stump and on up to the knee joint and

then several inches beyond that. "You put this bandage on to keep

it from blowing up"—he repeated the words wearily, with exagger-

ated patience
—

"but you don't want bandages over the breakdown

because that won't let the breakdown heal. So you're just going

back and forth until you're nuts." When he finished unrolling the

bandage and inserted the safety pin to fasten the end, he showed

me the results. "You have to pull it tight, you see?" He began a sim-

ilar routine with the second bandage. The stump—when he was

through with it—again reminded me of a small animal, this time

one whose head had to be muzzled extra carefully to prevent it

from sinking its razor-sharp teeth into the hand of its captor.

"How do you learn that?" I asked him.

"You don't have to learn. You just put it on. Except," he suddenly
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announced, "it's too goddamn tight. Maybe you do have to learn.

Goddamn son of a bitch! It's either too fucking loose or too fuck-

ing tight. It makes you nuts—the whole goddamn thing." He re-

moved the safety pin that fastened the second bandage and then

undid both bandages in order to start again. "You can see," he told

me, struggling now to suppress disgust with the futility of every-

thing, "how good at doing this you get," and resumed the rewrap-

ping, which, like the healing, appeared destined to go on in our

bedroom forever.

The next day when school was over, I ran straight home to a

house that I knew would be empty—Alvin was at the dentist,

Sandy was off somewhere with Aunt Evelyn, the two of them in-

explicably helping Lindbergh achieve his ends, and my parents

wouldn't be back from work until suppertime. As Alvin had settled

on using the daytime hours to allow the breakdown to heal un-

bandaged and the nights to wrap the stump to prevent the swell-

ing, I readily found the two bandages in the corner of the top

dresser drawer where he'd returned them rolled up that morning.

I sat on the edge of my bed, turned up my left trouser leg, and,

shocked to realize that what remained of Alvin's leg was not much

bigger around than my own, set out to bandage myself. I'd spent

the day at school mentally running through what I'd watched him

do the night before, but at three-twenty, when I got home, I'd only

just started to wrap the first bandage around an imaginary stump

ofmy own when, against the flesh below my knee, I felt what turned

out to be a ragged scab from the ulcerated underside of Alvin's

stump. The scab must have come loose during the night—Alvin

had either ignored it or failed to notice it—and now it was stuck to

me and I was out way beyond what I could deal with. Though the

heaves began in the bedroom, by racing for the back door and then

down the back stairway to the cellar, I managed to position my
head over the double sink seconds before the real puking began.

To find myself alone in the dank cavern of the cellar was an or-

deal under any circumstances, and not only because of the wringer.

With its smudged frieze of mold and mildew running along the
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cracking whitewashed walls—stains in every hue of the excremen-

tal rainbow and seepage blotches that looked as if they'd leaked

from a corpse—the cellar was a ghoulish realm apart, extending

beneath the whole of the house and deriving no light at all from

the half-dozen slits of grime-clouded glass that looked onto the ce-

ment of the alleyways and the weedy front yard. There were several

saucer-sized drains sunk into the bottom of a sloping concavity at

the middle of the concrete floor. Secured in the mouth of each was

a heavy black disc pierced by the concentric dime-sized perfora-

tions from which, with no difficulty, I imagined vaporous creatures

spiraling malevolently up from the earth's innards into my life. The

cellar was a place bereft not just of a sunny window but of every

human assurance, and when I came to study Greek and Roman

mythology in a freshman high school class and read in the text-

book about Hades, Cerberus, and the River Styx, it was always our

cellar that I was reminded of. One 30-watt bulb hung over the

washtub into which I'd vomited, a second hung in the vicinity of

the coal furnaces—ablaze and bulkily aligned together like the three-

personed Pluto of our underworld—and another, almost always

burned out, was suspended from an electrical cord inside each of

the storage bins.

I could never accept that the wintertime responsibility would

fall to me for shoveling coal into our family's furnace first thing

each morning, then banking the fire before going to bed, and once

a day carrying a pailful of cold ashes out to the ashcan in the back-

yard. Sandy had by now grown strong enough to take over from

my father, and in a few more years, when he went off like every

other eighteen-year-old American boy to receive his twenty-four

months of military training in President Lindbergh's new citizen

Army, I would inherit the job and relinquish it only when I too was

conscripted. Imagining a future when I'd be in the cellar manning

the furnace all alone was, at nine, as upsetting as thinking about

the inevitability of dying, which had also begun tormenting me in

bed every night.

But I mainly feared the cellar because of those who were already
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dead—my two grandfathers, my mother's mother, and the aunt

and uncle who once constituted Alvin's family. Their bodies may
have been interred just off Route 1 on the Newark-Elizabeth line,

but in order to patrol our affairs and scrutinize our conduct their

ghosts resided two stories beneath our flat. I had little or no recol-

lection of any of them other than of the grandmother who'd died

when I was six, and yet whenever I was headed for the cellar by my-

self, I took care to warn each in turn that I was on my way and to

beg them to keep their distance and not to besiege me once I was

in their midst. When Sandy was my age he used to arm himself

against his brand of fear by barreling down the cellar stairs shout-

ing, "Bad guys, I know you're down there—I've got a gun," while I

would descend whispering, "I'm sorry for whatever I did that was

wrong."

There was the wringer, the drains, the dead—the ghosts of the

dead watching and judging and condemning as I vomited into the

double sink where my mother and I had washed Alvin's clothes

—

and there were the alley cats who would disappear into the cellar

when the outside back door was left ajar and then yowl from wher-

ever in the dark they were crouched, and there was the agonized

cough of our downstairs neighbor Mr. Wishnow, a cough that

sounded from the cellar as though he were being ripped apart by

the teeth of a two-man saw. Like my father, Mr. Wishnow was an

insurance agent with the Metropolitan, but for over a year he had

been on disability pay, too ill with cancer of the mouth and the

throat to do anything but stay at home and listen to the daytime

radio serials when he wasn't asleep or uncontrollably coughing.

With the blessing of the home office, his wife had taken over for

him—the first female insurance agent in the history of the Newark

district—and now kept the same long hours as my father, who gen-

erally had to go back out after dinner to make his collections and

canvassed for prospective customers most every Saturday or Sun-

day, weekends being the only time when he could hope to find a

breadwinner at home to listen to his spiel. Before my mother had

herself begun to work as a saleslady at Hahne's, she would stop
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downstairs a couple of times a day to see how Mr. Wishnow was

doing; and now, when Mrs. Wishnow called to say she couldn't be

home in time to cook a proper dinner, my mother would prepare

a little more of whatever we were eating and Sandy and I, before we

were allowed to sit down to our own meal, each carried a warm

plateful of food to the first floor on a tray, one for Mr. Wishnow

and one for Seldon, the Wishnows' only child. Seldon would open

the door for us and we would maneuver our trays through the

foyer and into the kitchen, absorbed in trying not to spill anything

as we set them on the table where Mr. Wishnow was already wait-

ing, a paper napkin tucked into the top of his pajamas but looking

in no way able to feed himself, however desperately in need of nu-

trition. "You boys all right?" he would ask us in the shredded rag

of a voice that was left to him. "How about a joke for me, Phillie?

I could use a good joke," he allowed, but without bitterness, with-

out sadness, merely demonstrating the soft, defensive joviality of

someone still hanging on for no seeming reason. Seldon must have

told his father that I could make the kids laugh at school, and so I

would teasingly be asked to tell him a joke when just by his prox-

imity he'd have obliterated my capacity to speak. The best I could

do was to try to look at somebody whom I knew to be dying—and,

worse, resigned to dying—without allowing my eyes to see in his

the gruesome evidence of the bodily misery he was being made to

pass through on the way to a spectral life in our cellar with all the

other dead. Sometimes, when Mr. Wishnow's supply of medicine

had to be refilled at the drugstore, Seldon would hurry up the stairs

to ask if I wanted to go with him, and because I had learned from

my parents that Seldon's father was doomed—and because Seldon

himself acted as if he knew nothing about it—there was no way I

could think of to refuse him, even though I'd never liked being

with anyone so nakedly eager to be befriended. Seldon was a child

transparently under the sway of his loneliness, undeservedly rich

with sorrow and working much too hard to achieve the permanent

smile, one of those skinny, pallid, gentle-faced boys who embarrass

everyone by throwing a ball like a girl but also the smartest kid
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in our class and the schoolwide whiz at arithmetic. Oddly, there

was nobody in gym class better than Seldon at scrambling up and

down the ropes that dangled from the gymnasium's high ceiling,

his aerial nimbleness integrally related—according to one of our

teachers—to his unchallengeable adroitness with numbers. He was

already a little champ at chess, which his father had taught him,

and so whenever I accompanied him to the drugstore I knew there

was no way to prevent my winding up later at the chessboard in his

family's darkened living room—dark to save electricity and dark

because the drapes were now drawn all the time to keep the neigh-

borhood's morbidly curious from peering in at Seldon's step-by-

step descent into fatherlessness. Undeterred by my stern resistance,

Solitary Seldon (as he'd been nicknamed by Earl Axman, whose

mother's overnight mental collapse had been a startling parental

catastrophe of another order) would try to teach me for the mil-

lionth time how to move the pieces and play the game while, be-

hind the back bedroom door, his father coughed so frequently and

with so much force that there seemed to be not one father but four,

five, six fathers in there coughing themselves to death.

In less than a week it was I and not Alvin who was bandaging his

stump, and by then I'd practiced enough on myself—and without

again throwing up—that he hadn't once to complain of the band-

ages being too loose or too tight. I did this nightly—even after the

stump had healed and he was walking regularly on the artificial

leg—to stave off a resurgence of the swelling. All the while the

stump was healing, the artificial leg had been at the back of the

clothes closet, largely hidden from sight by the shoes on the floor

and by the trousers hanging down from the crossrod. It still took

some doing not to notice it, but I was determined and didn't know

what it was made of till the day Alvin took it out to put on. Ex-

cept for its eerily replicating the shape of the lower half of a real

lower limb, everything about it was horrible, but horrible and a won-

der both, beginning with what Alvin called his harness: the dark

leather thigh-corset that laced up the front and extended from just
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below the buttock to the top of the kneecap and that was attached

to the prosthesis by hinged steel joints on either side of the knee.

The stump, with a long white woolen sock pulled over it, fit snugly

into a cushioned socket carved into the top of the prosthesis, which

was fashioned of hollowed-out wood with air holes punched into

it and not, as I'd been imagining, of a length of black rubber re-

sembling a comic-book bludgeon. At the end of the leg was an ar-

tificial foot that flexed only a few degrees and was cushioned with

a sponge sole. It screwed neatly into the leg without any of the

hardware showing, and though it looked more like a wooden shoe-

tree than a living foot with five separate toes, when Alvin slipped

into his socks and shoes—the socks washed by my mother, the

shoes shined by me—you'd have thought that the feet were both

his own.

The first day back on his artificial leg Alvin exercised in the al-

leyway by walking back and forth from the garage at the far end to

the scrawny hedge enclosing the tiny front yard, but never a step

farther, to where he could be seen by someone out on the street.

The second day he again exercised alone in the morning, but when

I got home from school he took me outdoors with him for another

session, this time not just concentrating on his walking but pre-

tending that the soundness of his stump and the fit of his prosthe-

sis—and the long future ahead as a one-legged man—weren't

weighing on his mind. The following week Alvin was wearing the

leg around the house all day, and the week after that, he said to me,

"Go get the football." Only we didn't own a football—owning a

football was as big a deal as owning cleats or shoulder pads, and no

kid had one who wasn't "rich." And I couldn't just go and sign one

out from the playground back of the school unless we were going

to use it right there, so what I did—I who'd not stolen anything so

far other than some change from my parents' pockets—what I did

without a moment's hesitation was to stroll down Keer Avenue to

where there were one-family houses with front and back lawns and

case every driveway until I saw what I was after—a football to steal,

a real leather Wilson football, scuffed from the pavement, with
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worn leather lacing and a bladder you inflated, that some kid with

money had left unattended. I tucked it under my arm and took off,

tearing all the way up the hill to Summit Avenue as if I were re-

turning a kickoff for old Notre Dame.

That afternoon we practiced pass plays in the alleyway for close

to an hour, and at night, when we examined the stump together

behind our bedroom's closed door, we saw not one sign of its

breaking down, even though while tossing me his perfect left-

handed spirals Alvin had been taking practically the whole of his

weight on the artificial limb. "I didn't have a choice" is the defense

I would have formulated had I been caught in the act on Keer Av-

enue that day. My cousin Alvin wanted a football, Your Honor. He

lost his leg fighting Hitler and now he's home and he wanted a

football. What else could I possibly do?

By then a month had passed since the awful homecoming at

Penn Station and, though it wasn't necessarily pleasant, I'd feel no

revulsion to speak of when, while going for my shoes in the morn-

ing, I reached to the back of the closet for Alvin's prosthesis and

handed it across to where he was seated on the bed in his under-

shorts, waiting his turn in the bathroom. The grimness was fading

and he'd begun gaining weight, gorging himself between meals on

fistfuls of whatever was in the refrigerator, and his eyes didn't look

so enormous, and his hair had grown thick again, wavy hair so

black it had a waxen sheen, and as he sat there semihelpless with

his stump exposed, there was more each morning for a boy who

worshiped him to worship, and what there was to pity was a little

less impossible to bear.

Soon Alvin was no longer confining himself to the alleyway, and

without having to rely on the crutches or the cane that it humili-

ated him to use in public, he was all over the place on his artificial

leg, shopping for my mother at the butcher's, the bakery, and the

vegetable store, buying a hotdog for himself down at the corner,

taking the bus not only to the dentist on Clinton Avenue but all the

way on to Market Street to buy a new shirt at Larkey's—and also,

as I didn't yet know, dropping by the playing fields back of the high
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school with his separation pay in his pocket to see who might be

hanging around wanting to play poker or shoot craps. After school

one day, the two of us made room in the storage bin for the wheel-

chair, and that night after dinner I reported to my mother some-

thing that had dawned on me at school. Wherever I was and no

matter what I was supposed to be doing, I found myself thinking

about Alvin and how I could get him to forget about his prosthe-

sis—and so I said to my mother, "If Alvin had a zipper on the side

of his pant leg, it would be easier for him, wouldn't it, to get in and

out of his pants when he's got his leg on?" The next morning, on

her way to work, my mother dropped off a pair of Alvin's army

trousers with a neighborhood seamstress who worked out of her

house, and the seamstress was able to open the side seam and sew

in a zipper that extended some six inches up the uncuffed left pant

leg. That night when Alvin pulled on the trousers after having un-

done the zipper, the pant leg passed easily up over the prosthesis

without his having to curse everyone on earth just because he was

getting dressed. And when he closed the zipper, you couldn't see it.

"You don't even know it's there!" I cried. In the morning, we put all

his other trousers in a paper bag for my mother to take to the

seamstress to fix. "I couldn't live without you," Alvin said to me
when we went to bed that night. "I couldn't put my pants on with-

out you," and he gave me to keep forever the Canadian medal that

he'd been awarded "for performance under exceptional circum-

stances." It was a circular silver medal, on one side King George VI

in profile and on the other a triumphant lion standing on the body

of a dragon. I of course cherished it and began to wear it regularly,

but with the narrow green ribbon from which it hung pinned to

my undershirt so no one would see it and question my loyalty to

the United States. I left it in my drawer at home only on days I had

gym and we had to strip off our outer shirts to exercise.

And where did this leave Sandy? Because he was himself so busy,

he seemed at first not to notice my breakneck transformation into

personal valet to a decorated Canadian war hero who'd now gone

ahead and decorated me; and when he did—and was made miser-
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able at first not so much because of Alvin's involvement with me,

which was bound to follow from our new sleeping arrangement,

but because of the hostile indifference Alvin evinced toward him

—

it was too late to oust me from the great supporting role (with its

nauseating duties) that I'd virtually been forced to undertake and

that, to Sandy's surprise, had elicited such sublime recognition in

the waning years of my long career as his little brother.

And all of this had been achieved without my once alluding to

Sandy's affiliation, by way of Aunt Evelyn and Rabbi Bengelsdorf,

with our present hateful administration. Everyone, including my
brother, had avoided speaking of the OAA and Just Folks anywhere

near Alvin, convinced that until he came to understand how the

enormous popularity of Lindbergh's isolationist policies had

begun to win even the support of many Jews—and how it was far

less traitorous than it might appear for a Jewish boy Sandy's age to

have been drawn to the adventure that Just Folks offered—there'd

be nothing to mitigate the outrage of the most self-sacrificing and

staunchest Lindbergh-hater of us all. But Alvin seemed already to

have sensed that Sandy had let him down and, being Alvin, didn't

bother disguising his feelings. I'd said nothing, my parents had said

nothing, certainly Sandy hadn't said anything to incriminate him-

self in Alvin's eyes, and yet Alvin had come to know (or to behave

as though he knew) that the first one to welcome him home at the

train station had also been first to sign on with the fascists.

Nobody was sure what Alvin was going to do next. There would be

problems finding a job because not everyone was going to hire

somebody who was considered a cripple, a traitor, or both. How-

ever, it was essential, my parents said, to thwart any inclination

Alvin might have to do nothing and just sulk and feel sorry for

himself for the rest of his life while squeaking by on his pension.

My mother wanted him to use his monthly disability check to put

himself through college. She had asked around and been told that

if he spent a year at Newark Academy, earning B's for the courses

he'd got D's and F's in at Weequahic, more than likely he'd be able
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to get into the University of Newark the following year. But my
father couldn't imagine Alvin voluntarily going back to the twelfth

grade, even at a downtown private school; at twenty-two and after

all he'd been through, he needed as quickly as possible to get a job

with a future, and for this my father proposed Alvin's contacting

Billy Steinheim. Billy was the son who'd befriended Alvin back

when he was Abe's driver, and if Billy was willing to make the case

to his father for giving Alvin a second chance, maybe they would

agree to find a place for him in the firm, a lowly job for now but

one in which he could redeem himself in Abe Steinheim's eyes. If

need be, and only if need be, Alvin could get a start with Uncle

Monty, who'd already come around to offer his nephew work at the

produce market; that had been in those bad early days when Al-

vin's stump was seriously broken down and he was still in bed most

of the time and wouldn't allow the shades to be raised in our room

out of his dread of catching so much as a glimpse of the little world

in which he'd once been whole. Driving home from Penn Station

in the car with my father and Sandy, he'd shut his eyes once the

high school came into view rather than be reminded of the innu-

merable times he'd come bounding out of that building at the end

of the day unimpeded by bodily torment and equipped to pursue

whatever he wanted.

It was on the very afternoon before Uncle Monty's visit that I

was a little late returning from school—it had been my turn to stay

to clean the blackboards—and got home to discover that Alvin was

gone. I couldn't find him in his bed or in the bathroom or any-

where else in the flat, and so I ran outside to look for him in the

backyard and then, bewildered, raced back into the house where,

from the foot of the stairwell, I heard faint moaning sounds rising

from below—ghosts, the suffering ghosts of Alvin's mother and fa-

ther! When I edged down the cellar stairs to see if they could be

seen there as well as heard, what I saw instead, up by the front wall

of the cellar, was Alvin himself peering out of the horizontal little

glass slit that looked at street level onto Summit Avenue. He was in

his bathrobe, a hand to help him maintain his balance clutching
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the narrow sill. The other hand I couldn't see. He was using it for

something that I was too young to know anything about. Through

a little circle of window that had been cleared of grime, he was

watching the high school girls who lived on Keer Avenue walk

home from Weequahic along our street. Their legs scooting by the

front hedge was about all that he could have possibly seen, but see-

ing that much was enough and caused him to moan with what I

took to be anguish at his no longer himself having two legs to walk

on. I retreated silently up the stairs and out the back door and

squatted in the farthest corner of our garage, plotting to run away

to New York to live with Earl Axman. Only because it was getting

dark and I had homework to do, did I return to the house, stop-

ping first to peek into the cellar to see if Alvin was still there. He

wasn't, and so I dared to descend the stairs, dashing quickly past

the wringer and around the drains, and once at the window and up

on my toes—intending only to look out at the street the way he

did—I discovered the whitewashed wall beneath the window slick

and syrupy with an abundance of goo. Since I didn't know what

masturbation was, I of course didn't know what ejaculate was. I

thought it was pus. I thought it was phlegm. I didn't know what to

think, except that it was something terrible. In the presence of a

species of discharge as yet mysterious to me, I imagined it was

something that festered in a man's body and then came spurting

from his mouth when he was completely consumed by grief.

The afternoon Uncle Monty stopped by to see Alvin, he was on his

way downtown to Miller Street, where, since he was fourteen years

old, he'd been working all night long at the market, arriving at

around five and getting home only at nine the next morning to eat

his big meal and go to sleep for the day. That was the life lived by

the richest member of our family. His two children fared better.

Linda and Annette, who were a little older than Sandy and exhib-

ited the painful shyness of girls who tiptoe around a tyrannical fa-

ther, had lots of clothes and attended suburban Columbia High

School in Maplewood, where there were more Jewish kids who had
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lots of clothes and whose fathers, like Monty, each owned a Caddy

for themselves and had a second car in the garage for the conven-

ience of the wife and the grown children. Living with them all in

the big Maplewood house was my grandmother, who also had a lot

of clothes, all bought for her by her most successful son and none

of which she wore other than on the High Holidays and when

Monty made her get dressed up to go out to eat with the family on

Sundays. The restaurants weren't sufficiently kosher to meet her

standards, so all she ever ordered was the a la carte prisoner's meal

of bread and water, and then she never knew how to act in a restau-

rant anyway. Once when she saw a busboy carrying a staggering

load of dishes back to the kitchen, she'd gotten up to go over and

help him. Uncle Monty cried, "Ma! No! Loz im tsu rul Let the boy

be!" and when she slapped his hand away had to be pulled back to

the table by the sleeve of her ridiculously sequined dress. There was

a black woman, known as "the girl," who came by bus from New-

ark to clean two days a week, but that didn't stop Grandma from

going down on her knees when no one was around to scrub the

kitchen and bathroom floors or from doing her own wash on a

washboard despite the presence in Monty's finished basement of

a brand-new $99 Bendix Home Laundry. My aunt Tillie, Monty's

wife, was endlessly complaining because her husband slept all day

and was never home at night, though everyone else in the family

considered that—far more than her own new Oldsmobile—to be

her good luck.

Alvin was lying in bed and still in pajamas at four in the after-

noon on that January day when Monty first dropped by to see him

and to dare ask the question whose answer none of us exactly

knew—"How the hell did you manage to lose a leg?" Since Alvin

had been so uncompanionable when I got home from school, re-

sponding with a grunt of disgust to whatever I offered to cheer him

up, I hardly expected our least lovable relative to elicit any response

at all.

But the intimidating presence of Uncle Monty, with the ever-

present cigarette dangling from the corner of his mouth, was such
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j

ftiat not even Alvin, in those early days, could tell him to shut up

and go away. On that particular afternoon Alvin couldn't begin to

mimic the brash defiance that had enabled him to hop like a mar-

vel across the Penn Station concourse upon arriving back home as

an amputee.

"France," Alvin hollowly replied to the big question.

"Worst country in the world," Monty told him, and with no lack

of certainty. As a twenty-one-year-old in the summer of 1918,

Monty had himself fought in France against the Germans in the

second bloody Battle of the Marne, and then in the Argonne For-

est when the Allies broke through on the Germans' western front,

and so, of course, he knew everything about France.

"I'm not asking you where," Monty said, "I'm asking you how."

"How," repeated Alvin.

"Spit it out, kid. It'll do you good."

He knew that too—what would do Alvin good.

"Where were you," he asked, "when you got hit? And don't tell

me 'the wrong place.' All your life you been in the wrong place."

"We were waiting for the boat to get us out."

Here he closed his eyes as though hoping never to open them

again. But instead of stopping right there, as I was praying for him

to do
—

"Shot a German," he suddenly said.

"And?" said Monty.

"He was out there screaming for the rest of the night."

"So? So? Go on. So he was screaming. So what?"

"So near dawn, before the boat's due in, I crawled over to where

he was. Maybe fifty yards away. By then he was already dead. But I

crawled around to the top of him and I shot him twice in the head.

Then I spit on the son of a bitch. And in that second they threw

the grenade. I got it in both legs. On one of my legs the foot was

twisted around. Broken and twisted. That one they could fix. They

operated and fixed it. They put a cast on it. They straightened it

out. But the other was gone. I looked down and I saw one foot

backwards and one leg dangling. The left leg just about amputated

already."
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There it was, and nothing like the heroic reality that I had so

shallowly imagined.

"Out in no man's land all alone," Monty told him, "could be you

were hit by one of your own. It's not yet light, it's half-light, a guy

hears gunfire, he panics—bingo, he yanks the pin."

As for that surmise, Alvin had nothing to say.

Anyone else might have understood and relented, if only be-

cause of the perspiration beading Alvin's forehead and the drop-

lets pooled in the hollow of his throat and the fact that he still

wouldn't open his eyes. But not my uncle—he understands and

doesn't relent. "And how come you didn't get left there? After pull-

ing that stunt, how come they didn't just leave you to die?"

"There was mud everywhere" was Alvin's vacant reply. "The

ground was mud. All I remember is that there was mud."

"Who saved you, misfit?"

"They took me. I must have been out of it. Came and took me."

"I'm trying to picture your brain, Alvin, and I can't. Spits. He

spits. And that's the story of how he loses a leg."

"Some things you don't know why you do them." It was I who

was speaking. What did I know? But I was telling my uncle, "You

just do them, Uncle Monty. You can't not."

"You can't not, Phillie, when you're a professional misfit." To

Alvin he said, "So now what? You going to lay there living off dis-

ability checks? You going to live like a sharpie off your luck? Or

would you maybe consider supporting yourself like the rest of us

dumb mortals do? There's a job at the market for you when you're

up out of bed. You start at the bottom, hosing down the floor and

grading tomatoes, you start at the bottom with the buggy-luggers

and the schleppers, but there's a job there working for me, and a

paycheck every week. You pocket half the take at the Esso station,

but I'll go with you anyway because you're still Jack's kid, and for

my brother Jack I do anything. I wouldn't be where I am without

Jack. Jack taught me the produce business and then he died. Just

like Steinheim wanted to teach you the building business. But no-

body can teach you, misfit. Throws the keys in Steinheim's face. Too
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big for Abe Steinheim. Only Hitler is big enough for Alvin Roth."

In the kitchen, in a drawer with the potholders and the oven

thermometer, my mother kept a long stiff needle and heavy thread

to truss up the Thanksgiving turkey after it was stuffed. It was the

only instrument of torture, aside from the wringer, that I could

think of that we owned, and I wanted to go in and get it and use it

to shut my uncle's mouth.

At the bedroom door, before leaving for the market, Monty

turned back to summarize. Bullies love to summarize. The redun-

dant upbraiding summary—nothing to equal it outside the old-

fashioned flogging. "Your buddies risked everything to save you.

Went in and dragged you out under fire. Didn't they? And for

what? So you could spend the rest of your life shooting craps with

Margulis? So you can play seven-card stud up at the schoolyard? So

you can go back and pump gas and steal Simkowitz blind? You

make every mistake in the book. Everything you do you do wrong.

Even shooting Germans you do wrong. Why is that? Why do you

throw keys at people? Why do you spit? Someone who is already

dead—and you spit? Why? Because life wasn't handed to you on a

silver platter like it was handed to the rest of the Roths? If it wasn't

for Jack, Alvin, I wouldn't be standing here wasting my breath.

There is nothing you have earned. Let's be clear about that. Noth-

ing. For twenty-two years you have remained a disaster. I'm doing

this for your father, sonny, not for you. I'm doing it for your grand-

mother. 'Help the boy,' she tells me, so I'm helping you. Once you

figure out how you want to make your fortune, come around on

your pegleg and we'll talk."

Alvin didn't cry, didn't curse, didn't holler, even after Monty was

out the back door and into his car and he could have unleashed his

every evil thought. He was too far gone to roar that day. Or even to

crack. Only I did, after he refused to open his eyes and look at me
when I begged him to; only I cracked, alone later in the one place

in our house where I knew I could go to be apart from the living

and all that they cannot not do.
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Here's how Alvin came to have it in for Sandy.

Before leaving him alone on the morning of his first

Monday back, my mother had made Alvin promise to use

his crutches to get around on until one of us was home to fetch for

him. But Alvin so despised being on crutches that he refused even

by himself to submit to the stability they provided. At night, when

we were in our beds and the lights were out, Alvin would get me
laughing by explaining why crutching wasn't so simple as my
mother thought. "You go to the bathroom," Alvin said, "and they're

always falling. They're always clattering. They're always making a

fucking noise. You go to the bathroom, you've got these crutches,

you try to get your cock, and you can't get your cock because your

crutches are in the way. You gotta get rid of the crutches. Then

you're standing on one leg. That's not so good. You lean one way or

another, you splatter all over the place. Your father tells me to sit

down to piss. Know what I say? 'I'll sit when you do, Herman.'

Fucking crutches. Standing on one leg. Taking your dick out. Jesus.

Pissing is hard enough to do as it is." I'm laughing uncontrollably

now not only because the story is especially funny as he half whis-

pers it in the darkened room, but because never before has a man
revealed himself to me this way, using the prohibited words so

freely and openly cracking toilet jokes. "Come on," Alvin says, "own

up to it, kiddo—pissing's not something that's as easy as it looks."
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So it happened that on that first Monday morning alone, when

the amputation was still a limitless loss that he assumed would im-

pede and torment him forever, he took the fall that no one in the

family knew about other than me. He was standing braced against

the kitchen sink, where, without the aid of his crutches, he'd gone

for a glass of water. When he turned to start back to the bedroom

he forgot (for all possible reasons) that he had just the one leg

and, instead of hopping, did what everyone else did in our house

—

began to walk and of course toppled over. The pain shooting up

from the butt end of his stump was worse than the pain in the

missing segment of his leg—pain, Alvin explained to me after I

first watched him succumb to a siege in the bed beside me, "that

grabs you and won't let you go," though no limb is left to cause it.

"There's pain where you are," Alvin said when the time had come

to reassure me with some kind of comical remark, "and there's

pain where you ain't. I wonder who thought that up."

The English hospital gave the amputees morphine to control the

pain. "You're always calling for it," Alvin told me. "And whenever

you do they give it to you. You push a button for the nurse and

when she gets to you, you tell her, 'Morphine, morphine,' and then

you're pretty much out of it." "How much did it hurt in the hospi-

tal?" I asked him. "It was no fun, kiddo." "Was that the worst pain

you ever had?" "Worst pain I ever had," he replied, "was when my
father closed the door of the car on my finger when I was six years

old." He laughed, and so I laughed. "My father said—when he saw

me crying like hell, this little stinker about that high—my father

said, 'Stop crying, that doesn't do any good.'" Quietly laughing

again, Alvin said, "And that was probably worse than the pain. My
last memory of him, too. Later that day he keeled over and died."

Writhing on the kitchen linoleum, Alvin had no one to call for

help, let alone for a shot of morphine; everybody was off either at

school or at work, and so, in time, it was necessary to grope his way

across the kitchen and the foyer to his bed. But just as he was po-

sitioning himself to push up from the floor, he spotted Sandy's art

portfolio. Sandy still used the portfolio to preserve his large pencil
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and charcoal drawings between tracing paper and to carry them

with him when he had to take the drawings somewhere to show. It

was too large to store in the sun parlor, and so he'd left it behind in

our room. Mere curiosity impelled Alvin to fish the portfolio out

a ways from beneath the bed, but because he was unable right off

to determine its purpose—and because all he really wanted was

to be back under the covers—he was ready to forget about it when

he noticed the ribbon that held the two halves together. Existence

was worthless, living was unendurable, he still throbbed with pain

from the mindless accident at the kitchen sink, and so for no rea-

son other than that he felt himself powerless to carry off a physical

task any more formidable, he fiddled with the ribbons until he un-

did the bow.

What he found inside were the three portraits of Charles A.

Lindbergh as an aviator that Sandy had told my parents he'd de-

stroyed two years back as well as those that he'd drawn at the be-

hest of Aunt Evelyn once Lindbergh became president. I'd only

seen the new ones myself when Aunt Evelyn took me along to New
Brunswick to hear Sandy give his Just Folks recruitment speech in

the synagogue basement. "This shows President Lindbergh signing

into law the Universal Conscription Act, designed to keep America

at peace by teaching our youth the skills necessary to protect and

defend the nation. This one shows the president at a draftsman's

drawing board, adding his aeronautical suggestions to the design

for the nation's newest fighter-bomber. Here I show President Lind-

bergh relaxing at the White House with the family dog."

Each of the new Lindbergh portraits exhibited as a prelude to

Sandy's New Brunswick talk Alvin examined on the bedroom floor.

Then, despite the destructive urge aroused by his registering the

skill so meticulously expended on these beautiful likenesses, he

placed them between the leaves of tracing paper and shoved the

portfolio back under the bed.

Once Alvin was out and around in the neighborhood, he hadn't to

rely only on Sandy's Lindbergh drawings to realize that, while he'd
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been making raids on ammo depots in France, Roosevelt's Repub-

lican successor had come to be, if not entirely trusted by the Jews,

accepted as tolerable for the time being even among those of our

neighbors who had started out hating him as passionately as my
father did. Walter Winchell persisted in attacking the president on

his Sunday-night radio show, and everybody on the block devot-

edly tuned him in to give credence, while they listened, to his alarm-

ing interpretations of the president's policies, but as nothing that

they feared had come to pass since the inauguration, our neighbors

slowly began putting more faith in Rabbi Bengelsdorf 's optimistic

assurances than in Winchell's dire prophecies. And not just the

neighbors but Jewish leaders all over the country began openly to

acknowledge that Newark's Lionel Bengelsdorf, far from having

betrayed them by endorsing Lindy in the 1940 election, had been

prescient enough to see where the nation was headed and that his

elevation to the directorship of the Office of American Absorption

—and the administration's foremost adviser on Jewish affairs

—

was the direct result of his having cleverly gained Lindbergh's con-

fidence as an early supporter. If the president's anti-Semitism had

somehow been neutralized (or, more remarkably, eradicated), Jews

were willing to attribute the miracle to the influence of the vener-

able rabbi who was soon to become—another miracle—an uncle

by marriage to Sandy and me.

One day early in March I wandered over, uninvited, to the dead-

end street backing onto the school playground where Alvin had

begun shooting craps and playing stud poker if the afternoon was

warm enough and it wasn't raining. He was rarely in the house

anymore when I got home after school, and though generally he

made it back by five-thirty for dinner, after dessert he'd head out to

the hotdog hangout a block from our house to meet up with his

old high school friends, a few of whom used to pump gas at the

Esso station owned by Simkowitz and had been fired along with

him for stealing from the boss. I'd be asleep by the time he got in

for the night, and only when he removed his leg and began hop-
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ping to and from the bathroom did I open my eyes and mumble

his name before falling back to sleep. Some seven weeks after he'd

moved into the bed beside mine, I ceased to be indispensable and

abruptly found myself bereft of the mesmeric surrogate he'd been

for Sandy, vanished now from my side into the stardom master-

minded for him by Aunt Evelyn. The maimed and suffering Amer-

ican pariah who had come to loom larger for me than any man I'd

ever known, including my father, whose passionate struggles had

become my own, whose future I fretted over when I should have

been listening to the teacher in class, had begun to buddy up with

the same good-for-nothings who'd helped turn him into a petty

thief at sixteen. What he appeared to have lost in combat, along

with his leg, was every decent habit inculcated in him when he was

living as my parents' ward. Nor did he display any interest in the

fight against fascism, which, two years earlier, no one could re-

strain him from joining. In fact, why he went scooting out of the

house on his artificial leg every night was, at the beginning anyway,

largely to avoid having to sit in the living room while my father

read the war news aloud from the paper.

There was no campaign against the Axis powers that my father

didn't agonize about, particularly when things went badly for the

Soviet Union and Great Britain and it was clear how urgently they

needed the U.S. arms embargoed by Lindbergh and the Republican

Congress. By this time my father could deploy the terminology of

a war strategist quite proficiently when he expatiated on the need

for the British, Australians, and Dutch to prevent the Japanese

—

who, in sweeping across Southeast Asia, exhibited all the righteous

cruelty of the racially superior—from proceeding westward into

India and southward into New Zealand and on to Australia. In the

early months of 1942 the Pacific war news that he read to us was

uniformly bad: there was the successful Japanese drive into Burma,

the Japanese capture of Malaya, the Japanese bombing of New

Guinea, and, after devastating attacks from the sea and air and the

capturing of tens of thousands of British and Dutch troops on the

ground, the fall of Singapore, Borneo, Sumatra, and Java. But it was
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the progress of the Russian campaign that upset my father most.

The year before, when the Germans appeared to be on the verge

of overrunning every major city in the western half of the Soviet

Union (including Kiev, from whose environs my maternal grand-

parents had emigrated to America in the 1890s), the names of

even lesser Russian cities, like Petrozavodsk, Novgorod, Dneprope-

trovsk, and Taganrog, had become as familiar to me as the capitals

of the forty-eight states. In the winter of 1941-42 the Russians had

staged the impossible counterattacks that broke the sieges of Lenin-

grad, Moscow, and Stalingrad, but by March the Germans had re-

grouped from their winter catastrophe and, as demonstrated by

the troop movements mapped out in the Newark News, were rein-

forcing for a spring offensive to conquer the Caucasus. My father

explained that what made the prospect of a Russian collapse so

awful was that it would represent to the world the invincibility of

the German war machine. The vast natural resources of the Soviet

Union would fall into German hands and the Russian people

would be forced to serve the Third Reich. Worst of all "for us" was

that with Germany's eastward advance millions and millions of

Russian Jews would come under the control of an occupying army

equipped in every way to implement Hitler's messianic program to

deliver humanity from the clutches of the Jews.

According to my father, the brutal triumph of antidemocratic

militarism was imminent just about everywhere, the massacre of

Russian Jewry, including members of my mother's extended fam-

ily, was all but at hand, and Alvin didn't care one bit. No longer was

he burdened by concern for anyone's suffering other than his own.

I found Alvin down on the good knee of the real leg, dice in hand

and the pile of bills beside him secured by a jagged chunk of ce-

ment. With the prosthetic leg jutting straight out in front of him,

he looked like a squatting Russian dancing one of those crazy

Slavic jigs. There were six other gamblers tightly encircling him,

three still in the game, clutching what was left of their dough, two

who were broke and just standing around—whom I vaguely rec-
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ognized as ex-Weequahic washouts now in their twenties—and the

long-legged guy hovering over him, Alvin's "partner," as it turned

out, Shushy Margulis, a skinny zoot-suiter with a sinewy build and

a gliding gait, the hanger-on from Alvin's gas station days whom
my father most despised. Shushy was known to us kids as the Pin-

ball King because a racketeer uncle whom he boasted about was

the pinball king—and king as well of all illegal slots down in Phila-

delphia, where he reigned—and also because of the hours he spent

racking up scores by banging away at the pinball machines in the

neighborhood candy stores, shoving the machine, cursing it, vio-

lently shaking it from side to side until play was terminated either

by the colored lights flashing "Tilt" or by the store owner chasing

him out. Shushy was the famous comedian who entertained his ad-

mirers by gleefully tossing lit matches into the mouth of the big

green mailbox across from the high school, and who had once

eaten a live praying mantis on a bet, and who, during his short-

lived academic career, liked to hand the crowd a laugh outside the

hotdog hangout by limping across Chancellor Avenue with one

hand raised to stop the oncoming traffic—limping badly, tragi-

cally, though nothing was wrong with him. By this time he was al-

ready into his thirties and still living with his seamstress mother in

one of the little flats at the top of a two-and-a-half-family house

next door to the synagogue on Wainwright Street. It was to Shushy's

mother, known sympathetically to one and all as "poor Mrs. Mar-

gulis," that my mother had taken Alvin's pants to have the zippers

sewn in—poor Mrs. Margulis not merely because she survived as a

widow by doing piecework at slave wages for a Down Neck dress

manufacturer but because her sharpie son seemed never to have

held a job other than as a runner for the bookie who worked out

of the poolroom around the corner from their house and just

down the street from the Catholic orphanage on Lyons Avenue.

The orphanage stood within the fenced-off grounds of St. Peter's,

the parish church that oddly monopolized some three square

blocks at the very heart of our unredeemable neighborhood. The

church itself was topped by a tall bell tower and an even taller
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steeple that was capped by a cross that rose divinely above the tele-

phone wires. Locally there was no building that high to be seen

until you proceeded nearly a mile down the Lyons Avenue hill to

my birthplace, the Beth Israel Hospital, where every boy I knew

had been born as well and, at the age of eight days, ritually cir-

cumcised in the hospital's sanctuary. Flanking the bell tower of the

church were two smaller steeples that I never cared to examine be-

cause the faces of Christian saints were said to be carved into the

stone, and the church's high, narrow stained-glass windows told a

story that I didn't want to know. Near the church was a small rec-

tory; like most everything else situated within the black iron pal-

ings of this alien world it had been built during the latter part of

the previous century, several decades before the first of our houses

went up and the western edge of the Weequahic neighborhood

took shape as Newark's Jewish frontier. Behind the church was the

grammar school serving the orphans—there were about a hundred

of them—and a smaller number of local Catholic kids. The school

and the orphanage were run by an order of nuns, German nuns,

I remember being told. Jewish children raised even in tolerant

households like mine would generally cross the street on the rare

occasions we saw them swishing our way in their witchy attire, and

family lore had it that when my brother, as a small child sitting

alone on our front stoop one afternoon, spotted a pair of them ap-

proaching from Chancellor Avenue, he had called excitedly to my
mother, "Look, Ma—the nuts."

A convent stood next to the orphans' residence. Both were sim-

ple red-brick buildings, and at the end of a summer's day you'd

sometimes catch a glimpse of the orphans—white children, girls

and boys, aged from about six to fourteen—sitting outdoors on the

fire escape. I have no memory of seeing the orphans in a group

anywhere else, certainly not running freely about the streets the

way we did. A swarm of them would have discomfited me no less

than did the unsettling appearance of the nuns, primarily because

they were orphaned but also because they were said to be both

"neglected" and "indigent."
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Back of the residence hall, and unlike anything to be seen in our

neighborhood—or anywhere else in an industrial city of close to

half a million—was a truck farm of the kind that made New Jersey

"the Garden State," back when compact family vegetable farms

able to turn a small profit dotted the undeveloped rural reaches of

the state. The food grown and harvested at St. Peter's went to feed

the orphans, the dozen or so nuns, the old monsignor in charge,

and the younger priest who was his assistant. With the help of the

orphans, the land was worked by a resident German farmer called

Thimmes—unless I'm remembering incorrectly and that was the

name of St. Peter's monsignor, who'd been running the place for

years.

At our public elementary school less than a mile away it was ru-

mored that the nuns who instructed the orphans in class routinely

smacked the stupidest of them across the hands with wooden

rulers and that when a boy's offense was so gross as to be intoler-

able the monsignor's assistant was called in to beat him across the

buttocks with the same whip the farmer used on the swaybacked

pair of lumbering workhorses that pulled the plow for the spring

planting. These horses we all knew and recognized because from

time to time they'd wander together across the farm to the little

wooded meadow at the southern boundary of St. Peter's domain

and stick their heads inquisitively out above the gate that backed

onto Goldsmith Avenue, where the crap game I'd come upon was

taking place.

There was a chain-link fence about seven feet high at the edge of

the playground on the near side of Goldsmith Avenue and a wire

fence set in posts at the wooded edge of the truck farm on the far

side, and since no houses had as yet gone up anywhere nearby and

there was never much foot or automobile traffic to speak of, an al-

most sylvan seclusion was conveniently provided there for the

neighborhood's tiny handful of losers to pursue their pleasures out

of harm's way. The closest I'd ever come to one of these sinister

conclaves before was when, during some playground game, I'd had
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to chase a ball that had rolled to where they all huddled together

just beyond the fence, uttering imprecations at one another and

saving their sweet talk for the dice.

Now, I was no righteous little foe of crapshooting, and I had

begged Alvin to teach me how to play one afternoon when he was

still on crutches and my mother had instructed me to accompany

him to his dentist appointment and do things like drop his fare

into the fare box and hold his crutches for him while he hopped

onto the street from the bus's back door. That night, when every-

one else had gone to sleep and we'd switched off the table lamp on

the stand between our beds, he watched with a smile as, by the

beam of my flashlight, I whispered, "Dice be nice," and soundlessly

rolled three consecutive sevens across my sheets. Yet as I watched

him now in the clutches of his inferiors, and remembered all that

my family had sacrificed to prevent him from turning himself into

a replica of Shushy, every obscenity I'd learned as his roommate

flooded foully into my mind. I cursed him in behalf of my father,

my mother, and especially my ostracized brother—was it for this

that all of us had agreed to endure Alvin's objectionable behavior

toward Sandy? Was it for this that he'd run off to fight in the war?

I thought, "Take your fucking medal, gimp, and shove it!" If only

he would learn his lesson by losing every last penny of his disabil-

ity pension, but in fact he couldn't stop himself from winning, any

more than he could stop himself from abandoning the desire to

ever again be anyone's hero, and, having already raked in a big wad

of bills, he held the dice to my lips and, in a gravelly voice with

which he intended to be funny for his friends, he instructed me,

"Blow on 'em—baby." I blew, he rolled and won yet again. "Six and

one—making what?" he asked. "Seven," I obediently answered, "the

hard way."

Shushy reached down to muss my hair and began calling me

Alvin's mascot, as though "mascot" could encompass what I'd re-

solved to be for Alvin since he'd come home, as though a word so

hollow and childish could account for why Alvin's King George

medal was pinned to my undershirt. Shushy was dressed in a
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chocolate-colored double-breasted gabardine suit, with pegged

trousers and wide, padded shoulders and flamboyant lapels, his fa-

vored getup whenever he went bopping around the neighborhood

snapping his fingers—and, in my mother's words, "wasting his

life"—while back in their tiny attic flat his mother hemmed a hun-

dred dresses a day to meet the family's bills.

When he missed his point, Alvin drew all his winnings together

and ostentatiously stuffed the bundle into his pocket—the man
who broke the bank behind the high school. Then, by grasping the

chain-link fence, he pulled himself to his feet. I knew (and not just

from observing the tortured way he began limping about to get

himself going) that a big boil had erupted on his stump the night

before and that he wasn't in the best of shape that day. But he re-

fused any longer to be seen on crutches by anyone outside the

family, and before going off to team up with sleazy Shushy—and

spend another day blatantly repudiating all the ideals that had

made him a cripple—he harnessed the stump into the prosthesis

however much it hurt.

"Goddamn legmaker" was all he said by way of complaint as he

came up to put his hand on my shoulder.

"Can I go home now?" I whispered.

"Sure, why not?" and then he took two ten-dollar bills out of

his pocket—nearly half my father's weekly paycheck—and flat-

tened them against the palm of my hand. Never before had money

seemed like something alive.

Instead of heading back across the playground, I took a slightly

longer route home, proceeding down the Goldsmith Avenue hill to

Hobson Street so that I could look up close at the orphanage

horses. I had never dared to reach over and touch them, and before

that day I'd never spoken to them the way other kids did, satirically

calling these mud-spattered beasts drooling gooey saliva "Omaha"

and "Whirlaway," which were the names of two of the greatest Ken-

tucky Derby winners of our day.

I stopped a safe distance back from where the darkly gleaming
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high- relief eyes peered out above the orphanage fence, impassively

monitoring through their long lashes the no man's land separating

the stronghold of St. Peter's from the neighborhood of Jews be-

yond the pale. The chain was unlooped and hanging down off the

gate. I had only to yank up on the latch and swing the gate open

and the horses would be free to gallop away. The temptation was

enormous—as was the spite.

"Fucking Lindbergh," I said to the horses, "Nazi fucking bastard

Lindbergh!" and then, for fear that if I did fling open the gate, in-

stead of the horses running free they'd use their big teeth to drag

me into the orphanage, I darted down the street and, turning on

Hobson, raced past the block-long row of four-family houses

and out to the corner of Chancellor Avenue, where housewives I

recognized were in and out of the grocery and the bakery and the

butcher shop, and older boys whose names I knew were riding

their bikes, and the tailor's son was carrying over either shoulder a

load of newly pressed clothes for delivery, and where Italian sing-

ing issued onto the street through the shoemaker's doorway, his

radio tuned as always to WEVD—the EVD to honor the perse-

cuted socialist hero Eugene V. Debs—and where I was safe from

Alvin, Shushy, the horses, the orphans, the priests, the nuns, and

the parochial-school whip.

When I turned back up the hill toward home a man neatly

dressed in a business suit fell in step beside me. It was still too early

for the local workingmen to be getting home for dinner, and so I

knew right off to be suspicious.

"Master Philip?" he inquired with a broad smile. "Do you ever

listen to Gangbusters on the radio, Master Philip? About J. Edgar

Hoover and the FBI?"

"Yes."

"Well, I work for Mr. Hoover. He's my boss. I'm an agent from

the FBI. Here," he said, and he removed a billfold from an inside

coat pocket and flipped it open to show me his badge. "If you

wouldn't mind, I'd like to ask a few little questions."

"I don't mind, but I'm on my way home. I have to get home."
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Immediately I thought about the two ten-dollar bills. If he

searched me, if he had a warrant to search me, wasn't he going to

find all that money and assume it was stolen? Wouldn't anybody?

And until ten minutes earlier, for an entire lifetime, I'd been walk-

ing around with my pockets empty, out on the street without a

penny to my name! My allowance of five cents a week I saved in

a jelly jar with a slit Sandy chiseled into the lid with the can opener

blade of his Boy Scout knife. Now I was walking around like a bank

robber.

"Don't be frightened. Calm down, Master Philip. You've heard

Gangbusters. We're on your side. We protect you. I just want to ask

a few questions about your cousin Alvin. How's he doing?"

"He's fine."

"How's his leg coming along?"

"Good."

"He's able to walk okay?"

"Yes."

"Wasn't that him I saw over where you just came from? Wasn't

that Alvin behind the playground? Out on the sidewalk, wasn't that

Alvin with Shushy Margulis?"

I didn't reply, and so he said, "It's okay if they're shooting craps.

That's no crime. That's just part of being a big man. Alvin must

have shot craps a lot in the army hospital up in Montreal."

When I still wouldn't speak, he asked, "What were the fellas talk-

ing about?"

"Nothing."

"All afternoon they're out there, and they're talking about noth-

ing?"

"They were just saying how much they were losing."

"Nothing else? Nothing about the president? You know who the

president is, don't you?"

"Charles A. Lindbergh."

"Nothing about President Lindbergh, Master Philip?"

"Not that I heard," I answered truthfully.

But might he not have overheard me saying what I'd said to the
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horses? Impossible—and yet by now I was sure that he knew every

move I'd made since Alvin came home from the war and gave me
his medal. It was indisputable that he knew that I was wearing the

medal. Why else was he looking me over from head to toe?

"Did they talk about Canada?" he asked. "About going to Can-

ada?"

"No, sir."

"Call me Don, why don't you? And I'll call you Phil. You know

what a fascist is, don't you, Phil?"

"I think so."

"Did they call anybody a fascist that you remember?"

"No."

"Don't rush yourself. Don't rush to answer. Take all the time

you need. Try hard to remember. It's important. Did they call any-

body a fascist? Did they say anything about Hitler? You know who

Hitler is."

"Everybody does."

"He's a bad man, isn't he?"

"Yes," I said.

"He's against the Jews, isn't he?"

"Yes."

"Who else is against the Jews?"

"The Bund."

"Anyone else?" he asked.

I knew enough not to mention Henry Ford, America First, the

southern Democrats, or the isolationist Republicans, let alone

Lindbergh. Over the past few years, the list I heard at home of

prominent Americans who hated Jews was far longer than that,

and then there were the ordinary Americans, tens of thousands of

them, maybe millions of them, like the beer drinkers we didn't

want to live beside in Union and the owner of the hotel in Wash-

ington and the mustached diner who'd insulted us in the cafeteria

near Union Station. "Don't talk," I told myself, as though a pro-

tected boy of nine were mixed up with criminals and had some-

166



NEVER BEFORE

thing to hide. But I must already have begun to think of myself as

a little criminal because I was a Jew.

"And who else?" he repeated. "Mr. Hoover wants to know who
else. Come clean, Phil."

"I am," I insisted.

"How's your aunt Evelyn doing?"

"She's fine."

"She's getting married. Isn't that right, that she's getting mar-

ried? You can at least answer that."

Yes.

"And do you know who she's marrying?"

"Yes."

"You're a smart boy. I think you know more—a lot more. But

you're too smart to tell me, aren't you?"

"She's marrying Rabbi Bengelsdorf," I said. "He's head of the

OAA."

My saying that made him laugh. "Okay," he told me, "you go on

home. Go home and eat your matzohs. Isn't that what makes you

so smart? Eating the matzohs?"

We were now at the corner of Chancellor and Summit, and I

could see the stoop of our house down at the end of the block.

"Bye!" I cried, and didn't wait for the light to change but ran for

home before I fell into his trap, if I hadn't fallen into it already.

There were three police cars parked on the street in front of our

house, our alleyway was blocked off by an ambulance, and a cou-

ple of cops stood on the stoop talking together while another was

posted beside the back door. The women on the block, most of

them still in their aprons, were on their front stoops trying to fig-

ure out what was going on, and all the kids were huddled on the

sidewalk across the street from our house, peering out at the cops

and the ambulance from between the row of parked cars. Never

before could I remember them silently gathered together like that,

looking so apprehensive.
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Our downstairs neighbor was dead. Mr. Wishnow had commit-

ted suicide. That was why everything I could never have expected

to see was now right outside the door of our house. Weighing

barely eighty pounds, he had been able to strangulate himself by

stringing the living room curtain cords over the wooden rod in the

back-foyer coat closet, then looping them around his neck and

falling forward off the edge of the kitchen chair where he'd seated

himself inside the closet. When Seldon, home from school, went to

put his coat away, he found his father, in his pajamas, hanging face-

down on the closet floor amid the family's rubbers and galoshes.

My first thought on learning the news was that I no longer had to

be fearful of hearing a coughing fit emanating from the dying man
in the first-floor flat whenever I was alone in the cellar, or of hear-

ing him in my bed on the floor above when I was trying to fall

asleep. But then I realized that the ghost of Mr. Wishnow would

now join the circle of ghosts already inhabiting the cellar and that,

just because I was relieved he was dead, he would go out of his way

to haunt me for the rest of my life.

Since I didn't know what else to do, I at first kneeled at the side

of the parked cars, hiding there with the other kids. None of them

had a conception any larger than my own of the cataclysm that had

befallen the Wishnows, but it was from their whisperings that I

pieced together how Mr. Wishnow had died and how he'd been

found and learned that Seldon and his mother were inside with

one of the policemen and the medics. And with the corpse. The

corpse was what the kids were all waiting to see. I waited with them

rather than wind up entering the back hallway just as they were

carrying Mr. Wishnow down the stairs. Nor did I want to get home

and have to sit there alone until my mother, my father, or Sandy

appeared. As for Alvin, I wanted never to see him again or to be

questioned about him by anyone.

The woman who emerged from the house accompanying the

medics wasn't Mrs. Wishnow but my mother. I couldn't under-

stand why she was home from work until it dawned on me that the

dead father they were carrying away was my own. Yes, of course

—
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my father had committed suicide. He couldn't take any more of

Lindbergh and what Lindbergh was letting the Nazis do to the Jews

of Russia and what Lindbergh had done to our family right here

and so it was he who had hanged himself—in our closet.

I didn't have hundreds of memories of him then, I had just one,

and it did not seem to me at all important enough to be the mem-
ory I ought to be having. Alvin's last memory of his father was of

him closing the car door on his little boy's finger—mine of my fa-

ther was of him greeting the stump of a man who begged every day

outside his office building. "How you doin', Little Robert?" my fa-

ther said, and the stump of a man replied, "How you, Herman?"

It was here that I edged myself between the closely parked cars

and darted out across the street.

When I saw that the sheet covering my father's body and face

couldn't possibly allow him to breathe, I began to wail.

"Don't, don't, darling," my mother said. "There's nothing to be

frightened of." She put her arms around my head, held me to her,

and repeated, "There's nothing to be frightened of. He was sick and

he was suffering and he died. Now he's not suffering anymore."

"He was in the closet," I said.

"No, he wasn't. He was in his bed. He died in his bed. He was

very, very sick. You knew that. That was why he coughed all the

time."

By now the ambulance doors were swung open to receive the

stretcher. The medics carefully maneuvered it inside and pulled the

doors shut behind them. My mother stood next to me on the

street, holding my hand in hers and to my amazement looking per-

fectly composed. Only when I made a move to break away from her

and run after the ambulance, only when I cried, "He can't breathe!"

did she finally realize what was torturing me.

"It's Mr. Wishnow—it's Mr. Wishnow who is dead." She shook

me, gently shook me back and forth to bring me to my senses. "It's

Seldons father, dear—he died from his illness this afternoon."

I couldn't tell if she was lying to keep me from becoming more

hysterical or if she was telling the wonderful truth.
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"Seldon found him in the closet?"

"No. I told you—no. Seldon found his father in his bed. Seldon's

mother wasn't home so he called the police. I came because Mrs.

Wishnow called me at the store and asked me to help her. Do you

understand? Daddy's at work. Daddy's working. Oh, what on earth

have you been thinking? Daddy will be home for dinner very soon.

So will Sandy. There's nothing to be afraid of. Everybody will be

home, everybody is coming home, we'll have our dinner," she said

reassuringly, "and everything is going to be fine."

But nothing was "fine." The FBI agent who'd grilled me about Al-

vin on Chancellor Avenue had earlier stopped by Hahne's dress

department to question my mother, then by the Metropolitan's

Newark office to question my father, and, just after Sandy left

Aunt Evelyn's office for home, he had boarded my brother's bus

and, from the seat alongside him, conducted yet another interro-

gation. Alvin wasn't at dinner to hear about any of this—just as we

were sitting down to eat, he'd phoned and told my mother not to

save anything for him. It seemed that every time he'd made a

killing at poker or craps, Alvin took Shushy downtown with him

to the Hickory Grill for a charcoal-broiled steak dinner. "Alvin's

partner in crime," my father called Shushy. What he called Alvin

that evening was ungrateful, stupid, reckless, ignorant, and incor-

rigible.

"And bitter," said my mother, sadly, "so bitter because of his

leg"

"Well, I'm sick and tired of his leg," said my father. "He went to

war. Who sent him? I didn't. You didn't. Abe Steinheim didn't. Abe

Steinheim wanted to send him to college. He went to war on his

own, and he's lucky he wasn't killed. He's lucky it was just his leg.

This is it, Bess. I've had it with that boy. The FBI questions my chil-

dren? Bad enough they harass you and me—and in my office,

mind you, in front of the Boss! No," he told her. "This has to stop

and stop now. This is a home. We are a family. He has dinner

downtown with Shushy? Let him go live with Shushy."
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"If only he would go to school," my mother said. "If only he

would take a job."

"He has a job," my father replied. "Bum."

After we'd finished eating, my mother put a meal together for

Seldon and Mrs. Wishnow, and my father helped her carry the

plates downstairs while Sandy and I were left with the dinner

dishes. We set to work at the sink as we did most nights, except that

I couldn't shut up. I told him about the crap game. I told him

about the FBI agent. I told him about Mr. Wishnow. "He didn't die

in his bed," I said. "Mother's not telling us the truth. He commit-

ted suicide, only she doesn't want to say it. Seldon found him in the

closet when he got home from school. He hung himself. That's why

the police came."

"Did he turn colors?" my brother asked me.

"I only saw him under the sheet. Maybe it was colors—I don't

know. I don't want to know. It was bad enough when they jiggled

the stretcher that you could see him move." That I had thought at

first it was my father under the sheet I didn't say aloud for fear that

if I did it would turn out to be true. The fact that my father was

alive, vividly alive—angry at Alvin and threatening to throw him

out of the house—had no impact on my thinking.

"How do you know he was in the closet?" Sandy asked.

"That's what all the kids said."

"And you believe them?" Because of his fame, he was becoming

a very hard boy whose tremendous confidence now sounded more

and more like lordly arrogance whenever he spoke about me or my
friends.

"Well, why were all the police here? Just because he died? People

die all the time," I said, trying, however, not to believe it. "He killed

himself. He had to."

"And is that against the law, killing yourself?" my brother asked

me. "What were they going to do, put him in jail for killing him-

self?"

I didn't know. I didn't know any longer what the law was and so

I didn't know what might or might not be against it. I didn't seem
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to know whether my own father—who'd just headed downstairs

with my mother—was really alive or pretending to be alive or

being driven around dead in the back of that ambulance. I didn't

know anything. I didn't know why Alvin was bad now instead of

good. I didn't know if I had dreamed that an FBI agent had ques-

tioned me on Chancellor Avenue. It had to be a dream and yet

couldn't be if everybody else said they'd been questioned too. Un-

less that was the dream. I felt woozy and thought I was going to

faint. I'd never before seen anyone faint, other than in a movie, and

I'd never before fainted myself. I'd never before looked at my house

from a hiding place across the street and wished that it was some-

body else's. I'd never before had twenty dollars in my pocket. I'd

never before known anyone who'd seen his father hanging in a

closet. I'd never before had to grow up at a pace like this.

Never before—the great refrain of 1942.

"You better call Mom," I told my brother. "Call her—tell her to

come home right away!" But before Sandy could reach the back

door to rush down to the Wishnows, I was vomiting into the dish-

towel still in my hand, and when I collapsed it was because my leg

had been blown off and my blood was everywhere.

I remained in bed with a high fever for six days, so weak and life-

less that the family doctor stopped by every evening to check on

the progress of my disease, that not uncommon childhood ailment

called why-can't-it-be-the-way-it-was.

The next day for me was Sunday. It was late afternoon, and Uncle

Monty was visiting. Alvin was there too, and from what I could

overhear from my bed of what was being said in the kitchen, he

hadn't been seen anywhere around since Mr. Wishnow had com-

mitted suicide on Friday and he'd walked away from that crap

game with his bundle of fives, tens, and twenties. But since dinner-

time Friday I'd been away myself, off with the horses and their

hooves, enveloped by kaleidoscopic hallucinations of the orphan-

age workhorses pursuing me to the edge of the earth.

And now Uncle Monty again, again Uncle Monty attacking
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Alvin, and with words I could not believe were being spoken in

our house in the presence of my mother. But then, Uncle Monty

knew how to subdue Alvin in ways that my father just couldn't

employ.

By nightfall, after all the shouting had subsided into lamenta-

tions for my late uncle Jack and Monty's booming voice had gone

hoarse, Alvin accepted the job at the produce market that he'd re-

fused to consider when Monty had offered it first. As unmanned as

he'd been by his mutilation on the morning he arrived at Penn Sta-

tion in the care of that hulking Canadian nurse, as overridden by

defeat as when, from his wheelchair, he wouldn't dare to look a one

of us in the eye, Alvin consented to dissolve his partnership with

Shushy and to give up gambling on the neighborhood streets. A
hater no less of subservience than of weeping, he astonished every-

one by breaking into guilty tears and begging forgiveness and

agreeing to stop being a brute to my brother, an ingrate to my
mother and father, and a bad influence on me, and to treat us with

the appreciation we were due. Uncle Monty warned Alvin that if he

didn't abide by his promises and continued instead to sabotage

Herman's household, the Roths would be finished with him for

good.

Though Alvin appeared to be trying hard to make a go of the

menial donkeywork that was his first job, he didn't last long

enough at the market to rise even a notch above sweeping and

fetching. One day, when he'd been there little more than a week,

the FBI came around to inquire about him, the same agent using

the same menacingly innocuous questions he'd asked my family

and me, only insinuating now to the other produce workers that

Alvin was a self-declared traitor plotting with anti-American mal-

contents like himself to assassinate President Lindbergh. The

charges were ludicrous, and yet tame as Alvin had been all that

week—tame as he'd sworn and dedicated himself to remaining

—

he was fired on the spot and, on the way out, instructed by one

of the goons in charge never to come anywhere near the market

again. When my father got on the phone to his brother demand-
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ing to know what had happened, Monty replied that he'd had no

choice—he'd been ordered to get rid of his nephew by Longy's

boys. Newark's Longy Zwillman, who'd grown up like my father

and his brothers a son of immigrants in the old Jewish slums, ran

the Jersey rackets back then, the ruthless potentate of everything

from bookmaking and strikebreaking to the trucking and hauling

services foisted on merchants like Belmont Roth. Because the feds

were the last people Longy needed snooping around, Alvin lost the

job, cleared out of our house, and left the city in under twenty-four

hours, this time not across the international border for Montreal

and the Canadian commandos but just over the Delaware for

Philadelphia and a job with Shushy's uncle the gambling-machine

king, a racketeer seemingly more tolerant of traitors than his peer-

less counterpart up in North Jersey.

In the spring of 1942, to celebrate the success of the Iceland Un-

derstanding, a state dinner was given at the White House by Presi-

dent and Mrs. Lindbergh to honor Foreign Minister Joachim von

Ribbentrop, who was known to have touted Lindbergh to his Nazi

colleagues as Germany's ideal American presidential candidate

long before the Republican Party drafted Lindbergh at its 1940

convention. Von Ribbentrop was the negotiator seated at Hitler's

side throughout the Iceland meetings and the first Nazi leader to

be invited to America by any government official or agency since

the fascists had come to power nearly ten years before. No sooner

was the announcement of the von Ribbentrop dinner made public

than strong criticism was voiced by the liberal press, and rallies and

demonstrations were staged all across the country protesting the

White House decision. For the first time since he left office, former

president Roosevelt emerged from seclusion to make a brief na-

tionwide address from Hyde Park urging President Lindbergh to

rescind the invitation "for the sake of all freedom-loving Ameri-

cans, and particularly the tens of millions of Americans of Euro-

pean stock whose ancestral countries must live beneath the Nazis'

crushing yoke."
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Roosevelt was immediately attacked by Vice President Wheeler

for "playing politics" with a sitting president's conduct of foreign

affairs. It wasn't merely cynical, said the vice president, but utterly

irresponsible of him to argue for the same dangerous policies that

had all but dragged America into a bloody European war while the

New Deal Democrats were running the country. Wheeler was him-

self a Democrat, a former three-term senator from Montana and

the first and only member of the opposition party to be chosen to

share a ticket with a presidential candidate since Lincoln picked

Andrew Johnson as his second-term running mate in 1864. Early

in his political career, Wheeler was so far to the left that he'd been

the voice of Butte's radical labor leaders, the enemy of Anaconda

Copper—the mining company that ran Montana pretty much like

a company store—and, as an early supporter of FDR's, had been

suggested as his vice presidential candidate in 1932. He'd first de-

parted the Democratic Party in 1924 to team up with Wiscon-

sin's reformist senator Robert La Follette on the union-supported

Progressive Party presidential ticket, and then, after abandoning La

Follette and his supporters in the non-Communist American left,

he joined Lindbergh and the right-wing isolationists in helping to

found America First, attacking Roosevelt with antiwar statements

so extreme that they prompted the president to label his criticism

"the most untruthful, dastardly, unpatriotic thing that has been

said in public life in my generation." Wheeler had been chosen by

the Republicans to be Lindbergh's running mate in part because

his own political machine in Montana had helped to elect Repub-

licans to Congress throughout the late thirties but mainly to per-

suade the American people of the strength of the bipartisan sup-

port for isolationism and to have on the ticket a combative, un-

Lindbergh-like candidate whose job would be to attack and revile

his own political party at every opportunity, as he did in the press

conference from the vice president's office when he predicted that

if the reckless "war-minded" rhetoric in Roosevelt's message from

Hyde Park was any indication of the campaign the Democrats in-

tended to wage in the forthcoming elections, they would suffer

175



MARCH 1942-JUNE 1942

even greater congressional losses than they had in the 1940 Repub-

lican landslide.

The very next weekend, the German-American Bund filled Mad-

ison Square Garden with a near-capacity crowd, some twenty-five

thousand people who had turned out to support President Lind-

bergh's invitation to the German foreign minister and to denounce

the Democrats for their renewed "warmongering." During Roose-

velt's second term, the FBI and congressional committees inves-

tigating the Bund's activities had immobilized the organization,

designating it a Nazi front and bringing criminal charges against

leaders in its high command. But under Lindbergh, government ef-

forts at harassing or intimidating Bund members ceased and they

were able to regain their strength by identifying themselves not

only as American patriots of German extraction opposed to Amer-

ica's intervention in foreign wars but as staunch enemies of the

Soviet Union. The deep fascist fellowship uniting the Bund was

now masked by vociferous patriotic declamations on the peril of a

worldwide Communist revolution.

As an anti-Communist rather than a pro-Nazi organization, the

Bund was as anti-Semitic as before, openly equating Bolshevism

with Judaism in propaganda handouts and harping on the number

of "prowar" Jews—like Treasury Secretary Morgenthau and finan-

cier Bernard Baruch, who'd been Roosevelt confidants—and, of

course, holding fast to the purposes enunciated in their official

declaration on first organizing in 1936: "to combat the Moscow-di-

rected madness of the Red world menace and its Jewish bacillus-

carriers" and to promote "a free Gentile-ruled United States." Gone,

however, from the 1942 Madison Square Garden rally were the Nazi

flags, the swastika armbands, the straight-armed Hitler salute, the

storm trooper uniforms, and the giant picture of the Fuhrer that

had been on display for the first rally, on February 20, 1939, an

event promoted by the Bund as "George Washington Day Birth-

day Exercises." Gone were the wall banners proclaiming "Wake

up America—Smash Jewish Communists!" and the references by

speechmakers to Franklin D. Roosevelt as "Franklin D. Rosenfeld"
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and the big white buttons with the black lettering that had been

distributed to Bund members to stick into their lapels, the buttons

that read:

KEEP AMERICA
OUT OF

THE JEWISH WAR

Meanwhile, Walter Winchell continued to refer to the Bundists

as "Bundits," and Dorothy Thompson, the prominent journalist

and wife of novelist Sinclair Lewis, who'd been expelled from the

1939 Bund rally for exercising what she called her "constitutional

right to laugh at ridiculous statements in a public hall," went on

denouncing their propaganda in the same spirit she'd demon-

strated three years earlier when she'd exited the rally shouting,

"Bunk, bunk, bunk! Mein Kampf, word for word!" And on his Sun-

day-night program following the Bund rally, Winchell contended,

with his usual cocksureness, that growing hostility to the von

Ribbentrop state dinner marked the end of America's honeymoon

with Charles A. Lindbergh. "The presidential blunder of the cen-

tury," Winchell called it, "the blunder of blunders for which the re-

actionary Republican henchmen of our fascist-loving president

will pay with their political lives in the November elections."

The White House, accustomed to nearly universal deification of

Lindbergh, seemed stymied by the strong disapproval that the op-

position was so rapidly able to muster against him, and though the

administration sought to distance itself from the Bund's New York

rally, the Democrats—determined to associate Lindbergh with the

organization's ignominious reputation—held a Madison Square

Garden rally of their own. Speaker after speaker scathingly de-

nounced "the Lindbergh Bundists," until to everyone's astonished

delight, FDR himself appeared on the platform. The ten-minute

ovation his presence elicited would have gone on even longer had

not the former president called out forcefully, above the roar, "My
fellow Americans, my fellow Americans—I have a message for

both Mr. Lindbergh and Mr. Hitler. The moment compels my stat-
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ing with a candor they cannot misunderstand that it is we, and not

they, who are the masters of America's destiny," words so stirring

and dramatic that every human being in that crowd (and in our

living room and in the living rooms up and down our street) was

swept away by the joyous illusion that the nations redemption was

at hand.

"The only thing we have to fear," FDR told his audience—re-

calling the opening seven words of a sentence as renowned as any

ever spoken at a first inaugural
—

"is the obsequious yielding to his

Nazi friends by Charles A. Lindbergh, the shameless courting by

the president of the world's greatest democracy of a despot re-

sponsible for innumerable criminal deeds and acts of savagery, a

cruel and barbaric tyrant unparalleled in the chronicle of man's

misdeeds. But we Americans will not accept a Hitler-dominated

America. We Americans will not accept a Hitler-dominated world.

Today the entire globe is divided between human slavery and hu-

man freedom. We—choose—freedom! We accept only an Amer-

ica consecrated to freedom! If there is a plot being hatched by anti-

democratic forces here at home harboring a Quisling blueprint for

a fascist America, or by foreign nations greedy for power and su-

premacy—a plot to suppress the great upsurge of human liberty of

which the American Bill of Rights is the fundamental document, a

plot to replace American democracy with the absolute authority of

a despotic rule such as enslaves the conquered people of Europe

—

let those who would dare in secret to conspire against our freedom

understand that Americans will not, under any threat or in the face

of any danger, surrender the guarantees of liberty framed for us by

our forefathers in the Constitution of the United States."

Lindbergh's response came a few days afterward—he donned

his Lone Eagle flying gear and early one morning took off from

Washington in his two-engine Lockheed Interceptor to meet with

the American people face to face and reassure them that every de-

cision he made was designed solely to increase their security and

guarantee their well-being. That's what he did when the smallest

crisis loomed, flew to cities in every region of the country, this time
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to as many as four and five in a single day owing to the Intercep-

tor's phenomenal speed, and everywhere his plane set down the

cluster of radio microphones was waiting for him as were the local

bigwigs, the wire-service stringers, the city's reporters, and the

thousands of citizens who had gathered to catch sight of their

young president in his famous aviator's windbreaker and leather

cap. And each time he landed, he made it clear that he was flying

the country unescorted, without either Secret Service or Air Corps

protection. This was how safe he considered the American skies to

be; this was how secure the country was now that his administra-

tion, in little more than a year, had dispelled all threat of war. He

reminded his audiences that the life of not a single American boy

had been put at risk since he'd come to office and would not be put

at risk so long as he remained in office. Americans had invested

their faith in his leadership, and every promise he had made to

them he had kept.

That was all he said or had to say. He never mentioned von

Ribbentrop's name or FDR's or made reference to the German-

American Bund or the Iceland Understanding. He said nothing in

support of the Nazis, nothing to reveal an affinity with their leader

and his aims, not even to note with approval that the German army

had recovered from its winter losses and that all along the Russian

front, the Soviet Communists were being pushed farther eastward

toward their ultimate defeat. But then everyone in America knew

that it was an unshakable conviction of the president's, as it was of

his party's dominant right wing, that the best protection against

the spread of Communism across Europe, into Asia and the Mid-

dle East, and as far as to our own hemisphere was the total de-

struction of Stalin's Soviet Union by the military might of the

Third Reich.

In his low-key, taciturn, winning way, Lindbergh told the air-

field crowds and the radio listeners who he was and what he'd

done, and by the time he climbed back aboard his plane to take off

for his next stop, he could have announced that, following the von

Ribbentrop White House dinner, the First Lady would be inviting
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Adolf Hitler and his girlfriend to spend the Fourth of July week-

end as vacation guests in the Lincoln bedroom of the White House

and still have been cheered by his countrymen as democracy's

savior.

My father's boyhood friend Shepsie Tirschwell had been one of sev-

eral projectionist-editors at the Newsreel Theater on Broad Street

since its opening in 1935 as the city's only all-news movie house.

The Newsreel's one-hour show comprised news clips, shorts, and

"The March of Time," and it ran daily from early morning until

midnight. Every Thursday, out of thousands of feet of news film

supplied by companies like Pathe and Paramount, Mr. Tirschwell

and the three other editors selected stories and spliced together an

up-to-the-minute show so that regular customers like my father

—

whose office on Clinton Street was only a few blocks away—could

keep pace with national news, important happenings worldwide,

and exciting moments from championship sports matches that,

back in the radio era, could be seen on film nowhere but at a movie

theater. My father would try to find an hour each week to catch a

complete show, and when he did, he'd recount over dinner what

he'd seen and whom. Tojo. Petain. Batista. De Valera. Arias. Que-

zon. Camacho. Litvinov. Zhukov. Hull. Welles. Harriman. Dies.

Heydrich. Blum. Quisling. Gandhi. Rommel. Mountbatten. King

George. La Guardia. Franco. Pope Pius. And that was but an ab-

breviated list of the tremendous cast of newsreel characters promi-

nent in events that my father told us we would one day remember

as history worthy of passing on to our own children.

"Because what's history?" he asked rhetorically when he was in

his expansive dinnertime instructional mode. "History is every-

thing that happens everywhere. Even here in Newark. Even here on

Summit Avenue. Even what happens in his house to an ordinary

man—that'll be history too someday."

On the weekends when Mr. Tirschwell was working, my father

would take Sandy and me to be further educated at the Newsreel

Theater. Mr. Tirschwell would leave free passes at the box office for
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us, and each time my father brought us up to the projection booth

after the show would give the same civics lecture. He'd tell us that

in a democracy, keeping abreast of current events was a citizen's

most important duty and that you could never start too early to be

informed about the news of the day. We'd gather close to the film

projector, each ofwhose parts he'd name for us, and then we'd look

at the framed photographs on the walls that had been taken at the

theater's black-tie opening night, when Newark's first and only

Jewish mayor, Meyer Ellenstein, had cut the ribbon strung across

the lobby and welcomed the famous guests, among whom, as Mr.

Tirschwell told us, pointing to their pictures, was the former U.S.

ambassador to Spain and the founder of Bamberger's department

store.

What I liked best about the Newsreel Theater was that the seats

were constructed so that even an adult didn't have to get up to let

others by, that the projection booth was said to be soundproof, and

that on the carpet in the lobby was a design of motion picture reels

that you could step on when you went in and out. Not until I think

back to those consecutive Saturdays in 1942, when Sandy was four-

teen and I was nine and we were taken by my father specifically to

see the Bund rally one week and FDR addressing the anti-Ribben-

trop Garden rally the next, am I able to remember anything much

other than the narrating voice of Lowell Thomas, who introduced

most of the political news, and of Bill Stern, who enthusiastically

reported on sports. But the Bund rally I've not forgotten because

of the hatred instilled in me by the Bundists up on their feet chant-

ing von Ribbentrop's name as though it were he who was now

president of the United States, and FDR's speech I've not forgotten

because when he proclaimed to the anti-Ribbentrop rally, "The

only thing we have to fear is the obsequious yielding to his Nazi

friends by Charles A. Lindbergh," a good half of the movie audi-

ence booed and hissed while the rest, including my father, clapped

as loudly as they could, and I wondered if a war might not break

out right there on Broad Street in the middle of the day and if,

when we left the darkened theater, we'd find downtown Newark
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a rubble heap of smoking ruins and fires burning everywhere.

It wasn't easy for Sandy to sit through those two Saturday-after-

noon shows at the Newsreel Theater, and since he'd already under-

stood beforehand that it wasn't going to be, he at first refused my
father's invitation and agreed to come along with us only when

he was ordered to do so. By the spring of 1942, Sandy was a few

months from beginning high school, a lean, tall, good-looking boy

whose attire was neat, whose hair was combed, and whose posture,

standing or sitting, was as perfect as a West Point cadet's. His ex-

perience as a leading young spokesman for Just Folks had endowed

him, in addition, with an air of authority seldom seen in one so

young. That Sandy should prove himself so adept at influencing

adults and that he should have developed a reverential following

among the younger neighborhood kids who were eager to emulate

him and qualify for the Office of American Absorption's summer

farm program had surprised my parents and made their older child

more intimidating to have around the house than he was back

when everyone thought of him as an affable, fairly ordinary boy

with a gift for drawing people's likenesses. To me he'd always been

the mighty one because of his seniority; now he seemed mightier

than ever and easily aroused my admiration despite my having

turned away from him because of what Alvin had described as his

opportunism—though even the opportunism (if Alvin was correct

and that was the word for it) seemed another remarkable attain-

ment, the emblem of a calm, self-aware maturity knowingly wed-

ded to the ways of the world.

Of course, the concept of opportunism was barely familiar to

me at the age of nine, yet its ethical status Alvin communicated

clearly enough by the disgust with which he'd pronounced his in-

dictment and what he added by way of amplification. He was still

fresh from the hospital then and far too miserable to show much

restraint.

"Your brother's nothing," he informed me from his bed one night.

"He's less than nothing." And that was when he labeled Sandy op-

portunistic.
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"Is he? Why?"

"Because people are, because they look for the advantage for

themselves and the hell with everything else. Sandy's a fucking op-

portunist. So's your bitch aunt with the big pointy tits. So's the

great rabbi. Aunt Bess and Uncle Herman are honest people. But

Sandy—selling out to these bastards right off the bat? At his age?

With his talent? A real fucking doozy, this brother of yours."

Selling out. Language also new to me, but now no more difficult

to understand than "opportunist."

"He just drew some pictures," I explained.

But Alvin was in no mood to have me try to downplay the exis-

tence of those pictures, especially as he'd somehow come to know

about Sandy's affiliation with Lindbergh's Just Folks. I didn't have

the courage to ask how he'd found out what I'd determined never

to tell him, though what I figured was that, after accidentally un-

covering the artwork beneath the bed, he must have gone ahead to

scavenge the drawers of the dining room breakfront, where Sandy

stored his school notebooks and his writing paper, and found there

all the evidence necessary to hate Sandy forever.

"It doesn't mean what you think," I said, but immediately I had

to think what else it could mean. "He's doing it to protect us," I an-

nounced. "So we don't get in trouble."

"Because of me," Alvin said.

"No!" I protested.

"But that's what he told you. So the family won't get in trouble

because of Alvin. That's how he justifies this shit he's up to."

"But why else would he be doing it?" I asked this as guilelessly as

a child could and with all of a child's cunning—and with no idea

of how to begin to extricate myself from a conflict I had only in-

tensified by lying idiotically in my brother's defense. "What's wrong

with what he's doing if he's trying to help?"

He merely replied, "I don't believe you, ace," and, because I was

no match for Alvin, I gave up trying to believe myself. Though if

only Sandy had told me he was leading a double existence! If only

he was making the best of a terrible situation and masquerading as
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a Lindbergh loyalist to protect us! But having seen him lecturing

an audience of Jewish adults in that New Brunswick synagogue

basement, I knew how convinced he was of what he was saying and

how he gorged on the attention it brought him. My brother had

discovered in himself the uncommon gift to be somebody, and so

while making speeches praising President Lindbergh and while ex-

hibiting his drawings of him and while publicly extolling (in words

written by Aunt Evelyn) the enriching benefits of his eight weeks as

a Jewish farm hand in the Gentile heartland—while doing, if the

truth be known, what I wouldn't have minded doing myself, by

doing what was normal and patriotic all over America and aber-

rant and freakish only in his home—Sandy was having the time of

his life.

Then came history's next outsized intrusion: an engraved invita-

tion from President and Mrs. Charles A. Lindbergh for Rabbi Li-

onel Bengelsdorf and Miss Evelyn Finkel to attend a state dinner in

honor of the German foreign minister on the evening of Saturday,

April 4, 1942. The cross-country solo flying tour of thirty cities had

raised Lindbergh's reputation as a no-nonsense realist and plain-

talking man of the people higher even than it had been before

Winchell had labeled the von Ribbentrop dinner "the political

blunder of the century." Soon the editorial pages of the country's

largely Republican press were crowing that it was FDR and the

Democrats whose blunder it had been to deliberately misrepre-

sent as a sinister conspiracy what was no more than a cordial White

House dinner for a foreign dignitary.

Stunned as my parents were to learn of the invitation, there was

nothing much for them to do about it. Months earlier they had

registered with Evelyn their disappointment in her for having be-

come another of the small band of misguided Jews to serve as un-

derlings to those now in power. It made no sense to challenge yet

again her remote administrative connection to the president of the

United States, especially since they knew that it wasn't ideological

conviction that animated her, as it appeared to have back in her
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union days, or just craven political ambition, but the exhilaration

of having been rescued by Rabbi Bengelsdorf from her life as a sub-

stitute teacher living in an attic flat on Dewey Street and removed

to a life at court as miraculously as Cinderella. However, when

she phoned unexpectedly one evening to tell my mother that she

and the rabbi had arranged for my brother to accompany them to

the von Ribbentrop dinner . . . well, at first no one was willing to

believe her. It was still barely possible to accept that Evelyn could

herself have stepped overnight from our local little society into

"March of Time" celebrity, but now Sandy as well? His preaching

for Lindbergh in synagogue basements wasn't improbable enough?

This simply could not be so, my father insisted—meaning that it

mustn't be so, that, credibility aside, it was too repellent to be so.

"It only proves," he told my brother, "that your aunt is nuts."

And maybe she was—driven temporarily nuts by an exaggerated

sense of her newfound importance. How else could she have mus-

tered the audacity to seek an invitation to such a great event for her

fourteen-year-old nephew? How else could she have prevailed on

Rabbi Bengelsdorf to make so outlandish a request of the White

House other than by insisting with the uncompromising tenacity

of a self-absorbed screwball on the way up? Over the phone my fa-

ther spoke to her as calmly as he could. "Enough of this foolish-

ness, Evelyn. We're not important people. Leave us alone, please.

There's too much for an ordinary person to put up with as it is."

But my aunt's commitment to liberating an exceptional nephew

from the confines of an ignorant brother-in-law's insignificance

(so that he could play a leading role in the world like her) was by

now unassailable. Sandy was to attend the dinner as a testament to

the success of Just Folks, he was to attend as nothing less than the

nationwide representative of Just Folks, and no ghetto father was

going to stop him—or her. She got in her car, and fifteen minutes

later the reckoning came.

After he hung up, my father did nothing to conceal his outrage,

and his voice rose and rose as if he were Uncle Monty. "In Germany

Hitler has the decency at least to bar the Jews from the Nazi Party.
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That and the armbands, that and the concentration camps, and at

least it's clear that dirty Jews aren't welcome. But here the Nazis

pretend to invite the Jews in. And why? To lull them to sleep. To lull

them to sleep with the ridiculous dream that everything in Amer-

ica is hunky-dory. But this?" he cried. "This? Inviting them to shake

the blood-stained hand of a Nazi criminal? Unbelievable! Their

lying and their scheming do not stop for a minute! They find the

best boy, the most talented boy, the hardest-working, most grown-

up boy ... No! They have mocked us enough with what they are

doing to Sandy! He is not going anywhere! They have already

stolen my country—they are not stealing my son!"

"But nobody," Sandy shouted, "is mocking anybody. This is a

great opportunity." "For an opportunist," I thought, but kept my
mouth shut.

"Be still," my father told him, just that, and the quiet sternness

was more effective than the anger in causing Sandy to understand

that he was on the brink of the worst hour of his life.

Aunt Evelyn was knocking and my mother got up to open the

back door. "What is this woman doing now?" my father called after

her. "I tell her to leave us alone—and so here she comes, crazy as a

coot!"

My mother was by no means at odds with my father's resolve,

but she did manage to look imploringly at him as she left the

kitchen, hoping she might dispose him to be somewhat merciful

however little mercy Evelyn deserved for the reckless stupidity with

which she had exploited Sandy's zeal.

Aunt Evelyn was astonished (or pretended to be) by my parents'

inability to grasp what it meant for a boy Sandy's age to be invited

to the White House, what it would mean for his future to have been

a dinner guest at the White House ... "I am not impressed by the

White House!" my father cried, hammering on the table to shut her

up after she'd said "the White House" for the fifteenth time. "I am
only impressed by who lives there. And the person who lives there

is a Nazi." "He is not!" Evelyn insisted. "And do you want to tell

me that Herr von Ribbentrop isn't a Nazi either?" In response, she
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called my father a frightened, provincial, uncultivated, narrow-

minded . . . and he called her an unthinking, gullible, social-climb-

ing . . . and the quarrel raged across the table, each hotly spitting

out indictments to increase the fury of the other, until something

Aunt Evelyn said—something relatively mild, as it turned out,

about all the strings Rabbi Bengelsdorf had pulled for Sandy—was

one absurdity too many for him, and he got up from the table and

told her to leave. He walked out of the kitchen and into the rear

foyer, where he opened the door to the stairwell, and from there he

called to her, "Get out. Go. And don't come back. I never want to

see you in this house again."

She couldn't believe it any more than the rest of us. It seemed to

me to be a joke, a line tossed off in an Abbott and Costello movie.

Get out, Costello. If you're going to carry on like that, leave this

house and never come back.

My mother got up from where the three adults had been sitting

with their tea and followed him out into the foyer.

"The woman is an idiot, Bess," my father said to her, "a childish

idiot who understands nothing. A dangerous idiot."

"Close the door, please," my mother said to him.

"Evelyn," he called. "Now. Immediately. Leave."

"Don't do this," my mother whispered.

"I am waiting for your sister to get out of my house," he replied.

"Our house," my mother said, and she came back into the kitchen.

"Ev, go home," she said softly, "so everything can quiet down." Aunt

Evelyn's face was on the table, hidden in her hands. My mother

took her by the arm and lifted her to her feet and walked her to the

back door and out of the house, our assertive, effervescent aunt

looking as though she had been hit by a bullet and was being car-

ried off to die. Then we heard my father slam the door.

"The woman thinks it's a party," he said to Sandy and me when

we stepped out into the foyer to view the aftermath of the battle.

"She thinks it's a game. You've been to the Newsreel Theater. I took

you boys. You know what you saw there."

"Yes," I said. I felt I had to say something since my brother was
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now refusing to speak. He had stoically endured Alvin's remorse-

less ostracism and he had stoically endured the Newsreel Theater

and now he was stoically enduring the banishment of his favorite

aunt—at fourteen already at one with the family's obstinate men,

determined to stand up to anything.

"Well," my father said, "it's not a game. It's a fight. Remember

that: a fight!"

Again I said yes.

"Outside in the world . .
." But here he stopped. My mother

hadn't returned. I was nine and thought that she would never re-

turn. And it may have been that my father, at forty-one, thought so

too: my father, who had been freed by hardship of many fears, was

not free of the fear of losing his precious wife. Catastrophe was no

longer far from anyone's mind, and he was looking at his children

as though we were suddenly as bereft of a mother as Earl Axman
was on the night of Mrs. Axman's nervous breakdown. When my
father went to the living room to look out the front windows,

Sandy and I trailed closely behind. Aunt Evelyn's car was no longer

at the curb. And my mother wasn't standing on the sidewalk or on

the stoop or out in the alleyway or even across the street—nor was

she in the cellar when my father ran down the cellar stairs calling

her name. Nor was she with Seldon and his mother. They were eat-

ing in their kitchen when my father knocked and the three of us

were let in.

My father said to Mrs. Wishnow, "Did you see Bess?"

Mrs. Wishnow was a beefy woman, tall and ungainly, who

walked around with her fists clenched and who, amazingly to me,

was said to have been a laughing, lighthearted girl when my father

knew her and her family down in the Third Ward before the Great

War. Now that she was both mother and family breadwinner, my
parents were constantly extolling her unstinting exertions in behalf

of Seldon. That her life was a fight was indisputable: you had only

to look at her fists.

"What's wrong?" she asked him.

"Isn't Bess here?"
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Seldon left the kitchen table to come out and say hello to us.

Since his father's suicide, my aversion to him had grown stronger,

and at the end of the day I hid back of the school when I knew he

was out front waiting to walk me home. And though we lived just

one short block from the school, in the morning I'd tiptoe down

the stairs and leave the house fifteen minutes before I had to in

order to beat him out the door. But then late in the afternoon I

would invariably run into him, even if I was at the other end of the

Chancellor Avenue hill. I'd be on a household errand and there

would be Seldon at my heels, acting as if he'd turned up by acci-

dent. And whenever he came by to try to teach me to play chess, I

would pretend I wasn't home and not answer the door. If my
mother was around she would try to persuade me to play with him

by reminding me of the very thing that I wanted to forget. "His fa-

ther was a wonderful chess player. Years ago he was champion at

the Y. He taught Seldon, and now Seldon has no one to play with,

and he wants to play with you." I'd tell her that I didn't like or un-

derstand the game or know how to play it, but finally there'd be

no choice and Seldon would show up with the chess board and

his chessmen and I'd sit down across from him at the kitchen

table where he'd immediately begin to remind me how his father

had made the board and found the chess pieces. "He went into

New York, and he knew just the places to go to, and he found just

the right pieces—aren't they beautiful? They're made of special

wood. And he made this board. He found the wood, and he cut it

—you see how the different colors are?" and the only way I found

to stop him from perpetually going on about his terrifyingly dead

father was to bombard him with the latest toilet jokes I'd heard at

school.

When we were headed upstairs again I realized that my father

was now going to marry Mrs. Wishnow, and that one evening soon

the three of us would carry our belongings down the back stairway

and move in with her and Seldon, and that on the way to school as

on the way home there would be no way ever again of avoiding Sel-

don and his unceasing need to draw sustenance from me. And
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once back in the house, I would have to put my coat away in the

closet where Seldon's father had hanged himself. Sandy would

sleep in the Wishnow sun parlor, as he had in ours when Alvin

lived with us, I'd sleep in the back bedroom beside Seldon, while in

the other bedroom my father would sleep where Seldon's father

used to sleep, alongside Seldon's mother and her clenched fists.

I wanted to go to the corner and get on a bus and disappear. I

still had Alvin's twenty dollars hidden in the tip of a shoe at the

bottom ofmy closet. I'd take the money and get on a bus and down

at Penn Station buy a one-way ticket for the train to Philadelphia.

There I would find Alvin, and never live with my family again. In-

stead I would stay with Alvin and look after his stump.

My mother called home after she had put Aunt Evelyn to bed.

Rabbi Bengelsdorf was in Washington, but he had talked with Eve-

lyn on the phone and afterward spoke to my mother, assuring her

that he knew better than her dunce of a husband what was and was

not in the interest of the Jews. How Herman had treated Evelyn

would not be forgotten, he said, especially after all he himself had

gone out of his way to do for her nephew at Evelyn's request. The

rabbi concluded by telling my mother that appropriate action

would be taken when the time came.

Around ten, my father went to pick my mother up and drive her

home. Sandy and I were already in pajamas when she came into the

room and sat down on my bed and took my hand. I'd never seen

her so exhausted—not completely depleted like Mrs. Wishnow but

hardly the untiring mother full of contentment who used to live so

energetically inside her skin back when her worries were merely

the ones of making do for her family on a husband's take-home

pay of less than fifty dollars a week. A downtown job, a house to

run, a tempestuous sister, a determined husband, a headstrong

fourteen-year-old, an apprehensive nine-year-old—not even the

simultaneous inundation of all these concerns with all their exact-

ing demands need have been overly burdensome for a woman so

resourceful, if only there weren't Lindbergh, too.

"Sandy," she said, "what shall we do? Should I explain to you
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why Daddy doesn't think you should go? Can we do that together

quietly? At some point we have to talk everything through. Just you

and me off by ourselves. Sometimes Daddy can fly off the handle,

but I don't—you know that. You can trust me to listen to you.

But we have to get some perspective on what is going on. Be-

cause maybe it really isn't a good thing for you to be drawn any

further into something like this. Maybe Aunt Evelyn made a mis-

take. She's overexcited, darling. She's been like that all her life.

Something out of the ordinary happens and she loses all perspec-

tive. Daddy thinks . . . Shall I continue, dear, or do you want to go

to sleep?"

"Do what you want," Sandy said flatly.

"Continue," I said.

My mother smiled at me. "Why? What do you want to know?"

"What everyone's yelling for."

"Because everybody sees things differently." Kissing me good-

night, she said, "Because there's a lot on everyone's mind," but

when she leaned toward Sandy's bed to kiss him, he turned his face

into the pillow.

Usually my father was off to work before Sandy and I were awake,

and my mother would be up early to eat breakfast with him and to

make our lunch sandwiches and wrap them in wax paper and put

them in the refrigerator and then would herself leave for work after

seeing that we two were ready for school. The following day, how-

ever, my father didn't leave for his office until he'd had a chance to

clarify for Sandy why he was not going to the White House and

why he was no longer to participate in any of the programs spon-

sored by the OAA.

"These friends of von Ribbentrop," he explained to Sandy, "are

no friends of ours. Every dirty scheme that Hitler has foisted on

Europe, every filthy lie he has told other countries, has come

through the mouth of Mr. von Ribbentrop. Someday you'll study

what happened at Munich. You'll study the role that Mr. von Rib-

bentrop played in tricking Mr. Chamberlain into signing a treaty
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that wasn't worth the paper it was written on. Read PM about this

man. Listen to Winchell about this man. Foreign Minister von Rib-

bensnob, Winchell calls him. You know what he did for a living be-

fore the war? Sold champagne. A liquor salesman, Sandy. A fake

—a plutocrat and a thief and a fake. Even the Von' in his name is a

fake. But you know none of this. You know nothing about von

Ribbentrop, you know nothing about Goring, you know nothing

about Goebbels and Himmler and Hess—but I do know. Did you

ever hear about the castle in Austria where Herr von Ribbentrop

wines and dines the rest of the Nazi criminals? Know how he got

it? He stole it. The nobleman who owned it Himmler threw into a

concentration camp, and now it is the property of the liquor sales-

man! Do you know where Danzig is, Sandy, and what happened to

it? Do you know what the Treaty of Versailles is? Did you hear of

Mein Kampf7
. Ask Mr. von Ribbentrop—he'll tell you. And I will

tell you too, though not from the Nazi point of view. I follow

things, and I read things, and I know who these criminals are, son.

And I am not allowing you anywhere near them."

"I'll never forgive you for this," Sandy replied.

"But you will," my mother said to him. "One day you'll under-

stand that what Daddy wants for you is only what's in your best in-

terest. He's right, dear, believe me—you have no business with such

people. They are only making you their tool."

"Aunt Evelyn?" Sandy asked. "Aunt Evelyn is making me into a

'tool'? Getting me invited to the White House—that's making me
into a 'tool'?"

"Yes," my mother said sadly.

"No! That isn't true!" he said. "I'm sorry but I can't let Aunt Eve-

lyn down."

"Your aunt Evelyn," my father told him, "is the one who let us

down. Just Folks," he said contemptuously. "The only purpose of

this so-called Just Folks is to make Jewish children into a fifth col-

umn and turn them against their parents."

"Bullshit!" Sandy said.

"Stop that!" my mother said. "Stop that right now. Do you real-
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ize that we're the only family on the block going through anything

like this? The only family in this entire neighborhood. Everybody

else knows by now just to continue living as they were living before

the election and to forget who the president is. And that's what

we're doing too. Bad things have happened, but now they're over.

Alvin is gone and now Aunt Evelyn is gone, and everything is going

to get back to normal."

"And when are we moving to Canada," Sandy asked her, "be-

cause of your persecution complex?"

Pointing his finger, my father said, "Don't mimic your stupid

aunt. Don't talk back like that ever again."

"You're a dictator," Sandy said to him, "you're a dictator worse

than Hitler."

Because my parents had each been raised in a household where

an old-country father had not hesitated to discipline his children

in accordance with traditional methods of coercion, they were

themselves incapable of ever hitting Sandy or me and disapproved

of corporal punishment for anyone. Consequently, all my father

did in response to being told by a child of his that he was worse

than Hitler was to turn away in disgust and leave for work. But he

was hardly out the back door when my mother raised her hand

and, to my astonishment, smacked Sandy across the face. "Do you

know what your father has just done for you?" she shouted at him.

"Don't you understand yet what you were about to do to yourself?

Finish your breakfast and go to school. And you be home when

school is over. Your father laid down the law—you better obey it."

He didn't flinch when she hit him, and now, all resistance, he

undertook to enlarge his heroism by brazenly telling her, "I'm

going to the White House with Aunt Evelyn. I don't care whether

you ghetto Jews like it or not."

To add to the morning's ugliness, to add to the nerve-shatter-

ing implausibility of all our disorder, she made him pay in full

for his filial defiance by dealing him a second blow, and this time

he burst into tears. And had he not, this prudent mother of ours

would have raised her gentle, kindly mothering hand and hit
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him a third, a fourth, and a fifth time. "She doesn't know what

she's doing," I thought, "she's somebody else

—

everybody is," and

I grabbed my schoolbooks and ran down the back stairs to the

alleyway and out to the street, and, as if the day weren't already

gruesome enough, there was Seldon waiting on the front stoop to

walk me to school.

On the way home from work a couple of weeks later my father

stopped off at the Newsreel Theater to catch the filmed coverage of

the von Ribbentrop dinner. It was then that he learned from Shep-

sie Tirschwell, whom he visited up in his booth after the show, that

on the first of June his old boyhood friend was leaving for Win-

nipeg with his wife, his three children, his mother, and his wife's

elderly parents. Representatives of Winnipeg's small Jewish com-

munity had helped Mr. Tirschwell to find work as a projectionist at

a neighborhood movie house there and had located apartments for

the entire family in a modest Jewish neighborhood much like our

own. The Canadians had also arranged a low-interest loan to pay

for the Tirschwells' move from America and to assist with the sup-

port of the in-laws until Mrs. Tirschwell found a job in Winnipeg

that would enable her to cover her parents' living expenses. Mr.

Tirschwell told my father that he hated parting from his native city

and his dear old friends and that of course he regretted leaving his

one-of-a-kind job at Newark's most important theater. There was

much to leave and much to lose, but he was convinced by all the

raw unedited film he'd been watching for the past several years

from newsreel crews working around the world that the secret side

of the pact reached in Iceland between Lindbergh and Hitler in

1941 provided for Hitler first to defeat the Soviet Union, then to

invade and conquer England, and only after that (and after the

Japanese had overrun China, India, and Australia, thus completing

the creation of their "New Order in Greater East Asia") for Amer-

ica's president to establish the "American Fascist New Order," a to-

talitarian dictatorship modeled on Hitler's that would set the stage

for the last great continental struggle—the German invasion, con-
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quest, and Nazification of South America. Two years down the line,

with Hitler's swastika flying from London's houses of Parliament,

the Rising Sun flying over Sydney, New Delhi, and Peking, and

Lindbergh having been elected to the presidency for another four

years, the U.S. border with Canada would be closed, diplomatic re-

lations between the two countries would be severed, and, so as to

focus Americans on the grave internal danger that necessitated the

curtailment of their constitutional rights, the onslaught would

begin en masse against America's four and a half million Jews.

In the wake of von Ribbentrop's Washington visit—and the tri-

umph it represented for the most dangerous of Lindbergh's Amer-

ican supporters—this was Mr. Tirschwell's forecast, and it was so

much more pessimistic than anything my father was predicting

that he decided not to repeat it to us or, when he got home from

the Newsreel Theater for dinner early that evening, to say anything

about the Tirschwells' imminent departure, certain that the news

would terrify me, rile Sandy, and set my mother clamoring to em-

igrate at once. Since Lindbergh's inauguration a year and a half

earlier, there were estimated to be only two to three hundred Jew-

ish families who had taken up permanent residence in the haven

of Canada; the Tirschwells were the first such fugitives that my fa-

ther knew personally, and learning of their decision had left him

shaken.

And then there was the shock of seeing on film the Nazi von

Ribbentrop and his wife warmly greeted on the White House por-

tico by the president and Mrs. Lindbergh. And the shock of seeing

all the prominent guests stepping from their limousines and smil-

ing with anticipation at the prospect of dining and dancing in von

Ribbentrop's presence—and among the guests, seemingly no less

thrilled than the others by the disgusting occasion, Rabbi Lionel

Bengelsdorf and Miss Evelyn Finkel. "I could not believe it," my fa-

ther said. "The smile on her face is a mile wide. And the husband-

to-be? He looks like he thinks the dinner is for him. You should

see this man—nodding at everyone as if he actually mattered!"

"But why did you go," my mother asked him, "when it was bound
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to upset you like this?" "I went," he told her, "because every day

I ask myself the same question: How can this be happening in

America? How can people like these be in charge of our country?

If I didn't see it with my own eyes, I'd think I was having a halluci-

nation."

Though we had only just begun dinner, Sandy set down his sil-

verware, mumbled "But nothing is happening in America, noth-

ing" and left the table—and not for the first time since the morn-

ing my mother had smacked him across the face. At meals now,

should the smallest reference be made to the news, Sandy would

get up and without explanation or apology disappear into our

room, pulling the door shut behind him. The first few times my
mother got up after him and went in to talk with him and to invite

him back to the table, but Sandy would sit at his desk sharpening

a charcoal pencil or doodling with it on his drawing pad until she

let him be. My brother wouldn't even speak to me when, merely

out of loneliness, I dared to ask how much longer he was going to

act like this. I began to wonder if he might not pick up and leave

home, and not for Aunt Evelyn's but to live with the Mawhinneys

on their Kentucky farm. He'd change his name to Sandy Mawhin-

ney and we'd never see him again, just as we were never going to

see Alvin. And nobody need bother to kidnap him—he'd do it

himself, hand himself over to the Christians so as never again to

have anything to do with Jews. Nobody needed to kidnap him be-

cause Lindbergh had kidnapped him already, along with everyone

else!

Sandy's behavior so unsettled me that, in the evenings, I took to

doing my homework out of sight of him at the kitchen table. That

was how I came to overhear my father—who was in the living

room with my mother, reading the evening paper there while Sandy

remained in contemptuous seclusion at the back of the flat—re-

minding her that our private turmoil was exactly the sort of dis-

sension that the Lindbergh anti-Semites had hoped to stir up be-

tween Jewish parents and their children with programs like Just
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Folks. Understanding this, however, had only hardened his resolve

not to follow Shepsie Tirschwell's lead and leave.

"What are you talking about?" said my mother. "Are you telling

me that the Tirschwells are going to Canada?" "In June, yes," he

replied. "Why? Why June? What's happening in June? When did

you find out? Why didn't you say something?" "Because I knew it

would upset you." "And it has—why shouldn't it? Why," she de-

manded to know, "why, Herman, are they leaving in June?" "Be-

cause in Shepsie's judgment the time has come. Let's not discuss

it," my father said softly. "The little one is in the kitchen, and he's

frightened enough. If Shepsie feels it's time, that is his decision

for himself and his family, and good luck to him. Shepsie sits

and watches the latest news hour after hour. The news is Shepsie's

life, and the news is terrible, and so it affects how he thinks, and

this is the decision he came up with." "The man came up with

the decision," my mother said, "because he is informed" "I am also

informed," he said sharply. "I am no less informed—I have just

reached a different conclusion. Don't you understand that these

anti-Semitic bastards want us to run away? They want to get the

Jews so fed up with everything," he told her, "that they leave for

good, and then the goyim will have this wonderful country all to

themselves. Well, I have a better idea. Why don't they leave? The

whole bunch of them—why don't they all go live under their

Fiihrer in Nazi Germany? Then we will have a wonderful country!

Look, Shepsie can do whatever he thinks is right, but we aren't

going anywhere. There is still a Supreme Court in this country.

Thanks to Franklin Roosevelt, it is a liberal Supreme Court, and it

is there to look after our rights. There is Justice Douglas. There is

Justice Frankfurter. There is Justice Murphy and Justice Black. They

are there to uphold the law. There are still good men in this coun-

try. There is Roosevelt, there is Ickes, there is Mayor La Guardia. In

November there is a congressional election. There is still the ballot

box and people can still vote without anybody telling them what to

do." "And what will they vote for?" my mother asked, and immedi-
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ately answered herself. "The American people will vote," she said,

"and the Republicans will be even stronger" "Quiet. Try to keep

your voice down, will you? When November comes," he told her,

"we'll find out the results, and there'll be time then to decide what

to do." "And if there isn't time?" "There will be. Please, Bess," he

said, "this cannot go on every night." And his was the last word,

though it was probably only because of me doing my homework in

the kitchen that my mother forced herself to say no more.

The next day, right after school, I walked down Chancellor Av-

enue and around to Clinton Place and then beyond the high school

to where I figured chances were slight that anybody would recog-

nize me and waited there for a bus downtown to the Newsreel The-

ater. I'd checked the newspaper timetable the night before. There

was an hour-long show beginning at five minutes to four, which

meant that I could catch a five o'clock 14 at the Broad Street stop

across from the theater and be safely back in time for dinner, or

even earlier, depending on when von Ribbentrop was slotted into

the program. One way or another, I had to see Aunt Evelyn at the

White House, and not because, like my parents, I was appalled and

outraged by what she was doing but because her having gone there

at all seemed to me more remarkable than anything that could

possibly befall a member of our family—except for what had be-

fallen Alvin.

nazi bigwig white house guest—that was the black-

lettered headline spelled out across either side of the theater's tri-

angular marquee, and along with my being downtown without my
brother or Earl Axman or one of my parents, it made me feel pow-

erfully delinquent when I stepped up to the box-office window and

asked for a ticket.

"Unaccompanied by an adult? No, sir," the woman selling tick-

ets told me. "I'm an orphan," I told her. "I live at the orphanage on

Lyons Avenue. The sister sent me to do a report on President Lind-

bergh." "Where's her note?" I'd carefully written one out on the

bus, using a blank page from my notebook, and handed it through

the money slot. It was modeled after the notes of permission my
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mother wrote for school trips, only it was signed "Sister Mary

Catherine, St. Peter's Orphanage." The woman looked at it without

reading it, then beckoned for me to push my money over. I gave

her one of Alvin's tens—a huge bill for a kid my size, let alone an

orphan from St. Peter's—but she was busy and gave back nine- fifty

in change and slipped me a ticket without any fuss. She failed,

however, to return the note. "I need that," I said. "Let's go, sonny,"

she said impatiently, and motioned for me to make room for the

people still lining up for the next show.

I got inside just as the lights went out and the martial music

came on and the film began to roll. Because seemingly every man
in Newark (the theater drew only a very few women) wanted to get

a look at the unlikely White House guest, the place was filled to ca-

pacity for this late-Friday-afternoon show and the only empty seat

I could find was in the far reaches of the balcony—anyone enter-

ing now would have to stand at the back of the orchestra's last row.

A great excitement came over me, not only because of my having

pulled off something that was not expected of me, but because en-

veloped by the fumes of the hundreds of cigarettes and the extrav-

agant odor of the five-cent cigars, I felt deep in the virile magic of

a boy masquerading as a man among men.

British land on Madagascar to take over French naval base.

Pierre Laval, chief ofVichy French government, denounces Brit-

ish move as "act of aggression."

RAF bombs Stuttgart third consecutive night.

British fighter planes in savage air battle over Malta.

German army resumes assault on USSR in the Kerch Penin-

sula.

Mandalay falls to Japanese army in Burma.

Japanese army launches new drive in jungles of New Guinea.

Japanese army marches into Yunnan province of China from

Burma.

Chinese guerrillas raid city of Canton, killing five hundred Jap-

anese troops.

A multitude of helmets, uniforms, weapons, buildings, harbors,
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beaches, flora, fauna—human faces of every race—but otherwise

the same inferno again and again, the unsurpassable evil from

whose horrors the United States, of all the great nations, was alone

in being spared. Picture after picture of misery without end: the

mortars bursting, the infantrymen doubled over and running, ma-

rines with raised rifles wading ashore, airplanes dropping bombs,

airplanes blown apart and spiraling to earth, the mass graves, the

kneeling chaplains, the improvised crosses, the sinking ships, the

drowning sailors, the sea in flames, the shattered bridges, the tank

bombardment, the targeted hospitals sheared in two, pillars of fire

coiling upward from bombed-out oil tanks, prisoners corralled in

a sea of mud, stretchers bearing living torsos, bayoneted civilians,

dead babies, beheaded bodies bubbling blood . .

.

And then the White House. A twilit spring evening. Shadows

falling across the sprawl of lawn. Blooming bushes. Flowering

trees. Limousines driven by liveried chauffeurs and everyone exit-

ing them in formal attire. From the marble hallway beyond the

open portico doors, a string ensemble playing last year's number

one hit song, "Intermezzo," popularized from a theme in Wagner's

Tristan and Isolde. Gracious smiles. Quiet laughter. The lean, be-

loved, handsome president. Beside him the talented poetess, daring

aviatrix, and decorous socialite who is the mother of their mur-

dered child. The loquacious, silver-haired honored guest. The ele-

gant Nazi spouse in her long satin gown. Welcoming words, witti-

cisms, and the Old World gallant, steeped in the theatrics of the

royal court and looking in his evening clothes like a million bucks,

charmingly kissing the First Lady's hand.

Had it not been for the Iron Cross, awarded to the foreign min-

ister by his Fuhrer and embellishing the pocket just inches below

the impeccably arranged silk handkerchief, as persuasively civilized

a sham as human cunning could devise.

And there! Aunt Evelyn, Rabbi Bengelsdorf—past the marine

guards, through the doorway, and gone!

They couldn't have been on the screen for as long as three sec-

onds, and yet the rest of the national news and the closing sports
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clips were incomprehensible to me and I kept hoping for the film

to spin back to the moment where my aunt materialized asparkle

with the gems previously the property of the rabbi's late wife.

Among the many improbabilities that the cameras established as

irrefutably real, Aunt Evelyn's disgraceful triumph was for me the

least real of all.

When the show was over and the lights went up, a uniformed

usher was standing in the aisle motioning with his flashlight.

"You," he said. "You come with me."

He led me into the crowd that was emptying out of the lobby

and through a door he unlocked with a key and then up a narrow

stairway that I recognized from when Sandy and I had been

brought here to see the Madison Square Garden von Ribbentrop

rallies. "How old are you?" the usher asked me.

"Sixteen."

"That's a good one. Keep it up, kid. Get yourself in more hot

water."

"I have to go home now," I told him. "I'm going to miss my
bus."

"You're going to miss a lot more than that."

He rapped sharply on the famous soundproof door to the

Newsreel's projection booth and Mr. Tirschwell let us in.

He was holding the note from Sister Mary Catherine.

"I don't see how I cannot show this to your parents," he told me.

"It was just a joke," I said.

"Your father's coming to pick you up. I telephoned his office to

tell him you were here."

"Thank you," I said as politely as I had been taught to say it.

"Please sit down."

"But it was a joke," I repeated.

Mr. Tirschwell was preparing the reels for the new show. I saw

when I got to looking around that many of the signed photos of

the theater's renowned patrons had been removed from the walls,

and realized that Mr. Tirschwell had begun to gather together the

mementos he was taking to Winnipeg. And I realized too that the
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gravity of such a move might alone have been enough to account

for the sternness with which he was treating me. Yet he also struck

me as the exacting sort of adult whose sense of responsibility often

extends to what is none of his business. It would have been hard to

tell from either his looks or his speech that he'd grown up in a

Newark tenement with my father. He was an understated, dis-

tinctly more polished and prideful version than my father of the

scantily educated slum child who'd lifted himself out of his par-

ents' immigrant poverty almost entirely by virtue of a vigilant, pro-

grammatic industriousness. Ardor, for these men, was all they had

to go on. What their Gentile betters called pushiness was generally

just this—the ardor that was everything.

"If I go outside," I said, "I can still get the bus and be home in

time for dinner."

"Stay where you are, please."

"But what did I do wrong? I wanted to see my aunt. This isn't

fair," I said, dangerously close to crying. "I wanted to see my aunt

at the White House, that's all."

"Your aunt," he said, and he gritted his teeth so as to say no more.

Of all things, his disdain for Aunt Evelyn triggered my tears.

Here Mr. Tirschwell lost his patience. "Are you suffering?" he asked

sardonically. "What, what are you suffering? Do you have any idea

what people are going through all over the world? Did you under-

stand nothing of what you just saw? I only hope that in the future

you're spared any real reason to cry. I hope and pray that in the

days ahead your family
—

" He stopped abruptly, clearly unaccus-

tomed to an undignified eruption of irrational emotion, particu-

larly in the handling of an insignificant child. Even I could under-

stand that his argument was with something other than me, but

that didn't lessen the shock of my having to bear the brunt of it.

"What's going to happen in June?" I asked him. It was the unan-

swered question that I'd overheard my mother ask my father the

night before.

Mr. Tirschwell continued scanning my face as though trying

to determine how lacking in intelligence I was. "Pull yourself to-
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gether," he finally said. "Here," and handed me his handkerchief.

"Dry your eyes."

I did as he told me, but when I repeated, "What's going to hap-

pen? Why are you going to Canada?" the exasperation all at once

disappeared from his voice and something emerged both stronger

and milder

—

his intelligence.

"I have a new job there," he replied.

That he was sparing me terrified me, and I was again in tears.

My father arrived some twenty minutes later. Mr. Tirschwell

handed him the note I'd written to get myself into the theater, but

my father didn't take the time to read it until he had steered me by

the elbow out of the theater and into the street. That's when he hit

me. First my mother hits my brother, now my father reads the

words of Sister Mary Catherine and, for the first time ever, wallops

me, without restraint, across the face. As I am already overwrought

—and nothing like as stoical as Sandy—I break down uncontrol-

lably alongside the ticket booth, in plain view of all the Gentiles

hurrying home from their downtown offices for a carefree spring

weekend in Lindbergh's peacetime America, the autonomous for-

tress oceans away from the world's war zones where no one is in

jeopardy except us.
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May 1942-June 1942

Their Country

May 22, 1942

Dear Mr. Roth:

In compliance with a request from Homestead 42, Office

of American Absorption, U.S. Department of the Interior,

our company is offering relocation opportunities to senior

employees like yourself, deemed qualified for inclusion in

the OAA's bold new nationwide initiative.

It was exactly eighty years ago that the U.S. Congress

passed the Homestead Act of 1862, the famous legislation,

unique to America, which granted 160 acres of unoccupied

public land virtually free to farmers willing to pull up

stakes and settle the new American West. Nothing compa-

rable has been undertaken since then to provide adventur-

ous Americans with exciting new opportunities to expand

their horizons and to strengthen their country.

Metropolitan Life is proud to be among the very first

group of major American corporations and financial insti-

tutions selected to be participants in the new Homestead

program, which is designed to give emerging American

families a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to move their

households, at government expense, in order to strike roots

in an inspiring region ofAmerica previously inaccessible to

them. Homestead 42 will provide a challenging environ-

ment steeped in our country's oldest traditions where par-
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ents and children can enrich their Americanness over the

generations.

Upon receipt of this announcement you should imme-

diately contact Mr. Wilfred Kurth, the Homestead 42 repre-

sentative in our Madison Avenue office. He will personally

answer all your questions and his staff will courteously as-

sist you in every way they can.

Congratulations to you and your family for having been

chosen from among numerous deserving candidates at

Metropolitan Life to be among the company's first pio-

neering "homesteaders" of 1942.

Sincerely yours,

Homer L. Kasson

Vice President for Employee Affairs

Several days had to pass before my father could summon the

composure to show the company's letter to my mother and to

break the news that as of September 1, 1942, he was being trans-

ferred from the Metropolitan's Newark district to a district office

opening in Danville, Kentucky. On a map of Kentucky that had

been included in the Homestead 42 packet presented to him by Mr.

Kurth, he located Danville for us. Then he read aloud from a page

in a Chamber of Commerce pamphlet entitled The Blue Grass State.

"'Danville is the county seat of rural Boyle County. It sits in beau-

tiful Kentucky countryside about sixty miles south of Lexington,

the state's second-biggest city after Louisville.' " He began flipping

through the pamphlet to find still more interesting facts to read

aloud that would somehow mitigate the senselessness of this turn

of events. " 'Daniel Boone helped to blaze "the Wilderness Road,"

which opened the way to the settlement of Kentucky ... In 1792,

Kentucky became the first state west of the Appalachians to join

the Union . . . The population of Kentucky in 1940 was 2,845,627.'

The population of Danville—let me get it here—Danville's popu-

lation was 6,700."

"And how many Jews in Danville," my mother asked, "of the
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six thousand and seven hundred? How many in the whole state?"

"You already know, Bess. There are very few. All I can tell you is

that it could be worse. It could be Montana, where the Gellers are

going. It could be Kansas, where the Schwartzes are going. It could

be Oklahoma, where the Brodys are going. Seven men are leaving

from our office, and I am the luckiest, believe me. Kentucky is a

beautiful place with a beautiful climate. It is not the end of the

world. We will wind up living out there just about the way we live

here. Maybe better, given that everything is cheaper and the cli-

mate's so nice. There's going to be school for the boys, there's going

to be the job for me, there's going to be the house for you. Chances

are we'll be able to afford to buy a place of our own where the boys

can each have a separate room and a yard out back to play in."

"And just where do they get the gall to do this to people?" my
mother asked. "I am dumbfounded, Herman. Our families are

here. Our lifelong friends are here. The children's friends are here.

We have lived in peace and harmony here all of our lives. We are

only a block from the best elementary school in Newark. We are a

block from the best high school in New Jersey. Our boys have been

raised among Jews. They go to school with other Jewish children.

There is no friction with the other children. There is no name-call-

ing. There are no fights. They have never had to feel left out and

lonely the way I did as a child. I cannot believe the company is

doing this to you. The way you have worked for those people, the

hours that you put in, the effort—and this," she said angrily, "is the

reward."

"Boys," my father said, "ask me what you want to know. Mother

is right. This is a big surprise for all of us. We are all a little dumb-

founded. So ask whatever is on your mind. I don't want anybody

to be confused about anything."

But Sandy wasn't confused, nor did he look dumbfounded in

any way. Sandy was thrilled and barely able to hide his glee, and all

because he knew exactly where to find Danville, Kentucky, on the

map—fourteen miles from the Mawhinneys' tobacco farm. It could
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have been that he'd also known we would be moving there long be-

fore any of the rest of us did. My father and mother may not have

said as much, but then, precisely because of what no one was say-

ing, even I could understand that my father's being selected as one

of his district's seven Jewish "homesteaders" was no more fortu-

itous than his assignment to the company's new Danville office.

Once he'd opened the back door to our flat and told Aunt Evelyn

to leave the house and never come back, our fate could have played

out no other way.

It was after dinner and we were in the living room. Serenely un-

perturbed, Sandy was drawing something and had no questions to

ask, and I—looking outside with my face pressed to the screen of

the open window—I had no questions to ask either, and so my
father, grimly absorbed in his thoughts, and knowing he'd been

defeated, began to pace the floor, and my mother, on the sofa, mur-

mured something under her breath, refusing to resign herself to

what awaited us. In the drama of confrontation, in the struggle

against we knew not what, each had taken on the role that the

other had played in the lobby of the Washington hotel. I realized

how far things had gone and how terribly confusing everything

now was and how calamity, when it comes, comes in a rush.

Since about three it had been squalling steadily, but abruptly the

wind-driven downpour stopped and the sun came blazing out as

though the clocks had been turned ahead and, over in the west, to-

morrow morning was now set to begin at six p.m. today. How could

a street as modest as ours induce such rapture just because it glit-

tered with rain? How could the sidewalk's impassable leaf-strewn

lagoons and the grassy little yards oozing from the flood of the

downspouts exude a smell that roused my delight as if I'd been

born in a tropical rain forest? Tinged with the bright after-storm

light, Summit Avenue was as agleam with life as a pet, my own

silky, pulsating pet, washed clean by sheets of falling water and now

stretched its full length to bask in the bliss.

Nothing would ever get me to leave here.
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"And who will the boys play with?" my mother asked.

"There are plenty of children in Kentucky to play with," he as-

sured her.

"And who will I talk to?" she asked. "Who will I have there like

the friends I've had my whole life?"

"There are women there, too."

"Gentile women" she said. Ordinarily my mother drew no

strength from scorn, but she spoke scornfully now—that's how

perplexed she was and how endangered she felt. "Good Christian

women," she said, "who will fall all over themselves to make me feel

at home. They have no right to do this!" she proclaimed.

"Bess, please—this is what it is like to work for a big company.

Big companies transfer people all the time. And when they do, you

have to pick up and go."

"I'm talking about the government. The government cannot do

this. They cannot force people to pick up and go—that is not in

any constitution that I ever heard of."

"They aren't forcing us."

"Then why are we going?" she asked. "Of course they are forcing

us. This is illegal You cannot just take Jews because they're Jews

and force them to live where you want them to. You cannot take

a city and just do what you want with it. To get rid of Newark as

it is, with Jews living here like everyone else? What business is it

of theirs? This is against the law. Everyone knows it is against the

law."

"Yeah," said Sandy without bothering to look up from what he

was sketching, "why don't we sue the United States of America?"

"You can sue," I told him. "In the Supreme Court."

"Ignore him," my mother told me. "Until your brother learns to

be civil, we just continue to ignore him."

Here Sandy got up and took his drawing materials into our bed-

room. Unable any longer to witness the spectacle of my father's de-

fenselessness and my mother's anguish, I unlocked the front door

and raced down the front stairs and out into the street where the

kids who'd finished their dinner were already dropping Popsicle

• 208 •



THEIR COUNTRY

sticks into the gutters and watching them cascade over the iron

grate into the gurgling sewer along with the natural detritus shaken

by the storm from the locust trees and the swirl of candy wrappers,

beetles, bottle caps, earthworms, cigarette butts, and, mysteriously,

inexplicably, predictably, the single mucilaginous rubber. Every-

body was out having one last good time before they had to turn in

for bed—and all of them still capable of having a good time be-

cause none had a parent working for any of the corporations col-

laborating with Homestead 42. Their fathers were men who worked

for themselves or with a partner who was a brother or an in-law

and so they weren't going to have to go anywhere. But I wasn't

going anywhere either. I would not be driven by the United States

government from a street whose very gutters gushed with the elixir

of life.

Alvin was in the rackets in Philadelphia, Sandy lived in exile in

our house, and my father's authority as a protector had been dras-

tically compromised if not destroyed. Two years earlier, to preserve

our chosen way of life, he had mustered his strength to drive over

to the home office and, face to face with the big boss, to decline the

promotion that would have advanced his career and increased his

earnings but at the price of taking us to live in heavily Bundist New
Jersey. Now he no longer had it in him to challenge an uprooting

potentially no less hazardous, having concluded that confrontation

was futile and our fate out of his hands. Shockingly enough, my fa-

ther had been rendered impotent by his company's having obedi-

ently joined hands with the state. There was nobody left to protect

us except me.

After school the next day, I covertly headed off again for the down-

town bus, this time for the number 7 line, whose route ran some

three-quarters of a mile from Summit Avenue, on the far side of

the farmed acreage of the orphan asylum, out where St. Peter's

Church fronted the thoroughfare of Lyons Avenue and where, in

the shadow of its cross-capped steeple, I was even less likely to be

spotted by a neighbor or a schoolmate or a family friend than
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when I made it my business to walk past the high school and down

to Clinton Place to take the 14.

I waited at the bus stop outside the church beside two nuns

identically buried within the coarse heavy cloth of those volumi-

nous black habits that I'd never had a chance to study as I did that

day. Back then, a nun's habit reached to her shoes, and that, along

with the brilliant white, starched arc of cloth that starkly framed

her facial features and obliterated all lateral vision—the stiffened

wimple that hid scalp, ears, chin, and neck and was itself enfolded

in an extensive white headcloth—made of the traditionally dressed

Catholic nuns the most archaic-looking creatures I had ever seen,

far more startling to behold in our neighborhood than even the

creepily morticianlike priests. No buttons or pockets were visible,

and thus there was no way to figure out how that sheath of thickly

gathered curtaining got hooked up or how it was taken off or

whether it ever was taken off, given that overlaying everything was

a large metal cross suspended from a long cord necklace, and

strung beads, big and shiny as "killer" marbles, that dangled several

feet down from the front of a black leather belt, and, secured to the

headcloth, a black veil that broadened at the back and fell straight

to the waist. Other than within the naked little region that was the

wimpled, plain, unornamented face, no nap, no softness, no fuzzi-

ness anywhere.

I assumed these were two of the nuns who supervised the lives

of the orphans and taught in the parochial school. Neither looked

my way and, on my own, without a wisecracking sidekick like Earl

Axman, I didn't dare to look at them other than in stolen glances,

though even while I stared at my own two feet, the clever child's ca-

pacity for self-censorship deserted me and I confronted the mys-

teries again and again, all the questions concerning their female

bodies and its lowliest functions, and all tending toward depravity.

Despite the seriousness of the afternoon's secret mission and every-

thing that rode on its outcome, I couldn't manage to be anywhere

near a nun, let alone a pair of them, without a mind awash in my
none-too-pure Jewish thoughts.
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The nuns took the two seats behind the driver and, though most

of the seats farther to the rear were empty, I sat down across the

narrow aisle from the two of them, in the seat just back from the

turnstile and the fare box. I'd had no intention of sitting there,

didn't understand why I was doing so, but instead of moving off to

where I could be out from under the sway of unfettered curiosity,

I opened my notebook to pretend to do my schoolwork, simulta-

neously hoping and dreading that I'd overhear them say something

in Catholic. Alas, they were silent, praying I supposed, and no less

spellbinding for doing it on a bus.

Some five minutes from downtown, there was a musical clack-

ing of rosary beads as together they rose to disembark at the wide

intersection of High Street and Clinton Avenue. On one side of the

junction there was an auto dealer's lot and on the other the Hotel

Riviera. As they passed, the taller of the nuns smiled down at me
from the aisle and, with a vague sadness in her quiet voice—per-

haps because the Messiah had come and gone without my know-

ing it—commented to her companion, "What a well-scrubbed,

cute little boy."

She should have known what I'd been thinking. Then again,

maybe she did.

A few minutes later, before the bus took the big final turn off

Broad Street and started down Raymond Boulevard for its last stop

outside Penn Station, I too got off and began running toward the

Federal Office Building on Washington Street, where Aunt Evelyn

had her office. Inside the lobby I was told by an elevator operator

that the OAA was on the top floor, and when I got there I asked

for Evelyn Finkel. "You're Sandy's brother," the receptionist an-

nounced. "You could be his little twin," she added appreciatively.

"Sandy's five years older," I told her. "Sandy's a wonderful, wonder-

ful boy," she said, "everybody loved having him around," and then

she buzzed Aunt Evelyn's office. "Nephew Philip's here, Miss E," she

announced, and within seconds, Aunt Evelyn had swept me past

the desks of some half-dozen men and women working at their

typewriters and into her office overlooking the public library and
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the Newark Museum. She was kissing me and hugging me and

telling me how much she had missed me, and, despite all my ap-

prehensions—beginning, of course, with the fear that my meeting

with our estranged aunt would be discovered by my parents—

I

proceeded as I had planned by confiding in Aunt Evelyn how I had

secretly gone alone to the Newsreel Theater to see her at the White

House. I sat in the chair at the side of her desk—a desk easily twice

the size of my father's just over on Clinton Street—and asked her

to tell me what it had been like to eat dinner with the president and

Mrs. Lindbergh. When she began to answer in elaborate detail

—

and with an eagerness to impress that didn't quite make sense to a

mere child already overwhelmed by the magnitude of her be-

trayal—I couldn't believe I was so easily tricking her into thinking

that this was why I was here.

There were two big maps pierced with clumps of colored pins

and fixed to an enormous cork bulletin board on the wall back of

her desk. The larger map was of the forty-eight states and the

smaller of just New Jersey, whose long inland river boundary with

neighboring Pennsylvania we had been taught in school to identify

as the uncanny outline of an Indian chief's profile, the brow up by

Phillipsburg, the nostrils down by Stockton, and the chin narrow-

ing into the neck in the vicinity of Trenton. The state's densely

populated easternmost corner, encompassing Jersey City, Newark,

Passaic, and Paterson, and extending northward to the ruler-straight

border with the southernmost counties of the state of New York,

denoted the upper back end of the Indian's feathered headdress.

That was how I saw it then, and how I continue to see it; along with

the five senses, a child of my background had a sixth sense in those

days, the geographic sense, the sharp sense of where he lived and

who and what surrounded him.

On Aunt Evelyn's spacious desktop, beside separately framed

pictures of my dead grandmother and of Rabbi Bengelsdorf, there

was a large autographed photo of President and Mrs. Lindbergh

standing together in the Oval Office and a smaller photo of Aunt

Evelyn in her evening gown shaking the president's hand. "That's
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the reception line," she explained. "On the way into the state din-

ing room, the guests each file past the president and the First Lady

and the evening's honored guest. You're introduced by name and

they take a photograph and the White House sends it to you."

"Did the president say anything?"

"He said, 'Nice to have you here.'

"

"Are you allowed to say anything back?" I asked.

"I said, 'I'm honored, Mr. President.' " She made no effort to dis-

guise how important that exchange had been to her and perhaps to

the president of the United States. As always with Aunt Evelyn,

there was something very winning about her enthusiasm, though

in the context of my household's confusion, I couldn't miss what

was diabolical about it as well. Never in my life had I so harshly

judged any adult—not my parents, not even Alvin or Uncle Monty

—nor had I understood till then how the shameless vanity of utter

fools can so strongly determine the fate of others.

"Did you meet Mr. von Ribbentrop?"

Now almost girlishly bashful, she replied, "I danced with Mr.

von Ribbentrop."

"Where?"

"There was dancing after dinner in a big tent on the White

House lawn. It was a beautiful night. An orchestra and dancing,

and Lionel and I were introduced to the foreign minister and his

wife, and we got to talking, and then he just bowed and asked me
to dance. He's known to be an excellent dancer, and he is, it's true

—a perfectly magical ballroom dancer. And his English is faultless.

He studied at the University of London and then lived for four

years as a young man in Canada. His great youthful adventure,

he calls it. I found him a very charming gentleman and highly in-

telligent."

"What'd he say?" I asked.

"Oh, we talked about the president, about the OAA, about our

lives—we talked about everything. He plays the violin, you know.

He's like Lionel, a man of the world who can talk knowledgeably

about anything. Here, look, darling—look at what I was wearing.
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Do you see the bag I was carrying? It's gold mesh. See this? See the

scarabs? Gold, enamel, and turquoise scarabs."

"What's a scarab?"

"It's a beetle. It's a gem that's cut to resemble a beetle. And it was

made right here in Newark by the family of the first Mrs. Bengels-

dorf. Their workshop was world famous. They made jewelry for

the kings and queens of Europe and all of the wealthiest people in

America. Look at my engagement ring," she said, placing her per-

fumed little hand so close to my face I felt like a dog suddenly and

wanted to lick it. "See the stone? That is an emerald, my dearest

dear child."

"A real one?"

She kissed me. "A real one! And in the photo, here—that's a link

bracelet. It's gold with sapphires and pearls. Real ones!" she said,

kissing me again. "The foreign minister said he'd never seen a

bracelet more beautiful anywhere. And what do you think that is

around my neck?"

"A necklace?"

"A festoon necklace."

"What's 'festoon'?"

"A chain of flowers, a garland of flowers. You know the word

'festival' You know 'festivities.' And you know 'feast,' too, don't you?

Well, they're all related. And look, the two brooches, see them?

They're sapphires, darling—Montana sapphires set in gold. And do

you see who is wearing them? Who? Who is that? It's Aunt Evelyn!

It's Evelyn Finkel of Dewey Street! At the White House! Isn't it un-

believable?"

"I guess so," I said.

"Oh, sweetheart," she said, drawing me to her and kissing me
now all over my face, "I guess so too. I'm so glad you came to see

me. I've missed you so," and she stroked me then as if to find out if

my pockets were stuffed with stolen goods. Only years later did I

come to understand that her skillful way with her groping hands

may well have been what accounted for the rapid renovation of

Aunt Evelyn's life by a figure of the stature of Lionel Bengelsdorf.
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Brilliant and erudite though the rabbi was, superior to everyone

even in his egoism, Aunt Evelyn must never have been at a loss with

him.

The paradise of envelopment that followed was, of course, un-

identifiable at the time. Wherever I put my own two hands, there

was the soft surface of her body. Wherever I moved my face, there

was the thickness of her scent. Wherever I looked, there was her

clothing, new spring wrappings so light and gauzy that they didn't

even veil the sheen of her slip. And there were the eyes of another

human being as I'd never quite seen them before. I had not reached

the age of desire, was blinded, of course, by the word "aunt," still

found the random little stiffening of my acorn of a penis the puz-

zling nuisance it had always been, and so the delight that I took

nestling into the curvaceousness of my mother's thirty-one-year-

old sister, a tiny, lively Thumbelina seemingly timid in no way and

formed after the model of hills and apples, was a lifeless feeling of

frenzy and nothing more, as though a rare, imperfectly printed

treasure of a stamp that I knew to be priceless had accidentally

turned up on an ordinary letter dropped by the postman into our

Summit Avenue mailbox.

"Aunt Evelyn?"

"My darling."

"Do you know that we're moving to Kentucky?"

"Uh-huh."

"I don't want to go, Aunt Evelyn. I want to stay at my school."

She stepped sharply back from me, and with the air now of any-

thing but a paramour, asked, "Who sent you here, Philip?"

"Sent me? Nobody."

"Who sent you to see me? Tell the truth."

"It is the truth. Nobody."

She returned to the chair behind the desk, and the look in her

eyes made it necessary for me to do everything I could not to get

up and run. But I wanted what I wanted too much to run.

"There's nothing to be afraid of in Kentucky," she said.

"I'm not afraid. I just don't want to have to move."
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Even her silence was all-embracing and, if I had indeed been

lying, would have forced from me the confession she wanted. Her

life, poor woman, was a perpetual state of intensity.

"Can't Seldon and his mother go instead of us?" I asked.

"Who is Seldon?"

"The boy downstairs whose father died. His mother works for

the Metropolitan now. How come we have to go and they don't?"

"Wasn't it your father who put you up to this, dear?"

"No. No. Nobody even knows I'm here."

But I saw she still didn't believe me—her aversion to my father

was too precious to be dislodged by the obvious truth.

"Does Seldon want to go with you to Kentucky?" she asked me.

"I didn't ask him. I don't know. I just thought I'd ask you if they

could go instead."

"My dear little boy, do you see the New Jersey map? Do you see

these pins in the map? Each one represents a family chosen for re-

location. Now look at the map of the whole country. See all the

pins there? Those represent the location to which each New Jersey

family has been assigned. Making these assignments involves the

cooperation of many, many people, in this office, in the Washing-

ton headquarters, and in the state to which each family is moving.

The biggest and most important corporations in New Jersey are re-

locating employees in a partnership with Homestead 42, and so

much more planning, much, much more than you can begin to

imagine, has gone into all of this. And, of course, no decision is

made by any one person. But even if it was, and I were that person,

and I could do something to keep you near your friends and your

school, I would continue to think that you for one are going to

benefit enormously by becoming something more than another

Jewish child whose parents have made him too frightened ever to

leave the ghetto. Look what your family has done to Sandy. You saw

your brother in New Brunswick that night. You saw him talking to

all those people about his adventure on the tobacco farm. Do you

remember that night?" she asked me. "Weren't you proud of him?"

"Yes."
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"And did it sound as though living in Kentucky was frightening

and that Sandy was ever, for a moment, afraid?"

"No."

Here, having reached into her desk for something, she got up

and came around again to where I was sitting. Her pretty face, with

its large features and thickly applied makeup, suddenly looked to

me preposterous—the carnal face of the ravenous mania to which,

in my mother's judgment, her emotional younger sister had help-

lessly fallen prey. To be sure, for a child in the court of Louis XIV

the ambitions and satisfactions of such a relative would never have

attained the same intimidating aura of significance that Aunt Eve-

lyn's did for me, nor would the worldly advancement of a cleric like

Rabbi Bengelsdorf have seemed the least bit scandalous to my par-

ents were they themselves raised at court as a marquis and a mar-

chioness. Probably I couldn't have done any worse—I might well

have done a lot better—seeking solace from the two nuns on the

Lyons Avenue bus than from someone reveling in the pleasures of

the standard, petty corruptions that proliferate wherever people

compete for even the tiniest advantages of rank.

"Be brave, darling. Be a brave boy. Do you want to sit on the

front stoop of Summit Avenue for the rest of your life, or do you

want to go out into the world like Sandy did and prove that you are

as good as anyone? Suppose I'd been afraid to go to the White

House and meet the president because people like your father say

things about him and call him names. Suppose I'd been afraid to

meet the foreign minister because they call him names. You cannot

go around being afraid of everything that isn't familiar to you. You

cannot grow up to be frightened like your parents. Promise me you

won't."

"I promise."

"Here," she said, "I have a treat for you." And she handed me one

of two little cardboard packets that she had been holding in her

hand. "I got this for you at the White House. I love you, sweetheart,

and I want you to have it."

"What is it?"
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"An after-dinner chocolate. It's a chocolate wrapped in gold

paper. And you know what's embossed right on the chocolate? The

presidential seal. Here's one for you, and if I give you Sandy's, will

you bring it to him for me?"

"Okay."

"This is what's on your table at the White House at the end of

the meal. Chocolates in a silver dish. And the moment I saw them

there I thought of the two boys in the world I most want to make

happy."

I got up, clutching the chocolates in my hand, and Aunt Evelyn

put her arm tightly around my shoulder and walked me out past

all the people working for her and into the corridor, where she

pressed the button for the elevator.

"What is Seldon's last name?" she asked me.

"Wishnow."

"And he's your best friend."

How could I explain that I couldn't bear him? And so at last I

lied and said, "Yes, he is," and, since my aunt did indeed love me
and was not herself lying when she said she wanted to make me
happy, only a few days later, after I'd finally disposed of the White

House chocolates by waiting until no one was around and throw-

ing them over the orphanage fence, Mrs. Wishnow received a let-

ter from the Metropolitan informing her that she and her family

were fortunate enough to have been chosen to move to Kentucky

as well.

On a Sunday afternoon at the end of May, a confidential meeting

was convened in our living room for the Jewish insurance agents

who, along with my father, were being relocated from the Metro-

politan's Newark office under the auspices of Homestead 42. They

all came with just their wives, having agreed that it would be

best to leave the children at home. Earlier in the afternoon Sandy

and I, joined by Seldon Wishnow, had arranged the chairs for the

meeting, including a set of bridge chairs we'd carried upstairs from

the Wishnows'. Afterward Mrs. Wishnow drove the three of us to
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the Mayfair Theater in Hillside, where we would catch a double

feature and then be picked up by my father when the meeting was

over.

The other guests were Shepsie and Estelle Tirschwell, who were

only days from moving their family to Winnipeg, and Monroe Sil-

verman, a distant cousin who'd recently opened a law office in Irv-

ington, just above the haberdashery store owned by my father's

second-older brother, Lenny, the uncle who supplied Sandy and

me with new school clothes "at cost." When my mother suggested

—out of her enduring respect for everything that one is taught to

respect—that Hyman Resnick, our local rabbi, should be invited to

attend the meeting, nobody else among the organizers who'd as-

sembled in our kitchen the week before showed much enthusiasm

for the idea and, after a deferential few minutes of discussion (dur-

ing which my father said diplomatically what he always said dip-

lomatically about Rabbi Resnick, "I like the man, like his wife, no

doubt in my mind he does an excellent job, but he's really not

very brilliant, you know"), my mother's proposal was tabled. Even

though, to the delight of a small child, these intimate friends of our

family spoke in as wide and entertaining a range of voices as the

characters on The Fred Allen Show and were each as distinctively

different-looking as the comic-strip figures in the evening paper

—

this was back when evolution's sly wit was still rampantly apparent,

long before the youthful renovation of face and figure became a se-

rious adult aspiration—they were very similar people at the core:

they raised their families, budgeted their money, attended to their

elderly parents, and cared for their modest homes alike, on most

every public issue thought alike, in political elections voted alike.

Rabbi Resnick presided over an unimposing yellow-brick syna-

gogue at the edge of the neighborhood where everyone showed up

in their High Holiday best for the three days each year of Rosh

Hashanah and Yom Kippur observances but otherwise returned

there for little else, except, when necessary, to dutifully recite the

daily prayer for the dead during the period prescribed. A rabbi was

to officiate at weddings and funerals, to bar mitzvah their sons, to
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visit the ill in the hospital, and to console the bereft at the shiva; be-

yond that he did not play a role of any importance in their day-to-

day lives, nor did any of them—including my respectful mother

—

expect him to, and not just because Resnick wasn't that brilliant.

Their being Jews didn't issue from the rabbinate or the synagogue

or from their few formal religious practices, though over the years,

largely for the sake of living parents who came once a week to visit

and eat, several of the households, ours among them, were kosher.

Their being Jews didn't even issue from on high. To be sure, each

Friday at sundown, when my mother ritually (and touchingly, with

the devotional delicacy she'd absorbed as a child from watching

her own mother) lit the Sabbath candles, she invoked the Almighty

by his Hebrew title but otherwise no one ever made mention of

"Adonoy." These were Jews who needed no large terms of reference,

no profession of faith or doctrinal creed, in order to be Jews, and

they certainly needed no other language—they had one, their na-

tive tongue, whose vernacular expressiveness they wielded effort-

lessly and, whether at the card table or while making a sales pitch,

with the easygoing command of the indigenous population. Nei-

ther was their being Jews a mishap or a misfortune or an achieve-

ment to be "proud" of. What they were was what they couldn't get

rid of—what they couldn't even begin to want to get rid of. Their

being Jews issued from their being themselves, as did their being

American. It was as it was, in the nature of things, as fundamental

as having arteries and veins, and they never manifested the slight-

est desire to change it or deny it, regardless of the consequences.

I'd known these people all my life. The women were close and

reliable friends who exchanged confidences and swapped recipes,

who commiserated with one another on the phone and looked

after one another's children and regularly celebrated one another's

birthdays by traveling the twelve miles to Manhattan to see a Broad-

way show. The men had not only worked for years in the same dis-

trict office but met to play pinochle on the two evenings a month

the women had their mahjong game, and from time to time, on a
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Sunday morning, a group of them went off to the old sweatbaths

on Mercer Street with their young sons in tow—the offspring of

this set happened all to be boys somewhere between Sandy's age

and mine. On Decoration Day, the Fourth of July, and Labor Day

the families would usually organize a picnic some ten miles west of

our neighborhood at the bucolic South Mountain Reservation,

where the fathers and the sons tossed horseshoes and chose up

sides for Softball and listened to a ball game on somebody's static-

ridden portable radio, the most magical technology known to our

world. The boys weren't necessarily the best of friends but we felt

connected through our fathers' affiliation. Of us all, Seldon was the

least robust, least confident, and, most painfully for him, least

lucky, and yet it was to Seldon that I had managed to contract my-

self for the remainder of boyhood and probably beyond. He'd

begun to shadow me more doggedly since he and his mother had

learned of their relocation, and I could only think that because we

two were going to be the sole Jewish pupils in the Danville ele-

mentary school system, I'd be expected—by the Danville Gentiles

no less than by our parents—to be his natural ally and closest com-

panion. Seldon's omnipresence might not be the worst that was

awaiting me in Kentucky, but to the imagination of a nine-year-old

it registered as an unendurable ordeal and accelerated the urge to

rebel.

How? I didn't know yet. All I'd felt so far was the pre-mutinous

roiling, and all I'd done about it was to find a small, water-stained

cardboard suitcase forgotten beneath the usable luggage in our cel-

lar storage bin and, after cleaning it of mildew inside and out, hid-

den the clothing there that I surreptitiously took, piece by piece,

from Seldon's room whenever my mother dragooned me into en-

during my hour downstairs as a peevish student of chess. I would

have taken my own clothes to stow away in the suitcase except that

I knew my mother would discover what was missing and one day

soon I'd have to come up with an explanation. She still did the

wash on the weekends and put the laundered clothes back—as well
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as the dry cleaning that it was my job to collect from the tailor shop

on Saturdays—and so mapped out in her head was an inventory of

everyone's wardrobe that was complete down to the location of the

last pair of socks. On the other hand, stealing clothes from Seldon

was a snap, and—what with his having latched on to me as his

other self—vengefully irresistible. Underclothes and socks were

easy enough to get out of the Wishnow apartment—and down the

cellar stairs to the suitcase—tucked beneath my undershirt. Steal-

ing and hiding a pair of his trousers, a sport shirt, and a pair of his

shoes posed a more difficult problem, but suffice it to say that Sel-

don was distractible enough for the theft to be accomplished and,

for a time, to go unnoticed.

Once having gathered together everything of his I needed, I

couldn't have said what I planned to do next. He and I were about

the same size, and on the afternoon when I dared to secrete myself

in the bin and change out of my clothes and into Seldon's, all I did

was to stand there and whisper, "Hello. My name is Seldon Wish-

now," and feel like a freak, and not just because Seldon had become

such a freak to me and I was being him but because it was clear

from all my transgressive sneaking around Newark—and culmi-

nating in this costume party in the dark cellar—that I had become

a far bigger freak myself. A freak with a trousseau.

The $19.50 left from Alvin's $20 also went into the suitcase,

under the clothes. I then hurriedly got back into my own clothes,

shoved the cardboard suitcase beneath the other luggage, and, be-

fore the angry ghost of Seldon's father could strangle me to death

with a hangman's rope, ran for the alleyway and the outdoors.

Over the next few days I was able to forget what I'd hidden and the

unspecified purpose it was meant to serve. I could even count this

latest little escapade as nothing seriously aberrant and as harm-

less as following Christians with Earl, until the evening when my
mother had to rush downstairs to sit and hold Mrs. Wishnow's

hand and make her a cup of tea and put her to bed, so wretched

and distraught was Seldon's overworked mother because of her

son's inexplicably "losing his clothes."
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Seldon meanwhile was up in our flat, where he'd been sent to

do his homework with me. He was plenty distraught himself. "I

didn't lose them," he said through his tears. "How could I lose a

pair of shoes? How could I lose a pair of pants?"

"She'll get over it," I said.

"No, not her—she doesn't get over anything. 'You're going to

send us to the poorhouse,' she told me. Everything to my mother is

'the last straw.'

"

"Maybe you left them at gym class," I suggested.

"How could I? How could I get out of gym class without any

clothes on?"

"Seldon, you had to leave them somewhere. Think."

The next morning, before I headed for school and my mother

left for work, she suggested my making a gift to Seldon of a set of

my own clothes to replace his that had disappeared. "There's the

shirt that you never wear—the one from Uncle Lenny's that you

say is too green. And the pair of Sandy's corduroy trousers, the

brown ones that never fit you right—I'm sure they would fit Sel-

don just fine. Mrs. Wishnow is beside herself, and it would be such

a thoughtful gesture on your part," she said.

"And underwear? Do you want to give him my underwear too?

Should I take it off now, Ma?"

"That's not necessary," she said, smiling to soothe my irritation.

"But the green shirt and the brown corduroys and maybe one of

your old belts that you don't use. It's entirely up to you, but it

would mean a lot to Mrs. Wishnow, and to Seldon it would mean

the world. Seldon worships you. You know that."

I immediately thought, "She knows. She knows what I did. She

knows everything."

"But I don't want him walking around in my clothes," I said. "I

don't want him telling everyone in Kentucky, 'Look at me, I'm

wearing Roth's clothes.'

"

"Why don't you worry about Kentucky when and if we go to

Kentucky."

"He'll wear them to school here, Ma."
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"What is the matter with you?" she replied. "What is going on

with you? You're turning into
—

"

"So are you!" and I ran off with my books to school, and when

I got home for lunch at noon I pulled from the bedroom closet the

green shirt I hated and the brown corduroy pants that never fit and

brought them downstairs to Seldon, who was in his kitchen eating

the sandwich his mother had left for him and playing chess with

himself.

"Here," I said, throwing the clothes on the table. "I'm giving you

these," and then I told him, for all the good it did in rerouting the

direction of either of our lives, "Only stop following me around!"

There were leftover delicatessen sandwiches for our supper when

Sandy, Seldon, and I got back from the movies. The adults, who'd

eaten in the living room when their meeting was through, had by

now all left for home, except for Mrs. Wishnow, who sat at the

kitchen table with her fists clenched, still embattled, still grappling

day in and day out with everything determined to crush her and

her fatherless son. She listened, along with the three of us, to the

Sunday-night comedy shows and, while we ate, watched Seldon the

way an animal watches over her newborn when she's caught a

whiff of something stealthily creeping their way. Mrs. Wishnow

had washed and dried the dishes and put them away in the pantry

cupboard, my mother was in the living room pushing the carpet

sweeper over the rug, and my father had collected and put out the

garbage and carried the Wishnows' set of bridge chairs downstairs

to return them to the back of the closet where Mr. Wishnow had

killed himself. The reek of tobacco smoke pervaded the house de-

spite every window having been thrown open and the ashes and

butts flushed down the toilet and the glass ashtrays rinsed clean

and stacked away in the breakfront's liquor cabinet (from which

not a bottle had been removed that afternoon nor—in keeping

with the matter-of-fact temperance practiced in the bulk of the

homes of that first industrious American-born generation—

a

drop requested by a single guest).
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For the moment, our lives were intact, our households were in

place, and the comfort of habitual rituals was almost powerful

enough to preserve a child's peacetime illusion of an eternal, un-

hounded now. We had the radio going with our favorite programs,

we had dripping corned beef sandwiches for supper and rich cof-

fee cake for dessert, we had the resumption of the routines of the

school week before us and a double feature under our belts. But

because we had no idea what our parents had decided about the

future—had as yet no way of telling whether Shepsie Tirschwell

had persuaded them to immigrate to Canada, whether cousin

Monroe had come through with an affordable legal maneuver to

challenge the relocation plan without getting everyone fired, or

whether, after poring over the ins and outs of their government-

ordained displacement as unemotionally as it was in them to do,

they'd found no alternative but to accept that the guarantees of cit-

izenship no longer fully extended to them—the embrace of the to-

tally familiar wasn't the Sunday-night debauch it would ordinarily

have been.

Seldon had got mustard all over his face when he hungrily at-

tacked his sandwich, and it surprised me to see his mother reach

over to wipe it off with a paper napkin. His letting her do it sur-

prised me even more. I thought, "It is because he has no father,"

and though by now I believed that about everything that con-

cerned him, probably this time I was right. I thought, "This is the

way it's going to be in Kentucky." The Roth family against the

world, and Seldon and his mother for dinner forever.

Our voice of belligerent protest, Walter Winchell, came on at

nine. Everyone had been waiting on successive Sunday evenings for

Winchell to lay into Homestead 42, and when he failed to, my fa-

ther attempted to rid himself of his agitation by sitting down to

compose a letter to the one man aside from Roosevelt whom he

considered America's last best hope. "This is an experiment, Mr.

Winchell. This is the way Hitler did it. The Nazi criminals start

with something small, and if they get away with it," he wrote, "if no

one like you raises a cry of alarm . .
." but he never proceeded to list
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the horrors that could ensue, because my mother was sure that the

letter would wind up in the office of the FBI. It is mailed to Walter

Winchell, she reasoned, but it never reaches Walter Winchell—at

the post office it's diverted to the FBI and placed in a folder labeled

"Roth, Herman," to be filed beside the existing folder labeled "Roth,

Alvin."

My father argued, "Never. Not the U.S. Mail," but my mother's

commonsensical reply stripped him on the spot of what little re-

mained of his certainty. "You're sitting there writing Winchell," she

said, "you're predicting to him how these people will stop at noth-

ing once they know what they can get away with. And now you're

trying to tell me that they can't do what they want to the postal sys-

tem? Let someone else write to Walter Winchell. Our children have

been questioned by the FBI already. The FBI is already watching

like a hawk because of what Alvin did." "But that," he told her, "is

why I'm writing him. What else should I do? What more can I do?

If you know, advise me. Should I just sit here waiting for the worst

to happen?"

In his helpless bewilderment she saw her opportunity, and, not

because she was callous but because she was desperate, she seized

it and thereby humbled him further. "You don't see Shepsie sitting

around writing letters and waiting for the worst to happen," she

said. "No," he replied, "not Canada again!" as though Canada were

the name of the disease insidiously debilitating us all. "I don't want

to hear it. Canada," he told her firmly, "is not a solution." "It's the

only solution," she pleaded. "I am not running away!" he shouted,

startling everyone. "This is our country!" "No," my mother said

sadly, "not anymore. It's Lindbergh's. It's the goyim's. It's their

country," she said, and her breaking voice and the shocking words

and the nightmare immediacy of what was mercilessly real forced

my father, in the prime of his manhood, fit, focused, and undis-

courageable as any forty-one-year-old could possibly be, to see

himself with mortifying clarity: a devoted father of titanic energy

no more capable of protecting his family from harm than was Mr.

Wishnow hanging dead in the closet.
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To Sandy—still silently enraged by the injustice of having been

stripped of his precocious importance—neither of them sounded

anything but stupid, and alone with me he didn't hesitate to speak

of them in the language he'd picked up from Aunt Evelyn. "Ghetto

Jews," Sandy told me, "frightened, paranoid ghetto Jews." At home

he sneered at just about everything they said, on any subject, and

then sneered at me when I appeared to be skeptical of his bit-

terness. He might anyway have begun by now to seriously enjoy

sneering, and perhaps even in ordinary times our mother and

father might have found themselves having to tolerate as best

they could a restless adolescent's contemptuous derision, but back

in 1942 what made it more than merely exasperating was the am-

biguously menacing predicament throughout whose duration he

would continue disparaging them right to their faces.

"What's 'paranoid'?" I asked him.

"Somebody afraid of his shadow. Somebody who thinks the

whole world's against him. Somebody who thinks Kentucky is in

Germany and that the president of the United States is a storm

trooper. These people," he said, mimicking our captious aunt when-

ever she would superciliously distinguish herself from the Jewish

rabble. "You offer to pay their moving expenses, you offer to throw

open the gates for their children . . . Know what paranoid is?"

Sandy said. "Paranoid is nuts. The two of them are bats—they're

crazy. And you know what's made them crazy?"

The answer was Lindbergh, but I didn't dare say it to him.

"What?" I asked.

"Living like a bunch of greenhorns in a goddamn ghetto. You

know what Aunt Evelyn says Rabbi Bengelsdorf calls it?"

"Calls what?"

"The way these people live. He calls it 'Keeping faith with the

certainty of Jewish travail.'

"

"And what's that supposed to mean? I don't understand. Trans-

late, please. What's 'travail'?"

"Travail? Travail is what you Jews call tsuris."
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The Wishnows had gone back downstairs and Sandy had settled

into the kitchen to finish his homework when my parents, at the

front of the house, tuned the living room radio to Walter Winchell.

I was in bed with the lights out: I didn't want to hear another

panic-stricken word from anyone about Lindbergh, von Ribben-

trop, or Danville, Kentucky, and I didn't want to think about my
future with Seldon. I wanted only to disappear into forgetful sleep

and to wake up in the morning somewhere else. But because it was

a warm night and the windows were wide open, I couldn't help, at

the stroke of nine, but be beset from virtually every quarter by the

renowned Winchell radio trademark—the clatter of dots and dashes

sounding over the telegraph ticker and signaling in Morse code

(which Sandy had taught me) absolutely nothing. And then, above

the ticker's dimming clatter, the red-hot blast of Winchell him-

self issuing from all the houses on the block. "Good evening, Mr.

and Mrs. America . .
." followed by the staccato barrage of the long-

hoped-for words—at last the purgative Winchell scourge that

would change everything. In normal times, when it was generally

within the power of my mother and father to set things right and

explain away enough of the unknown to make existence appear to

be rational, it wasn't at all like this, but because of the maddening

here and now, Winchell, even to me, had become an out-and-out

god and more important by far than Adonoy.

"Good evening, Mr. and Mrs. America and all the ships at sea.

Let's go to press! Flash! To the glee of rat-faced Joe Goebbels and

his boss, the Berlin Butcher, the targeting of America's Jews by the

Lindbergh fascists is officially under way. The phony moniker for

phase one of organized Jewish persecution in the land of the free is

'Homestead 42.' Homestead 42 is being aided and abetted by the

most respectable of America's robber barons—but don't worry,

they'll be rewarded in giveaway tax breaks by Lindbergh's Republi-

can henchmen in the next pro-greed Congress.

"Item: Whether the Homestead 42 Jews end up in concentration

camps a la Hitler's Buchenwald has yet to be decided by Lind-
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bergh's two top swastinkers, Vice President Wheeler and Secretary

of the Interior Henry Ford. Did I say 'whether'? Pardon my Ger-

man. I meant when.

"Item: Two hundred and twenty-five Jewish families have al-

ready been told to vacate the cities of America's northeast in order

to be shipped thousands of miles from family and friends. This

first shipment has been kept strategically small in order to escape

national attention. Why? Because it marks the beginning of the

end for the four and a half million American citizens of Jewish de-

scent. The Jews will be scattered far and wide to wherever Hitlerite

America Firsters flourish. There the right-wing saboteurs of de-

mocracy—the so-called patriots and the so-called Christians—can

be turned against these isolated Jewish families overnight.

"And who's next, Mr. and Mrs. America, now that the Bill of

Rights is no longer the law of the land and the racial haters are run-

ning the show? Who's next under the Wheeler-Ford pogrom-plan

for government-funded persecution? The long-suffering Negroes?

The hard-working Italians? The last of the Mohicans? Who else

among us is no longer welcome in Adolf Lindbergh's Aryan Amer-

ica?

"Scoop! This reporter has learned that Homestead 42 was in the

works on January 20, 1941, the day the American Fascist New Order

moved its mob into the White House, and was signed into the Ice-

land sellout between the American Fiihrer and his Nazi partner in

crime.

"Scoop! This reporter has learned that only in return for the

gradual relocation—and eventual mass imprisonment—of Amer-

ica's Jews by the Lindbergh Aryans would Hitler agree to spare the

British Isles from a massive armed invasion across the English

Channel. The two beloved Fuhrers agreed in Iceland that mas-

sacring blue-eyed, blond-haired bona fide Aryans didn't make

sense unless you definitely had to. And it comes as no surprise that

Hitler will most definitely have to if Oswald Mosley's British fascist

party fails to take dictatorial control of 10 Downing Street before
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1944. That's when the master race plans to wrap up the Nazi en-

slavement of three hundred million Russians and to raise the swas-

tika over the Moscow Kremlin.

"And how long will the American people stand for this treach-

ery perpetrated by their elected president? How long will Ameri-

cans remain asleep while their cherished Constitution is torn to

shreds by the fascist fifth column of the Republican right marching

under the sign of the cross and the flag? Stay with me, your New
York correspondent Walter Winchell, for my next big bombshell

about Lindbergh's treasonous lies.

"I'll be back in a flash with a flash!"

Three things then happened at once: the calming voice of an-

nouncer Ben Grauer started hawking hand lotion for the pro-

gram's sponsor; the phone began to ring in the hallway outside my
bedroom as it never did after nine in the evening; and Sandy ex-

ploded. Addressing only the radio (but so passionately that my fa-

ther was instantly roused from his living room chair), he began to

shout, "You filthy liar! You lying prick!"

"Whoa," said my father, rushing into the kitchen. "Not in this

house. Not that language. That is enough."

"But how can you listen to this crap? What concentration camps?

There are no concentration camps! Every word is a lie—bull-

shit and more bullshit to get you people to tune in! The whole

country knows Winchell's full of hot air—it's only you people who

don't."

"And which people exactly is that?" I heard my father say.

"I lived in Kentucky! Kentucky is one of the forty-eight states!

Human beings live there like they do everywhere else! It is not a

concentration camp! This guy makes millions selling his shitty

hand lotion—and you people believe him!"

"I told you already about the dirty words, and now I'm telling

you about this 'you people' business. 'You people' one more time,

son, and I am going to ask you to leave the house. If you want to

go live in Kentucky instead of here, I'll drive you down to Penn Sta-

tion and you can catch the next train out. Because I know very well
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what 'you people' means. And so do you. So does everyone. Don't

you use those two words in this house ever again."

"Well, in my opinion Walter Winchell is full of it."

"Fine," he said. "That is your opinion and you are entitled to it.

But other Americans hold a different opinion. It so happens that

millions and millions of Americans listen to Walter Winchell every

single Sunday night—and they are not just what you and your bril-

liant aunt call 'you people.' His program is still the highest-rated

news show on the air. Franklin Roosevelt confided to Walter Win-

chell things he would never tell another newspaperman. And listen

to me, will you—these are facts."

"But I can't listen to you. How can I listen to you when you tell

me about 'millions' of people? Millions of people are nothing but

idiots!"

Meanwhile my mother had answered the phone in the hall, and

from my bed I could now hear her speaking as well. Yes, she said,

of course they had Winchell on. Yes, it was terrible, it was worse

than they thought, but at least now it was out in the open. Yes, Her-

man would call as soon as the Winchell show was over.

Four consecutive times she had this conversation, but when the

phone rang a fifth time, she didn't jump to answer, even though the

caller had to have been another of their friends shaken by Win-

chell's rapid-fire disclosures—she didn't answer because the com-

mercial was finished and she and my father were back beside the

radio in the living room. And Sandy was now in the bedroom,

where I pretended to be asleep while he got himself ready for bed

by the night light, the small lamp with the pump-handle switch

that he had made from scratch in shop class back when he was

merely an artistic boy engrossed by what he could fashion with his

own skillful hands and blessedly uncontaminated by ideological

battling.

Our phone hadn't been used so incessantly so late at night since the

death of my grandmother a couple of years back. It was close to

eleven before my father had returned everyone's call, and another
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hour before my parents left the kitchen, where they'd been quietly

conversing together, and themselves went to bed. And it was an-

other two hours after that before I could assure myself that they

were sound asleep and that, in the bed beside mine, my brother

was no longer glaring at the ceiling but was also asleep, and that I

could safely get up without being discovered and make my way to

the back door and undo the lock and slip out of the flat and pad

down the stairs into the cellar and, in the dark, steer myself bare-

foot across the dank floor to our storage bin.

There was nothing impulsive or hysterical driving me, noth-

ing melodramatic about my decision, nothing reckless that I could

see. People said afterward that they'd had no idea that beneath

the fourth-grade patina of obedience and good manners I could

be such a surprisingly irresponsible, daydreaming child. But this

was no shallow daydream. I wasn't playing at make-believe, and I

wasn't making mischief for mischief's sake. As it turned out, the

mischief-making with Earl Axman had been valuable training but

undertaken for a purpose entirely different. I surely didn't feel as

though I were rushing headlong into insanity, not even when I

stood in the dark bin removing my pajamas and stepping into Sel-

don's pants while at the same time mentally warding off the ghost

of his father and trying not to be terrified by Alvin's empty wheel-

chair. I wasn't being swallowed up by anything other than the de-

termination to resist a disaster our family and our friends could

no longer elude and might not survive. Later my parents said,

"He didn't know what he was doing," and "sleepwalking" became

the official explanation. But I was fully awake and my motivation

never obscure to me. All that was obscure was whether I would

succeed. One of my teachers suggested that I had been suffering

from "delusions of grandeur" inspired by what I was learning in

school about the Underground Railroad, organized before the

Civil War to assist the slaves in making their way north to freedom.

Not so. I wasn't at all like Sandy, in whom opportunity had quick-

ened the desire to be a boy on the grand scale, riding the crest of
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history. I wanted nothing to do with history. I wanted to be a boy

on the smallest scale possible. I wanted to be an orphan.

There was only one thing I couldn't leave behind—my stamp

album. Perhaps if I could have been sure that it would be preserved

undisturbed after I was gone, I wouldn't, at the last moment, on

the way out of my bedroom, have stopped to open my dresser

drawer and, as quietly as I could, lifted it from where it was stored

beneath my socks and my underclothes. But it was intolerable to

think of my album ever being broken up or thrown out or, worst

of all, given away wholly intact to another boy, and so I took it

under my arm, and along with it the musket-shaped letter opener

I'd bought at Mount Vernon whose beak of a bayonet I used to

neatly slice open the only mail ever addressed to me, other than

birthday cards—the packets of "approvals" sent regularly from

Boston 17, Massachusetts, by "the world's largest stamp firm," H. E.

Harris & Co.

I remember nothing between my stealing out of the house and

starting down the empty street toward the orphanage grounds and

my waking up the next day to see my grim-faced parents at the foot

of my bed and to be told by a doctor busily extracting some kind

of tube from my nose that I was a patient in Beth Israel Hospital

and that though I probably had a terrible headache, I was going

to be all right. My head did hurt, excruciatingly, but it wasn't from

a blood clot's putting pressure on the brain—a possibility they

feared when I was found bleeding and unconscious—and not be-

cause there was brain damage. X-rays ruled out a skull fracture and

the neurological examination showed no damage to the nerves.

Other than a three-inch-long laceration requiring eighteen stitches

that were removed the following week, and the fact that I had no

memory of the blow itself, nothing serious was wrong with me. A
routine concussion, the doctor said—that's all that was causing the

pain as well as the amnesia. I'd probably never remember being

kicked by the horse—or the series of events leading to that colli-
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sion—but the doctor said that was routine, too. Otherwise my
memory was intact. Luckily. He used that word several times and it

sounded like ridicule in my aching head.

They kept me for observation all that day and overnight—rous-

ing me just about every hour to be sure I didn't slip into uncon-

sciousness again—and the next morning I was discharged and in-

structed only to go easy with physical activities for a week or two.

My mother had taken off from work to be with me at the hospital

and she was there to take me home on the bus. Because my head

didn't stop hurting for some ten days, and because there was noth-

ing to be done about it, I was kept home from school, but other-

wise I was said to be fine, and fine thanks primarily to Seldon, who,

from a distance, had witnessed almost everything that I was unable

to remember. If Seldon hadn't sneaked out of bed when he heard

me coming down the back stairs, hadn't followed me in the dark

along Summit Avenue and across the high school playing field to

the Goldsmith Avenue side of the orphanage and through the un-

latched gate and into the orphanage woods, I probably would have

lain there unconscious in his clothes until I bled to death. Seldon

ran all the way back to our house, woke my parents, who immedi-

ately dialed the operator for help, and got in our car with them and

directed them to the very spot where I was. It was by then close to

three in the morning and pitch black; kneeling beside me on the

damp ground, my mother pressed a towel she'd brought with her

against my head to stanch the bleeding while my father covered me
with an old picnic blanket that was in the trunk of the car and kept

me warm until the ambulance arrived. My parents organized my
rescue, but Seldon Wishnow saved my life.

I had apparently startled the two horses when, disoriented, I

began stumbling about in the dark where the woods opened out

into the farming field, and when I turned to try to escape the

horses and make it back to the street through the woods one of

them reared up, I tripped and fell, and the other horse, in fleeing,

nicked me with a hoof high on the back of my skull. For weeks Sel-

don recounted excitedly to me (and, of course, to the entire school)
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every detail of my nocturnal attempt to run away from home and

be taken in by the nuns as a familyless child—in his telling, savor-

ing particularly the mishap with the workhorses as well as the fact

that, outdoors in the middle of the night, barefoot and in just his

pajamas, he had twice traversed the mile of abrasive terrain be-

tween the orphanage woods and our house.

Unlike his mother and my parents, Seldon couldn't get over the

thrill of discovering that it wasn't he who had inexplicably "lost"

his clothes but I who had stolen them to use for my getaway. This

utter improbability established, as never before, a value to his own

existence that had previously escaped his attention. Telling the

story with all the prestige of savior and co-conspirator both—and

showing everyone who'd look at them his scraped feet—seemed to

make Seldon significant at last even in his own eyes, a daredevil of

a boy able to compel a hero's attention for the first time in his life,

while I was devastated, not only by the shame of it all, which was

more unbearable and longer lasting than the headache, but be-

cause my stamp album, my greatest treasure, that which I could

not live without, was gone. I didn't remember having taken it with

me until the day after I got home from the hospital and got up in

the morning to get dressed and saw that it was missing from be-

neath my socks and my underwear. The reason I stored it there in

the first place was so as to see it first thing every morning when I

dressed for school. And now the first thing I saw on my first morn-

ing home was that the biggest thing I had ever owned was gone.

Gone and irreplaceable. Like—and utterly unlike—losing a leg.

"Ma!" I shouted. "Ma! Something terrible happened!"

"What is it?" she cried, and came running from the kitchen into

my room. "What's wrong?"

She thought, of course, that I'd begun to bleed from my stitches

or that I was about to faint or that the headache was more than I

could stand.

"My stamps!" That was all I could say, and she was able to figure

out the rest.

What she did then was to go looking for them. All alone she
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went into the orphanage woods and searched the ground where I'd

been discovered, but she was unable to find the album anywhere

—

found not so much as a single stamp.

"Are you sure you had them?" she asked when she got home.

"Yes! Yes! They're there! They have to be there! I can't lose my
stamps!"

"But I looked and looked. I looked everywhere."

"But who could have taken them? Where could they be? They're

mine! We've got to find them! They're my stamps!"

I was inconsolable. I envisioned a horde of orphans spotting the

album in the woods and tearing it apart with their filthy hands. I

saw them pulling out the stamps and eating them and stomping on

them and flushing them by the handful down the toilet in their ter-

rible bathroom. They hated the album because it wasn't theirs

—

they hated the album because nothing was theirs.

Because I asked her to, my mother told neither my father nor my
brother what had become of my stamps or about the money in Sel-

don's pants. "In the pocket, when we found you, there were nine-

teen dollars and fifty cents. I don't know where it came from and I

don't want to know. That episode is over and done with. I opened

a savings account for you at the Howard Savings Bank. I deposited

it for you there for your future." Here she handed me a little bank-

book with my name written inside it and "$19.50" the first and

only item stamped in black on the deposit page. "Thank you," I

said. And then she made the judgment of her second son that I

believed she carried with her to her grave. "You are the strangest

child," she told me. "I had no idea," she said. "I didn't begin to

know." And then she handed me my letter opener, the miniaturized

pewter musket from Mount Vernon. The stock was scratched and

dirty and the bayonet bent slightly out of shape. She had found it

that afternoon when, unknown to me, she had raced back from

work at lunch hour and returned for a second time to comb

through the soil of the orphanage woods in search of the tiniest

remnant of the stamp collection that had dissolved into thin air.
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The Winchell Riots

The day before I discovered that my stamps were gone, I'd

learned ofmy father's decision to quit his job. Only minutes

after I got home from the hospital on Tuesday morning, he

drove up to our house and into the alley in Uncle Monty's truck

with the slatted-wood sides and parked it there behind Mrs. Wish-

now's car, having just finished his first night of work at the Miller

Street market. From then on, Sunday night through Friday morn-

ing, he'd come home at nine, ten a.m., wash up, eat his big meal, go

to bed and be asleep by eleven, and when I returned from school I

had to be careful not to slam the back door and wake him. A little

before five in the afternoon he'd be up and gone, because by about

six or seven the farmers began arriving at the market with their

produce, and then anywhere from ten p.m. to four in the morning

the retail grocers would be coming in to buy, along with the restau-

rant owners and the hotelkeepers and the last of the city's horse-

and-wagon peddlers. He'd survive through the long night on the

thermos of coffee and the couple of sandwiches my mother had

prepared for him to take to work. On Sunday mornings he'd visit

his mother at Uncle Monty's or Monty would bring her to the

house to see us, and he'd spend the rest of Sunday sleeping, and

again we'd have to be quiet so as not to disturb him. It was a hard

life, especially since on occasion he had to drive out well before

dawn to farmers in Passaic and Union counties and bring their

237



JUNE 1942-OCTOBER 1942

produce in all by himself if Uncle Monty could get a better deal

that way.

I knew it was a hard life because when he got home in the morn-

ing he'd have a drink. Ordinarily in our house a bottle of Four

Roses lasted for years. My mother, a caricature of a teetotaler,

couldn't stand the look of a foaming glass of beer, let alone the

smell of straight whiskey, and when did my father ever take a

drink, other than on their anniversary or when his boss came for

dinner and he served him Four Roses on the rocks? But now he

would get home from the market and, before he changed out of his

dirty clothes and took his shower, he'd pour the whiskey into a shot

glass, tilt back his head, and take it down in one gulp, making the

face of a man who'd just bit into a light bulb. "Good!" he'd say

aloud. "Good!" Only then could he ease up enough to eat a full

meal without getting indigestion.

I was dumbfounded, and not only by the abrupt decline in my
father's vocational status—not only by the truck in the alleyway

and the thick-soled boots on the feet of a man who had previously

gone off to work in a suit and a tie and polished black shoes, not

only by the preposterousness of his slugging down his shot and

having his dinner alone at ten in the morning—but by my brother

as well, by his unforeseen transformation.

Sandy wasn't angry any longer. He wasn't contemptuous. He

wasn't superior-acting in any way. It was as though he too had

taken a blow to the head, but one that, instead of bringing on am-

nesia, had rejuvenated the quiet, conscientious boy whose satisfac-

tions emanated not from his being a precocious big shot full of

contrary opinions but from that strong, even current of an interior

life that carried him steadily along from morning to night and that,

in my eyes, had always made him genuinely superior to the other

kids his age. Or perhaps it was that the passion for stardom—along

with the capacity for conflict—had been spent; perhaps he had

never possessed the necessary egoism, and was secretly relieved no

longer having to be publicly stupendous. Or perhaps he'd just

never believed in what he was supposed to be promulgating. Or
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perhaps, while I lay unconscious in the hospital with a possibly

life-threatening hematoma, my father had given him the talking-to

that had done the trick. Or perhaps, in the wake of the crisis I'd

precipitated, he was merely concealing the stupendous self behind

the old Sandy, masquerading, calculating, cleverly waiting in hid-

ing until . . . until who knew what befell us next. At any rate, for

now the shock of circumstances had steered my brother back into

the family fold.

And my mother was no longer a working woman. There wasn't

nearly what she'd hoped to accumulate in the Montreal savings ac-

count, but enough to get us across the border and started in Can-

ada ifwe should have to flee at a moment's notice. She'd left her job

at Hahne's no less expeditiously than my father had jettisoned the

security of his twelve-year affiliation with the Metropolitan to foil

the government's plans for our transfer to Kentucky and safeguard

us against the anti-Semitic subterfuge that he, along with Winchell,

understood Homestead 42 to be. She was back running the house-

hold full time and would once again be there when we came home

for lunch and got home from school, and during the summer va-

cation she'd be there to monitor Sandy and me so that we didn't

again spin out of control owing to lack of supervision.

A father remodeled, a brother restored, a mother recovered,

eighteen black silk sutures stitched in my head and my greatest

treasure irretrievably lost, and all with a wondrous fairy-tale swift-

ness. A family both declassed and rerooted overnight, facing nei-

ther exile nor expulsion but entrenched still on Summit Avenue,

whereas in three short months, Seldon—to whom I was helplessly

yoked now that he was going around the neighborhood reveling

in having prevented me from bleeding to death while disguised in

his clothes—Seldon was shipping out. As of September 1, Seldon

would be off living with his mother, the only Jewish kid in Dan-

ville, Kentucky.

My "sleepwalking" would likely have caused an even more humili-

ating scandal than it did in our immediate locale had not Walter
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Winchell been fired by Jergens Lotion only hours after coming off

the air on the Sunday night that I'd run away. There was the truly

shocking news that nobody could believe and that Winchell wasn't

about to let the country forget. After ten years as America's leading

radio reporter, he was replaced at nine p.m. the following Sunday

by yet another dance band broadcasting from yet another sophis-

ticated supper club on the terrace of a midtown Manhattan hotel.

Jergens's first charge against him was that a broadcaster with a

weekly nationwide audience of more than twenty- five million had

essentially "cried fire in a crowded theater"; the second was that he

had slandered a president of the United States with malicious ac-

cusations "that only the most outrageous demagogue would con-

trive to arouse the passions of the mob."

Even the moderate New York Times, a paper founded and owned

by Jews—and highly esteemed for that reason by my father

—

and by no means uncritical of Lindbergh's policy toward Hitler's

Germany, announced its unqualified support of the action taken

by Jergens Lotion in an editorial entitled "A Professional Dis-

grace." "A competition has been in progress for some time," wrote

the Times,

among anti-Lindbergh entrepreneurs to determine who

can produce the most outrageous accounts of the motives

of the Lindbergh administration. With one bombastic

stride, Walter Winchell has moved to the head of the pack.

The borderline scruples and questionable taste of Mr.

Winchell have tumbled over into an outburst of vitriol that

is as unpardonable as it is unethical. With accusations so

far-fetched that even a lifelong Democrat may find himself

feeling unexpected sympathy for the president, Winchell

has disgraced himself irredeemably. Jergens Lotion is to be

commended for the speed with which it has removed him

from the airwaves. Journalism as it is practiced by the Wal-

ter Winchells of this country is an insult as much to our

enlightened citizenry as to the journalistic standards of ac-

curacy, fairness, and responsibility, toward which Mr. Win-
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chell, his cynical tabloid cohorts, and their money-hungry

publishers have always displayed the utmost contempt.

In a subsequent attack delivered in behalf of the Lindbergh ad-

ministration and published by the Times as the first and lengthiest

of the letters elicited by its editorial, one eminent correspondent,

after alluding gratefully to the editorial and reinforcing its argu-

ment by further examples of Winchell's ostentatious abuse of the

First Amendment, concluded: "The attempt to inflame and frighten

his fellow Jews is no less detestable than the disregard for the

norms of decency that your paper so forcefully condemns. Cer-

tainly nothing is so heinous as preying upon the historical fears of

a persecuted people, particularly when full participation in an

open society free of oppression is precisely what the present ad-

ministration is working to achieve for this same group through the

efforts of the Office of American Absorption. For Walter Winchell

to characterize Homestead 42, a program designed to broaden and

enrich the involvement of America's proud Jewish citizens in the

national life, as a fascistic strategy to isolate Jews and exclude them

from the national life is the height of journalistic recklessness and

an illustration of the Big Lie technique that is today the greatest

threat to democratic freedom everywhere."

The letter was signed "Rabbi Lionel Bengelsdorf, Director, Of-

fice of American Absorption, Department of the Interior, Wash-

ington, D.C."

Winchell's response came in the column he wrote for the Daily

Mirror, the New York paper belonging to America's wealthiest pub-

lisher, William Randolph Hearst, who owned a chain of some thirty

right-wing papers and half a dozen popular magazines as well as

King Features, where Winchell was syndicated and read by many

millions more. Hearst despised Winchell's political allegiances,

particularly his glorification of FDR, and would have fired him

years earlier had it not been that the very New Yorkers for whose

nickels the Mirror competed against the Daily News found irre-

sistible the gutter charm of the columnist's singular concoction of
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muckraking contentiousness and cloying patriotism. According to

Winchell, why Hearst finally did fire him had less to do with the

long-standing animosity between the columnist and his publisher

than with pressure from the White House that even a ruthless old

tycoon as powerful as Hearst could not dare to resist for fear of the

consequences.

"The Lindbergh fascists"—so began the characteristically brazen,

unregenerate Winchell column published just days after he'd lost

his radio contract
—

"have openly begun their Nazi assault on free-

dom of expression. Today Winchell's the enemy to be silenced . .

.

Winchell 'the warmonger,' 'the liar,' 'the alarmist,' 'the Commie,' 'the

kike.' Today yours truly, tomorrow every newscaster and reporter

who dares to tell the truth about the fascist plot to destroy Ameri-

can democracy. Honorary Aryans like the rabid rabbi Lyin' Lionel

B. and the snooty Park Avenue proprietors of the gutless New York

Times aren't the first ultracivilized Jewish Quislings to grovel be-

fore an anti-Semitic master because they're just too, too refined to

fight like Winchell . . . and they won't be the last. The jerks at Jer-

gens aren't the first corporate cowards to play ball with the dicta-

torial lying machine that is now ruining this country . . . and they

won't be the last, either."

And that column—which proceeded to list some fifteen more of

his personal enemies who qualified as America's leading fascist col-

laborators—was, in fact, to be his last.

Three days later, after visiting Hyde Park to make certain that FDR
was still determined not to come out of political retirement to run

for a third term, Winchell announced his candidacy for president

of the United States in the next general election. Until then, those

considered in the running were Roosevelt's secretary of state, Cor-

dell Hull; the former secretary of agriculture and the vice presi-

dential candidate on the 1940 ticket, Henry Wallace; Roosevelt's

postmaster general and the chairman of the Democratic Party,

James Farley; Supreme Court Justice William O. Douglas; and two

middle-of-the-road Democrats, neither of them New Dealers, for-
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mer Indiana governor Paul V. McNutt and Senator Scott W. Lucas

of Illinois. There was also an unconfirmed report (circulated and

perhaps originated by Winchell back when he was still making

$800,000 a year circulating unconfirmed reports) that should the

convention wind up deadlocked, as could easily happen with so

unexciting a slate of candidates, Eleanor Roosevelt, a forceful po-

litical and diplomatic presence during her husband's two terms

—

and still a popular figure whose blend of outspokenness and aris-

tocratic reserve had gained her an enormous following among the

party's liberal constituency as well as numerous mocking enemies

in the right-wing press—would appear on the convention floor the

way Lindbergh did at the 1940 Republican Convention and sweep

the nomination by acclamation. But once Walter Winchell became

the first Democratic candidate to enter the race, and to do so al-

most thirty months in advance of the '44 election, in advance even

of the midterm congressional elections—and to do so immediately

after the noisy fracas that resulted from his having been "purged"

from his profession by "the strong-arm putsch tactics of the fascist

gang in the White House" (as Winchell described his enemies and

their methods in announcing his candidacy)—the one-time gos-

sip columnist became the man to beat, the only Democrat with a

name known to everyone and audacious enough to assault with

ferocity an incumbent as beloved as Lindy.

Republican leaders didn't deign to take Winchell seriously, as-

suming either that the irrepressible performer was putting on a

self-glorifying sideshow to sucker funds out of a handful of rich

diehard Democrats or that he was a flamboyant stalking horse for

FDR (or perhaps for Roosevelt's ambitious wife), at once stirring

up and measuring whatever underground anti-Lindbergh senti-

ment might possibly exist in a nation where polls showed that

Lindbergh continued to be supported by a record eighty to ninety

percent of every classification and category of voter, except the

Jews. Winchell, in short, was the candidate of the Jews, and him-

self a Jew of the coarsest type, in no way resembling the inner cir-

cle of well-bred, dignified Jewish Democrats like Roosevelt's wealthy
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friend Bernard Baruch or the banker and New York governor Her-

bert Lehman or the recently retired Supreme Court justice Louis

Brandeis. And as if being a Jew of no background who embodied

just about every vulgar trait that made Jews less than welcome in

the better strata of American social and business society weren't

enough to render him an irrelevant impertinence on the political

scene anywhere other than the heavily Jewish precincts of New
York City, there was his reputation as an adulterous philanderer

with a penchant for seducing long-legged showgirls and his profli-

gate nightlife among the loose-living Hollywood and Broadway ce-

lebrities who drank to all hours at New York's Stork Club to make

him anathema to the straitlaced multitude. His candidacy was a

joke and the Republicans treated it as nothing more.

But on our street that week, in the immediate aftermath of the

firing of Winchell and his instantaneous resurrection as a presi-

dential candidate, the significance of the two events was almost all

that neighbors could talk about among themselves. After nearly

two years of never knowing whether to believe the worst, of trying

to focus on the demands of their day-to-day lives and then help-

lessly absorbing every rumor about what the government had in

store for them, of never being able to justify either their alarm or

their composure with hard fact—after so much perplexity, they

were so ripe for delusion that, when the parents gathered on their

beach chairs to chat together in the alleyways at night, the guessing

game that invariably started up could go on without letup for

hours: Who would be vice president on the Winchell ticket? Whom
would he appoint to his cabinet? Whom would he appoint to the

Supreme Court? Who would turn out to be the greater leader, FDR
or Walter Winchell? They plunged headlong into a thousand fan-

tasies, and the very small children also caught the spirit and went

skipping and dancing about, chanting, "Wind-shield for pres-i-

dent . . . Wind-shield for pres-i-dent." Of course, that no Jew could

ever be elected to the presidency—least of all a Jew with a mouth

as unstoppable as Winchell's—even a kid as young as I was already

accepted, as if the proscription were laid out in so many words in
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the U.S. Constitution. Yet not even that ironclad certainty could

stop the adults from abandoning common sense and, for a night or

two, imagining themselves and their children as native-born citi-

zens of Paradise.

The wedding of Rabbi Bengelsdorf and Aunt Evelyn took place on

a Sunday in the middle of June. My parents were not invited, nor

did they expect or want to be, and yet nothing could be done to

ease my mother's distress. I'd overheard her crying from behind

her bedroom door before, and though it wasn't a usual occurrence

or one I liked, in all the months during which my parents struggled

to assess the menace posed by the Lindbergh administration and to

determine the response sensible for a Jewish family to take, I'd

never known her to be so inconsolable. "Why does this have to

happen too?" she asked my father. "They're only getting married,"

he told her. "It isn't the end of the world." "But I can't stop think-

ing about my father," she said. "Your father died," he said, "my fa-

ther died. They weren't young men, they got sick and they died." It

would have been hard to imagine a tone any more sympathetic

than his, but her misery was such that the gentler his voice, the

worse she suffered. "And I think," she said, "about my mother, how

Momma wouldn't know what to make of anything anymore."

"Honey, it could all be a lot more terrible—you know that." "And

it will be," my mother said. "Maybe not, maybe not. Maybe every-

thing is starting to change. Winchell
—

" "Oh, please, Walter Win-

chell won't
—

" "Shhh, shhh," he said to her, "the little one."

And so I understood that Walter Winchell wasn't, in fact, the

candidate of the Jews—he was the candidate of the children of the

Jews, something we were being given to clutch at, the way not too

many years before we'd been given the breast not merely for nutri-

ents but for the alleviation of babyhood's fears.

The wedding ceremony was held at the rabbi's temple and the re-

ception afterward in the ballroom of the Essex House, Newark's

most luxurious hotel. The notables who attended, each accompa-
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nied by a wife or a husband, were listed inside a box separate from

the wedding story itself and directly beside photographs of the

bride and groom that appeared in the Newark Sunday Call. The list

was surprisingly long and impressive, and I present it here to ex-

plain why I, for one, had to wonder if my parents and their Metro-

politan friends weren't completely out of touch with reality to

imagine that any harm could befall them because of a government

program being administered by a luminary of the stature of Rabbi

Bengelsdorf.

To begin with, there were Jews in abundance at the wedding cer-

emony, among them family and friends, congregants from Rabbi

Bengelsdorf 's temple, admirers and colleagues from around New

Jersey, and others who had traveled from all over the country to be

present. And many Christians were there as well. And, according to

the article in the Sunday Call—which took up one and a half of the

two society pages that day—among the several invited guests who

were unable to attend but who sent their best wishes through West-

ern Union, was the wife of the president, the First Lady, Anne Mor-

row Lindbergh, identified as a close friend of the rabbi's, "a fellow

New Jerseyite and a fellow poet" with whom he shared "cultural

and intellectual interests" and met frequently "over afternoon tea

for a White House tete-a-tete to discuss philosophy, literature, re-

ligion, and ethics."

Representing the city were the two highest-ranking Jews ever in

Newark's government, the two-term ex-mayor, Meyer Ellenstein,

and the city clerk, Harry S. Reichenstein, and five of the slew of

Irishmen currently most prominent in the city, the director of

Public Safety, the director of the Department of Revenue and Fi-

nance, the director of Parks and Public Property, the city's chief en-

gineer, and the corporation counsel. Newark's federal postmaster

was there, and the head librarian of the Newark Public Library as

well as the president of the library's board of trustees. Among the

distinguished educators attending the wedding were the president

of the University of Newark, the president of Newark College of

Engineering, the superintendent of schools, and the headmaster of
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St. Benedict's Prep. And an array of distinguished clergymen

—

Protestant, Catholic, and Jewish—were also among those present.

From the First Baptist Peddie Memorial Church, the city's largest

Negro congregation, there was Reverend George E. Dawkins; from

Trinity Cathedral, Reverend Arthur Dumper; from Grace Episco-

pal Church, Reverend Charles L. Gomph; from St. Nicholas Greek

Orthodox Church, on High Street, Reverend George E. Spyridakis;

and from St. Patrick's Cathedral, the Very Reverend John Delaney.

Absent—and glaringly so to my parents, though nowhere al-

luded to in the newspaper story—was Rabbi Bengelsdorf's an-

tagonist and the foremost of Newark's rabbis, Joachim Prinz of

Congregation B'nai Abraham. Before Rabbi Bengelsdorf's rise to na-

tional prominence, Rabbi Prinz's authority among Jews through-

out the city, in the wider Jewish community, and among scholars

and theologians of every religion had far exceeded his elder col-

league's, and it was he alone of the Conservative rabbis leading the

city's three wealthiest congregations who had never flinched in his

opposition to Lindbergh. The other two, Charles I. Hoffman of

Oheb Shalom and Solomon Foster of B'nai Jeshurun, were in at-

tendance, however, and Rabbi Foster presided over the wedding

ceremony.

Present as well were the presidents of Newark's four major

banks, the presidents of two of its largest insurance companies, the

president of its biggest architecture firm, the two founding part-

ners of its most prestigious law firm, the president of the Newark

Athletic Club, the owner of three of the big downtown movie

houses, the president of the Chamber of Commerce, the president

of New Jersey Bell Telephone, the editors in chief of the two daily

papers, and the president of P. Ballantine, Newark's most famous

brewery. From the Essex County government there was the super-

visor of the Board of Freeholders and three members of the board,

and from the New Jersey judiciary were the vice chancellor of the

Court of Chancery and an associate justice from the state's Su-

preme Court. From the State Assembly there was the majority

speaker and three of the four assemblymen from Essex County,
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and from the State Senate a representative from Essex County. The

ranking state official was a Jew, Attorney General David T. Wilentz,

who had successfully led the prosecution of Bruno Hauptmann,

but the state official whose presence most impressed me was Abe J.

Greene, another Jew but more importantly New Jersey's boxing

commissioner. One of Jersey's two U.S. senators was there, the Re-

publican W. Warren Barbour, as was our congressman Robert W.

Kean. From the District Court of the United States for the District

of New Jersey there was a circuit judge, two district judges, and the

district attorney (whose name I recognized from listening to Gang-

busters)
, John J. Quinn.

A number of close associates of the rabbi at the national head-

quarters of the OAA and several officials representing the Depart-

ment of the Interior had come up from Washington, and though

there was nobody at the wedding from the very highest echelons of

the federal government, there was an eloquent proxy representing

no less a personage than the president himself: the telegram from

the First Lady that was read aloud by Rabbi Foster at the reception,

after which reading the wedding guests rose spontaneously to ap-

plaud the First Lady's sentiments and were then asked by the

groom to remain standing and to join with him and his bride in

singing the National Anthem.

The lengthy text of the telegram was carried in full by the Sun-

day Call It went as follows:

My dear Rabbi Bengelsdorf and Evelyn:

My husband and I send you our heartfelt best wishes,

and we join in wishing you the most blissful happiness.

We were delighted to have an opportunity to meet Eve-

lyn at the White House State Dinner for the German For-

eign Minister. She is an enchanting, energetic young

woman, clearly a most worthy and upright person, and it

took no more than the few moments I spent chatting with

her for me to recognize the gifts of personality and intellect

that won her the devotion of a man as extraordinary as

Lionel Bengelsdorf.
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I recall today the splendidly succinct lines of poetry my
meeting with Evelyn brought to mind that evening. The

poet is Elizabeth Barrett Browning, and the words with

which she begins the fourteenth of her Sonnets from the

Portuguese embody just such womanly wisdom as I saw

emanating from Evelyn's astonishingly dark and beautiful

eyes. "If thou must love me," wrote Mrs. Browning, "let it

be for naught/ Except for love's sake only . .

."

Rabbi Bengelsdorf, you have been more than a friend

since we met here in the White House after the ceremony

establishing the Office of American Absorption; since your

moving to Washington to become the OAA director, you

have been an invaluable mentor. Our engrossing conversa-

tions, along with the enlightening books you have gener-

ously given me to read, have taught me much, not just

about the Jewish faith but about the tribulations of the Jew-

ish people and the sources of the great spiritual strength

which has been the mainspring of their survival for three

thousand years. I am all the richer for having discovered

through you how profoundly rooted my own religious her-

itage is in yours.

Our greatest mission as Americans is to live in harmony

and brotherhood as a united people. I know from the ex-

cellent work you are both doing for the OAA how dedi-

cated the two of you are to helping us achieve this pre-

cious goal. Of the many blessings bestowed upon our

nation by God, none is more valuable than our having

among us citizens like yourselves, proud, vital champions

of an indomitable race whose ancient concepts of justice

and freedom have sustained our American democracy

since 1776.

With every best wish,

Anne Morrow Lindbergh

The second time the FBI entered our lives, it was my father who

was under surveillance. The same agent who'd stopped to question
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me about Alvin, on the day that Mr. Wishnow hanged himself (and

who'd questioned Sandy on the bus, my mother at the store, and

my father at the office), showed up at the produce market and

hung around the diner where the men would go to eat and get cof-

fee in the middle of the night and, behaving as he'd done when

Alvin began working for Uncle Monty, started asking around now

about Alvin's uncle Herman and what he was saying to people

about America and our president. Word got back to Uncle Monty

through one of Longy Zwillman's henchmen, who passed on to

Uncle Monty what Agent McCorkle had reported to him—namely,

that after having housed and fed a traitor who'd fought for a for-

eign country, my father had now quit a good job with Metropoli-

tan Life rather than participate in a government program designed

to unify and strengthen the American people. Uncle Monty told

Longy's guy that his brother was a poor schnook with no educa-

tion who had two kids and a wife to support and couldn't do much

harm to America by schlepping produce crates six nights a week.

And Longy's guy listened sympathetically, according to Uncle

Monty, who, with none of the decorum ordinarily practiced in our

house, told us the whole story in our kitchen one Saturday after-

noon
—

"and still the guy says to me, 'Your brother's gotta go.' So I

told him, 'This is all bullshit. Tell Longy this is all part of the bull-

shit against Jews.' And the guy is himself a Jew, Niggy Apfelbaum,

but what I say does not make a dent. Niggy goes back to Longy, and

he tells him Roth don't do as he's told. What happens next? The

Long One himself shows up, right there in my stinky little office

and wearing a silk handmade suit. Tall, soft-spoken, dressed to

kill—you see how he gets the movie stars. I said to him, 'I remem-

ber you from grade school, Longy. I could see even then you were

going places.' So Longy says to me, 'I remember you, too. I could

see even then you were going nowhere.' We started to laugh, and I

told him, 'My brother needs a job, Longy. Can I not give my own

brother a job?' 'And can I not have the FBI snooping around?' he

asks me. 'I know all this,' I say, 'and didn't I get rid of my nephew

Alvin because of the FBI? But with my own brother, it's not the

• 250 •



THE WINCHELL RIOTS

same, is it? Look,' I tell him, 'twenty-four hours and I'll fix every-

thing. If I don't, if I can't, Herman goes.' So I wait till after we close

up the next morning, and I walk over to Sammy Eagle's, and sitting

at the bar is the mick shmegeggy from the FBI. 'Let me buy your

breakfast,' I tell him, and I order him a boilermaker, and I sit down

next to him and I say, 'What do you got against Jews, McCorkle?'

'Nothing,' he says. 'Then why are you after my brother like this?

What did he do to anybody?' 'Look, if I had something against

Jews, would I be sitting here in Eagle's, would Sammy Eagle be my
friend if I did?' He calls down the bar for Eagle to come over. 'Tell

him,' McCorkle says, 'do I have anything against Jews?' 'Not that I

know,' Eagle says. 'When your boy had the bar mitzvah, didn't I

come and give him a tie clasp?' 'He still wears it,' Eagle tells me.

'See?' McCorkle says. 'I'm just doing my job, the way Sammy does

his and you do yours.' 'And that's all my brother is doing,' I tell him.

'Fine. Good. So don't say I'm against the Jews.' 'My error,' I tell him,

'I apologize.' And meantime I slip him the envelope, the little

brown envelope, and that's that."

Here my uncle turned to me and said, "I understand you're a

horse thief. I understand you stole a horse from the church. Smart

boy. Let me see." I leaned over and showed him where the horse's

hoof had opened up my head. He laughed when he ran his finger

lightly over the length of the scar and around the shaved patch

where the hair was just growing in. "May you have many more," he

told me—and then, as he'd been doing for as long as I could re-

member, he lifted me roughly onto one of his knees so that I could

straddle it like, of all things, a horse. "You been to a bris, ain't you?"

he asked, and began to give me the up-and-down ride by raising

and lowering his thigh. "You know when they circumcise the baby

at the bris, you know what they do, don't you?" "They cut off the

foreskin," I said. "And what do they do with the little foreskin? After

it's off—do you know what they do?" "No," I told him. "Well," said

Uncle Monty, "they save them up, and when they got enough they

give them to the FBI to make agents out of." I couldn't help myself,

and even though I knew I wasn't supposed to—and even though
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last time he'd told me the joke, he'd said, "They send them to Ire-

land to make priests out of"—I began to laugh. "What was in

the envelope?" I asked him. "Take a guess," he said. "I don't know.

Money?" "Money is right. You're a bright little horse thief. The

money that makes all trouble go away."

Only later did I learn from my brother, who'd overheard my par-

ents talking in their bedroom, that the full amount of the bribe

given to McCorkle was to be repaid to Uncle Monty, out of my fa-

ther's already paltry paycheck, at the rate of ten dollars per week

over the next six months. And my father could do nothing about

it. About the laboriousness of the work, about the mortifications

attendant upon serving his brother, all he ever said was "He's been

this way since he's ten years old, he'll be this way till he dies."

Aside from Saturdays and Sunday mornings, my father was hardly

to be seen that summer. My mother, on the other hand, was now

around all the time, and since Sandy and I had to be home at noon

for lunch and again in the midafternoon to check in with her and

be accounted for, neither of us could stray very far, and in the

evenings we were forbidden to go anywhere beyond the school

playing field a block from the house. Either my mother was keep-

ing a very strict vigil over herself or she'd managed temporarily

to make peace with all her chagrin, because though my father had

taken a steep pay cut and the household budget required some

difficult trimming, she showed no disabling signs of the improba-

bilities she'd confronted over the past year. Her resilience had a

lot to do with her being back at a job whose compensations mat-

tered more to her than those derived from selling dresses, work she

hadn't shrunk from doing but that seemed to her meaningless

measured against her normal pursuits. Just how troubling her wor-

ries continued to be would only be clear to me when a letter ar-

rived from Estelle Tirschwell, reporting on the family's progress in

Winnipeg. Every lunchtime I brought the mail upstairs with me
from our mailbox in the front entryway, and if there was an enve-

lope bearing Canadian postage, she immediately sat down at the
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kitchen table and, while Sandy and I ate our sandwiches, read the

letter to herself twice over, then folded it up to carry around in her

apron pocket to look at another ten times before passing it on to

my father to read when he got up to go to the market—the letter

for my father, the canceled Canadian stamps for me, to help get me
started on a new collection.

Sandy's friends were suddenly the girls his age, the teenage girls

whom he knew from school but had never examined so covetously

before. He went to find them at the playground where the organ-

ized summer activities took place all day and into the early eve-

ning. I was there too, accompanied regularly now by Seldon. I'd

watch Sandy with fluctuating feelings of trepidation and delight, as

though my own brother had become a pickpocket or a professional

shill. He'd park himself on a bench near the ping-pong table, where

the girls tended to congregate, and he'd start making pencil draw-

ings in his sketchpad of the cutest around; invariably they'd want

to see the drawings, and so before the day was over, chances were

good he'd be walking dreamily out of the playground hand in hand

with one of them. Sandy's strong proclivity for infatuation was no

longer galvanized by propagandizing for Just Folks or topping to-

bacco for the Mawhinneys but fomented by these girls. Either the

fresh excitement of desire had transformed his existence with the

same incredible swiftness that Kentucky had and, at fourteen and

a half, he'd been recast anew in a single hormonal blast or, as I be-

lieved—with my own proclivity to grant him omnipotence—get-

ting girls to go off with him was simply an amusing ruse, how he

was biding his time until . . . Always with Sandy I thought there

must be a great deal more going on than I could begin to under-

stand, when in fact, despite the handsome boy's air of self-assur-

ance, he had no more idea than anyone else why he took the bait.

Lindbergh's Jewish tobacco farmer discovers breasts, and suddenly

he turns up as just another teenager.

My parents ascribed the girl-craziness to defiance, to "rebel-

liousness," to a compensatory display of independence following

his forced retirement from the Lindbergh cause, and seemed will-
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ing to consider it relatively harmless. One of the girls' mothers felt

otherwise evidently, and called to say so. When my father got home

from work, there was a long conversation between my mother and

father behind their bedroom door, and then another between my
brother and my father behind the bedroom door, and for the rest

of the week Sandy was not allowed to leave the vicinity of the

house. But they couldn't, of course, keep him cooped up on Sum-

mit Avenue for the whole of the summer, and soon he was back at

the playground confidently drawing pictures of the pretty ones,

and whatever these girls allowed him to do with his hands when

they went off by themselves—which couldn't have been much for

eighth-graders as ignorant of sex as kids that young were back in

those years—they didn't rush home to report, and so there were no

more excited phone calls for my parents to contend with in the

midst of all their other troubles.

Seldon. Seldon was my summer. Seldon's muzzle in my face like

a dog's, and kids I'd known all my life laughing and calling me
Sleepy, kids with their arms raised stiffly out in front of them and

walking with slow, clumpy, zombie steps, supposedly in imitation

of me lurching toward the orphanage in my sleep, and the team in

the field all chanting "Hi ho Silver!" whenever I came to bat in a

choose-up game.

There would be no big end-of-summer picnic up at the South

Mountain Reservation on Labor Day that year because all of my
parents' Metropolitan friends had left Newark with their boys by

September to settle in around the country before the start of the

school year. One by one, throughout that summer, each of the fam-

ilies drove up on a Saturday to visit and say goodbye. It was awful

for my parents, who alone of the group from the local Metropoli-

tan district designated for relocation by Homestead 42 had chosen

to stay where we were. These were their dearest friends, and the hot

Saturday afternoons with the tearful adults embracing out on the

street while all the children forlornly looked on—afternoons that

ended with the four of us who were remaining behind waving
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goodbye from the curb as my mother called after the departing car,

"Don't forget to write!"—were the most harrowing moments so

far, when our defenselessness became real to me and I sensed the

beginning of the destruction of our world. And when I realized

that my father, of all these men, was the most obstinate, helplessly

bonded to his better instincts and their excessive demands. I only

then understood that he had quit his job not merely because he

was fearful of what awaited us down the line should we agree like

the others to be relocated but because, for better or worse, when he

was bullied by superior forces that he deemed corrupt it was his

nature not to yield—in this instance, to resist either running away

to Canada, as my mother urged our doing, or bowing to a govern-

ment directive that was patently unjust. There were two types of

strong men: those like Uncle Monty and Abe Steinheim, remorse-

less about their making money, and those like my father, ruthlessly

obedient to their idea of fair play.

"Come," my father said, trying to perk us up on the Saturday

when the last of the six homesteading families had seemingly van-

ished forever. "Come on, boys. We're going out for ice cream." The

four of us walked down Chancellor to the drugstore, where the

pharmacist was one of his oldest insurance customers and where

in summertime it was generally more pleasant than it was out on

the street, what with the awnings unfurled to prevent the sun's rays

from piercing the plate glass window and the paddle blades of the

three ceiling fans creaking softly as they revolved overhead. We
slipped into a booth and ordered sundaes, and though my mother

could not bring herself to eat despite my father's prompting, she

was able eventually to stop the tears from running down her face.

We, after all, were no less enjoined to an unknowable future than

were our exiled friends, and so we sat spooning our sundaes in the

awninged semidarkness of the cool pharmacy, everyone speechless

and completely spent, until my mother at last looked up from the

paper napkin she was neatly shredding and, with that wry, stripped-

down smile that comes when one is entirely cried out, said to my
father, "Well, like it or not, Lindbergh is teaching us what it is to be
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Jews." Then she added, "We only think we're Americans." "Non-

sense. No!" my father replied. "They think we only think we're

Americans. It is not up for discussion, Bess. It is not up for negoti-

ation. These people are not understanding that I take this for

granted, goddamnit! Others? He dares to call us others? He's the

other. The one who looks most American—and he's the one who

is least American! The man is unfit. He shouldn't be there. He

shouldn't be there, and it's as simple as that!"

For me the hardest departure to stomach was Seldon's. Of

course I was delighted to see him go. All summer long I'd been

counting the days. Yet that early morning in the last week of Au-

gust when the Wishnows drove off with two mattresses strapped to

the car roof (lifted there and tied down beneath a tarp the night

before by my father and Sandy) and clothing jammed to the top of

the old Plymouth's back seat (stacks of clothing, including several

items of my own, that my mother and I had helped them to carry

from the house), I was the one, grotesquely enough, who couldn't

stop crying. I was remembering an afternoon when Seldon and I

were just six years old, and Mr. Wishnow was alive and seemingly

well and still working every day for the Metropolitan, and Mrs.

Wishnow was still a housewife like my mother, absorbed by her

family's everyday needs and even, on occasion, looking after me if

my mother had to be off doing her PTA work and Sandy wasn't

around and I was home by myself after school. I was remember-

ing the generic maternalism that she shared with my mother—the

succoring warmth I wallowed in as a matter of course—and that

I experienced so strikingly on the afternoon that I got stuck in

their bathroom and couldn't get out. I was remembering how kind

she'd been to me while I repeatedly tried and failed to open the

door, spontaneously caring for me as though, regardless of dif-

ferences in appearance and temperament and immediate circum-

stance, the four of us—Seldon and Selma, Philip and Bess—were

all one and the same. I was remembering Mrs. Wishnow when

what was uppermost in her mind was what was uppermost in my
mother's mind—back when she was just another watchful mem-
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ber of the local matriarchy whose overriding task was to establish

a domestic way of life for the next generation. I was remembering

Mrs. Wishnow unperturbed, when her fists weren't clenched and

her face full of pain.

It was a small bathroom, exactly like ours, quite confining, the

door next to a toilet and the toilet abutting a sink and a bathtub

squeezed in beside that. I pulled on the door but it didn't open. At

home I would just have closed it behind me, but at the Wishnows'

I locked it—something I'd never done before in my life. I locked it

and I peed and I flushed and I washed my hands and, because I

didn't want to touch their towel, wiped them dry on the back of the

legs of my corduroys—everything was fine, and then I went to exit

the bathroom, and I couldn't undo the lock above the doorknob. I

could turn it a little ways but then it would catch and stop. I didn't

bang on the door or rattle the doorknob, I just kept trying to turn

the lock as quietly as I could. But it wouldn't go, and so I sat back

down on the toilet and I thought that maybe it would somehow

work itself out. I sat there for a while but then I got lonesome and

stood up and tried the lock again. It still wouldn't uncatch, and I

started to knock lightly on the door, and Mrs. Wishnow came and

said, "Oh, the lock on the door does that sometimes. You have to

turn it like this." She explained how to do it, but I still couldn't get

it open, and so very calmly she said, "No, Philip, while you're turn-

ing it you have to pull it back," and though I tried to do as she told

me it still didn't work. "Dear," she said, "turn and back simultane-

ously—turn and back at the same time." "Which way is back?" I

said. "Back. Back towards the wall." "Oh, the wall. Okay," I said, but

I couldn't get it right no matter what I did. "It won't work," I said,

and I began to sweat, and then I heard Seldon. "Philip? It's Seldon.

Why did you lock it? We weren't going to come in." "I didn't say

you were," I said. "Then why did you lock it?" "I don't know," I said.

"Do you think we should call the fire department, Mom? They

can get him out with a ladder." "No, no, no," Mrs. Wishnow said.

"Come on, Philip," Seldon said, "it's not that hard." "But it is. It's

stuck." "How's he gonna get out, Ma?" "Seldon, be still. Philip?"
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"Yes." "Are you all right?" "Well, it's hot in here. It's getting hot."

"Take a glass of cold water, dear. There's a glass in the medicine

cabinet. Take a glass of water and slowly drink it and you'll be fine."

"Okay." But the glass had something slimy at the bottom, and

though I took it out, I only pretended to drink from it and drank

instead from my cupped hands. "Ma," Seldon said, "what's he do-

ing wrong? Philip, what are you doing wrong?" "How do I know?"

I said. "Mrs. Wishnow? Mrs. Wishnow?" "Yes, dear." "It's getting too

hot in here. I'm really starting to sweat." "Then open the window.

Open the little window in the shower. Are you tall enough to do

that?" "I think so." I took off my shoes and stepped into the shower

in just my socks, and standing on my tiptoes I was able to reach the

window—a smallish window of pebbled glass that looked onto the

alleyway—but when I tried to open it, it was stuck too. "It won't

go," I said. "Bang it a little, dear. Bang the frame at the bottom, but

not too hard, and I'm sure it will open." I did as she told me but

couldn't get it to budge. By now my shirt was saturated with sweat,

and so I angled myself to be able to give the window a good strong

shove upwards, but in turning I must have struck the shower han-

dle with my elbow because suddenly the water was on. "Oh, no!" I

said, and ice-cold water was pouring over my head and down the

back of my shirt, and I jumped out of the shower and onto the tile

floor. "What happened, dear?" "The shower started." "How?" Sel-

don said. "How could the shower start?" "I don't know!" "Are you

very wet?" she asked me. "Sort of." "Get a towel," she told me. "Get

a towel out of the closet. The towels are in the closet." We had the

same narrow little bathroom closet directly upstairs over the Wish-

nows' bathroom closet, and we used it for towels too, but when I

went to open theirs, I couldn't—the door was stuck. I yanked but

it wouldn't open. "What is it now, Philip?" "Nothing." I couldn't tell

her. "Did you take a towel?" "Yes." "Then dry yourself off. And you

must stay calm. There's nothing to worry about." "I am calm." "Sit

down. Sit down and dry yourself off." I was soaking wet, and now

the floor was getting wet, and I sat on the toilet seat, and that's

when I saw a bathroom for what it is—the upper end of a sewer

—
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and that's when I felt the tears begin to well up. "Don't worry," Sel-

don called in to me, "your mother and father will be home soon."

"But how will I get out?" And all at once the door was open—and

there was Seldon and behind him his mother. "How'd you do

that?" I said. "I opened the door," he said. "But how?" He shrugged.

"I pushed. I just pushed. It was open all the time." And that was

when I began to bawl and Mrs. Wishnow took me in her arms and

said, "That's okay. Things like this happen. They can happen to

anyone." "It was open, Ma," Seldon said to her. "Shhh," she told

him. "Shhh. It doesn't matter," and then she came into the bath-

room and turned off the cold water—which was still streaming

into the tub—and, without any problem she opened the closet

door and took out a fresh towel and began to dry my hair and my
face and my neck, all the while gently telling me that it didn't mat-

ter and that these things happened to people all the time.

But that was long before everything else went wrong.

The congressional campaign began at eight a.m. the Tuesday after

Labor Day, with Walter Winchell up on a soapbox at Broadway and

42nd Street—the celebrated crossroads where he'd announced his

presidential candidacy from atop the very same genuine wooden

soapbox—and looking in broad daylight exactly as press photos

pictured him broadcasting from the NBC studio Sunday nights at

nine: jacketless, in his shirtsleeves, with the cuffs rolled up and his

tie yanked down and, pushed back from his forehead, the hard-

boiled newsman's fedora. Within only minutes some half-dozen

mounted New York City policemen were already needed to divert

traffic away from the eager stream of working people charging

onto the street to hear and see him in the flesh. And once word

spread that the orator with the bullhorn wasn't just another Bible

bore prophesying doom for sinful America but the Stork Club

habitue only recently the country's most influential radio broad-

caster and the city's most nefarious tabloid journalist, the number

of onlookers grew from the hundreds to the thousands—nearly

ten thousand people all told, said the papers, up from the subways
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and emptying out of the buses, drawn by the maverick and his im-

moderation.

"The broadcasting cowards," he told them, "and the billionaire

publishing hooligans controlled from the White House by the

Lindbergh gang say Winchell was canned for crying 'Fire!' in a

crowded theater. Mr. and Mrs. New York City, the word wasn't 'fire.'

It was 'fascism' Winchell cried—and it still is. Fascism! Fascism!

And I will continue crying 'fascism' to every crowd of Americans I

can find until Herr Lindbergh's pro-Hitler party of treason is

driven from the Congress on Election Day. The Hitlerites can take

away my radio microphone, and they've done just that, as you

know. They can take away my newspaper column, and they have

done that, as you know. And when, God forbid, America goes fas-

cist, Lindbergh's storm troopers can lock me away in a concentra-

tion camp to shut me up—and they will do that too, as you know.

They can even lock you away in a concentration camp to shut you

up. And I hope by now that you damn well know that. But what

our homegrown Hitlerites cannot take away is my love for Amer-

ica and yours. My love for democracy and yours. My love for free-

dom and yours. What they cannot take away—unless the gullible

and the sheepish and the terrified are patsies enough to return

them to Washington one more time—is the power of the ballot

box. The Hitlerite plot against America must be stopped—and

stopped by you! By you, Mr. and Mrs. New York! By the voting

power of the freedom-loving people of this great city on Tuesday,

November 3, nineteen hundred and forty-two!"

All that day—September 8, 1942—and into the evening, Win-

chell climbed atop his soapbox in every neighborhood in Manhat-

tan, from Wall Street, where he was largely ignored, to Little Italy,

where he was shouted down, to Greenwich Village, where he was

ridiculed, to the Garment District, where he was intermittently

cheered, to the Upper West Side, where he was welcomed as their

savior by the Roosevelt Jews, and eventually north to Harlem,

where, in the crowd of several hundred Negroes who gathered at

dusk to hear him speak at the corner of Lenox Avenue and 125th
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Street, a few laughed and a handful applauded but most remained

respectfully dissatisfied, as though to work his way into their an-

tipathies would require his delivering a very different spiel.

It was difficult to ascertain the impact Winchell made on the

voting public that day. To Winchell's former paper, Hearst's Daily

Mirror, the ostensible effort to gather local grass-roots support for

routing the Republican Party from Congress nationwide looked

more like a publicity stunt than anything else—a predictably

egomaniacal publicity stunt by an unemployed gossip columnist

who could not bear being out of the spotlight—and especially so

since not a single Democratic congressional candidate running for

election in Manhattan chose to appear anywhere within hearing

distance of the Winchell bullhorn. If any candidates were out cam-

paigning, they stayed far from wherever Winchell repeatedly com-

mitted the political blunder of associating the name ofAdolf Hitler

with that of an American president whose heroics the world still

idolized, whose achievement even the Fiihrer respected, and whom
an overwhelming majority of his countrymen continued to adore

as their nation's godlike catalyst of peace and prosperity. In a brief,

sardonic editorial, "At It Again," the New York Times was able to

reach but one conclusion about the latest of Winchell's "self-serv-

ing shenanigans": "There is nothing Walter Winchell has more tal-

ent for," wrote the Times, "than himself."

Winchell spent a full day in each of the other four boroughs of

the city, and the following week headed north to Connecticut.

Though still in want of a Democratic candidate willing to wed a

fledgling congressional campaign to his inflammatory rhetoric,

Winchell went ahead to set up his soapbox outside the gates to the

factories of Bridgeport and at the entrance to the shipyards in New
London, where he pushed back his fedora, pulled down his tie, and

cried "Fascism! Fascism!" into the face of the crowd. From Con-

necticut's industrial coast he traveled north again to the working-

class enclaves of Providence and then crossed from Rhode Island

into the factory towns of southeastern Massachusetts, addressing

tiny street-corner gatherings in Fall River, Brockton, and Quincy
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with no less fervor than he'd expended in his maiden speech in

Times Square. From Quincy he went on to Boston, where he

planned to spend three days moving through Irish Dorchester and

South Boston into the Italian North End. However, on his first af-

ternoon at South Boston's busy Perkins Square the few jeering

hecklers who'd been baiting him as a Jew ever since his departing

his native New York—and his leaving behind there the police pro-

tection guaranteed him by Fiorello La Guardia, the city's anti-

Lindbergh Republican mayor—burgeoned into a mob waving

handmade placards reminiscent of the banners and signs beautify-

ing the Bund rallies in Madison Square Garden. And the moment

Winchell opened his mouth to speak, somebody brandishing a

burning cross rushed toward the soapbox to set him aflame and a

gun was fired twice into the air, either as a signal from the organ-

izers to the rioters or as a warning to the marked man from "Jew

York," or as both. There in the old brick cityscape of little family-

run shops and streetcars and shade trees and small houses, each

topped back then, before TV, only by the appendage of a towering

chimney, in the Boston where the Depression had never ended,

amid the storefronts sacred to the American main street—the ice

cream parlor, the barber shop, the pharmacy—and just up the way

from the dark, spiky outline of St. Augustine's Church, thugs with

clubs surged forward screaming "Kill him!" and, two weeks from

its inception in New York's five boroughs, the Winchell campaign,

as Winchell had imagined it, was under way. He had at last brought

the Lindbergh grotesquery to the surface, the underside of Lind-

bergh's affable blandness, raw and undisguised.

Though the Boston police did nothing to restrain the rioters

—

the gunshots had sounded a full hour before a squad car drove up

to survey the scene—the plainclothes team of armed professional

bodyguards who'd been stationed at Winchell's side throughout

the trip managed to douse the flames consuming one of his trouser

legs and, having freed him from the first wave of the crowd after

only a few blows had fallen, to lift him into a car parked just yards

from the soapbox and drive him to Carney Hospital on Telegraph
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Hill, where he was treated for facial wounds and minor burns.

His first visitor at the hospital wasn't the mayor, Maurice Tobin,

or Tobin's defeated mayoral rival, ex-governor James M. Curley

(another FDR Democrat who, like the Democrat Tobin, wanted no

part of Walter Winchell). Nor was it the local congressman, John

W. McCormack, whose roughneck brother, a bartender known as

Knocko, presided over the neighborhood with as much authority

as the popular Democratic representative. To everyone's surprise,

beginning with Winchell himself, his first visitor was a patrician

Republican of distinguished New England lineage, the two-term

Massachusetts governor, Leverett Saltonstall. On hearing of

Winchell's hospitalization, Governor Saltonstall had left his State

House office to communicate his concern directly to Winchell

(whom privately he could only have despised), and to promise a

thorough investigation into the well-plotted, obviously premedi-

tated pandemonium that, by a mere fluke, had produced no fatal-

ities. He also assured Winchell of protection by the state police

—

and, if need be, by the National Guard—for as long as Winchell

campaigned in Massachusetts. And before the governor left the

hospital, he saw to it that two armed troopers were stationed at the

door only feet from Winchell's bed.

The Boston Herald interpreted Saltonstall's intervention as a

political maneuver to gain him recognition as a courageous, hon-

orable, fair-minded conservative who could serve his party as a

dignified replacement in 1944 for the Democratic vice president,

Burton K. Wheeler, who'd done the job required in the 1940 cam-

paign but whose imprudence as an orator many Republicans now

believed might compromise their president the second time around.

In a hospital press conference where Winchell appeared before the

photographers in his robe, with surgical dressings half covering

his face and a heavily bandaged left foot, he welcomed Governor

Saltonstall's offer but declined assistance in a message (cast, now

that he was under assault, in language more statesmanlike than his

standard feverish patter) that was distributed to the two dozen re-

porters from the radio and the press who had converged on his
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room. The statement began, "On the day when a candidate for the

presidency of the United States requires a phalanx of armed po-

lice officers and National Guardsmen to protect his right to free

speech, this great country will have passed over into fascist bar-

barism. I cannot accept that the religious intolerance emanating

from the White House has already so corrupted the ordinary citi-

zen that he has lost all respect for fellow Americans of a creed or

faith different from his own. I cannot accept that the abhorrence

for my religion shared by Adolf Hitler and Charles A. Lindbergh

can already have corroded . .

."

From then on, anti-Semitic agitators hunted Winchell down at

every crossing, though without success in Boston, where Salton-

stall had ignored Winchell's grandstanding and directed his troops

to impose order, employing force if need be, and to carry the

violent off to jail, a command that they undertook to execute, how-

ever reluctantly. Meanwhile—using a cane to support himself be-

cause of his burned foot and with his jaw and forehead still band-

aged—Winchell proceeded to draw an angry mob chanting "Kike

go home!" in every single parish where he displayed his stigmata

to the faithful, from Gate of Heaven Church in South Boston to St.

Gabriel's Monastery in Brighton. Beyond Massachusetts, in com-

munities in upper New York State, in Pennsylvania, and through-

out the Midwest that were already notorious for their bigotry

—

and to which Winchell's explosive strategy inevitably pointed him

—most of the local authorities did not share Saltonstall's unwill-

ingness to tolerate civil unrest, and so, despite the doubling of his

entourage of plainclothes bodyguards, the candidate came close to

getting himself mauled each time he stepped onto the soapbox to

denounce "the fascist in the White House" and to assign responsi-

bility directly to the president's "religious hatred" for "fostering

unheard-of Nazi barbarism in the American streets."

The worst and most widespread violence occurred in Detroit,

the midwestern headquarters of the "Radio Priest" Father Cough-

lin and his Jew-hating Christian Front and of the crowd-pleasing

minister known as "the dean of anti-Semites," Reverend Gerald
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L. K. Smith, who preached that "Christian character is the true

basis of real Americanism." Detroit, of course, was also home to the

American automobile industry and to Lindbergh's elderly secre-

tary of the interior, Henry Ford, whose avowedly anti-Semitic news-

paper, the Dearborn Independent, published in the 1920s, addressed

itself to "an investigation of the Jewish Question" that Ford ulti-

mately reprinted in four volumes, totaling nearly one thousand

pages, entitled The International Jew, in which he directed that in

the cleansing of America "the International Jew and his satellites,

as the conscious enemies of all that Anglo-Saxons mean by civi-

lization, are not spared."

It was to be expected that organizations like the American Civil

Liberties Union and eminent liberal journalists like John Gunther

and Dorothy Thompson would be outraged by the Detroit riots

and immediately make public their disgust, but so too were many

conventional middle-class Americans, who, even if they found

Walter Winchell and his rhetoric repugnant and understood him

to be "asking for trouble," were also appalled by the eyewitness re-

ports of how the rioting that had begun at Winchell's first stop

in Hamtramck (the residential section inhabited chiefly by auto

workers and their families and said to contain the world's largest

Polish population outside Warsaw) had suspiciously spread within

minutes to 12th Street, to Linwood and then to Dexter Boulevard.

There, in the city's biggest Jewish neighborhoods, shops were

looted and windows broken, Jews trapped outdoors were set upon

and beaten, and kerosene-soaked crosses were ignited on the lawns

of the fancy houses along Chicago Boulevard and out front of

the modest two-family dwellings of the housepainters, plumbers,

butchers, bakers, junk dealers, and grocers who lived on Webb and

Tuxedo and in the little dirt yards of the poorest Jews on Pingry

and Euclid. In midafternoon, only moments before the school day

ended, a firebomb was thrown into the front foyer of Winterhalter

Elementary School, where half the students were Jewish, another

into the foyer of Central High, whose student body was ninety-five

percent Jewish, another through a window at the Sholem Aleichem
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Institute—a cultural organization Coughlin had ridiculously iden-

tified as Communist—and a fourth outside another of Couglin's

"Communist" targets, the Jewish Workers' Alliance. Next came the

attack on houses of worship. Not only were windows broken and

walls defaced on some half of the city's thirty-odd Orthodox syn-

agogues, but as evening services were scheduled to begin an explo-

sion went off on the steps of the prestigious Chicago Boulevard

temple Shaarey Zedek. The explosion there caused extensive dam-

age to the exotic centerpiece of architect Albert Kahn's Moorish de-

sign—the three massive arched doorways that conspicuously ex-

hibited to a working-class populace a distinctively un-American

style. Five passersby, none of whom happened to be Jews, were in-

jured by flying debris from the facade, but no casualties were oth-

erwise reported.

By nightfall, several hundred of the city's thirty thousand Jews

had fled and taken refuge across the Detroit River in Windsor,

Ontario, and American history had recorded its first large-scale po-

grom, one clearly modeled on the "spontaneous demonstrations"

against Germany's Jews known as Kristallnacht, "the Night of Bro-

ken Glass," whose atrocities had been planned and perpetrated

by the Nazis four years earlier and which Father Coughlin in his

weekly tabloid, Social Justice, had defended at the time as a reaction

by the Germans against "Jewish-inspired Communism." Detroit's

Kristallnacht was similarly justified on the editorial page of the

Detroit Times as the unfortunate but inevitable and altogether un-

derstandable backlash to the activities of the troublemaking in-

terloper the paper identified as "the Jewish demagogue whose aim

from the outset had been to incite the rage of patriotic Americans

with his treasonous rabble-rousing."

The week after the September assault on Detroit's Jews—which

was addressed with dispatch by neither Michigan's governor nor

the city's mayor—new violence was directed at homes, shops, and

synagogues in Jewish neighborhoods in Cleveland, Cincinnati, In-

dianapolis, and St. Louis, violence that Winchell's enemies attrib-

uted to his deliberately challenging appearances in those cities after
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the cataclysm that he'd instigated in Detroit, and that Winchell

himself—who, in Indianapolis, barely escaped being crushed by a

paving stone hurled from a rooftop that had broken the neck of the

bodyguard stationed beside him—explained by the "climate of

hate" emanating from the White House.

Our own street in Newark was many hundreds of miles from

Dexter Boulevard in Detroit, nobody around had ever been to De-

troit, and before September 1942 all that the boys on the block

knew about Detroit was that organized baseball's only Jewish

player was the Tigers' star first baseman, Hank Greenberg. But then

came the Winchell riots, and suddenly even the children could re-

cite the names of the Detroit neighborhoods that had been shaken

by violence. Parroting what they heard from their parents, they

would argue back and forth as to whether Walter Winchell was

courageous or foolish, self-sacrificing or self-serving, and whether

or not he was playing right into Lindbergh's hands by allowing the

Gentiles to tell themselves that the Jews had brought their misery

on themselves. They argued over whether it would be better if

—

before Winchell set off a nationwide pogrom—he desisted and al-

lowed "normal" relations to be restored between the Jews and their

fellow Americans or whether in the long run it would be better for

him to continue to raise the alarm among the country's more com-

placent Jews—and to arouse the conscience of Christians—by ex-

posing the menace of anti-Semitism from one end of America to

the other. On the way to school, on the playground after school,

between classes in the school corridors, you would see the smartest

kids standing toe to toe, kids Sandy's age as well as a few no older

than me, heatedly debating whether Walter Winchell's crisscross-

ing the country with his soapbox to flush into the open the Ger-

man-American Bundists and the Coughlinites and the Ku Klux

Klanners and the Silver Shirts and the America Firsters and the

Black Legion and the American Nazi Party, whether getting these

organized anti-Semites and their thousands of unseen sympathiz-

ers to reveal themselves for what they were—and to reveal the

president for what he was, a chief executive and commander in
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chief who hadn't yet bothered to acknowledge that anything like a

state of emergency existed, let alone called in federal troops to pre-

vent further rioting—was good for the Jews or bad for the Jews.

After Detroit, the Jews of Newark—numbering some fifty thou-

sand in a city of well over half a million—began to ready them-

selves for serious violence erupting on their own streets, either be-

cause of a Winchell visit to New Jersey when he swung back east

or because of the riots inevitably spilling over into cities where,

as in Newark, there was a heavily Jewish neighborhood abutting

large communities of working-class Irish, Italians, Germans, and

Slavs that were already home to a goodly number of bigots. The

assumption was that these people wouldn't require much en-

couragement to be molded into a mindless, destructive mob by

the pro-Nazi conspiracy that had successfully plotted the riot in

Detroit.

Almost overnight, Rabbi Joachim Prinz, along with five other

eminent Newark Jews—including Meyer Ellenstein—established

the Newark Committee of Concerned Jewish Citizens. Quickly the

group became a model for similar ad hoc Jewish citizens' groups in

other big cities that were determined to ensure their communities'

safety by enlisting the authorities to draw up contingency plans to

prepare for the worst possibility. The Newark committee arranged

first for a City Hall meeting—presided over by Mayor Murphy,

whose election had ended Ellenstein's eight-year tenure—with

Newark's police chief, fire chief, and director of the Department of

Public Safety. The next day the committee met at the State House

in Trenton with Democratic governor Charles Edison, the super-

intendent of the New Jersey State Police, and the commanding of-

ficer of the New Jersey National Guard. Attorney General Wilentz,

an acquaintance of all six committee members, also attended, and,

in the bulletin the Newark committee issued to the Jersey papers,

he was reported to have assured Rabbi Prinz that anyone attempt-

ing an assault on the Jews of Newark would be prosecuted to the

full extent of the law. The committee next telegrammed Rabbi

Bengelsdorf, requesting a meeting with him in Washington, but
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was informed that theirs was a local and not a federal issue and ad-

vised to address their concern, as they were doing, to state and city

officials.

Partisans of Rabbi Bengelsdorf lauded him for keeping himself

aloof from the sordid Walter Winchell affair while quietly, in pri-

vate White House conversations with Mrs. Lindbergh, urging as-

sistance to those innocent Jews throughout the country who were

tragically paying for the iniquitous conduct of the renegade candi-

date, a provocateur cynically encouraging American citizens who

needed in no way to feel besieged to cling to their oldest, most crip-

pling anxieties. The Bengelsdorf supporters constituted an influ-

ential clique drawn from the highly assimilated upper echelon of

German Jewish society. A good many of them had been born to

wealth and were among the first Jewish generation to attend elite

secondary schools and Ivy League colleges, where, because their

numbers were minute, they had mingled with the non-Jews, whom
they subsequently associated with in communal, political, and

business endeavors and who sometimes appeared to accept them

as equals. To these privileged Jews there was nothing suspicious

about the programs designed by Rabbi Bengelsdorf 's agency to as-

sist poorer, less cultivated Jews in learning to live in closer harmony

with the nation's Christians. What was unfortunate, in their opin-

ion, was that Jews like us continued to huddle together in cities like

Newark out of a xenophobia fostered by historical pressures that

no longer existed. The status conferred by economic and voca-

tional advantage inclined them to believe that those who lacked

their prestige were rebuffed by the larger society more because of

insular clannishness than because of any pronounced taste for ex-

clusiveness on the part of the Christian majority, and that neigh-

borhoods like ours were less the result of discrimination than its

breeding grounds. They recognized, of course, that there were

pockets of backward people in America among whom virulent

anti-Semitism was still their strongest, most obsessive passion, but

that seemed only another reason for the director of the OAA to en-

courage Jews handicapped by the limitations of a segregated exis-
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tence to at least permit their children to enter the American main-

stream and show themselves there to be nothing like the caricature

of the Jew disseminated by our enemies. Why these wealthy, ur-

bane, self-assured Jews particularly abhorred the self-caricaturing

Winchell was because he so deliberately reinforced the very hostil-

ity that they imagined themselves to have propitiated by their ex-

emplary behavior toward their Christian colleagues and friends.

Aside from Rabbi Prinz and ex-mayor Ellenstein, the four re-

maining members of the Newark committee were the elderly civic

leader responsible for the success of the Americanization programs

for immigrant children in the Newark school system—and the

wife of Beth Israel Hospital's leading surgeon—Jenny Danzis; the

department store executive and son of the founder of S. Plaut &
Co., as well as ten-time president of the Broad Street Association,

Moses Plaut; the prominent city property owner and past presi-

dent of the Newark Conference of Jewish Charities, community

leader Michael Stavitsky; and the chief of Beth Israel's medical

staff, Dr. Eugene Parsonette. That Newark's leading mobster, Longy

Zwillman, hadn't been enlisted to join a group of local Jews as dis-

tinguished as this was no surprise to anyone, even though Longy

was a wealthy man of enormous influence and hardly less dis-

tressed than Rabbi Prinz by the menace posed by the anti-Semites

who, under the pretext of being provoked by Walter Winchell, had

ushered in what looked to many like stage one of the resolution of

Henry Ford's "Jewish Question."

Longy set out separately, apart from the many civil authorities

who had promised Rabbi Prinz their fullest cooperation, to en-

sure that if and when the Newark cops and the New Jersey state

troopers failed to respond any more vigorously than the police had

to the disorder in Boston and Detroit, the city's Jews would not

be left unprotected. Bullet Apfelbaum, the close associate known

throughout the city as Longy's chief enforcer—and the older

brother of Niggy Apfelbaum—was assigned by Longy to supple-

ment the good work of the Newark Committee of Concerned Jew-

ish Citizens by recruiting that scattering of incorrigible Jewish kids
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who had failed to graduate from high school and training them as

cadre for a hastily assembled volunteer corps to be called the Pro-

visional Jewish Police. These were the local boys without any of the

ideals that were embedded in the rest of us, who'd already begun to

emanate an aura of lawlessness as far back as the fifth grade, in-

flating condoms in the school toilet and breaking into fistfights on

the 14 bus and wrestling till they bled onto the concrete sidewalk

outside the movies, the ones who, during their years in school, par-

ents directed their children to have nothing to do with and who

were now in their twenties and occupied running numbers and

shooting pool and washing dishes in the kitchens of one or another

of the neighborhood's delicatessen restaurants. To most of us they

were known, if at all, only by the hoodlum magic of their super-

charged nicknames—Leo "the Lion" Nusbaum, Knuckles Kimmel-

man, Big Gerry Schwartz, Dummy Breitbart, Duke "Duke-it-out"

Glick—and by their double-digit IQ scores.

And now they were stationed on every second street corner, our

neighborhood's handful of flops, spitting expertly into the gutter

from between their teeth and signaling back and forth by whistling

with their fingers angled deep in their mouths. Here they were, the

callous and the obtuse and the mentally deficient, the Jews' very

own deviants strolling the streets like sailors on shore leave look-

ing for a fight. Here they were, the brainless few we had been raised

to pity and fear, the Stone Age oafs and the seething runts and the

ominous, swaggering weightlifters, buttonholing kids like me out

on Chancellor Avenue and telling us to keep our baseball bats at

the ready in case we were called in the night to take to the streets

and going around to the Y in the evenings and to the ball fields on

Sundays and to the local stores during the week, shanghaiing the

able-bodied from among the neighborhood's grown men so as to

bring to a total of three on each block a squad they could count on

in an emergency. They embodied everything crude and despicable

that our parents had hoped to leave behind, along with their child-

hood pennilessness, in the Third Ward slums, and yet here were

our demons got up as our guardians, each with a loaded revolver
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strapped to his calf, a gun on loan from the collection of Bullet

Apfelbaum, who was known by everyone to have devoted his exis-

tence to loyally intimidating folks on Longy's behalf, threatening

them, beating them, torturing them, and—despite the fact that, in

imitation of a boss easily thirty pounds leaner and a foot taller,

Bullet was never to be seen other than in a three-piece suit adorned

with a neatly folded silk pocket handkerchief the color of his tie

and wearing an expensive Borsalino debonairly angled only inches

above what was admittedly the ungenerous glower of an extremely

severe judge of human nature—ending their lives for them, should

that be the boss's pleasure.

What made the death of Walter Winchell worthy of instantaneous

nationwide coverage wasn't only that his unorthodox campaign

had touched off the century's worst anti-Semitic rioting outside

Nazi Germany, but that the murder of a mere candidate for the

presidency was unprecedented in America. Though Presidents Lin-

coln and Garfield had been shot and killed in the second half of the

nineteenth century and McKinley at the start of the twentieth, and

though in 1933 FDR had survived an assassination attempt that had

instead taken the life of his Democratic supporter Chicago's Mayor

Cermak, it wasn't until twenty-six years after Winchell's assassina-

tion that a second presidential candidate would be gunned down

—that was New York's Democratic senator Robert Kennedy, fatally

shot in the head after winning his party's California primary on

Tuesday, June 4, 1968.

On Monday, October 5, 1942, 1 was home alone after school lis-

tening on our living room radio to the final innings of the fifth

game of the World Series between the Cardinals and the Yankees,

when, in the top of the ninth, with the Cardinals coming to bat in

a 2-2 tie—and leading the Series three games to one—the play-by-

play broadcast was halted by a voice with that finely articulated,

faintly Anglicized diction prized in a network news announcer

back in radio's earlier days: "We interrupt this program to bring

you an important bulletin. Presidential candidate Walter Winchell
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has been shot and killed. We repeat: Walter Winchell is dead. He

has been assassinated in Louisville, Kentucky, while addressing an

open-air political rally. That is all that is known at this time of the

Louisville assassination of Democratic presidential candidate Wal-

ter Winchell. We return to our regularly scheduled program."

It wasn't quite five p.m. My father had just left for the market in

Uncle Monty's truck, my mother had gone out to Chancellor Av-

enue a few minutes earlier to buy something for dinner, and my
single-minded brother was off in search of a trysting place to re-

sume importuning one of his after-school girls to grant him access

to her chest. I heard shouting in the street, then a scream from a

nearby house, but the game had come back on and the suspense

was tremendous: Red Ruffing pitching to the Cardinals' rookie

third baseman Whitey Kurowski, Cardinals catcher Walker Cooper

on first base with his sixth hit in five games, and the Cardinals

needing only this victory to take the Series. Rizzuto had homered

for the Yankees, the portentously surnamed Enos Slaughter had

homered for the Cardinals, and, as histrionic little fans like to tell

one another, I "knew" before Ruffing had even fired his first pitch

that Kurowski was about to hit a second Cardinal home run and

give the Cards their fourth straight victory after an opening-day

loss. I couldn't wait to run outside crying, "I knew it! I called it!

Kurowski was due!" But when Kurowski homered and the game

was over and I was out the door and headed at top speed down our

alleyway, I saw two members of the Jewish police—Big Gerry and

Duke Glick—running from one side of the street to the other to

bang on doors and shout into hallways, "They shot Winchell! Win-

chell is dead!"

Meanwhile more kids were rushing out of their houses, deliri-

ous with World Series excitement. But no sooner did they hit the

street howling Kurowski's name than Big Gerry began barking at

them, "Go get your bats! The war is on!" And he didn't mean the

war against Germany.

By evening there wasn't a Jewish family on our street that wasn't

barricaded behind double-locked doors, their radios playing non-
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stop to catch the latest bulletin and everyone phoning to tell every-

one else that Winchell had said nothing remotely inflammatory to

the Louisville crowd, that he had, in fact, begun his speech in what

could only have been intended as an open appeal to civic self-

esteem
—

"Mr. and Mrs. Louisville, Kentucky, proud citizens of the

unique American city that is home to the greatest horse race in the

world and birthplace of the very first Jewish justice of the United

States Supreme Court
—

" and yet before he could speak aloud the

name of Louis D. Brandeis, he'd been brought down by three bul-

lets to the back of the head. A second report, aired just moments

later, identified the spot where the murder occurred as only a few

yards from one of the most elegant municipal buildings con-

structed in the Greek Revival style in the whole of Kentucky, the

Jefferson County Courthouse, with its commanding statue of Tho-

mas Jefferson facing the street and a long, wide staircase leading up

to the grandly columned portico. The shots that killed Winchell

appeared to have been fired from one of the courthouse's large,

austere, beautifully proportioned front windows.

My mother began making her first calls immediately upon com-

ing in from shopping. I had stationed myself just inside the door

to tell her about Walter Winchell the instant she got home, but by

then she already knew the little there was to be known, first be-

cause the butcher's wife had phoned the store to repeat the news

bulletin to her husband just as he was wrapping my mother's or-

der, and then because of the bewilderment apparent among the

people out on the street, who were already scurrying for the safety

of their homes. Failing to reach my father, whose truck hadn't yet

pulled up at the market, she of course began to worry about my
brother, who was cutting it close once again and probably wouldn't

come rushing up the back stairs until seconds before he was due at

the kitchen table with his hands washed of the day's dirt and his

face scrubbed clean of lipstick. It was the worst moment imagina-

ble for either of them to be away and their precise whereabouts un-

known, but without taking time to unbag the groceries or to regis-
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ter her alarm, my mother said to me, "Get me the map. Get your

map of America."

There was a large folding map of the North American continent

squared away in a pocket inside volume one of the encyclopedia set

sold to us by a door-to-door salesman the year I started school. I

rushed into the sun parlor, where, shelved between the brass

George Washington bookends bought at Mount Vernon by my fa-

ther, was the whole of our library: the six-volume encyclopedia, a

leather-bound copy of the United States Constitution awarded by

Metropolitan Life, and the unabridged Webster's dictionary that

Aunt Evelyn had given Sandy for his tenth birthday. I opened the

map and spread it across the kitchen table's oilcloth covering,

whereupon my mother—using the magnifying glass that I'd re-

ceived from my parents for a seventh-birthday gift along with my
irreplaceable, unforgotten stamp album—searched for the speck in

north-central Kentucky that was the city of Danville.

In only seconds the two of us were back at the telephone table in

the foyer, above which hung yet another of my father's awards for

selling insurance, a framed copper engraving replicating the Dec-

laration of Independence. Local dial service within Essex County

was barely ten years old and probably a good third of the people in

Newark didn't as yet have any phone service at all—and most who

did were, like us, on a party line—and so the long-distance call was

still a wondrous phenomenon, not only because making one was

far from an ordinary household experience for a family of our

means but because no technological explanation, however basic,

could remove it entirely from the realm of magic.

My mother spoke to the operator very precisely to be sure that

nothing went wrong and we weren't charged by mistake for any-

thing extra. "I want to make a long-distance person-to-person call,

operator. To Danville, Kentucky. Person-to-person to Mrs. Selma

Wishnow. And please, operator, when my three minutes are up,

don't forget to tell me."

There was a long pause while the operator got the number from
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the directory operator. When my mother finally heard the call be-

ing placed, she signaled for me to put my ear beside hers but not to

speak.

"Hello!" Answering enthusiastically is Seldon.

Operator: "This is long distance. I have a person-to-person call

for Mrs. Selma Wistful."

"Uh-uh," Seldon mumbles.

"Is this Mrs. Wistful?"

"Hello? My mother's not home right now."

Operator: "I'm calling for Mrs. Selma Wistful
—

"

"Wishnow," my mother shouts. " Wish-now."

"Who's that?" Seldon says. "Who's calling?"

Operator: "Young lady, is your mother home?"

"I'm a boy," Seldon says. Taken aback. Another blow. They won't

stop coming. Yet he does sound girlish, his voice higher-pitched

even than when he'd been living downstairs. "My mother's not

home from work yet," Seldon says.

Operator: "Mrs. Wishnow is not at home, madam."

My mother looks at me and says, "What could have happened?

The boy is alone. Where could she be? He's all by himself. Opera-

tor, I'll talk to anyone."

Operator: "Go ahead, sir."

"Who's this?" Seldon asks.

"Seldon, it's Mrs. Roth. From Newark."

"Mrs. Roth?"

"Yes. I'm calling long distance to speak to your mother."

"From Newark?"

"You know who I am."

"But it sounds like you're just down the street."

"Well, I'm not. This is a long-distance call. Seldon, where's your

mother?"

"I'm just having a snack. I'm waiting for her to come home from

work. I'm having some Fig Newtons. And some milk."

"Seldon—"

"I'm waiting for her to come home from work—she works late.

• 276 •



THE WINCHELL RIOTS

She always works late. I just sit here. Sometimes I have a snack
—

"

"Seldon, stop right there. Be still a moment."

"And then she comes home and she makes dinner. But she's late

every night."

Here my mother turns to me and makes to hand me the phone.

"Talk to him. He won't listen when I speak."

"Talk to him about what?" I say, waving the phone away.

"Is Philip there?" Seldon asks.

"Just a moment, Seldon," my mother says.

"Is Philip there?" Seldon repeats.

To me, my mother says, "Take the phone, please."

"But what am I supposed to say?" I ask.

"Just get on the phone," and she places the receiver in my one

hand and lifts the speaker for me to hold in the other.

"Hello, Seldon?" I say.

Softly tentative, unbelieving, he replies, "Philip?"

"Yes. Hi, Seldon."

"Hey, you know, I don't have any friends in school."

I tell him, "We want to speak to your mother."

"My mother's at work. She works late every night. I'm having a

snack. I'm having some Fig Newtons and a glass of milk. It's going

to be my birthday in about a week and my mother said I could have

a party
—

"

"Seldon, wait a minute."

"But I don't have any friends."

"Seldon, I have to ask my mother a question. Just wait." I muz-

zle the speaker and whisper to her, "What am I supposed to say to

him?"

My mother whispers, "Ask him if he knows what happened

today in Louisville."

"Seldon, my mother wants to know if you know what happened

today in Louisville."

"I live in Danville. I live in Danville, Kentucky. I'm just waiting

for my mom to come home. I'm having a snack. Did something

happen in Louisville?"
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"Just a minute, Seldon," I say. "Now what?" I whisper to my
mother.

"Just talk to him, please. Keep talking to him. And if the opera-

tor says the three minutes are up, you tell me."

"Why are you calling?" Seldon asks. "Are you going to come

visit?"

"No."

"Remember when I saved your life?" he says.

"Yes, I do. I remember."

"Hey, what time is it there? Are you in Newark? Are you on Sum-

mit Avenue?"

"We told you we were. Yes."

"It's really clear, isn't it? It sounds like you're just down the

block. I wish you could come over and have a snack with me, and

then you could be here for my birthday party next week. I don't

have any friends to invite to my birthday party. I don't have any-

body to play chess with. I'm sitting here now practicing my open-

ing move. Remember my opening move? I move out the pawn

that's just in front of the king. Remember when I tried to teach

you? I move out the king's pawn, remember? Then I put out the

bishop, then I move the knight, and then the other knight—and

remember the move when there's no pieces between the king and

one of the rooks? When I move my king over two spaces to protect

him?"

"Seldon—"

My mother whispers, "Tell him you miss him."

"Ma!" I say to her.

"Tell him, Philip."

"I miss you, Seldon."

"Do you want to come over for a snack then? I mean it sounds

like—are you really just down the street?"

"No, this is a long-distance phone call."

"What time is it there?"

"It's, uh—about ten to six."

"Oh, it's ten to six here. My mom should already be home
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around five. Five-thirty the latest. One night she came home at

nine"

"Seldon," I say, "do you know that Walter Winchell was killed?"

"Who's that?" he asks.

"Let me finish. Walter Winchell was killed in Louisville, Ken-

tucky. In your state. Today."

"I'm sorry to hear that. Who is that?"

Operator: "Your three minutes are up, sir."

"Is that your uncle?" Seldon asks. "Is that your uncle who came

to see you? Is he dead?"

"No, no," I say, and I'm thinking that, alone now out in Ken-

tucky, he sounds as though he were the one who was kicked in the

head. He sounds stunned. Stunted. He sounds stopped. And yet he

was the smartest kid in our class.

My mother takes the phone. "Seldon, this is Mrs. Roth. I want

you to write something down."

"Okay. I have to go find a piece of paper. And a pencil."

Waiting. Waiting. "Seldon?" my mother says.

More waiting.

"Okay," he says.

"Seldon, write this down. This is now costing a lot of money."

"I'm sorry, Mrs. Roth. I just couldn't find a pencil in the house.

I was at the kitchen table. I was having a snack."

"Seldon, write down that Mrs. Roth
—

"

"Okay."

"—called from Newark."

"From Newark. Gosh. I wish I was still in Newark, living down-

stairs. You know, I saved Philip's life."

"Mrs. Roth called from Newark to be sure
—

"

"Just a minute. I'm writing."

"—to be sure everything is okay."

"Is something supposed to not be okay? I mean Philip's all right.

And you're okay. Is Mr. Roth okay?"

"Yes, thank you for asking, Seldon. Tell your mother that's why I

called. There's nothing to worry about here."
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"Should I be worried about something?"

"No. Just eat your snack
—

"

"I think I've had enough Fig Newtons now, but thanks anyway."

"Goodbye, Seldon
."

"I like Fig Newtons, though."

"Goodbye, Seldon."

"Mrs. Roth?"

"Yes?"

"Is Philip going to come visit me? It's my birthday next week

and I don't have anybody to invite for my birthday party. I don't

have any friends in Danville. The kids here call me Saltine. I have

to play chess with a kid who's six years old. He lives next door. He's

the only one I can play with. One kid. I taught him chess. Some-

times he makes moves you can't do. Or he moves his queen and I

have to tell him not to. I win all the time but it's really no fun. But

I have nobody else to play with."

"Seldon, it's hard for everyone. It's hard for everyone now.

Goodbye, Seldon." And she placed the receiver onto the hook and

began to sob.

Only days before, on October first, the two Summit Avenue flats

vacated in September by the "homesteaders of 1942"—the one be-

neath ours and another across the street, three doors down—were

occupied by Italian families up from the First Ward. Essentially

their new living quarters had been assigned to them by outright

government edict, though with the sweetening incentive of a rent

discount of fifteen percent (or $6.37 on their monthly $42.50) over

a five-year period, that money to be paid directly to the landlord by

the Department of the Interior over the life of the initial three-year

lease and for the first two years of a lease's three-year renewal. Such

arrangements derived from a previously unpublicized section of

the homesteading plan called the Good Neighbor Project, designed

to introduce a steadily increasing number of non-Jewish residents

into predominantly Jewish neighborhoods and in this way "en-

rich" the "Americanness" of everyone involved. What one heard at

• 280 •



THE WINCHELL RIOTS

home, however—and sometimes even at school from our teach-

ers—was that the underlying goal of the Good Neighbor Project,

like that of Just Folks, was to weaken the solidarity of the Jewish so-

cial structure as well as to diminish whatever electoral strength a

Jewish community might have in local and congressional elections.

If the displacing of Jewish families and their replacement by the

conscripting of Gentile families followed the timetable of the

agency's master plan, a Christian majority might well be dominant

in at least half of America's twenty most heavily populated Jewish

neighborhoods as early as the start of Lindbergh's second term and

a resolution of America's Jewish Question close at hand, by one

means or another.

The family conscripted to move in downstairs from us—

a

mother, a father, a son, and a grandmother—were the Cucuzzas.

Because of my father's years of canvassing the First Ward, where

the customers whose tiny premiums he collected each month were

by and large Italians, he was already familiar with the new tenants,

and consequently, when he got home from work on the morning

after Mr. Cucuzza, a night watchman, had trucked the family's pos-

sessions up from their cold-water flat in a tenement building on

a side street not far from Holy Sepulchre Cemetery, my father

stopped off first at the downstairs door to see if, despite his ap-

pearing there without a coat and a tie and with dirty hands, the

elderly grandmother would recognize him as the insurance man
who'd sold her husband the policy that had provided the family

with the means to bury him.

The "other" Cucuzzas (relatives of "our" Cucuzzas, who'd moved

from their own First Ward cold-water flat to the house three doors

away) were a much larger family—three sons, a daughter, the two

parents, and a grandfather—and potentially noisier, more disrup-

tive neighbors. They were associated through the grandfather and

the father with Ritchie "the Boot" Boiardo, the mobster who ruled

Newark's Italian precincts and constituted the city's only serious

competitor to Longy's underworld monopoly. To be sure, the fa-

ther, Tommy, was but one of a bevy of underlings and, like his own
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retired father, doubled as a waiter at Boiardo's popular restaurant,

the Vittorio Castle, when he wasn't making the rounds of the tav-

erns, barber shops, brothels, schoolyards, and candy stores of the

Third Ward slums to extract their pocket change from the Negroes

who faithfully played the daily numbers game. Regardless of reli-

gion, the other Cucuzzas were hardly the sort of neighbors my par-

ents wanted anywhere near their impressionable young sons, and

to comfort us at breakfast on Sunday morning my father explained

how much worse off we would have been if we'd gotten the num-

bers runner and his three boys instead of the night watchman and

his son, Joey, an eleven-year-old recently enrolled at St. Peter's and,

by my father's report, a good-natured kid with a hearing problem

who had little in common with his roughneck cousins. Whereas

down in the First Ward all four ofTommy Cucuzza's kids had gone

to the local public school, here they'd been enrolled along with

Joey at St. Peter's rather than at a public school like ours, brimming

with brainy little Jews.

Since my father had left work only a few hours after the Winchell

assassination and, over Uncle Monty's angry objections, driven

back home to spend the remainder of that tense evening beside his

wife and his children, the four of us were seated together at the

kitchen table waiting for the radio to bring fresh news when Mr.

Cucuzza and Joey came up the back stairway to pay a visit. They

knocked on the door and then had to wait on the landing until my
father was sure who was there.

Mr. Cucuzza was a bald, hulking man, six and a half feet tall,

weighing over two hundred and fifty pounds, and he was dressed

for work in his night watchman's uniform, a dark blue shirt, freshly

pressed dark blue trousers, and a wide black belt that along with

holding up his trousers supported several pounds of the most ex-

traordinary collection of equipment I'd ever been close enough to

reach out and touch. There were keys in bunches each the size of a

hand grenade hanging to the side of either pants pocket, there was

a set of real handcuffs, and a night watchman's clock in its black
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case dangled by a strap from the polished belt buckle. At first

glance, I took the clock for a bomb, but there was no mistaking for

other than what it was the pistol in a holster at his waist. A longish

flashlight that had to have doubled as a blackjack was stuck lamp

upward into his back pocket, and high on one sleeve of his starched

workshirt was a triangular white patch whose blue lettering read

"Special Guard."

Joey was also big—only two years my senior and already twice

my weight—and to me the equipment he sported was nearly as in-

triguing as his father's. Looking like a wad of molded bubble gum
plugging the hole of his right ear was a hearing aid attached by a

thin wire to a round black case with a dial on the front that he wore

clipped to his shirt pocket; another wire attached to a battery about

the size of a large cigarette lighter that he carried around in his

pants pocket. And in his hands he carried a cake, a gift from his

mother to mine.

Joey's gift was the cake, Mr. Cucuzza's was a pistol. He owned

two, one that he wore for work and the other that he kept hidden

away at home. He'd come to offer my father the spare.

"Nice of you," my father said to him, "but I really don't know

how to shoot."

"You pulla the trig'." Mr. Cucuzza had a surprisingly soft voice

for someone so enormous, though with a raspy edge to it, as if it

had been exposed too long to the weather during his hours of

walking the watchman's beat. And his accent was so enjoyable to

hear that when I was alone I sometimes pretended that the way he

talked was the way I talked too. How many times did I entertain

myself by saying aloud "You pulla the trig' "? With the exception of

Joey's American-born mother, our Cucuzzas all had oddish voices,

the bewhiskered grandmother's being oddest of all, odder even

than Joey's, which sounded less like a voice than like the unin-

flected echo of a voice. And odd not just because she went around

speaking only Italian, whether to others (including me) or to her-

self while she swept the back stairway or kneeled in the dirt plant-

ing her vegetables in our minute backyard or just stood muttering
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in the dark doorway. Hers was oddest because it sounded like a

man's—she looked like a tiny old man in a long black dress and she

sounded like one too, particularly when barking the commands

and decrees and injunctions that Joey never dared disobey. The

playful half of him, the soul that the nuns and the priests never saw

enough of to save, was virtually all that I ever encountered when

we two were alone. Why it was hard to feel too sorry about his

hearing was because Joey was himself a very jolly, prankish boy

with his own brand of hooting laughter, a talkative, curious, mon-

umentally gullible boy whose mind moved quickly if unpredict-

ably. It was hard to feel sorry for him, yet when he was around

his family Joey's obedience was so painstakingly thorough that I

found it almost as astonishing to contemplate as the painstakingly

thorough lawlessness of a Shushy Margulis. There couldn't have

been a better son in all of Italian Newark, which was why my own

mother soon found him irresistible—his faultless filial devotion

and his long dark eyelashes, the way he imploringly looked at

adults, waiting to be told what to do, allowed her to set aside the

uneasy aloofness that was her inbuilt defense against Gentiles. The

old-country grandmother, however, gave her—and me—the willies.

"You aim," Mr. Cucuzza explained to my father, using a finger

and a thumb to demonstrate, "and uhyou shoot. You aim and uh-

you shoot and that's it."

"I don't need it," my father said.

"But ifuh they come roun'," Mr. Cucuzza said, "how you gonna

protect?"

"Cucuzza, I was born in the city of Newark in the year nineteen

hundred and one," my father told him. "All my life I have paid my
rent on time, I have paid my taxes on time, and I have paid my bills

on time. I've never cheated on an employer for as much as a dime.

I have never tried to cheat the United States government. I believe

in this country. I love this country."

"Me too," said our massive new downstairs neighbor, whose

wide black belt might have been hung with shrunken heads, given
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the enchantment that it continued to cast over me. "I come-uh

here I was uhten. Best country anyplace. No Mussolini here."

"I'm glad you feel that way, Cucuzza. It's a tragedy for Italy, it's a

human tragedy for people like you."

"Mussolini, Hitler—make-uh me sick."

"You know what I love, Cucuzza? Election Day," my father told

him. "I love to vote. Since I was old enough, I have not missed an

election. In 1924 I voted against Mr. Coolidge and for Mr. Davis,

and Mr. Coolidge won. And we all know what Mr. Coolidge did for

the poor people of this country. In 1928 I voted against Mr. Hoover

and for Mr. Smith, and Mr. Hoover won. And we know what he did

for the poor people of this country. In 1932 I voted against Mr.

Hoover for the second time and for Mr. Roosevelt for the first time,

and, thank God, Mr. Roosevelt won, and he put America back on

its feet. He took this country out of the Depression and he gave the

people what he promised—a new deal. In 1936 I voted against Mr.

Landon and for Mr. Roosevelt, and again Mr. Roosevelt won—two

states, Maine and Vermont, that is all Mr. Landon is able to carry.

Can't even carry Kansas. Mr. Roosevelt sweeps the country by the

biggest presidential vote there has ever been, and once again he

keeps every promise to the working people that he made in that

campaign. And so what do the voters up and do in nineteen hun-

dred and forty? They elect a fascist instead. Not just an idiot like

Coolidge, not just a fool like Hoover, but an out-and-out fascist

with a medal to prove it. They put in a fascist and a fascist rabble-

rouser, Mr. Wheeler, as his sidekick, and they put Mr. Ford into the

cabinet, not only an anti-Semite right up there with Hitler but a

slave driver who has turned the workingman into a human ma-

chine. And so tonight you come to me, sir, in my own home, and

you offer me a pistol. In America in the year nineteen hundred and

forty-two, a brand-new neighbor, a man I do not even know yet,

has to come here and offer me a pistol in order for me to protect

my family from Mr. Lindbergh's anti-Semitic mob. Well, don't you

think I'm not grateful, Cucuzza. I will never forget your concern.
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But I am a citizen of the United States of America, and so is my
wife, and so are my children, and so," he said, his voice catching,

"and so was Mr. Walter Winchell
—

"

But now, suddenly, there is a radio bulletin about Walter Win-

chell. "Shhh!" my father says. "Shhh!" as though in the kitchen some-

one other than himself had been the orator holding forth. We all

listen—even Joey appears to listen—the way birds flock to migrate

and fish swim in a school.

The body of Walter Winchell, slain that day at a political rally in

Louisville, Kentucky, by a suspected American Nazi Party assassin

working in collaboration with the Ku Klux Klan, will be carried

overnight by train from Louisville to Pennsylvania Station in New
York City. There, by order of Mayor Fiorello La Guardia and under

the protection of the New York City police, the body will lie in state

in the great hall of the train station throughout the morning. Ac-

cording to Jewish custom, a funeral service will be held that same

day, at two p.m. in Temple Emanu-El, New York's largest synagogue.

A public-address system will broadcast the proceedings beyond the

temple to a gathering of mourners on Fifth Avenue expected to

number in the tens of thousands. Along with Mayor La Guardia,

speakers will include Democratic senator James Mead, New York's

Jewish governor, Herbert Lehman, and the former president of the

United States, Franklin D. Roosevelt.

"It's happening!" my father cries. "He's back! FDR is back!"

"We need him bad," Mr. Cucuzza says.

"Boys," he asks, "do you understand what is happening?" and

here he throws his arms around Sandy and me. "It's the beginning

of the end of fascism in America! No Mussolini here, Cucuzza—no

more Mussolini here!"
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October 1942

Bad Days

Alvin appeared at our house the next night, driving a

brand-new green Buick and with a fiancee named Minna

Schapp. "Fiancee" always got me when I heard the word

spoken as a kid. It made whoever she was sound like somebody

special—then she showed up and she was just some girl who, when

she met the family, was afraid to say the wrong thing. The special

one here wasn't the intended wife anyway but the intended father-

in-law, a masterful deal-maker prepared to deliver Alvin from the

game-machine business—where, assisted by two strong-arm thugs

who lifted the freight and fended off evildoers, my cousin was em-

ployed trucking and setting up the illegal machines—and into a

hand-tailored Hong Kong silk suit and a white-on-white mono-

grammed shirt as an Atlantic City restaurateur. Though Mr. Schapp

had himself started out in the twenties as Pinball Billy Schapiro, a

two-bit hustler associated with the worst hoods from the most

rundown row houses on the most violent streets of the South

Philly badlands—among them the uncle of Shushy Margulis—by

1942 the return on the pinballs and the slots amounted to upward

of fifteen thousand unreported dollars each week, and Pinball Billy

had been regenerated as William F. Schapp II, highly esteemed

member of the Green Valley Country Club, of the Jewish fraternal

organization Brith Achim (where on Saturday nights he took his

dynamic wife in her gigantic jewels to dance to the music of Jackie
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Jacobs and his Jolly Jazzers), and of Har Zion Synagogue (through

whose burial society he purchased a family plot in a beautifully

landscaped corner of the synagogue's cemetery), as well as the ma-

harajah of an eighteen-room mansion in suburban Merion and

wintertime occupant of a poor boy's dream of a penthouse suite

annually reserved for him at the Miami Beach Eden Roc.

At thirty-one, Minna was eight years Alvin's senior, a buttery-

complexioned woman with a browbeaten look who, when she even

dared to speak in her babyish voice, enunciated each word as

though she had only just learned to tell time. She was every inch

the child of overbearing parents, but because the father owned, in

addition to the Intercity Carting Company—the public face of the

gaming-machine operation—half an acre of lobster house across

from the Steel Pier where people lined up twice around the block

to get in on weekends, and because back in the early thirties, when

Prohibition ended and Pinball Billy's lucrative side interest in

Waxey Gordon's interstate bootlegging syndicate suddenly dried

up, he'd established Philadelphia's "Original Schapp's"—the steak

house popular with what in Philly they called the Jew Mob—Pin-

ball Billy figured strongly with Alvin as Minna's advocate. "The

contract goes like this," Schapp told him when he handed Alvin the

cash to buy his daughter's engagement ring. "Minna takes care of

your leg, you take care of Minna, and I take care of you."

That's how my cousin came to don the hand-tailored suits and

to arrogate to himself the glamorous responsibility for ushering

to their tables big-name customers such as Jersey City's crooked

mayor, Frank Hague; New Jersey's light-heavyweight champion,

Gus Lesnevich; and racket tycoons like Cleveland's Moe Dalitz,

Boston's King Solomon, L.A.'s Mickey Cohen, and even "the Brain"

himself, Meyer Lansky, when they were in town for a gangland

convention. And regularly, every September, to welcome fresh

from her pageant triumph, the newly crowned Miss America with

all her befuddled relatives in tow. Once everyone was lavishly com-

plimented and into their silly lobster bibs, it was Alvin's pleasure to
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signal to the waiter, by a snap of his fingers, that the house would

pick up the tab.

Pinball Billy's one-legged future son-in-law soon gained a nick-

name of his own, Showy, bestowed on him, as Alvin told everyone,

by Allie Stolz, the contender for the world lightweight title. Alvin

was up from Philly to visit with Stolz—like Gus Lesnevich, a New-

ark boy—the day he and Minna wound up at our house for dinner.

Stolz had fought and lost a fifteen-round decision against the light-

weight champion in Madison Square Garden the previous May
and was training that fall at Marsillo's Market Street gym for a

November fight against Beau Jack that would gain him a shot at

Tippy Larkin if he won. "Once Allie gets past Beau Jack," Alvin said,

"there's just Larkin between him and the title, and Larkin's got a

glass jaw."

Glass jaw. Phony-baloney. A going-over. A hard guy. What's his

beef? I'll take the grunt. The oldest dodge in the world. Alvin had

a new vocabulary and a whole new ostentatious way of talking that

it clearly pained my parents to hear. Yet when he said adoringly of

Stolz's generosity, "Allie's a guy who is rapid with the dollar," I

couldn't wait to sound like a hard guy myself by repeating the

amazing expression at school along with the extensive medley of

slang that Alvin now used just for the word "money."

Minna was silent during the meal—though my mother tried

mightily to draw her out—I was overcome by shyness, and my fa-

ther could think of nothing but the synagogue bombing that had

taken place in Cincinnati the previous night and the looting of

Jewish-owned stores in American cities scattered across two time

zones. This was the second night in a row that he'd walked out on

Uncle Monty rather than leave the family alone on Summit Av-

enue, but he couldn't worry about his brother's wrath at a time like

this, and instead all through dinner kept getting up to go into the

living room to turn on the radio and hear what news there was in

the aftermath of the Winchell funeral. Alvin, meanwhile, was able

to talk only about "Allie" and his quest for the world boxing crown
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as though the lightweight contender native to Newark embodied

Alvin's profoundest conception of the human race. Couid the

abandonment have been any more complete of the moral code that

had cost him his leg? He had disposed of whatever once stood be-

tween him and the aspirations of a Shushy Margulis—he had dis-

posed of us.

I wondered, when I met her, if Alvin had even told Minna that

he was an amputee. It didn't occur to me that her subjugated per-

sonality was precisely what made her the first and only woman
Alvin could tell, nor did I understand that Minna was the evidence

of his incapacity with women. His stump, in fact, constituted

Alvin's greatest success with Minna, particularly after Schapp died

in i960 and Minna's worthless brother took over the slots, while

Alvin was content just to acquire the restaurants and to begin run-

ning with the best-looking hookers in two states. Whenever the

stump cracked and got sore and bloody and infected—which it did

as a result of his many follies—Minna immediately stepped in and

wouldn't allow him to wear his prosthesis. Alvin would say to her,

"For Christ's sake, don't worry about it, it'll be all right," but here

alone Minna prevailed. "You can't put a load on that leg," she'd tell

him, "till you get it fixed"—meaning the artificial leg, which was

always, in the legmaker's phrase that Alvin had taught me back

when I, not yet nine, was the mothering Minna, "losing its fit."

When Alvin got older and his stump broke down all the time from

bearing all the weight he'd gained, when he had to be without the

prosthesis for weeks on end until it healed, Minna would drive him

to the public beach in the summertime and watch fully clothed

from under a big umbrella while he played for hours in the all-

healing surf, bobbing in the waves and floating on his back and

spouting saltwater geysers into the air and then, to throw a scare

into the tourists crowding the beach, emerging from the water

screaming "Shark! Shark!" while pointing in horror at his stump.

Alvin showed up with Minna for dinner after phoning that

morning to tell my mother that he was going to be in North Jersey

and wanted to stop by to thank his aunt and uncle for all they had
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done for him when he'd come home from the commandos and

given everyone a hard time. He had a lot to be grateful for, he said,

and he wanted to make peace with the two of them and to see the

two boys, and to introduce his fiancee. That's what he said and that

may even have been what he had in mind before he came face to

face with my father and the memory of my father's reforming in-

stincts—and the fact of their innate antipathy, the antipathy as

human types that was really there from the start—and it was why,

when I got home from school and heard the news, I dug down into

my drawer and found his medal and, for the first time since he'd

left for Philly, pinned it back on my undershirt.

Of course it was hardly an ideal day for a conciliatory visit from

the family's black sheep. There'd been no anti-Semitic violence re-

ported in Newark or in the other major New Jersey cities during

the night, but the firebombing of the synagogue that subsequently

burned to the ground some hundred miles up the Ohio River from

Louisville, in Cincinnati, and the random window-smashing and

looting of Jewish-owned stores in eight other cities (St. Louis, Buf-

falo, and Pittsburgh the three largest) did nothing to diminish fear

that the spectacle of Walter Winchell's Jewish funeral just across

the Hudson in New York—and the demonstrations and counter-

demonstrations coinciding with all the solemn observances—could

easily provoke an outbreak of violence a lot closer to home. At

school, first thing in the morning, a special half-hour assembly

program had been called for grades four through eight. Along with

a representative from the Board of Education, a deputy from Mayor

Murphy's office, and the current president of the PTA, the princi-

pal spelled out the measures being taken to ensure our safety dur-

ing the day and offered ten rules that would protect us from harm

on our way to and from school. While no mention was made of

Bullet Apfelbaum's Jewish police—who'd been on the streets all

night long and were still there in the morning, drinking hot cof-

fee out of thermoses and eating powdered doughnuts donated by

Lehrhoff's bakery when Sandy and I started off for school—we

were assured by the mayor's deputy that "until normal conditions

291



OCTOBER 1942

are restored," extra details of city police would be patrolling the

neighborhood and we were instructed not to be alarmed if we

found a uniformed policeman stationed at each of the school doors

and a policeman in the corridors. Two mimeographed sheets were

then distributed to every pupil, one listing the rules to obey on the

street, which our teachers would go over with us when we returned

to our homerooms, and the other to take to our parents to advise

them of the new safety procedures. If there were questions, our

parents should direct them to Mrs. Sisselman, the PTA president

who'd succeeded my mother.

We ate in the dining room, where we last had a meal when Aunt

Evelyn had brought Rabbi Bengelsdorf to meet us. After Alvin's

call, my mother (whose inability to hold a personal grudge Alvin

would have known he could count on the moment he heard her

answer the phone) went off to buy food for a dinner that would es-

pecially please him, and this despite the anxiety aroused in her

each time she had to unlock the door and go back out on the street.

That armed Newark cops were now walking the beat and cruising

the local streets in squad cars gave her only slightly more assurance

than did the glimpses of Bullet Apfelbaum's Jewish police, and so,

like anyone else shopping in a city under siege, she wound up all

but running back and forth to Chancellor Avenue to pick up every-

thing she needed. In the kitchen she proceeded to bake the choco-

late layer cake with chocolate icing and chopped walnuts that had

been Alvin's favorite and to peel the potatoes and chop the onions

for the latkes that Alvin could devour by the batch, and the house

still smelled of the baking and frying and broiling that had been

touched off by the unexpected homecoming when Alvin drove his

new Buick into the alleyway. There (where we'd run pass plays to-

gether with the football I stole) Alvin pulled up behind the little

Ford pickup that Mr. Cucuzza used to move people's furniture as a

second job and that happened to be parked in the garage because

it was the night watchman's day off, and on his day off he slept

round the clock.
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Alvin arrived wearing a pearl-gray sharkskin suit padded heav-

ily at the shoulders, perforated two-tone wingtip shoes with taps

on the toes, and bearing gifts for all: Aunt Bess's was a white apron

decorated with red roses, Sandy's a sketchpad, mine a Phillies cap,

and Uncle Herman's a certificate entitling a family of four to a free

lobster dinner at the Atlantic City restaurant. His giving us all pres-

ents reassured me that just because he'd run off to Philadelphia, he

hadn't forgotten all the good stuff he'd found in our house in the

years preceding his losing his leg. It certainly did not look then and

there as though we were a divided family or that when dinner was

over—and Minna already in the kitchen taking a lesson in latke-

making from my mother—a battle royal could possibly break out

between my father and Alvin. Perhaps if Alvin hadn't shown up in

his flashy clothes and his snazzy car all but seething with the raw

carnality of Marsillo's gym and exuberant with the imminent ac-

quisition of undreamed-of wealth . . . perhaps if Winchell hadn't

been assassinated twenty-four hours earlier and the worst that had

been feared when Lindbergh first took office hadn't seemed closer

to befalling us than ever before . . . perhaps then the two grown

men who mattered most to me throughout my childhood might

never have come so close to murdering each other.

Before that night, I'd had no idea my father was so well suited

for wreaking havoc or equipped to make that lightning-quick

transformation from sanity to lunacy that is indispensable in en-

acting the unbridled urge to destroy. Unlike Uncle Monty he pre-

ferred never to speak of the ordeal of a Jewish tenement kid on

Runyon Street before World War One, when the Irish, armed with

sticks and rocks and iron pipes, regularly came streaming up

through the viaduct underpasses of the Ironbound section seeking

vengeance against the Christ-killers of the Jewish Third Ward, and

much as he enjoyed taking Sandy and me to Laurel Garden on

Springfield Avenue when tickets to a good match came his way,

men fighting each other outside a boxing ring appalled him. That

he'd always had a muscular physique I knew from a snapshot taken

when he was eighteen and pasted by my mother into the family
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photo album alongside the only other photograph surviving from

his youth, a picture of him at the age of six standing next to Uncle

Monty, three years older and close to a foot and a half taller—two

ragtag kids stiffly posing in their ancient overalls and their dirty

shirts and with their caps pushed back just far enough to reveal the

cruelty of their haircuts. In that sepia photo of him at eighteen he's

already a million miles from childhood, a full-fledged force of na-

ture standing cross-armed in his bathing suit on the sunny beach

at Spring Lake, New Jersey, the immovable keystone at the base of

a human pyramid of six raffish hotel waiters enjoying their after-

noon off. As evidenced in that 1919 photo, he'd been powerful

through the chest right from the start, and the yoke-bearing shoul-

ders and brawny arms he had somehow retained even through his

years knocking on doors for Metropolitan Life, so that now, at

forty-one, after having worked hauling heavy crates and lifting

hundred-pound sacks six nights a week all through September,

there was probably more explosive strength stored up in that body

than ever before in his life.

Prior to that night, it would have been as impossible for me to

envision him beating somebody up—let alone battering bloody his

beloved older brother's fatherless son—as to imagine him atop my
mother, especially as there was no taboo stronger among Jews

with our impoverished European origins and our tenaciously held

American ambitions than the pervasive, unwritten prohibition

against settling disputes by force. In that era, the common Jewish

propensity was by and large nonviolent as well as nonalcoholic, a

virtue whose shortcoming was the failure to educate the bulk of

the young of my generation in the combative aggression that was

the first law of other ethnic educations and indisputably of great

practical value when you couldn't negotiate your way out of vio-

lence or manage to run away. Among, say, the several hundred boys

in my elementary school between the ages of five and fourteen who

were not chromosomally preordained to be top-flight lightweights

like Allie Stolz or successful racketeers like Longy Zwillman, surely

far fewer fistfights broke out than in any of the other neighbor-
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hood schools in industrial Newark, where the ethical obligations of

a child were differently defined and schoolmates demonstrated

their belligerence by means not readily available to us.

So then, for every reason imaginable it was a devastating night.

I didn't have the capacity in 1942 to begin to decipher all the awful

implications, but just the sight of my father's and Alvin's blood was

stunning enough. Blood spattered the length and breadth of our

imitation Oriental rug, blood dripping from the splintered re-

mains of our coffee table, blood smeared like a sign across my fa-

ther's forehead, blood spurting from my cousin's nose—and the

two of them not so much fistfighting, not so much wrestling as

caroming, with a terrible bony thwack colliding, rearing back and

charging in like men with antlers branching from their brows, fan-

tastical, cross-species creatures sprung from mythology into our

living room and pulping each other's flesh with their massive,

snaggletoothed horns. Inside a house you usually scale down your

movements, you scale down your speed, but here the scale of things

was reversed and terrifying to behold. The South Boston riots, the

Detroit riots, the Louisville assassination, the Cincinnati firebomb-

ing, the mayhem in St. Louis, Pittsburgh, Buffalo, Akron, Youngs-

town, Peoria, Scranton, and Syracuse . . . and now this: in an ordi-

nary family living room—traditionally the staging area for the

collective effort to hold the line against the intrusions of a hostile

world—the anti-Semites were about to be abetted in their exhila-

rating solution to America's worst problem by our taking up the

cudgels and hysterically destroying ourselves.

The horror ended with Mr. Cucuzza, in his nightshirt and his

nightcap (attire I'd never before seen on anyone, man or boy, other

than in a funny movie), crashing into our flat with his pistol

drawn. A frantic wail rose from Joey's Old World grandmother, ap-

propriately swathed like the Calabrian Queen of the Shades at the

foot of our landing—and from within our own flat came a noise

equally hair-raising the instant the splintered back door flew open

and my mother saw that the nightshirted intruder was armed.

Minna began bringing up into her hands everything she'd just
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swallowed at dinner, I couldn't help myself and promptly urinated,

while Sandy, who alone among us was able to find the right words

and the vocal strength to utter them, cried, "Don't shoot! It's Al-

vin!" But Mr. Cucuzza was a professional guardian of private prop-

erty trained to act now and draw distinctions later and—without

pausing to ask "Who's Alvin?"—immobilized my father's assailant

in a strangulating half nelson with one arm while holding the pis-

tol to his head with the hand of the other.

Alvin's prosthesis had cracked in two, his stump was torn to

shreds, and one of his wrists was broken. Three of my father's front

teeth were shattered, two ribs were fractured, a gash was opened

along his right cheekbone that had to be sutured with almost twice

as many stitches as were needed to close the wound inflicted on me
by the orphanage horse, and his neck was so badly wrenched that

he had to go around in a high steel collar for months afterward.

The glass-topped coffee table with the dark mahogany frame that

my mother had saved over the years to buy at Barn's (and where, at

the conclusion of a pleasant hour of evening reading, she would set

down, with its ribboned bookmark in place, the new novel by Pearl

Buck or Fannie Hurst or Edna Ferber borrowed from the local

pharmacy's tiny rental library) lay in fragments all across the

room, and microscopic crumbs of glass were embedded in my fa-

ther's hands. The rug, the walls, and the furniture were speckled

with chocolate icing (from the slices of layer cake they had been

eating when they sat down over dessert to talk together in the liv-

ing room) as well as with their blood, and then there was the smell

of it—the airless, gag-inducing slaughterhouse smell.

It's so heartbreaking, violence, when it's in a house—like seeing

the clothes in a tree after an explosion. You may be prepared to see

death but not the clothes in the tree.

And all of it the result of my father's failing to understand that

Alvin's nature was never really reformable, despite the lecturing

and the hectoring love—all of it the result of having taken him in

to save him from what it was simply in his nature to become. All of

it the result of my father's looking Alvin over and remembering the
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tragically evanescent life of Alvin's late father, and, in his despair,

sadly shaking his head and saying, "A Buick automobile, a sharpie's

suits, the scum of the earth for your friends—but do you know, do

you care, does it bother you at all, Alvin, what's happening in this

country tonight? It did years ago, damn it. I can remember clear as

day when it did. But now no. Now it's big cigars and motor cars.

But do you have any idea at all what is happening to the Jews even

while we sit here?"

And Alvin, whose lot had finally come to something, whose

prospects never before had been so hopeful, could not bear and

would not endure being informed by the custodian whose tutelage

had once meant everything—by the relative who, when no one else

would have him, had twice taken him to live in a homey little Wee-

quahic flat amid a kindly family and their benign concerns—that

he had come to nothing. His voice husky with the grievance of the

injured party, his delivery staccato and without a single caesura to

let anything in that wasn't retaliatory, all calumny, all castigation,

all coercion and fatuous bluff, Alvin shouted at my father, "The

Jews? I wrecked my life for the Jews! I lost my fuckin' leg for the

Jews! I lost my fuckin' leg for you! What did I give a shit either way

about Lindbergh? But you send me to go fuckin' fight him, and the

stupid fuckin' kid I am, I go. And look, look, Uncle Fucking Disas-

ter—/ have no fucking leg!"

Here he hiked up a handful of the pearl-gray fabric in which he

was so lustrously clad to reveal where there was indeed no longer a

lower limb of flesh and blood and muscle and bone. And then, in-

sulted, negated, inwardly once again the unmanned man (and the

bum kid), he added his final heroic touch by spitting into my fa-

ther's face. A family, my father liked to say, is both peace and war,

but this was family war as I could never have imagined it. Spitting

into my father's face the way he'd spit into the face of that dead

German soldier!

If only he had been allowed to go along unrehabilitated, on his

own stinking trajectory, but that hadn't happened, and so this was

how the great menace undid us and the abomination of violence
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entered our house, and I saw how bitterness blinds a man and the

defilement it spawns.

And why, why did he go to fight in the first place? Why did he

fight and why did he fall? Because there is a war going on, he chooses

that way—the raging, rebellious instinct historically trapped! If only

the times were different, if only he had been smarter . . . But he

wants to fight. He's like the very fathers he wants to be rid of. That's

the tyranny of the problem. Trying to be faithful to what he's try-

ing to be rid of. Trying to be faithful and to get rid of what he's

faithful to at the same time. And that's why he went to fight in the

first place, as best I can figure it out.

Later that night, after a pair of Alvin's buddies had pulled up in a

Caddy with Pennsylvania plates (one of them to get Alvin and

Minna over to Allie Stolz's doctor's office on Elizabeth Avenue, the

other to drive their Buick back to Philly); after my father was home

from the Beth Israel emergency room (where they'd plucked the

glass out of his hands and stitched up his face and x-rayed his neck

and taped his ribcage and, on his way out, handed him codeine

tablets to take for the pain); after Mr. Cucuzza, who'd rushed my
father to the hospital in his pickup, had returned him safely to the

befouled and littered battlefield that was now our flat, the gunshots

erupted on Chancellor Avenue. Shots, screaming, shouting, sirens

—the pogrom had begun, and it was only seconds before Mr. Cu-

cuzza charged back up the stairs he'd only just descended and

banged once on our broken back door before rushing in.

Desperate for sleep, I was dragged from bed by my brother, but

when my legs wouldn't work and kept collapsing from uncontrol-

lable fear, I had to be carried off in his arms by my father. My
mother—who instead of going to bed and trying to sleep had

donned her apron and a pair of rubber gloves and set about to

purge the house of its filth with a bucket and a broom and a mop
—my meticulous mother, weeping amid the wreckage of her living

room, was guided to the door by Mr. Cucuzza, and the four of us
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were herded down the stairs and into the Wishnows' old flat to take

cover there.

This time when Mr. Cucuzza offered a pistol, my father accepted

it. His poor human body was black-and-blue and bandaged just

about everywhere, his mouth was full of broken teeth, and still he

sat with us on the floor in the Cucuzzas' windowless back foyer, re-

garding the weapon in his hands with all his concentration, as

though it were no longer just a weapon but the most serious thing

entrusted to him since he'd first been given his infant babies to

hold. My mother sat straight up between Sandy's self-conscious

stoicism and my stupefied inertness, gripping us each by the arm

closest to her and doing all she could to keep a thin layer of courage

from revealing her terror to the children. Meanwhile the biggest

man I'd ever seen moved with a pistol through the darkened flat,

stealthily advancing from window to window to ascertain with the

eagle-eyed thoroughness of the veteran night watchman whether

anyone lurked anywhere nearby with an ax, a gun, a rope, or a can

of kerosene.

Joey, his mother, and his grandmother had been directed by Mr.

Cucuzza to remain in their beds, though the old lady could not re-

sist the magnetism of all that turbulence and the picture we four

presented of sheer plight. Snarling in tiny bursts of raw Italian that

could not have been complimentary to her guests, she peered out

from the doorway of the dark kitchen—where she customarily

slept in her clothes on a cot next to the stove—fixing us in the

crosshairs of her madness (because mad she was) as if she were the

patron saint of anti-Semitism whose silver crucifix had engendered

it all.

The firing went on for less than an hour but we didn't head

back upstairs until dawn, and didn't learn, until after Mr. Cucuzza

bravely ventured forth as a scout to where Chancellor Avenue was

cordoned off, that the gun battle had been not between the city po-

lice and the anti-Semites but between the city police and the Jew-

ish police. There'd been no pogrom in Newark that night, just a
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shootout, extraordinary for having occurred within earshot of our

house but otherwise not much different from the disorder that

could erupt in any large city after dark. And though three Jews had

been killed—Duke Glick, Big Gerry, and Bullet himself—it wasn't

necessarily because they were Jews ("though it didn't hurt," my
Uncle Monty said) but because they were exactly the sort of thugs

that the new mayor wanted off the streets, primarily to signal to

Longy that he was no longer an honorary member of the city's

Board of Commissioners (a position he was rumored—by Meyer

Ellenstein's enemies—to have held under Murphy's Jewish prede-

cessor). Nobody bothered taking the police commissioner too se-

riously when he explained to the Newark News that it was the "trig-

ger-happy vigilantes" who, without provocation, had opened fire a

little before midnight on two foot patrolmen walking their beat,

nor, among our neighbors, was there any noticeable expression of

grief because of how the three—dangerous people in their own

right whose protection nobody decent would have dreamed of re-

questing—had been unceremoniously mowed down. Of course, it

was awful that the blood of violent men should stain the pavement

where the neighborhood children wended their way to school

every day, but at least it wasn't blood shed in a clash with the Klan

or the Silver Shirts or the Bund.

No pogrom, and yet at seven that morning my father was on the

phone long-distance to Winnipeg to admit to Shepsie Tirschwell

that the Jews were so frightened and the anti-Semites so embold-

ened that it was no longer possible in Newark—where fortunately

the prestige of Rabbi Prinz had continued to exert an influence

over the powers that be and nothing worse than relocation had as

yet been forced on a single Jewish family—to live as normal peo-

ple. Whether outright government-sanctioned persecution was in-

evitable, nobody could say for sure, but the fear of persecution was

such that not even a practical man grounded in his everyday tasks,

a person who tried his best to contain the uncertainty and the anx-

iety and the anger and operate according to the dictates of reason,

could hope to preserve his equilibrium any longer.
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Yes, my father admitted, he had been wrong all along and Bess

and the Tirschwells had been right—and then, as best he could,

he shook off his abashment over everything he'd mismanaged

and badly misjudged, including the improbable violence that had

smashed to bits, along with our coffee table, that lifelong barrier of

rigid rectitude that had stood between his harsh upbringing and

his mature ideals. "That's it," he told Shepsie Tirschwell, "I can't live

any longer not knowing what will happen tomorrow," and their

phone conversation moved on to emigration and the steps to be

taken and the arrangements to be made, so that by the time Sandy

and I left the house, there was no misunderstanding that, quite in-

credibly, we'd been overpowered by the forces arrayed against us

and were about to flee and become foreigners. I wept all the way to

school. Our incomparable American childhood was ended. Soon

my homeland would be nothing more than my birthplace. Even

Seldon in Kentucky was better off now.

But then it was over. The nightmare was over. Lindbergh was

gone and we were safe, though never would I be able to revive that

unfazed sense of security first fostered in a little child by a big, pro-

tective republic and his ferociously responsible parents.

Drawn from the

Archives ofNewark's Newsreel Theater

Tuesday, October 6, 1942

Thirty thousand mourners stream through the great hall of

Pennsylvania Station to view Walter Winchell's flag-draped coffin.

The turnout exceeds even the expectations ofNew York mayor Fio-

rello La Guardia, whose decision it was to transform the assassina-

tion into the occasion for a citywide day of mourning for "Ameri-

can victims of Nazi violence," culminating in a funeral oration to

be delivered by FDR. Outside the station (as at numerous other lo-

cations throughout the city), silent men and women dressed in

somber clothing distribute half-dollar-sized black buttons whose

white lettering poses the question "Where is Lindbergh?" Just be-
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fore noon, Mayor La Guardia arrives at the studio of the city radio

station, where he removes his wide-brimmed black Stetson (a me-

mento of his boyhood roots in the Arizona Territory as the son of

a U.S. Army bandmaster) to recite the Lord's Prayer; then he puts

the hat back on to read aloud, in Hebrew, the Jewish prayer for

the dead. At the stroke of noon, by decree of the City Council, a

minute of silence is observed in the five boroughs. The New York

police are in evidence everywhere, chiefly to oversee the protest

demonstrations organized by the array of right-wing groups lo-

cated in preponderantly German Yorkville—the Manhattan neigh-

borhood north of the Upper East Side and south of Harlem that is

the main headquarters for the American Nazi movement—and

that militantly endorse the president and his policies. At one p.m.

an honor guard of motorcycles manned by policemen wearing

black armbands aligns itself with the funeral cortege forming out-

side Penn Station and, with the mayor leading the way from a mo-

torcycle sidecar, escorts the cortege slowly northward up Eighth

Avenue, eastward along 57th Street, northward again on Fifth Av-

enue to 65th Street and Temple Emanu-El. There, among the dig-

nitaries summoned by La Guardia to fill the temple's every last seat,

are the ten members of Roosevelt's 1940 cabinet, Roosevelt's four

Supreme Court appointees, President Philip Murray of the CIO,

President William Green of the AFL, President John L. Lewis of the

United Mine Workers, Roger Baldwin of the American Civil Liber-

ties Union, as well as past and current Democratic governors, sen-

ators, and congressmen from New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania,

and Connecticut, among them the Democrats' defeated 1928 pres-

idential aspirant, former New York governor Al Smith. Loudspeak-

ers installed overnight by municipal laborers and wired to tele-

phone poles and barber poles and door lintels throughout the city

carry the memorial service to the New Yorkers who've assembled

on the streets of every Manhattan neighborhood (except Yorkville)

and to the thousands of out-of-towners who have congregated

alongside them—all those Mr. and Mrs. Americas who'd been lis-

tening to Walter Winchell weekly since he first came on the air and
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who have journeyed to his hometown to pay their respects. And
virtually every man, woman, and child among them wears that

now ubiquitous badge of defiant solidarity, the black-and-white

"Where is Lindbergh?" button.

Fiorello H. La Guardia—the down-to-earth idol of the city's

working people; the flamboyant ex-congressman who'd belliger-

ently represented a congested East Harlem district of poor Italians

and Jews for five terms, who as early as 1933 described Hitler as a

"perverted maniac" and called for a boycott of German goods; the

tenacious spokesman for the unions, the needy, and the unem-

ployed who'd battled almost single-handedly against Hoover's do-

nothing congressional Republicans during the first dark year of the

Depression and, to the dismay of his own party, called for taxation

to "soak the rich"; the liberal anti-Tammany reform Republican

who has been the three-term Fusion mayor of the country's most

populous city, the metropolis that is home to the largest concen-

tration of Jews in the hemisphere—La Guardia is alone among the

members of his party in displaying his contempt for Lindbergh

and for the Nazi dogma of Aryan superiority that he (himself the

son of an unobservant Jewish mother from Austrian Trieste and a

freethinker Italian father who came to America as a ship's musi-

cian) has identified as the precept at the heart of Lindbergh's credo

and of the huge American cult that worships the president.

La Guardia stands beside the coffin and addresses the dignitaries

with that same excitable, high-pitched voice in which he famously

narrated the Sunday comic strips over the city's radio station to the

city's children every Sunday morning during a New York newspa-

per strike, like the best of uncles proceeding patiently, panel by

panel, balloon by balloon, from Dick Tracy to Little Orphan Annie

and on through the rest of the serialized funnies.

"We can dispense with the cant at the start," says the mayor.

"Everybody knows that Walter was not a lovely human being. Wal-

ter was not the strong, silent type who hides everything but the

muckraker who hates everything hidden. As anybody who ever

turned up in his column can tell you, Walter was not always as ac-
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curate as he might have been. He was not shy, he was not modest,

he was not decorous, discreet, kindly, et cetera. My friends, if I were

to list for you everything lovely that W.W. was not, we'd be here till

next Yom Kippur. I'm afraid that the late Walter Winchell was just

one more doozy of a specimen of the imperfect man. In declar-

ing himself a candidate for the presidency of the United States were

his motives pure as Ivory soap? Walter Winchell's motives? Was

his preposterous candidacy uncontaminated by a raving ego? My
friends, only a Charles A. Lindbergh has motives pure as Ivory soap

when he runs for the American presidency. Only a Charles A. Lind-

bergh is decorous, discreet, et cetera—oh, and accurate too, wholly

accurate always when every few months he summons up the gre-

gariousness to address his ten favorite platitudes to the nation.

Only a Charles A. Lindbergh is a selfless ruler and a strong, silent

saint. Walter, on the other hand, was Mr. Gossip Columnist. Wal-

ter, on the other hand, was Mr. Broadway: liked the ponies, liked

the late hours, liked Sherman Billingsley—somebody once told me
that he even liked the girls. And the repeal of that 'noble experi-

ment,' as Mr. Herbert Hoover called it, the repeal of the hypocriti-

cal, expensive, stupid, unenforceable Eighteenth Amendment, was

no more ignoble to Walter Winchell than it was to the rest of us

here in New York. In short, Walter lacked every gleaming virtue

demonstrated daily by the incorruptible test pilot ensconced in the

White House.

"Oh yes, several more differences that are perhaps worth noting

between fallible Walter and infallible Lindy. Our president is a fas-

cist sympathizer, more than likely an outright fascist—and Walter

Winchell was the enemy of the fascist. Our president is no lover of

Jews and more than likely a dyed-in-the-wool anti-Semite while

Walter Winchell was a Jew and the unwavering, vociferous enemy

of the anti-Semite. Our president is an admirer of Adolf Hitler and

more than likely a Nazi himself—and Walter Winchell was Hitler's

first American enemy and his worst American enemy. There's

where our imperfect Walter was incorruptible—where it mattered.

Walter is too loud, Walter talks too fast, Walter says too much,
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and yet, by comparison, Walter's vulgarity is something great, and

Lindbergh's decorum is hideous. Walter Winchell, my friends, was

the enemy of Nazis everywhere, not excluding the Dieses and the

Bilbos and the Parnell Thomases who serve their Fuhrer in the

United States Congress, not excluding the Hitlerites who write for

the New York Journal-American and the New York Daily News, not

excluding those who royally fete Nazi murderers in our American

White House at the taxpayer's expense. And it was because he was

Hitler's enemy and it was because he was the Nazis' enemy that

Walter Winchell was gunned down yesterday in the shadow of the

statue of Thomas Jefferson in gracious old Louisville's most his-

toric and beautiful public square. For speaking his mind in the

state of Kentucky,WW was assassinated by the Nazis of America,

who, thanks to the silence of our strong, silent, selfless president,

today run rampant throughout this great land. It can't happen

here? My friends, it is happening here—and where is Lindbergh?

Where is Lindbergh?"

Out in the streets, those listening together around the loud-

speakers take up the mayor's cry, and soon their chant is cascading

eerily across the entire city
—

"Where is LzW-bergh? Where is Lind-

bergh?"—while inside the synagogue the mayor repeats and re-

peats his four irate syllables, angrily banging the pulpit not like an

orator theatrically emphasizing a point but like an outraged citizen

demanding the truth. "Where is Lindbergh?" This is the snarling

peroration with which the red-faced La Guardia readies the as-

sembled mourners for the climactic appearance of Franklin D.

Roosevelt, who stuns even his closest political cronies (Hopkins,

Morgenthau, Farley, Berle, Baruch, all sitting behatted only feet

from the coffin of the martyred candidate, whose brand of mega-

lomania was never to the taste of the White House inner circle,

however useful a mouthpiece he may have been to their boss) by

ordaining as Winchell's successor the cunning, contemptuous,

short-tempered, bullheaded, roly-poly politico standing five feet

two inches tall and known affectionately to his devoted constit-

uents as the Little Flower. From the pulpit of Temple Emanu-El,
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the nominal head of the Democratic Party pledges his support to

New York's Republican mayor as a "national unity" candidate to

oppose Lindbergh's quest for a second term in 1944.

Wednesday, October/, 1942

Piloted by President Lindbergh, the Spirit of St. Louis departs

from Long Island in the morning, lifting off from the runway that

served as the point of embarkation for the transatlantic solo flight

ofMay 20, 1927. With no protective escort, the plane speeds through

a cloudless autumn sky across New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Ohio, and

down to Kentucky. Only an hour before he is to set down in the

midday sunshine at the Louisville commercial airport is the White

House notified by the president of his destination. His timing al-

lows just enough notice for Louisville mayor Wilson Wyatt and the

city and its citizens to prepare for the president's arrival. A me-

chanic is at the ready on the ground to check over the plane and

tune and equip it for the return flight.

Of Louisville's 320,000 residents, the police estimate that at least

a third have made the five-mile trek out from the city and are al-

ready packing the fields and the roads adjacent to Bowman Field

when the president lands and smoothly taxies his plane to a plat-

form where a microphone has been hooked up for him to address

the vast crowd. When finally the great din of their greeting be-

gins to diminish and his voice can be heard, the president makes

no mention of Walter Winchell, does not allude to the assassina-

tion two days earlier or to the funeral the day before or to the

speech made by Mayor La Guardia on the occasion of his anoint-

ment as Winchell's successor by Franklin Roosevelt in a New York

synagogue. He does not have to. That La Guardia is, like Winchell

before him, no more than a stalking horse for FDR in his dicta-

torial quest for an unprecedented third presidential term, and

that those behind the "vicious La Guardia libel of our president"

are the very same people who would have forced America to go

to war in 1940, has already been colorfully explained to the nation

by Vice President Wheeler in an impromptu Washington speech
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before the American Legion convention the previous evening.

All that the president says to the crowd is "Our country is at

peace. Our people are at work. Our children are at school. I flew

down here to remind you of that. Now I'm going back to Wash-

ington so as to keep things that way." An innocuous enough string

of sentences, but to these tens of thousands of Kentuckians who've

been the subject of national interest for two full days it is as though

he has announced the end of all hardship on earth. Pandemonium

once again, while the president, as laconic as ever and bidding

farewell with just a single wave, squeezes his lanky frame back into

the plane's cockpit, and from the airstrip a smiling mechanic sig-

nals with his wrench that everything's checked out and ready to go.

The engine turns, the Lone Eagle waves a final goodbye, and with

a rush and a roar the Spirit of St. Louis lifts free of Daniel Boone's

gorgeous wilderness state, inch by inch, foot by foot, until at last

(like the barnstorming, skydiving, wing-walking stunt pilot he'd

been as a kid, flying low over the farming towns of the West—and

to the delight of the delirious crowd) Lindy clears by no more than

a hairsbreadth the telephone wires strung from the poles along

Route 58. Rising steadily into the stream of a warm, gentle tailwind,

the most famous small plane in aviation history—the modern-day

counterpart of Columbus's Santa Maria and the Pilgrims' May-

flower—disappears eastward, never to be seen again.

Thursday, October 8, 1942

Ground searches of the regular flight path between Louisville

and Washington yield no evidence of wreckage despite the perfect

fall weather that makes it possible for local search parties to pene-

trate deep into the rugged mountains ofWest Virginia and to range

over the harvested farmlands of Maryland and for state authorities

to dispatch police launches up and down the Maryland and Dela-

ware coastlines throughout the daylight hours. In the afternoon

the Army, Coast Guard, and Navy join the search, along with hun-

dreds of men and boys in every county from every state east of the

Mississippi who have volunteered to assist the National Guard
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units called out by the state governors. Yet by dinnertime in Wash-

ington there is still no reported sighting of the plane or its wreck-

age, and so at eight p.m. the cabinet is summoned to an emergency

meeting at the vice president's home. There Burton K. Wheeler an-

nounces that, after consulting with the First Lady and the majority

leaders of the House and the Senate and the chief justice of the

Supreme Court, he has deemed it in the country's best interest to

assume the duties of acting president in accordance with Article II,

Section 1 of the U.S. Constitution.

In dozens of newspapers, the evening headline, printed in the

boldest, blackest type seen on America's front pages since the stock

market crash of 1929 (and intended to shame Fiorello La Guardia),

somberly reads: where is Lindbergh?

Friday, October 9, 1942

By the time Americans awaken to begin their day, martial law

has been imposed throughout the continental United States and in

the territories and possessions. At noon Acting President Wheeler

travels under military guard to the Capitol, where he announces to

an emergency closed-door session of Congress that the FBI has

received information establishing that the president has been kid-

napped and is being held by parties unknown at a location some-

where in North America. The acting president assures the Con-

gress that all steps are being taken to secure the president's release

and to bring the perpetrators of the crime to justice. In the mean-

time the country's borders with Canada and Mexico have been

sealed, airports and seaports have been shut down, and law and

order, says the acting president, is to be maintained in the Dis-

trict of Columbia by the U.S. armed forces and elsewhere by the

National Guard in cooperation with the FBI and local police au-

thorities.

AGAIN !

So reads the one-word headline carried on every Hearst paper

in the country and printed above pictures of the little Lindbergh
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baby, last photographed alive in 1932, only days before his kidnap-

ping at the age of twenty months.

Saturday, October 10 , 1942

German state radio announces that the kidnapping of Charles

A. Lindbergh, thirty-third president of the United States and sig-

natory to America's historic Iceland Understanding with the Third

Reich, has been discovered to have been perpetrated by a conspir-

acy of "Jewish interests." Top-secret Wehrmacht intelligence data

are cited to corroborate initial reports from the Ministry of State

that the plot was masterminded by the warmonger Roosevelt—in

collusion with his Jewish Treasury secretary, Morgenthau, his Jew-

ish Supreme Court justice, Frankfurter, and the Jewish investment

banker Baruch—and that it is being financed by the international

Jewish usurers Warburg and Rothschild and carried out under the

command of Roosevelt's mongrel henchman, the half-Jew gangster

La Guardia, mayor of Jewish New York City, along with the power-

ful Jewish governor of New York State, the financier Lehman, in

order to return Roosevelt to the White House and launch of an all-

out Jewish war against the non-Jewish world. The intelligence data,

which have been turned over to the FBI by the German embassy

in Washington, allege that the assassination of Walter Winchell

was planned and executed by the same cabal of Roosevelt Jews

—

and responsibility for the crime predictably attributed by them to

Americans of German descent—so as to foster the vicious "Where

is Lindbergh?" campaign, which in turn moved the president to

take to the air and fly to the scene of the assassination to reassure

the citizens of Louisville, Kentucky, who were justifiably fearful

of organized Jewish retaliation. But there—according to the Wehr-

macht reports—as the president addressed the crowd, an airport

mechanic bribed by the Jewish conspiracy (who has himself van-

ished and is believed to have been murdered by order of La Guar-

dia) rendered the aircraft's radio inoperative. No sooner had the

president taken off for Washington than he was unable to make

contact with the ground or with other aircraft and had no choice
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but to capitulate when the Spirit of St. Louis was corralled by high-

flying British fighter planes, which forced him to deviate from his

course and to land, some hours later, at an airstrip secretly main-

tained by international Jewish interests across the Canadian border

from Lehman's state of New York.

In America, the German announcement prompts Mayor La

Guardia to tell City Hall reporters, "Any American who can be-

lieve that lollapalooza of a Nazi lie has sunk to the lowest possible

level." Nonetheless, both the mayor and the governor are said by

informed sources to have been interviewed at length by agents of

the FBI, and Secretary of the Interior Ford is demanding that

Mackenzie King, prime minister of Canada, conduct an intensive

search on Canadian soil for President Lindbergh and his captors.

Acting President Wheeler is reported to be examining the German

documentation with White House aides but will make no com-

ment about the allegations until the search for the president's plane

has been completed. Navy destroyers along with Coast Guard PT
boats are now looking for signs of an air crash as far north as Cape

May, New Jersey, and as far south as Cape Hatteras, North Car-

olina, while ground units of the Army, Marine Corps, and National

Guard continue to search in twenty states for clues to the missing

plane's whereabouts.

The National Guard units enforcing the nationwide curfew re-

port no incidents of violence prompted by the president's disap-

pearance. Under martial law, America remains calm, though the

Grand Wizard of the Ku Klux Klan and the leader of the American

Nazi Party have jointly called upon the acting president "to imple-

ment extreme measures to protect America from a Jewish coup

d'etat."

Meanwhile a committee of American Jewish clergymen led by

Rabbi Stephen Wise of New York telegrams the First Lady express-

ing their deepest sympathy in her family's hour of need. Rabbi Li-

onel Bengelsdorf is seen entering the White House in the early

evening, reportedly there at Mrs. Lindbergh's request to offer spir-
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itual guidance to the family during what is now the third day of

their vigil. The White House invitation to Rabbi Bengelsdorf is

widely interpreted to indicate the First Lady's refusal to accept that

"Jewish interests" have had anything to do with her husband's dis-

appearance.

Sunday, October u y 1942

At church services around the country, prayers are offered in be-

half of the Lindbergh family. The three major radio networks can-

cel regularly scheduled programs to broadcast the services con-

ducted at Washington's National Cathedral, where the First Lady

and her children are in attendance, and for the remainder of the

day and into the evening, programming is devoted exclusively to

inspirational music. At eight p.m. Acting President Wheeler ad-

dresses the nation, assuring his fellow Americans that he has no

plans to abandon the search. He reports that at the invitation of the

Canadian prime minister representatives from American law en-

forcement agencies will assist the Royal Canadian Mounted Police

in scouring the eastern half of the U.S.-Canada border and the

southernmost counties of the easterly Canadian provinces.

Having emerged as official spokesman for the First Lady, Rabbi

Lionel Bengelsdorf tells a large group of reporters waiting on the

White House portico that Mrs. Lindbergh urges the American peo-

ple to ignore speculation emanating from any foreign government

concerning the circumstances of her husband's disappearance. She

would remind the public, the rabbi says, that in 1926, as an airmail

pilot on the St. Louis-Chicago run, the president twice survived,

without injury, crashes that demolished his aircraft, and that as of

the moment it is the First Lady's belief that the president will once

again be found to have survived should there have been another

crash. The First Lady remains unconvinced, says the rabbi, by the

evidence of a kidnapping that has been presented to her by the act-

ing president. When Rabbi Bengelsdorf is asked why Mrs. Lind-

bergh cannot speak for herself and why the press is being pre-
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vented from questioning her directly, he replies, "Bear in mind that

this is not the first time in her thirty-six years that Mrs. Lindbergh

has been required to deal with inquiries from the press while en-

during the gravest of family crises. I would think that Americans

are altogether willing to accept whatever arrangement the First Lady

decides will best protect her and her children's privacy for however

long the search continues." When he is asked if there is any truth to

rumors that Mrs. Lindbergh is too distraught to make her own de-

cisions and that it is Lionel Bengelsdorf who is reaching her deci-

sions for her, the rabbi replies, "Anyone who observed the de-

meanor of the First Lady at the cathedral this morning is able to

see for himself that she is wholly competent intellectually, in com-

plete possession of all her faculties, and that, despite the magnitude

of the situation, neither her reason nor her judgment has been in

any way impaired."

Despite the rabbi's assurances, stories go out over the wire ser-

vices reporting on suspicions voiced by a "highly placed govern-

ment official"—believed to be Secretary Ford—that the First Lady

has become the captive of "Rabbi Rasputin," the Jewish spokesman

considered comparable in his influence over the president's wife to

the lunatic Siberian peasant monk who insidiously controlled the

minds of the czar and czarina of Russia and all but ruled the im-

perial palace in the days leading up to the Russian Revolution and

whose mad reign ended only when he was murdered by a conspir-

acy of patriotic Russian aristocrats.

Monday, October 12, 1942

The London morning papers report that British intelligence

has forwarded to the FBI German coded communications prov-

ing beyond a doubt that President Lindbergh is alive and in Ber-

lin. British intelligence ascertains that on October 7, in keeping

with a long-standing plan conceived by Air Marshal Hermann

Goring, the president of the United States succeeded in ditching

the Spirit of St. Louis at predetermined coordinates in the Atlantic

approximately three hundred miles east of Washington. There he
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reconnoitered with a waiting German U-boat whose crew trans-

ferred him to a German naval vessel waiting off the coast of Por-

tugal to take him to Italian-occupied Cotor in Montenegro, on

the Adriatic Sea. The wreckage of the president's plane was com-

mandeered and taken on board by a German military freighter,

dismantled, crated, and transported to a Gestapo warehouse in

Bremen. The president himself was flown from a Cotor airstrip to

Germany in a camouflaged Luftwaffe plane, accompanied by Air

Marshal Goring, and upon his arrival at a Luftwaffe airbase was

driven to Hitler's Berchtesgaden hideaway to confer with the

Fuhrer.

Serbian resistance groups in Yugoslavia confirm the British in-

telligence reports on the basis of information supplied by sources

within the German-instituted Belgrade government of General

Milan Nedich, whose interior ministry directed the naval opera-

tion at the port of Cotor.

In New York, Mayor La Guardia tells reporters, "If it is true that

our president has voluntarily fled to Nazi Germany, if it is true

that, since his taking the oath of office, he has been working from

the White House as a Nazi agent, if it is true that our domestic and

foreign policies have been dictated to the president by the Nazi

regime that today tyrannizes the entire European continent, then I

lack the words to describe a treason whose wickedness is without

equal in human history."

Despite the imposition of martial law and a nationwide curfew,

and despite the presence of heavily armed National Guard troops

patrolling the streets of every major American city, anti-Semitic

riots begin just after sundown in Alabama, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa,

Kentucky, Missouri, Ohio, South Carolina, Tennessee, North Car-

olina, and Virginia, and continue throughout the night and into

the early morning. Not until approximately eight a.m. are federal

troops—dispatched by Acting President Wheeler to support the

National Guard units—able to quell these disturbances and to bring

under control the worst of the fires the rioters have set. By then 122

American citizens have lost their lives.
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Tuesday, October 13, 1942

In a noontime radio address, Acting President Wheeler places

responsibility for the riots on "the British government and their

warmongering American supporters."

"Having falsely disseminated the vilest charges that could possi-

bly be leveled against a patriot of the stature of Charles A. Lind-

bergh, just what did these people expect from a nation already

grieving over the disappearance of a beloved leader? To advance

their own economic and racial interests," says the acting president,

"these people choose to try to the limit the conscience of a heart-

sick nation, and just what do they then expect will occur? I can re-

port that order has been restored to our ravaged cities throughout

the South and the Midwest, but at what cost to the equanimity of

our nation?"

A statement from the president's wife is subsequently delivered

by Rabbi Lionel Bengelsdorf. Once again the First Lady counsels

her countrymen to ignore all unverifiable hypotheses about her

husband's disappearance emanating from foreign capitals, and she

requests of the U.S. government the immediate termination of the

weeklong search for her husband's plane. The First Lady wishes the

country to recall the tragic plight of Amelia Earhart, the greatest of

woman aviators, who, following the lead of President Lindbergh,

made her heralded solo flight across the Atlantic in 1932, only to

disappear without a trace in 1937 while attempting a solo flight

across the Pacific. "As an experienced aviator in her own right,"

Rabbi Bengelsdorf tells the press, "the First Lady has concluded

that something very like what happened to Amelia Earhart appears

now to have overtaken the president. Life is not without risk, and

aviation, of course, is not without risk, particularly for those like

Amelia Earhart and Charles A. Lindbergh, whose daring and cour-

age as solo aviators launched the aeronautical age in which we

now live."

Requests by reporters to meet with the First Lady are once again

politely declined by her official spokesman, prompting Secretary

Ford to demand the arrest of Rabbi Rasputin.
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Wednesday, October 14, 1942

In the early evening Mayor La Guardia calls a press conference

to point in particular to three manifestations of the "sheer de-

rangement that is threatening the nation s sanity."

First, a front-page Chicago Tribune article, datelined Berlin, re-

ports that the twelve-year-old son of President and Mrs. Lindbergh

—the child believed to have been kidnapped and murdered in New
Jersey in 1932—has been reunited with his father at Berchtesgaden

after having been rescued by the Nazis from a dungeon in Krakow,

Poland, where he had been held prisoner in the city's Jewish ghetto

ever since his disappearance and where, each year, blood was drawn

from the captive boy to be used in the ritual preparation of the

community's Passover matzohs.

Second, House Republicans introduce a bill calling for a decla-

ration of war against the Dominion of Canada should Prime Min-

ister King fail to reveal the whereabouts of America's missing pres-

ident within forty-eight hours.

Third, law enforcement agencies in the South and the Midwest

report that the "so-called anti-Semitic riots" of October 12 were

instigated by "local Jewish elements" working as part of "a far-

reaching Jewish conspiracy intent on undermining the country's

morale." Of the 122 killed in the rioting, 97 have already been iden-

tified as "Jewish provocateurs" seeking to deflect suspicion from

the very group responsible for the disorder and plotting to take

control of the federal government.

Mayor La Guardia says, "There's a plot afoot all right, and I'll

gladly name the forces propelling it—hysteria, ignorance, malice,

stupidity, hatred, and fear. What a repugnant spectacle our coun-

try has become! Falsehood, cruelty, and madness everywhere, and

brute force in the wings waiting to finish us off. Now we read in

the Chicago Tribune that all these years clever Jewish bakers have

been using the blood of the kidnapped Lindbergh child for mak-

ing Passover matzohs in Poland—a story just as nutty today as

when it was first concocted by anti-Semitic maniacs five hundred

years ago. How it must please the Fiihrer to be poisoning our coun-
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try with this sinister nonsense. Jewish interests. Jewish elements.

Jewish usurers. Jewish retaliation. Jewish conspiracies. A Jewish

war against the world. To have enslaved America with this hocus-

pocus! To have captured the mind of the world's greatest nation

without uttering a single word of truth! Oh, the pleasure we must

be affording the most malevolent man on earth!"

Thursday, October 15, 1942

Just before dawn Rabbi Lionel Bengelsdorf is taken into custody

by the FBI under suspicion of being "among the ringleaders of the

Jewish conspiratorial plot against America." At the same time the

First Lady, said to be suffering from "extreme nervous exhaustion,"

is transferred by ambulance from the White House to Walter Reed

Army Hospital. Others arrested in the early-morning roundup in-

clude Governor Lehman, Bernard Baruch, Justice Frankfurter,

Frankfurter protege and Roosevelt administrator David Lilienthal,

New Deal advisers Adolf Berle and Sam Rosenman, labor leaders

David Dubinsky and Sidney Hillman, economist Isador Lubin,

leftist journalists I. F. Stone and James Wechsler, and socialist Louis

Waldman. More arrests are said to be imminent, but the FBI has

not disclosed whether the charge of conspiring to kidnap the pres-

ident will be brought against any or all of the suspects.

Tank and infantry units of the U.S. Army enter New York to as-

sist the National Guard in putting down sporadic antigovernment

street violence. In Chicago, Philadelphia, and Boston attempts to

mount protest demonstrations against the FBI—demonstrations

in violation of martial law—result only in minor injuries, though

arrests numbering in the hundreds are reported by police.

In Congress, leading Republicans praise the FBI for thwarting

the conspirators' plot. In New York, Mayor La Guardia is joined at

a press conference by Eleanor Roosevelt and Roger Baldwin of the

ACLU. They demand the immediate release of Governor Lehman

along with his alleged co-conspirators. La Guardia is subsequently

arrested at the mayor's mansion.

To address an emergency protest rally convened by a New York
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citizens' committee, former president Roosevelt travels from his

home at Hyde Park to New York; "for his own protection" he is

promptly taken into custody by the police. The U.S. Army shuts

down all newspaper offices and radio stations in New York, where

the after-dark martial-law curfew will be enforced round the clock

until further notice. Tanks close off all bridges and tunnels into the

city.

In Buffalo the mayor announces his intention to distribute gas

masks to the city's citizens, and the mayor of nearby Rochester ini-

tiates a bomb shelter program "to protect our residents in the event

of a surprise Canadian attack." An exchange of small-arms fire is

reported by the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation on the border

between Maine and the province of New Brunswick, not far from

Roosevelt's summer home on Campobello Island in the Bay of

Fundy. From London, Prime Minister Churchill warns of an im-

minent German invasion of Mexico, purportedly to protect Amer-

ica's southern flank while the United States sets about to wrest con-

trol of Canada from the British. "It is no longer a matter," says

Churchill, "of the great American democracy taking military ac-

tion to save us. The time has come for American citizens to take

civil action to save themselves. There are not two isolated his-

torical dramas, the American and the British, and there never

were. There is only one ordeal, and now as in the past we face it in

common."

Friday, October 16, 1942

Beginning at nine a.m., a radio transmitter secreted somewhere

in the nation's capital broadcasts the voice of the First Lady, who,

with the assistance of Lindbergh loyalists inside the Secret Service,

has managed to escape from Walter Reed, where—alleged by au-

thorities to be a mental patient in the care ofArmy psychiatrists

—

she has been straitjacketed and held prisoner for nearly twenty-

four hours. The tone is appealingly gentle, the words uttered

without a trace of harshness or righteous contempt—altogether

the evenly paced voice of someone entirely respectable who is ed-
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ucated to face down sorrow and disappointment without ever los-

ing her self-restraint. She is no cyclone, yet the undertaking is ex-

traordinary and she shows no fear.

"My fellow Americans, unlawfulness on the part of America's

law enforcement agencies cannot and will not be allowed to pre-

vail. In my husband's name, I ask all National Guard units to dis-

arm and disband and for our guardsmen to return to civilian life.

I ask all members of the United States armed forces to leave our

cities and to regroup at their home bases under the command of

their authorized senior officers. I ask the FBI to release all of those

arrested on charges of conspiring to harm my husband and to re-

store immediately their full rights as citizens. I ask law enforcement

authorities throughout the nation to do the same with those who

have been detained in local and state jails. There is not a shred of

evidence that a single detainee is in any way responsible for what-

ever befell my husband and his plane on or after Wednesday, Oc-

tober 7, 1942. 1 ask the New York City police to vacate the illegally

occupied premises of government-sequestered newspapers, maga-

zines, and radio stations and that these facilities resume their nor-

mal activities as guaranteed under the First Amendment to the

Constitution. I ask the Congress of the United States to initiate

proceedings to remove from office the current acting president of

the United States and to appoint a new president in accordance

with the Presidential Succession Act of 1886, which designates the

secretary of state as next in line for the presidency should the vice

presidency be vacant. The Succession Act of 1886 also states that,

under the circumstances described, Congress shall decide whether

to call a special presidential election, and so I ask the Congress to

do just that and to authorize a presidential election that will coin-

cide with the congressional election scheduled for the first Tuesday

after the first Monday of November."

Her morning broadcast is repeated by the First Lady every half

hour until, at noon, she announces that, in defiance of the acting

president—whom she charges by name with having ordered her il-

legal abduction and confinement—she is returning to take up res-
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idence with her children at the White House. Deliberately appro-

priating for her peroration echoes of American democracy's most

revered text, she concludes, "I will not yield to or be intimidated by

the illegal representatives of a seditious administration, and I ask

no more of the American people than that they follow my example

and refuse to accept or support government conduct that is inde-

fensible. The history of the present administration is a history of

repeated injuries and usurpations, all having in direct object the

establishment of an absolute tyranny over these states. This gov-

ernment has been deaf to the voice of justice and has extended

over us an unwarrantable jurisdiction. Consequently, in defense of

those same inalienable rights claimed in July of 1776 by Jefferson of

Virginia and Franklin of Pennsylvania and Adams of Massachu-

setts Bay, and by the authority of the same good people of these

United States, and appealing to the same supreme judge of the

world for the rectitude of our intentions, I, Anne Morrow Lind-

bergh, a native of the state of New Jersey, a resident of the District

of Columbia, and the spouse of the thirty-third president of the

United States, declare that injurious history of usurpation to be

ended. Our enemies' plot has failed, liberty and justice are restored,

and those who have violated the Constitution of the United States

shall now be addressed by the judicial branch of government, in

strict keeping with the law of the land."

"Our Lady of the White House"—as Harold Ickes grudgingly

christens Mrs. Lindbergh—returns to the presidential living quar-

ters early that evening, and from there, marshaling the power of

her mystique as sorrowing mother of the martyred infant and res-

olute widow of the vanished god, engineers the speedy dismantling

by Congress and the courts of the unconstitutional Wheeler ad-

ministration, whose criminality, in a mere eight days in office, has

far exceeded that of Warren Harding's Republican administration

twenty years earlier.

The restoration of orderly democratic procedures initiated by

Mrs. Lindbergh culminates two and a half weeks later, on Tuesday,

November 3, 1942, in a sweep by the Democrats of the House and
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the Senate and the landslide victory of Franklin Delano Roosevelt

for a third presidential term.

The next month—following the devastating surprise attack on

Pearl Harbor by the Japanese and, four days later, the declaration

of war on the United States by Germany and Italy—America enters

the global conflict that had begun in Europe some three years ear-

lier with the German invasion of Poland and had since expanded

to encompass two-thirds of the world's population. Disgraced by

their collusion with the acting president and demoralized by their

colossal electoral defeat, the few Republicans remaining in Con-

gress pledge their support to the Democratic president and his

fight to the finish against the Axis powers. The House and the Sen-

ate approve America's going to war without a dissenting vote in

either chamber, and the day following his inauguration, President

Roosevelt issues Proclamation No. 2568, "Granting a Pardon to

Burton Wheeler." In part it reads:

As a result of certain acts occurring before his removal

from the Office of Acting President, Burton K. Wheeler has

become liable to possible indictment and trial for offenses

against the United States. To spare the country the ordeal of

such a criminal prosecution against a former Acting Presi-

dent of the United States and to protect against the disrup-

tive distraction of such a spectacle during a time of war, I,

Franklin Delano Roosevelt, President of the United States,

pursuant to the pardon power conferred upon me by Arti-

cle II, Section 2 of the Constitution, have granted and by

these presents do grant a full, free, and absolute pardon

unto Burton Wheeler for all offenses against the United

States which he, Burton Wheeler, has committed or may

have committed or taken part in during the period from

October 8, 1942, through October 16, 1942.

As everyone knows, President Lindbergh was not found or heard

from again, though stories circulated throughout the war and for a
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decade afterward, along with the rumors about other prominent

missing persons of that turbulent era, like Martin Bormann, Hit-

ler's private secretary, who was thought to have eluded the Allied

armies by escaping to Juan Peron's Argentina—but who more

likely perished during the last days of Nazi Berlin—and Raoul Wal-

lenberg, the Swedish diplomat whose distribution of Swedish pass-

ports saved some twenty thousand Hungarian Jews from extermi-

nation by the Nazis, although he himself disappeared, probably

into a Soviet jail, when the Russians occupied Budapest in 1945.

Among the dwindling number of Lindbergh conspiracy scholars,

reports on clues and sightings have continued to appear in inter-

mittently published newsletters devoted to speculation on the un-

explained fate of America's thirty-third president.

The most elaborate story, the most unbelievable story—though

not necessarily the least convincing—was first made known to our

family by Aunt Evelyn after Rabbi Bengelsdorf's arrest, her source

none other than Anne Morrow Lindbergh, who allegedly confided

the details to the rabbi just days before she was removed from the

White House against her will and held prisoner in the psychiatric

wing of Walter Reed.

Mrs. Lindbergh, reported Rabbi Bengelsdorf, traced everything

to the 1932 kidnapping of her infant son Charles, secretly plotted

and financed, she maintained, by the Nazi Party shortly before

Hitler came to power. According to the rabbi's recapitulation of the

First Lady's story, the baby had been passed on for safekeeping by

Bruno Hauptmann to a friend living near him in the Bronx—a fel-

low German immigrant who in actuality was a Nazi espionage

agent—and only hours after having been lifted from the Hopewell,

New Jersey, crib and carried down the makeshift ladder in Haupt-

mann's arms, Charles Jr. had already been smuggled out of the

country and was en route to Germany. The corpse found and iden-

tified as the Lindbergh baby ten weeks later was another child, se-

lected by the Nazis to be murdered because of its resemblance to

the Lindbergh baby and then, when the body was already decom-

posing, planted in the woods near the Lindbergh home to ensure
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Hauptmann's conviction and execution and to keep secret the true

circumstances of the kidnapping from everyone but the Lind-

berghs themselves. Through a Nazi spy stationed as a foreign news-

paper correspondent in New York, the couple had been informed

early on of Charles's arrival, healthy and unharmed, on German

soil and assured that the best of care would be given him by a spe-

cially selected team of Nazi doctors, nurses, teachers, and mili-

tary personnel—care merited by his status as firstborn son of the

world's greatest aviator—provided that the Lindberghs cooperated

fully with Berlin.

As a result of this threat, for the next ten years the lot of the

Lindberghs and their kidnapped child—and, gradually, the destiny

of the United States of America—was determined by Adolf Hitler.

Through the skill and efficiency of his agents in New York and

Washington—and in London and Paris after the celebrated couple,

complying with orders, "fled" to live as expatriates in Europe,

where Lindbergh began regularly to visit Nazi Germany and extol

the achievements of its military machine—the Nazis set about to

exploit Lindbergh's fame in behalf of the Third Reich and at the ex-

pense of America, dictating where the couple would reside, whom
they would befriend, and, above all, what opinions they would es-

pouse in their public utterances and published writings. In 1938, as

a reward for Lindbergh's graciously accepting a prestigious medal

from Hermann Goring at a Berlin dinner in the aviator's honor,

and after numerous pleading letters that were secretly channeled

from Anne Morrow Lindbergh to the Fiihrer himself, the Lind-

berghs were at last allowed to visit their child, by then a handsome

fair-haired boy of almost eight who, from the day he'd arrived in

Germany, had been raised as a model Hitler youth. The German-

speaking cadet did not understand, nor was he told, that the fa-

mous Americans to whom he and his classmates were introduced

following parade exercises at their elite military academy were his

mother and father, nor were the Lindberghs permitted to speak to

him or to be photographed with him. The visit came at just the

moment when Anne Morrow Lindbergh had concluded that the
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Nazis' kidnapping story was an unspeakably cruel hoax and that

the time was long overdue for the Lindberghs to free themselves

from their bondage to Adolf Hitler. Instead, after seeing Charles

alive for the first time since his disappearance in 1932, the Lind-

berghs left Germany irreversibly in thrall to their country's worst

enemy.

They were ordered to end their expatriation and return to

America, where Colonel Lindbergh was to take up the cause of

America First. Speeches were provided, written in English, de-

nouncing the British, Roosevelt, and the Jews and supporting Amer-

ica's neutrality in the European war; detailed instructions specified

where and when speeches were to be delivered, even the type of

apparel to be donned for each public appearance. Every political

stratagem originating in Berlin Lindbergh enacted with the same

meticulous perfectionism that distinguished his aeronautical pur-

suits, right down to the night that he arrived in aviator attire at the

Republican Convention and accepted the nomination for the pres-

idency with words written for the occasion by Nazi propaganda

minister Joseph Goebbels. The Nazis plotted every maneuver of

the election campaign that followed, and once Lindbergh had de-

feated FDR, it was Hitler himself who took charge, proceeding to

prepare—in weekly meetings with Goring, his designated succes-

sor and director of the German economy, and Heinrich Himmler,

overlord of Germany's internal affairs and chief of the Gestapo, the

police agency charged with Charles Lindbergh Jr.'s custody—a for-

eign policy for the United States that would best serve Germany's

wartime objectives and his grand imperial design.

Soon Himmler began to interfere directly in U.S. domestic af-

fairs by bringing pressure on President Lindbergh—humorously

belittled in the Gestapo chief's memos as "our American Gau-

leiter"—to institute repressive measures against the four and a half

million American Jews, and it was here, according to Mrs. Lind-

bergh, that the president undertook, if only passively at the start, to

assert his resistance. To begin with, he ordered the establishment

of the Office of American Absorption, in his judgment an agency
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inconsequential enough to leave the Jews essentially unharmed

while seemingly meeting—with token programs like Just Folks and

Homestead 42—Himmler's directive "to inaugurate in America a

systematic process of marginalization that will lead in the fore-

seeable future to the confiscation of all Jewish wealth and the total

disappearance of the Jewish population, their appurtenances, and

their property."

Heinrich Himmler was hardly one to be misled by such a trans-

parent deception or to bother to disguise his disappointment

when Lindbergh dared to justify himself—through von Ribben-

trop, whom Himmler dispatched to Washington, supposedly on a

ceremonial state visit, to assist the president in formulating more

stringent anti-Jewish measures—by explaining to the supreme

commandant of Hitler's concentration camps that guarantees em-

bedded in the U.S. Constitution, combined with long-standing

American democratic traditions, made it impossible for a final so-

lution to the Jewish problem to be executed in America as rapidly

or efficiently as on a continent where there was a thousand-year

history of anti-Semitism deeply rooted in the common people and

where Nazi rule was absolute. During the state dinner given in von

Ribbentrop's honor, the president was taken aside by his esteemed

guest and handed a cablegram, decoded moments earlier at the

German embassy, that constituted in its entirety Himmler's reply.

"Think of the child," the cablegram read, "before you again re-

spond with such poppycock. Think of brave young Charles, an

outstanding German military cadet who already at the age of

twelve knows better than his celebrated father the value assigned

by our Fuhrer to constitutional guarantees and democratic tradi-

tions, especially where the rights of parasites are concerned."

The dressing-down by Himmler of "the Lone Eagle with the

chicken heart" (as Lindbergh was described in Himmler's internal

memo) marked the beginning of Lindbergh's repudiation as a

minion useful to the Third Reich. By defeating Roosevelt and the

anti-Nazi interventionists in Roosevelt's party he had provided the

German army with additional time to quell the continuing and un-
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expected resistance from the Soviet Union without Germany's

running the risk of having simultaneously to confront the indus-

trial and military might of the United States. Even more impor-

tant, Lindbergh's presidency furnished German industry and the

German scientific establishment—already secretly developing a

bomb of unparalleled explosive force powered by atomic fission, as

well as a rocket engine capable of conveying this weapon across the

Atlantic—with a further two years in which to complete prepara-

tion for the apocalyptic struggle with the United States whose out-

come, as envisioned by Hitler, would determine the course of

Western civilization and the progress of mankind for the next mil-

lennium. Had Himmler found in Lindbergh the visionary Jew-

hater the German high command had been led to expect from in-

telligence reports, rather than what Himmler contemptuously

dubbed "a dinner-party anti-Semite," perhaps the president would

have been permitted to complete his term in office and to serve a

second four years before retiring and ceding the government to

Henry Ford, whom Hitler had already settled on as Lindbergh's

successor, despite Ford's advanced age. Had Himmler been able to

rely on an American president of unimpeachable American cre-

dentials to implement the final solution to America's Jewish prob-

lem, it would, of course, have been preferable to the employment

at a later date of German resources and personnel to fulfill that

mission in North America, and Lindbergh's plane would not have

had to disappear from the skies, as was deemed necessary by Ber-

lin, on Wednesday, October 7, 1942—nor would Acting President

Wheeler have assumed power the following evening and, to the as-

tonished delight of those who'd considered him till then nothing

more than a buffoon, proved himself a genuine leader in a matter

of days by spontaneously implementing the very measures that

von Ribbentrop had proposed to Lindbergh and that, as Himmler

believed, the American hero had failed to carry out because of the

puerile moral objections of his wife.

Within an hour of Lindbergh's disappearance, Mrs. Lindbergh

had been informed by the German embassy that responsibility for
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her child's well-being was now hers alone and that, should she do

anything other than vacate the White House and withdraw in si-

lence from public life, Charles Jr. would be removed from his mil-

itary academy and dispatched to the Russian front for the Novem-

ber offensive on Stalingrad and remain on duty there as the Third

Reich's youngest combat infantryman until he valiantly expired on

the field of battle for the greater glory of the German people.

This is the story whose gist Aunt Evelyn conveyed to my mother

when she appeared at our house in the hours after Rabbi Bengels-

dorf was taken in handcuffs from their Washington hotel by agents

of the FBI. More fully elaborated, it is the story told in My Life

Under Lindbergh, the 550-page apologia published as an insider's

diary just after the war by Rabbi Bengelsdorf and dismissed then

in a press statement by a spokesman for the Lindbergh family as "a

reprehensible calumny with no basis in fact, motivated by ven-

geance and greed, sustained by egomaniacal delusion, invented for

the sake of crass commercial exploitation, and one that Mrs. Lind-

bergh will not dignify with a further response." When my mother

first heard the story it seemed to her conclusive evidence that the

shock of witnessing Rabbi Bengelsdorf's arrest had temporarily

caused her sister to lose her mind.

The day after Aunt Evelyn's surprise visit was Friday, October 16,

1942, when Mrs. Lindbergh, before returning to the White House,

went on the air from a secret Washington location and, based

solely on her authority as "spouse of the thirty-third president of

the United States," pronounced the "injurious history of usurpa-

tion" implemented by the administration of the acting president

"to be ended." Whether any harm befell her kidnapped child as a

consequence of the First Lady's bravery, whether Charles Jr. had

ever even survived his infancy to suffer the dreadful fate that

Himmler had promised, let alone to endure the childhood of a

privileged ward and treasured hostage of the German state,

whether Himmler, Goring, and Hitler had anything of importance

to do with fostering Lindbergh's rise to political eminence as an
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America Firster or shaping U.S. policy during the twenty-two-

month Lindbergh presidency or implementing Lindbergh's myste-

rious disappearance—have been matters of controversy for over

half a century, though by now a far less impassioned and wide-

spread controversy than when, for some thirty-odd weeks in 1946

(and despite its oft-quoted characterization by Westbrook Pegler,

the dean of America's Roosevelt-hating right-wing journalists, as

"the crackpot diary of a certifiable mythomaniac"), My Life Under

Lindbergh remained at the top of the American bestseller lists along

with two personal biographies of FDR, who had died in office the

previous year, only weeks before the unconditional surrender of

Nazi Germany to the Allies marked the end of World War Two in

Europe.
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October 1942

Perpetual Fear

The call from Seldon came when my mother, Sandy, and

I were already in bed. This was Monday, the twelfth of Oc-

tober, and at dinnertime we had heard the reports on the

radio of the rioting that had broken out in the Midwest and the

South following the announcement by British intelligence that

President Lindbergh had deliberately ditched his plane three hun-

dred miles out to sea and from there had been whisked by the navy

and air corps of Nazi Germany to a secret rendezvous with Hitler.

Not until the next day were the morning papers able to furnish de-

tails of the riots sparked by this dispatch, though barely minutes

after the news had reached us at our kitchen table, my mother had

guessed correctly whom the rioters had targeted and why. It was by

then three days since the border to Canada had been closed, and

even to me, who found leaving America an unbearable prospect, it

was clear that my father's refusal to listen to my mother and get us

out of the country months before was the gravest mistake he'd ever

made. He was now back working nights at the market, my mother

went into the streets every day to shop for groceries—quixotically,

she had attended a meeting at school one afternoon for the pro-

spective poll watchers in the November election—Sandy and I

went off to school each morning with our friends, but nonetheless,

by the beginning of the second week of Acting President Wheeler's

administration, the fear was everywhere, and this despite Mrs.
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Lindbergh's advising Americans to dismiss the reports emanating

from foreign countries about the president's whereabouts, despite

the ascendancy as a newsworthy figure of Rabbi Bengelsdorf, a

member now of our family, an uncle by marriage who'd even eaten

dinner once in our house but who couldn't do a thing to help us

and wouldn't if he could because of the contempt he and my father

harbored each for the other. The fear was everywhere, the look was

everywhere, in the eyes of our protectors especially, the look that

comes in the split second after you have locked the door and real-

ize you don't have the key. We had never before observed the adults

all helplessly thinking the same thoughts. The strongest among

them did their best to be calm and brave and to sound realistic

when they told us that our worries would soon be over and the reg-

ular round of life restored, but when they turned on the news they

were devastated by the speed with which everything dreadful was

happening.

Then, on the evening of the twelfth—while each of us lay in bed

unable to sleep—the phone rang: Seldon calling collect from Ken-

tucky. It was ten at night and his mother still wasn't home, and

since he knew our number by heart (and didn't know whom else

to call), he cranked the phone, got the operator, and, in a rush, try-

ing to articulate all the necessary words before the power of speech

deserted him, said to her, "Collect, please. Newark, New Jersey.

81 Summit Avenue. Waverley 3-4827. My name is Sheldon Wish-

now. I want to speak person-to-person to Mr. or Mrs. Roth. Or

Philip. Or Sandy. Anyone, operator. My mother's not home. I'm

ten. I haven't eaten and she's not here. Operator, please—Waverley

3-4827! I'll talk to anybody!"

That morning Mrs. Wishnow had driven to Louisville, to the

Metropolitan regional office, to report at the company's request to

her district supervisor. Louisville was more than a hundred miles

from Danville, and the roads were so bad most of the way that it

was going to take practically all day just to get there and back. Why
the district supervisor couldn't have written a letter or picked up

the phone to tell her what he had to say nobody ever understood,
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nor was the man himself ever asked to explain. My father's guess

was that the company intended to fire her that day—to have her

turn in her ledger with its handwritten record of collections and

then to send her on her way, unemployed after a mere six weeks on

the job and seven hundred miles from home. She'd done no busi-

ness to speak of in those first weeks out in the rural reaches of

Boyle County, though not for lack of hard work—primarily it was

because there wasn't the business there to do. In fact, every last one

of the transfers made by the Metropolitan under the auspices of

Homestead 42 were turning into catastrophes for the agents for-

merly from the Newark district. In the barely inhabited corners of

those distant states to which they and their families had been relo-

cated, none of them were ever going to be able to earn a quarter of

the amount of commissions they were accustomed to making in

metropolitan North Jersey—and so, if only for that reason, my fa-

ther had been wonderfully prescient in quitting his job and going

to work instead for Uncle Monty. He hadn't been quite so prescient

about getting us over the Canadian border before it closed down

and martial law was declared.

"If she was alive . .

." Seldon told my mother, after she'd accepted

the charges and taken his call, "if she was alive . .
." In the begin-

ning, because of his crying, that was all he was able to say, and even

those four words were barely comprehensible.

"Seldon, that's enough of that. You're doing this to yourself.

You're making yourself hysterical. Of course your mother's alive.

She's just late getting home—that's all that has happened."

"But if she was alive she would call!"

"Seldon, what if she's only caught in traffic? What if something

happened to the car and she's had to pull over to get it fixed? Didn't

that happen before, when you were here in Newark? Remember

that night when it was raining and she had a flat and you came up-

stairs to stay with us? It's probably nothing more than a flat tire,

so please, dear, calm down. You must stop crying. Your mother is

fine. It only upsets you to say what you're saying, and it is not true,
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so please, please, right now, just make an effort and try to calm

down."

"But she's dead, Mrs. Roth! Just like my father! Now both my
parents are dead!" And, of course, he was right. Seldon knew noth-

ing about the riots way off in Louisville and little about what was

going on in the rest of America. Since there was no room left in

Mrs. Wishnow's life for anything other than the child and the job,

there was never a newspaper to read in the Danville house, and

when the two of them sat down to dinner in Danville they didn't

have the news on the way we did in Newark. More than likely she

was too exhausted in Danville to listen to it, by now too benumbed

to register any misfortune other than her own.

But Seldon had it perfectly right: Mrs. Wishnow was dead,

though no one would know until the following day, when the

burnt-out car containing his mother's remains was found smol-

dering in a drainage ditch alongside a potato field in the flat coun-

try just south of Louisville. Apparently she had been beaten and

robbed and the car set ablaze within the first minutes of the eve-

ning's violence, which had not been restricted to the downtown

Louisville streets where there were Jewish-owned shops or to the

residential streets where the handful of Louisville's Jewish citizens

lived. The Klansmen knew that once the torches were lit and the

crosses burning, the vermin were going to try to get out, and so

they were ready for them, not only on the main road leading north

to Ohio but along the narrow country roads heading south, which

was where Mrs. Wishnow paid with her life for the slander of Lind-

bergh's good name, first by the late Walter Winchell and now by the

Jewish-controlled propaganda machine of Prime Minister Churchill

and King George VI.

My mother said, "Seldon, you must take something to eat. That

will help calm you down. Go to the refrigerator and get something

to eat."

"I ate the Fig Newtons. There's none left."

"Seldon, I'm talking about your eating a meal. Your mother will
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be home very soon, but meanwhile you can't sit there waiting for

her to feed you—you have to feed yourself, and not on cookies. Put

the phone down and go look in the refrigerator and then come

back and tell me what's in there that you could eat."

"But it's long distance."

"Seldon, do as I say."

To Sandy and me, gathered closely around her in the back foyer,

my mother said, "She's very late, and he hasn't eaten, and he's all

alone, and she hasn't phoned, and the poor child is frantic and

starving to death."

"Mrs. Roth?"

"Yes, Seldon."

"There's pot cheese. It's old2 though. It doesn't look too good."

"What else is in there?"

"Beets. In a bowl. Leftovers. They're cold."

"And anything else?"

"I'll look again—just a minute."

This time when Seldon put down the phone, my mother said to

Sandy, "How far from Danville are the Mawhinneys?"

"With the truck about twenty minutes."

"In my dresser," my mother said to my brother, "in the top, in

my change purse—their number is there. It's on a piece of paper in

my little brown change purse. Get it for me, please."

"Mrs. Roth?" Seldon said.

"Yes. I'm here."

"There's butter."

"That's all? Isn't there any milk? Isn't there juice?"

"But that's breakfast. That's not dinner."

"Are there Rice Krispies, Seldon? Are there Corn Flakes?"

"Sure," he said.

"Then get whichever cereal you like best."

"Rice Krispies."

"Get the Rice Krispies, take out the milk and the juice, and I

want you to make yourself breakfast."

"Now?"
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"Do as I say, please," she told him. "I want you to eat breakfast."

"Is Philip there?"

"He's here, but you cannot talk to him. You have to eat first. I'm

going to call you back in half an hour, after you've eaten. It's ten

after ten, Seldom"

"In Newark it's ten after ten?"

"In Newark and Danville both. It's exactly the same time in both

places. I'm going to call you back at quarter to eleven," she told

him.

"Can I talk to Philip then?"

"Yes, but I want you to sit down first with everything you need

at the kitchen table. I want you to use a spoon and a fork and a

napkin and a knife. Eat slowly. Use dishes. Use a bowl. Is there any

bread?"

"It's stale. It's just a couple of slices."

"Do you have a toaster?"

"Sure. We brought it here in the car. Remember the morning

when we all packed the car?"

"Listen to me, Seldon. Concentrate. Make yourself some toast,

with the cereal. And use the butter. Butter it. And pour yourself a

big glass of milk. I want you to eat a good breakfast, and when your

mother comes in, I want you to tell her to call us immediately. She

can call here collect. Tell her not to worry about the charges. It's

important for us to know when she's home. But either way, in half

an hour I'm calling you back, so don't you go anywhere."

"It's dark out. Where would I go?"

"Seldon, eat your breakfast."

"Okay."

"Goodbye," she said. "Goodbye, for now. I'll call you back at

quarter to eleven. You stay where you are."

Next she phoned the Mawhinneys. My brother handed her the

piece of paper with the number and she asked the operator to put

through the call and when somebody answered at the other end,

she said, "Is this Mrs. Mawhinney? This is Mrs. Roth. I'm Sandy

Roth's mother. I'm calling you from Newark, New Jersey, Mrs. Ma-

333



OCTOBER 1942

whinney. I'm sorry if I woke you up, but we need you to help us

with a little boy who's alone in Danville. What? Yes, of course, yes."

To us she said, "She's getting her husband."

"Oh, no," my brother moaned.

"Sanford, this is not the time for that. I don't like what I'm doing

either. I realize I don't know these people. I realize they're not like

us. I know farmers go to bed early and get up early and that they

work very hard. But you tell me what else I should do. That little

boy is going to go crazy if he's left alone any longer. He doesn't

know where his mother is. Somebody has to be there. He's had too

many shocks for someone his age already. He lost his father. Now
his mother is missing. Can't you understand what this means?"

"Sure I can," said my brother indignantly. "Sure I understand."

"Good. Then you understand that somebody has to go to him.

Somebody
—

" but then Mr. Mawhinney got on the phone, and my
mother explained to him why she was calling, and he immediately

agreed to do all she asked. When she hung up she said, "At least

there's some decency left in this country. At least there's some de-

cency somewhere."

"I told you," my brother whispered.

Never would she seem more remarkable to me than she did that

night, and not merely for the abandon with which she was accept-

ing and making phone calls to and from Kentucky. There was

more, much more. There was, to begin with, Alvin's assault on my
father the week before. There was my father's explosive response.

There was the wreckage of our living room. There was my father's

broken teeth and broken ribs, the stitches in his face and the brace

on his neck. There was the shootout on Chancellor Avenue. There

was our certainty that it was a pogrom. There were the sirens all

night long. There was the screaming and the shouting in the streets

all night long. There was our hiding in the Cucuzzas' foyer, the

loaded pistol in my father's lap, the loaded pistol in Mr. Cucuzza's

fist—and that was just the week before. There was also the month

before, the year before, and the year before that—all those blows,

insults, and surprises intent on weakening and frightening the Jews
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that still hadn't managed to shatter my mother's strength. Before I

heard her telling Seldon, from more than seven hundred miles

away, to make himself something to eat and to sit down and eat it,

before I heard her calling the Mawhinneys—churchgoing Gentiles

whom she'd never laid eyes on—to enlist them in saving Seldon

from going mad, before I heard her asking to speak to Mr. Ma-

whinney and then telling him that if something serious had hap-

pened to Mrs. Wishnow the Mawhinneys needn't worry they'd be

stuck with Seldon, that my father was prepared to get in the car and

drive to Kentucky to bring Seldon back to Newark (and promising

Mr. Mawhinney this even while no one knew just how far the

Wheelers and the Fords intended to allow the American mob to

go), I hadn't understood anything of the story that was her life in

those years. Till Seldon's frantic phone call from Kentucky, I'd

never totted up the cost to my mother and father of the Lindbergh

presidency—till that moment, I'd been unable to add that high.

When my mother phoned Seldon at quarter to eleven she ex-

plained the plan worked out with the Mawhinneys. He was to put

his toothbrush, pajamas, underwear, and a pair of clean socks into

a paper bag, and he was to get on a heavy sweater and his warm

coat and his flannel cap, and he was to wait in the house for Mr.

Mawhinney to come for him in his truck. Mr. Mawhinney was a

very kind man, my mother told Seldon, a kind, generous man with

a nice wife and four children whom Sandy knew from the summer

he lived at the Mawhinney farm.

"Then she is dead!" Seldon screamed.

No, no, no, absolutely not—his mother would be coming to pick

him up at the Mawhinneys' the next morning and to drive him

from there to school. Mr. and Mrs. Mawhinney would arrange all

that for him and he wasn't to worry about a thing. But meanwhile

there was work to do: in his best handwriting Seldon was to write

a note for his mother and leave it on the kitchen table, a note telling

her that he was going to be at the Mawhinneys' for the night and

leaving the Mawhinneys' phone number for her. He was also to tell

her in the note to call Mrs. Roth collect in Newark the moment
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that she got in. Then Seldon was to sit in the living room and wait

there until he heard Mr. Mawhinney outside blowing the horn,

then he was to turn off all the lights in the house . .

.

She took him through each stage of his departure and then, at

what financial expense I couldn't begin to calculate, she continued

to stay on the line until he'd done what she'd directed him to do

and had come back to the phone to tell her that he'd done it, and

still she didn't hang up or stop reassuring him about everything

until at last Seldon shouted, "It's him, Mrs. Roth! He's blowing the

horn!" and my mother said, "Okay, good, but calmly now, Seldon,

calmly—take your bag, turn out the lights, don't forget to lock the

door on the way out, and tomorrow morning, bright and early,

you're going to see your mother. Now, good luck, dear, and don't

run, and—Seldon? Seldon, hang up the phone!" But this he neg-

lected to do. In his hurry to flee as fast as he could that frightening,

lonely, parentless house, he left the phone dangling, though it

hardly mattered. The house could have burned to the ground and

it wouldn't have mattered because Seldon was never to set foot in-

side it again.

On Sunday, October 19, he arrived back on Summit Avenue. My
father, accompanied by Sandy, drove out to Kentucky to get him.

The casket containing Mrs. Wishnow's remains followed after

them by train. I knew that in her car she had been burned beyond

recognition, yet I kept envisioning her inside the casket with her

fists still clenched. And alternately envisioning myself locked in

their bathroom with Mrs. Wishnow just outside telling me how to

open the door. How patient she'd been! How like my own mother!

And now she was inside a casket, and I was the one who had put

her there.

That was all I could think on the night that my mother, like a

combat officer, led Seldon to organize his dinner and to organize

his departure and to get himself safely into the Mawhinneys'

hands. I did it. That was all I could think then and all I can think

now. I did this to Seldon and I did this to her. Rabbi Bengelsdorf
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had done what he had done, Aunt Evelyn had done what she had

done, but I was the one who had started it off—this devastation

had been done by me.

On Thursday, October 15—the day the Wheeler putsch reached

the heights of illegality—our phone rang at quarter to six in the

morning. My mother thought it was my father and Sandy calling

with bad news from Kentucky, or worse, someone calling about the

two of them, but for now the bad news was from my aunt. Only

minutes earlier FBI agents had knocked at the door of the Wash-

ington hotel room where Rabbi Bengelsdorf was living. Aunt Eve-

lyn had traveled down just the day before from Newark and so

happened to be there for the night—otherwise she might not have

known the circumstances of his disappearance. The agents didn't

bother to wait for anyone inside to open the door; the hotel man-

ager's master key obligingly opened it for them, and after present-

ing a warrant for Rabbi Bengelsdorfs arrest and waiting silently

while he dressed, they escorted him in handcuffs from the room

without a word of explanation to Aunt Evelyn, who immediately

after watching them drive off with him in an unmarked car called

my mother to ask for help. But this was hardly the time when my
mother was going to leave me in somebody else's care to travel for

five hours by train so as to assist a sister from whom she'd been es-

tranged now for months. A hundred and twenty-two Jews had

been murdered three days earlier—among them, as we had only

just learned, Mrs. Wishnow—my father and Sandy were still off on

their perilous journey to rescue Seldon, and nobody knew what

was in store even for those of us at home on Summit Avenue. The

shootout with the city police that had resulted in the deaths of

three local thugs was the worst that had happened in Newark so

far; nonetheless, its having happened around the corner on Chan-

cellor Avenue had left everyone on the street feeling as though a

wall had been pulled down that previously protected their fami-

lies—not the wall of the ghetto (which had protected no one, cer-

tainly not from fear and the pathologies of exclusion), not a wall
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intended to shut them out or to seal them in, but a sheltering wall

of legal assurances standing between them and the derangements

of a ghetto.

At five that afternoon, Aunt Evelyn showed up at our door, more

crazed than she'd been on the phone in the wake of Rabbi Ben-

gelsdorf 's arrest. No one in Washington was either willing or able

to tell her where her husband was being held, or if he was even alive

any longer, and then when she heard of the arrests of seemingly

impregnable figures like Mayor La Guardia, Governor Lehman,

and Justice Frankfurter, she had succumbed to her panic and taken

the train up from Washington. Fearful of returning alone to the

rabbi's Elizabeth Avenue mansion—fearful too that if she called

first she'd be told by my mother that she was to stay away—she'd

taken a taxi from Penn Station directly to Summit Avenue to beg

to be let in. Only a couple of hours earlier a shocking bulletin had

come over the air—the news that President Roosevelt, upon enter-

ing New York to attend an evening protest rally at Madison Square

Garden, had been "detained" by the New York police—and it was

this that had prompted my mother to leave the house and, for the

first time since I'd started kindergarten in 1938, to come pick me up

at the end of the school day. Till then she had been as willing as

everyone else on the street to abide by Rabbi Prinz's instructions

for the community to carry on as usual and to leave security mat-

ters to his committee, but that afternoon she decided that events

had now overtaken the rabbi's wisdom, and alongside a hundred

other mothers who had reached a similar conclusion, she had

turned up looking to retrieve her child when the last bell sounded

and kids began pouring out of the exit doors for home.

"They're after me, Bess! I have to hide—you have to hide me!"

As if enough of our world hadn't been turned upside down in

little over a week, there was my vibrant, haughty aunt, the wife (or

perhaps by now the widow) of the most significant personage any

of us had ever laid eyes on—there was tiny Aunt Evelyn, without

her makeup, her hair in disarray, an ogress suddenly, made as ugly
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and vulnerable-looking by disaster as by her own theatricality. And

there was my mother blocking our doorway and looking angrier

than I could ever have imagined her. Never had I seen her in such

a fury, nor had I heard her utter a curse word. I didn't even know

she knew how to.

"Why don't you go to the von Ribbentrops' to hide?" my mother

said. "Why don't you go to your friend Herr von Ribbentrop for

protection? Stupid girl! What about my family? Don't you think

that we're afraid too? Don't you think that we're in danger too?

Selfish little bitch—we're all afraid!"

"But they're going to arrest me! They'll torture me, Bessie, be-

cause I know the truth!"

"You cannot stay here! That's out of the question!" my mother

said. "You have a house, money, servants—you have everything to

protect you. We have nothing like that, nothing at all like that.

Leave, Evelyn! Go! Get out of this house!"

Astonishingly, my aunt turned to me to plead for sanctuary.

"Darling boy, sweetheart
—

"

"How dare you!" my mother shouted, and slammed the door

shut, barely missing the hand that Aunt Evelyn had helplessly ex-

tended toward mine.

The next moment she threw her arms so tightly around me that

against my forehead I could feel her heart thump.

"How will she get home?" I asked.

"The bus. It's not our concern. She'll take the bus like everyone

else."

"But what did she mean about the truth, Ma?"

"Nothing. Forget what she meant. Your aunt is not our concern

anymore."

Back in the kitchen, she buried her face in her hands and was all

at once convulsed with weeping. The responsible parental scruples

gave way, and with it the strength she rigorously employed to hide

her weaknesses and hold things together.

"How can Selma Wishnow be dead?" she asked. "How can they

arrest President Roosevelt? How can any of this be happening?"
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"Because Lindbergh disappeared?" I asked.

"Because he appeared? she replied. "Because he appeared in the

first place, a goyisch idiot flying a stupid plane! Oh, I should never

have let them go to get Seldon! Where is your brother? Where is

your father?" Where too, she seemed to be asking, is that orderly

existence once so full of purpose, where is the great, great enter-

prise of our being the four of us? "We don't even know where they

are," she said, but sounding as though it were she who was lost. "To

send them off like that . . . What was I thinking? To let them go

when the entire country . . . when . .

."

Deliberately she stopped herself there, but the trend of her

thought was clear enough: when the goyim are killing Jews in the

street.

There was nothing for me to do except watch until the weeping

had drained her to the dregs, whereupon my whole idea of her un-

derwent a startling change: my mother was a fellow creature. I was

shocked by the revelation, and too young to comprehend that there

was the strongest attachment of all.

"How could I turn her away?" she said. "Oh, darling, what, oh

what, would Grandma say now?"

Remorse, predictably, was the form taken by her distress, the

merciless whipping that is self-condemnation, as if in times as

bizarre as these there were a right way and a wrong way that would

have been clear to somebody else, as if in confronting such pre-

dicaments the hand of stupidity is ever far from guiding anyone.

Yet she reproached herself for errors of judgment that were not

only natural when there was no longer a logical explanation for

anything but generated by emotions she had no reason to doubt.

The worst of it was how convinced she was of her catastrophic

blunder, though, had she gone against her instincts, she would

have had no less reason to deplore what she'd done. What it came

down to for the child who was watching her being battered about

by the most anguishing confusion (and who was himself quaking

with fear) was the discovery that one could do nothing right with-

out also doing something wrong, so wrong, in fact, that especially
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where chaos reigned and everything was at stake, one might be bet-

ter off to wait and do nothing—except that to do nothing was also

to do something ... in such circumstances to do nothing was to do

quite a lot—and that even for the mother who performed each day

in methodical opposition to life's unruly flux, there was no system

for managing so sinister a mess.

In light of the day's drastic developments (which not even passage

of the Alien and Sedition Acts of 1798, not even what Jefferson

called the Federalist "reign of witches," remotely equaled for tyran-

nical intolerance or treachery) there were emergency meetings

called for that evening at the four local schools that together en-

rolled nearly all the Jewish pupils in Newark's elementary educa-

tion system. Each meeting was to be presided over by a member of

the Committee of Concerned Jewish Citizens. A sound truck had

come by late in the afternoon asking everyone to spread word of

the meeting among their neighbors. People were invited to bring

their children if they did not wish to leave them home alone, and

they were assured that a full-scale police mobilization throughout

the South Ward—police protection extending as far east as Freling-

huysen Avenue and as far north as Springfield Avenue—had been

promised to Rabbi Prinz by Mayor Murphy. The department's en-

tire complement of mounted police—two platoons of twelve di-

vided up and stabled in four different precincts—was to be called

out specifically to patrol the streets to the west of the Weequahic

section bordering Irvington (where, the previous night, a Jewish-

owned liquor store on the main shopping street had been burned

to the ground after being broken into and looted) and the streets

to the south bordering Union County and the towns of Hillside (in

my eyes renowned for the sizable Bristol-Myers plant along Route

22 that manufactured the Ipana tooth powder we used, where, the

day before, a synagogue's windows had been smashed) and Eliza-

beth (where my mother's immigrant parents had settled at the turn

of the century—where, most intriguingly to a nine-year-old, the

New Jersey Pretzel Factory on Livingston Street was said to hire
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deaf-mutes from the state to do the pretzel bending—and where

graves had been desecrated in the Temple B'nai Jeshurun cemetery,

just a few blocks from the Weequahic Park golf course).

Shortly before six-thirty, my mother headed quickly down the

street for the emergency meeting at Chancellor Avenue School. I

remained at home, delegated by her to answer the phone and to ac-

cept the charges should my father call from the road. The Cucuz-

zas had promised her that they would look after me until she re-

turned home, and, indeed, even as she was descending the stairs,

Joey was climbing them, three at a time, dispatched by Mrs. Cu-

cuzza to keep me company while I waited—in vain, as it turned

out—for the long-distance call informing us that my father and

my brother were both all right and would soon be arriving home

with Seldon. Because under martial law the Army had comman-

deered the facilities of Bell Telephone for military use, the long-

distance services still open to civilians were jammed, and forty-

eight hours had passed since we'd last heard anything from my
father.

As the Newark-Hillside line ran only a couple of hundred yards

south of our house, it was possible that night, even with the win-

dows closed, to find reassurance of sorts in the loud clattering of

the police horses as they paraded up and down the Keer Avenue

hill just around the corner. And when I threw open my bedroom

window and leaned out over the darkening alleyway to listen, I

could manage to hear them, if only faintly, when they sauntered

on a ways to where Summit Avenue petered out and became

Hillside's Liberty Avenue. Liberty ran through Hillside to Route

22, which proceeded westward into Union and from there swept

southward into the vast Christian unknown of those authenti-

cally Anglo-Saxon-sounding towns of Kenilworth, Middlesex, and

Scotch Plains.

These weren't the suburbs of Louisville, but they were farther

west than I'd ever been, and though you had to traverse another

three New Jersey counties just to reach the eastern border of Penn-

sylvania, on the night of October 15 I was able to alarm myself with
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a nightmarish vision of America's anti-Semitic fury roaring east-

ward through the pipeline of 22 and surging from 22 into Liberty

Avenue and pouring from Liberty Avenue straight into our Sum-

mit Avenue alleyway and on up our back stairs like the waters of a

flood had it not been for the sturdy barrier presented by the gleam-

ing bay haunches of the horses of the Newark police force, whose

strength and speed and beauty Newark's preeminent rabbi, the

nobly named Prinz, had caused to materialize at the end of our

street.

As was to be expected, Joey could hear next to nothing of what

was going on outdoors, and so took to running from room to

room, peering out of windows at either end of the house to try to

get a glimpse of the anatomy of at least one of the horses—horses

of a bloodline with limbs much longer, muscled torsos much slim-

mer, skulls elongated and much more exquisite than those of the

inelegant orphanage plowhorse that had kicked my head in—and

also to catch sight of the uniformed cops, each with two rows of

brass buttons shining down the length of his double-breasted,

snug-fitting tunic and a holstered pistol riding one hip.

Several years earlier my father had taken Sandy and me to Wee-

quahic Park one Sunday morning to toss horseshoes at the public

pitch, and a mounted policeman went racing across the park in

pursuit of somebody who'd snatched a woman's purse—a moment

in Newark out of the court of King Arthur. It was days before the

thrill wore off and I could stop being stirred up by the gallantry of

it all. They recruited the most supple and athletic of the cops to

train as mounted policemen, and a small kid could be mesmerized

just watching one who'd been lazing majestically down the street

stop to write a parking ticket and then lean way over in the saddle

so as to place the ticket under the car's windshield wiper, a physi-

cal gesture, if ever there was one, of magnificent condescension to

the machine age. At the city's famous Four Corners there were

mounted patrol posts each facing a different point of the compass,

and on a Saturday lots of kids were taken downtown to see the

horses on duty there and to pet their noseless noses and to feed
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them sugar cubes and to learn that each policeman up on a horse

was worth four men on foot and, of course, to ask the usual ques-

tions of the mounted cops, such as "What's his name?" and "Is the

horse real?" and "What's his foot made out of?" Sometimes you

might see a police horse tied up at the side of a busy downtown

street, undisturbed and calm as could be beneath the blue and

white saddlecloth marked with the insignia NP, a gelding well over

six feet high and weighing a thousand pounds, with a menacingly

long nightstick belted to his flank and looking as blase as the most

gorgeous movie star while the policeman who had just dismounted

stood nearby in his deep blue jodhpurs and high black boots, his

pornographic leather holster molded perfectly in the engorged

shape of the male genitalia, indifferent to injury amid the pande-

monium of honking cars and trucks and buses and smartly signal-

ing with his arms so as to restore a smooth flow of traffic to the

city. These were the cops with a talent for everything—even, to

my father's chagrin, for galloping into a strike crowd and sending

picketers flying—and that they were so very close by looking so

glamorously heroic helped to shore up my nerves for the calamity

to come.

In the living room Joey took off his hearing aid and presented it

to me, gave it to me, incomprehensibly shoved it at me—the ear-

piece along with the black microphone case, the battery, and all its

wires. I didn't know why he thought I should want it, particularly

on a night like this, but there the whole contraption was, cradled

in the palms of my two hands and, if possible, looking more grue-

some than it did when he wore it. I didn't know whether he ex-

pected me now to interrogate him about it or to admire it or to

try to disassemble and fix it. It turned out that he wanted me to

wear it.

"Put it on," he told me in his hollow, honking voice.

"Why?" I shouted. "It's not going to fit me."

"It don't fit nobody," he said. "Put it on."

"I don't know how," I complained in my loudest voice, and so
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Joey clipped the microphone case to my shirt and dropped the bat-

tery into my pants pocket and, after he checked all the wiring, left

it to me to insert the molded earpiece. I did so by closing my eyes

and pretending it was a seashell and that we were down the shore

and he wanted me to listen to the roar of the ocean . . . but I had to

suppress the heaves when I managed to jiggle it into place, still

stickily warm from the interior of his ear.

"Okay, now what?"

Whereupon he reached over and, as though it were the switch to

the electric chair he was throwing and I were Public Enemy Num-

ber One, he gleefully turned the dial at the center of the micro-

phone case.

"I don't hear anything," I told him.

"Wait'll I louden it."

"Is wearing this thing going to make me deaf?" and I saw myself

made both deaf and dumb, and trapped in Elizabeth for the rest of

my life bending pretzels in the New Jersey Pretzel Factory.

He laughed heartily at my saying that, though I hadn't meant it

as a joke.

"Look," I said, "I don't want to do this. Not now. There's a lot

going on outside that's not so great, you know."

But he was oblivious of what was not so great, either because he

was Catholic and had nothing to worry about or simply because he

was irrepressible Joey.

"You know what the crook said who sold it? He ain't even a doc-

tor," Joey told me, "but he gives me the bullshit test anyway. He

takes his pocket watch out and he holds it right up to my ear and

he says to me, 'Can you hear the watch tick, Joey?' and I can hear a

little, and so he starts backing away, and he says, 'Can you hear it

now, Joey?' and I can't, I can't hear nothing, and so he writes some

numbers down on a piece of paper. Then he takes two half-dollars

out of his pocket and it's the same thing. He clicks them by my ear,

clicks them together, and he says, 'Can you hear the coins click,

Joey?' and then he starts walking away again, and I see him click-
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ing them, but I can't hear nothing no more. 'The same,' I tell him

—

and so he writes that down. Then he looks at what he wrote down,

looks real real hard, then he takes this tin piece of shit out of a

drawer. He puts it on me, all the pieces, and he tells my father, 'Your

boy is going to hear the grass growing, that's how good this model

is,' " and with that Joey began to turn the dial again until what I

heard was water running into a bathtub—and I was the bathtub.

Then he spun it vigorously—and there was thunder.

"Cut it out!" I cried. "That's enough!" but Joey was joyfully leap-

ing about, and so I reached up and yanked the earpiece out of my
ear and was derailed for the moment thinking that, on top of

Mayor La Guardia's being under arrest and President Roosevelt's

being under arrest and even Rabbi Bengelsdorf's being under ar-

rest, the new boy downstairs wasn't going to be any more of a pic-

nic than the one before him had been, and this was when I deter-

mined to run away again. I was still too much of a fledgling with

people to understand that, in the long run, nobody is a picnic and

that I was no picnic myself. First I couldn't stand Seldon down-

stairs and now I couldn't stand Joey downstairs, and I determined

then and there to run away from both of them. I would run away

before Seldon got here, I would run away before the anti-Semites

got here, I would run away before Mrs. Wishnow's body got here

and there was a funeral that I had to go to. Under the protection of

the mounted police, I would run away that very night from every-

thing that was after me and everything that hated me and wanted

to kill me. I would run away from everything I'd done and every-

thing I hadn't done, and start out fresh as a boy nobody knew. And

I realized, all at once, where to run away to—to Elizabeth, to the

pretzel factory. I'd tell them in writing that I was a deaf-mute.

They'd give me a job making pretzels, and I'd never speak and I'd

pretend not to hear, and nobody would find out who I was.

Joey said, "You know about the kid who drank the horse's

blood?"

"What horse's blood?"

346



PERPETUAL FEAR

"St. Peter's horse. This kid, he got in at night, into the farm, and

drank the horse's blood. They're looking for him."

"Who is?"

"The guys. Nick. Those guys. The older guys."

"Who's Nick?"

"One of the orphans. He's eighteen. The kid that did it's a Jew

like you. They know for sure he's a Jew, and they're going to find

him."

"How come he drank the horse's blood?"

"Jews drink blood."

"You don't know what you're talking about. I don't drink blood.

Sandy doesn't drink blood. My parents don't drink blood. Nobody

I know drinks blood."

"This kid does."

"Yeah? And what's his name?"

"Nick don't know yet. But they're looking for him. Don't worry,

they'll get him."

"And what will they do then, Joey? Drink his blood? Jews dont

drink blood. Saying that is crazy." I handed his hearing aid back to

him—thinking that I could now add Nick to everything else I was

having to flee—and soon Joey began racing from window to win-

dow again, trying to get a look at the horses, until, when he could

no longer bear being out of range of a spectacle comparable in his

mind to Buffalo Bill's Wild West Show coming to town and rais-

ing the big top in front of our house, he upped and flew out the

door and that was the last I saw of him that night. There was ru-

mored to be a police horse in Newark who munched on chewing

tobacco, like the cop who rode him, and who was able to add num-

bers by tapping his right front hoof, and Joey later claimed that

he'd seen him there on our block, a horse from the Eighth Precinct

called Ned, who let kids swing from his tail without kicking out at

them with his hind legs. And maybe he did meet the fabled Ned,

and maybe that had made it all worth it. Nonetheless, for desert-

ing me that night, for never returning, for succumbing to his love
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of excitement rather than obeying his mother's orders, Joey was

soundly punished when his father got home from work the fol-

lowing morning, his horselike haunches thrashed mercilessly with

the black strap off the night watchman's time clock.

Once Joey had disappeared, I double-locked the door behind

him and would have turned on the radio to distract me from my
worries if I hadn't been afraid of yet another bulletin interrupting

a regularly scheduled program and relaying to me, all by myself,

even more horrible news than had been coming at us throughout

the day. It wasn't long before I started thinking again about run-

ning away to the pretzel factory. I remembered the article about the

factory that had appeared in the Sunday Call about a year before

and that I'd cut out to bring to school for a report I had to make

on a New Jersey industry. In the article the owner, a Mr. Kuenze,

had been quoted as debunking the idea, prevalent apparently

throughout the world, that it took years to teach somebody to be-

come a pretzel maker. "I can teach them overnight," he said, "if they

can be taught." A lot of the article had been about a controversy

over the need for salt on a pretzel. Mr. Kuenze claimed that salt on

the outside was unnecessary and that he put it on only "to satisfy

the trade." The important thing, he said, was to put salt in the

dough, which he alone did, of all the pretzel makers in the state.

The article said that Mr. Kuenze had one hundred employees, a

good many deaf-mutes among them but also "boys and girls who

work after school."

I knew which bus went by the pretzel factory—it was the same

one that Earl and I had taken on the afternoon we'd followed

home to Elizabeth the Christian who Earl had spotted as a fairy

just in the nick of time. I'd have to pray that the fairy wouldn't be

on the same bus—if by chance he was, I'd get off and take the next

one. What I'd have to have with me was a note, a note this time

not from Sister Mary Catherine but from a deaf-mute. "Dear Mr.

Kuenze. I read about you in the Sunday Call I want to learn to

make pretzels. I'm sure I can be taught overnight. I am deaf and

dumb. I am an orphan. Will you give me a job?" And I signed it
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"Seldon Wishnow." I couldn't for the life of me think of another

name.

I needed a note, and I needed clothes. I had to look to Mr.

Kuenze like a kid he could trust, and I couldn't turn up without

clothes. And this time I needed a plan, what my father called "a

long-range plan." It came to me immediately: my long-range plan

would be to save enough of the money I earned at the pretzel fac-

tory to buy a one-way train ticket to Omaha, Nebraska, where Fa-

ther Flanagan ran Boys Town. I knew about Boys Town and Father

Flanagan—as did every boy in America—from the movie with

Spencer Tracy, who won an Academy Award for playing the famous

priest and then donated his Oscar to the real Boys Town. I was five

when I saw it at the Roosevelt with Sandy on a Saturday afternoon.

Father Flanagan took in boys from the street, some of them already

thieves and little gangsters, and brought them out to his farm,

where they were fed and clothed and received an education and

where they played baseball and sang in a choir and learned to be-

come good citizens. Father Flanagan was father to all of them, re-

gardless of race or creed. Most of the boys were Catholic, some

Protestant, but a few needy Jewish boys lived on the farm as well

—

this I knew from my parents, who, like thousands of other Ameri-

can families who'd seen the movie and wept, made an annual ecu-

menical contribution to Boys Town. Not that I'd identify myself as

Jewish once I reached Omaha. I'd say—speaking aloud at long

last—that I didn't know what I was or who. That I was nothing and

nobody—just a boy and nothing more, and hardly the person re-

sponsible for the death of Mrs. Wishnow and the orphaning of her

son. Let my family raise her son as their son from here on out. He

could have my bed. He could have my brother. He could have my
future. I'd make my life with Father Flanagan in Nebraska, which

was even farther from Newark than Kentucky.

Suddenly I thought of another name and rewrote the note, sign-

ing it "Philip Flanagan." Then I started for the cellar to get the card-

board suitcase in which I'd hidden Seldon's stolen clothes before

running away the first time. This time I'd pack the suitcase with my
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own clothes and in my pocket carry the miniature pewter musket

that I had bought at Mount Vernon and used to slice open the en-

velopes from the stamp company back when I still owned a serious

collection and was getting mail. Its bayonet measured barely an

inch in length, but leaving home for good I would need something

for protection, and a letter opener was all I had.

Minutes later, descending the stairs with a flashlight, I was able

to derive the strength to keep my legs from collapsing by realizing

that this was the last occasion I'd ever have to go down into that

cellar and confront the wringer or the alley cats or the drains or the

dead. Or that dank, befouled wall facing the street on which one-

legged Alvin had once spattered his grief.

It wasn't cold enough yet for us to start burning coal, and when,

from the foot of the cellar stairs, I turned my flashlight on the ash-

colored hulk of the fireless furnaces they looked to me like those

ostentatious burial vaults where, for all the good it does them, the

rich and mighty inter themselves. I stood there hoping that the

ghost of Seldon's father would have gone off to Kentucky (perhaps

unseen in the trunk of my father's car) to fetch his dead wife but

understanding full well that he hadn't, that his business as a ghost

was here with me—that his spectral heart seethed with curses, and

all of them for me. "I didn't mean for them to move," I whispered.

"That was a mistake. I'm not who's really responsible. I didn't

mean to make Seldon the target."

I was prepared, of course, for the silence that inevitably sur-

rounded my pleading utterances to the merciless dead, and in-

stead heard my name pronounced in response—and by a woman!

From beyond the furnaces, a woman moaning my name! Dead

only hours and already back to begin haunting me for the rest of

my life!

"I know the truth," she said, and there, emerging like an oracu-

lar priestess out of the Delphi of our storage bin, came my aunt.

"They're after me, Philip," Aunt Evelyn said. "I know the truth, and

they're going to kill me!"
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Because she had to use the toilet and to eat something—because I

didn't know what I could do other than to give my aunt whatever

she needed—I had no choice but to bring her back upstairs with

me. I sliced a piece of bread from the half a loaf that was left from

dinner, buttered it, poured her a glass of milk, and, after she'd gone

to the bathroom—and I'd pulled the kitchen shades so that no-

body could see in from across the way—she came into the kitchen

and feverishly gobbled everything down. Her coat and her purse

were in her lap and she was still wearing her hat, and I hoped that

as soon as she'd had enough to eat, she'd get up and go home so

that I could go down and get the suitcase, pack it, and run away be-

fore my mother returned from the meeting. But once she'd eaten

she began to babble, repeating again and again that she knew the

truth and because of that they were going to kill her. They'd called

out the mounted police, she informed me, to find where she was

hiding.

In the silence that followed that startling remark—which, in

those circumstances, when suddenly there were no longer any pre-

dictable happenings, I was enough of a child to almost believe—we

followed the audible progress of a single horse prancing up the

block toward Chancellor Avenue. "They know I'm here," she said.

"They don't, Aunt Evelyn," but the words had no hold on me as

I spoke them. '7 didn't know you were here."

"Then why did you come looking for me?"

"I didn't. I was looking for something else. The police are out-

side," I told her, convinced that I was deliberately lying even while

speaking as earnestly as I could, "the police are outside because of

the anti-Semitism. They're patrolling the streets to protect us."

She smiled the smile reserved for trusting souls. "Tell me an-

other one, Philip."

Now nothing that I knew coincided with anything either of us

was saying. The shadow of her madness had crept over me with-

out my as yet understanding that while hiding in our storage bin

—or perhaps earlier than that, while watching the FBI take the

rabbi away in handcuffs—she had indeed lost her mind. Unless, of
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course, she'd already begun hopelessly slipping into insanity the

night at the White House when she danced with von Ribbentrop.

That was to be my father's theory—that long before the rabbi's ar-

rest, when Bengelsdorf was astonishing all of Jewish Newark with

the unseemliness of how high he had climbed in the president's es-

teem, she'd abandoned herself to the same credulity that had trans-

formed the entire country into a madhouse: the worship of Lind-

bergh and his conception of the world.

"Do you want to lie down?" I asked, dreading that she would say

yes. "Do you need to rest? Do you want me to call the doctor?"

Here she took my hand so firmly that her fingernails bit into my
flesh. "Philip dearest, I know everything"

"Do you know what happened to President Lindbergh? Is that

what you mean?"

"Where is your mother?"

"At school. At a meeting."

"You'll bring me food and water, darling boy."

"I will? Sure. Where?"

"To the cellar. I can't drink from the laundry sink. Someone will

find me."

"You don't want that," I said, thinking immediately of Joey's

grandmother and the fiery breath of madness that wafted from her.

"I'll bring everything." But having promised her that, I couldn't

possibly run away.

"Would you happen to have an apple?" asked Aunt Evelyn.

I opened the refrigerator. "No, no apple. We're out of apples. My
mother hasn't been able to do much shopping. But there's a pear,

Aunt Evelyn. You want that?"

"Yes. And another piece of bread. Make another piece of bread."

Her voice kept changing. Now she sounded as though we were

doing nothing more than getting ready for a picnic, making the

best of what we had on hand to take to Weequahic Park to eat by

the lake under a tree, as though the events of the day were as unim-

portant to us as probably they were to everybody else in America:

a minor nuisance to the Christians, if that. As there were more than
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thirty million Christian families in America and only about a mil-

lion Jewish families, why, really, should it bother them?

I cut a second slice from the loaf for her to take down to the cel-

lar and smeared it extra heavily with butter. If asked later about the

bread missing from the loaf, I'd say that Joey ate it, that and the

pear, before he ran off to see the horses.

When she got home to learn that my father hadn't called, my
mother was unable to hide her response. Forlornly she looked at

the kitchen clock, remembering perhaps the time that it used to be

at this hour: bedtime, when all that was required was for the chil-

dren to wash their faces and brush their teeth for the day dense

with fulfillable duties to be rounded off to the satisfaction of all.

Now that was nine o'clock—or so we'd been led to believe by that

wholly convincing, immutable lifelikeness that now turned out to

have been a sham.

And the day in, day out routine of school—was that a sham

too, a cunning deception perpetrated to soften us up with rational

expectations and foster nonsensical feelings of trust? "Why no

school?" I asked when she told me that tomorrow we'd have the

day off. "Because," my mother replied, making recourse to the col-

orless formulation suggested to the parents in order for them to be

truthful without frightening the children unduly, "the situation has

further deteriorated." "What situation?" I asked. "Our situation."

"Why? What happened now?" "Nothing happened. It's just better

that you children stay home tomorrow. Where is Joey? Where is

your friend?" "He ate some bread, and he took the pear, and he left.

He took the pear out of the refrigerator and ran outside. He went

to see the horses." "And you're sure that no one phoned?" she asked,

simply too exhausted to be angry with Joey for letting her down at

a moment like this. "I want to know why there's no school, Ma."

"Must you know tonight?" "Yes. Why can't I go to school?" "Well

. . . it's because there may be a war with Canada." "With Canada?

When?" "No one knows. But it's best if you all stay home until we

see what's going on." "But why are we going to war with Canada?"
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"Please, Philip, I can't take much more tonight. I've told you every-

thing I know. You insisted and I told you. Now we just have to wait.

We have to wait and see like everyone else." And then, as if the un-

known whereabouts of my father and brother hadn't given rein to

her worst imaginings—which was that we two were now, like the

Wishnows, just a widow and her son—she said (trying doggedly to

follow the protocol of the old nine o'clock), "I want you to wash up

and go to bed."

Bed—as though as a place of warmth and comfort, rather than

an incubator for dread, bed still existed.

War with Canada was far less of an enigma to me than what

Aunt Evelyn was going to use for a toilet during the night. As best

I could understand, the United States was at last entering into the

worldwide war, not on the side of England and the British Com-

monwealth, whom everyone had expected we would support while

FDR was president, but on the side of Hitler and Hitler's allies,

Italy and Japan. Moreover, two full days had passed since we had

heard from my father and Sandy, and for all we knew they had

been killed as horribly as Seldon's mother by the rioting anti-Sem-

ites; there was, in addition, to be no school tomorrow, suggesting

to me that there might never be school again if President Wheeler

was now to inflict on us the laws we knew to have been imposed by

the Nazis on the Jewish children of Germany. A political catastro-

phe of unimaginable proportions was transforming a free society

into a police state, but a child is a child, and all I could think about

in my bed was that when the time came to move her bowels, Aunt

Evelyn would have to do it on our storage bin floor. This was the

uncontrollable event that weighed on me in lieu of everything else,

that loomed over me like the embodiment of everything else, and

that blotted out everything else. The most negligible danger of all,

and it came to assume such momentous significance that around

midnight I tiptoed into the bathroom and at the back of the bot-

tom shelf of the towel closet I found the bedpan we had bought for

Alvin to use in an emergency when he first got home from Canada.

I was already at the back door and ready to carry the bedpan down
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to Aunt Evelyn when my mother confronted me in her nightgown,

aghast at the picture I presented of a small boy so overwhelmed he

was going out of his mind.

Minutes later Aunt Evelyn was being led by my mother up the

stairwell and into our apartment. There's no need to describe the

disturbance this caused in the Cucuzza household or the antago-

nistic response to the frightful figure of my aunt by that frightful

figure who was Joey's grandmother—the farcical edge of suffer-

ing is familiar to everyone. I was sent to sleep in my parents' bed,

and my mother and Aunt Evelyn took over my room, where my
mother's next great task was to prevent her sister from getting up

out of Sandy's bed and stealing into the kitchen to turn on the gas

and kill us all.

The round trip of fifteen hundred miles was the adventure of

Sandy's lifetime. It was something more fateful for my father. His

Guadalcanal, I suppose, his Battle of the Bulge. At forty-one he was

too old to be drafted when, that December, with Lindbergh's poli-

cies discredited and Wheeler disgraced and Roosevelt back in the

White House, America finally went to war against the Axis powers,

so this was as close as he would ever come to the fear, fatigue, and

physical suffering of the frontline soldier. Wearing his high steel

neck brace and nursing two broken ribs and a sutured facial

wound and exhibiting a mouthful of broken teeth—and carrying

Mr. Cucuzza's extra pistol in the glove compartment for protection

against the people who'd already murdered 122 Jews in those very

regions of the country toward which the car was headed—he drove

the seven hundred and fifty miles to Kentucky stopping only to get

gas and go to the toilet. And after sleeping at the Mawhinneys' for

five hours and eating something, turned around and started back,

though now with a painful infection simmering along the length of

his suture and with Seldon, sick to his stomach and feverish in the

back seat, hallucinating about his mother and all but performing

feats of magic to do what he could to bring her back.

The trip out had taken just over twenty-four hours, but the one
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back took three times as long because of the many times they had

to stop for Seldon to vomit by the side of the road or to pull down

his pants and squat in a ditch, and because, in just a twenty-mile

radius of Charleston, West Virginia (where they went round in cir-

cles, hopelessly lost, instead of proceeding east and north toward

Maryland), the car broke down on six separate occasions in little

over a day: once in the midst of the railroad tracks, power lines,

and massive conveyors of Alloy, a town of two hundred where

enormous mounds of ore and silica surrounded the factory build-

ings of the Electro-Metallurgical Company plant; once in the

nearby little town of Boomer, where flames from the coke ovens

reached so high my father, standing after sundown in the middle

of the unlighted street, could read (or misread) the road map by

the incandescence; once in Belle, yet another of those tiny, hellish

industrial hamlets, where the fumes from the Du Pont ammonia

plant almost knocked them flat when they got out of the car to lift

the hood and try to figure out what was wrong; again in South

Charleston, the city that looked to Seldon like "a monster" because

of the steam and the smoke wreathing the freight yards and the

warehouses and the long dark roofs of the soot-blackened facto-

ries; and twice on the very outskirts of the state capital, Charleston.

There, around midnight, in order to call a tow truck, my father had

to cross a railroad embankment on foot and then descend a hill of

junk to a, bridge that spanned a river lined with coal barges and

dredging barges and tugboats to go looking for a riverfront dive

with a pay phone, meanwhile leaving the two boys alone together

in the car just across the river road from an endless jumble of a

plant—sheds and shanties, sheet-iron buildings and open coal

cars, cranes and loading booms and steel-frame towers, electric

ovens and roaring forges, squat storage tanks and high cyclone

fences—a plant that was, if you believed the sign the size of a bill-

board, "The World's Biggest Manufacturer of Axes, Hatchets, and

Scythes."

That factory brimming with sharpened blades dealt the final
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blow to the little that was left of Seldon's equilibrium—by morn-

ing he was screaming that he was going to be scalped by the Indi-

ans. And oddly he was on to something: an analogy could be made,

even if one weren't delirious, to the uninvited white settlers who

first poured through the Appalachian barrier into the favorite

hunting grounds of the Delaware and Algonquin tribes, except that

instead of alien, strange-looking whites affronting the local inhab-

itants with their rapaciousness, these were alien, strange-looking

Jews provocative merely by their presence. This time around,

though, those violently defending their lands from usurpation and

their way of life from destruction weren't Indians led by the great

Tecumseh but upright American Christians unleashed by the act-

ing president of the United States.

It was by then October 15—the very Thursday when Mayor La

Guardia was arrested in New York, when the First Lady was incar-

cerated at Walter Reed, when FDR was "detained" along with the

"Roosevelt Jews" alleged to have masterminded the kidnapping of

Lindbergh pere, when Rabbi Bengelsdorf was arrested in Washing-

ton and Aunt Evelyn went to pieces in our storage bin. On that

same day my father and Sandy were searching the West Virginia

mountains for the county's one licensed physician (as opposed to

the licensed barber, who'd already offered his services), to try to get

him to give Seldon something to quiet him down. The man they

found on a rural dirt road was over seventy and reeking of whiskey,

a good, kind, spry old "Doc" who ran a country clinic out of a lit-

tle frame house where the patients who lined up waiting their turn

on the front porch were, as Sandy later described them to me, the

raggediest-looking bunch of white people he had ever seen. The

doc figured Seldon's delirium stemmed mainly from dehydration

and directed Seldon to spend an hour taking down ladle after ladle

of water from the well out near the creekbed behind the house.

He also drained the pus from my father's infected face to prevent

blood poisoning, which in those days, when antibiotics were just

discovered and not widely available, would probably have spread
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through his system and killed him before he made it home. The old

guy displayed less talent stitching the wound back up than he had

in diagnosing the incipient septicemia, with the result that for the

rest of his life my father looked as though he'd sustained a dueling

scar while a student at Heidelberg. Afterward it seemed not simply

a sign of the contingencies of that trip but, to me, the imprint of

his insane stoicism. When finally he reached Newark he was so de-

pleted by fever and chills—and a racking cough no less alarming

than Mr. Wishnow's—that Mr. Cucuzza took him straight from

our kitchen, where he'd fainted at the dinner table, and once again

to the Beth Israel Hospital, where he very nearly died from pneu-

monia. But there was no way of stopping him until Seldon was

saved. My father was a rescuer and orphans were his specialty. A
displacement even greater than having to move to Union or to

leave for Kentucky was to lose one's parents and be orphaned. Wit-

ness, he would tell you, what had happened to Alvin. Witness what

had happened to his sister-in-law after Grandma had died. No one

should be motherless and fatherless. Motherless and fatherless you

are vulnerable to manipulation, to influences—you are rootless

and you are vulnerable to everything.

Sandy in the meantime perched on the railing of the clinic's

front porch sketching the patients, one of them a thirteen-year-

old girl named Cecile. These were the years when my precocious

brother was three different boys in the course of twenty-four

months, the years when, for all his unflappability, he could seem to

do nothing satisfactory even by excelling: my parents didn't like it

when he went to work for Lindbergh and became Aunt Evelyn's or-

atorical boy wonder and New Jersey's leading authority on tobacco

farming, they didn't like it when he left Lindbergh for the girls and

overnight became the neighborhood's youngest Don Juan, and

now, having volunteered to guide my father a quarter of the way

across the continent to the Mawhinney farm—and hoping by an

exhibition of genuine bravery to recapture his prestige as the older

son and reenter the family from which he'd been torn away—he

virtually subverted his cause by an amusement that must have
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seemed to him wholly harmless for being "artistic": drawing nubile

Cecile. When my father—with a new bandage covering his cheek

—came out of the doctor's office and saw what Sandy was up to,

he took him by the belt of his trousers and dragged him, sketchpad

and all, clear off the side of the porch and out to the road and into

the car. "Are you crazy," my father whispered, peering furiously

down at him over his neck brace, "are you nuts, drawing her?" "It's

only her face," Sandy tried to explain, holding the sketchpad to his

chest—and lying. "I don't care what it is! You never heard of Leo

Frank? You never heard of the Jew they lynched in Georgia because

of that little factory girl? Stop drawing her, damn it! Stop drawing

any of them! These people don't like being drawn—can't you see

that? We came out to Kentucky to get this boy because they have

burned his mother to death in her car! For Christ's sake, put those

drawing things away, and don't draw any more girls!"

Finally back on the road again, they had no idea that Philadel-

phia (which my father was hoping to reach by dawn of the seven-

teenth) had been occupied by tanks and troops of the U.S. Army,

nor did my father know that Uncle Monty, indifferent to my
mother's pleading and impervious to any hardship not his own,

had fired him for not showing up at work a second week in a row.

My father chooses resistance, Rabbi Bengelsdorf chooses collabo-

ration, and Uncle Monty chooses himself.

To get to Boyle County and the Mawhinneys' they had traveled

diagonally south across New Jersey to Camden, across the Dela-

ware to Philadelphia, south from there to Baltimore, west and south

across the length of West Virginia, and then into Kentucky until, a

hundred or so miles on, they reached Lexington and, near a place

called Versailles, turned south again for Boyle County's rolling

hills. My mother tracked their trip on my encyclopedia's foldout

map of the forty-eight states and the ten Canadian provinces,

which she spread across the dining room table to look at whenever

her anxiety overtook her, while out on the road Sandy, armed with

a flashlight for the dark hours, charted their course on an Esso

road map and kept an eye out for suspicious-looking characters,
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especially when they were passing through some grim one-street

town whose name he couldn't even find on the map. Excluding the

six times that the car broke down on the way back, Sandy counted

at least another six in West Virginia when my father—who didn't

like the look of a battered truck that was following behind them

or of the pickups parked haphazardly by some roadside saloon

or of the overalled kid in the gas station who'd pumped their gas

and checked the car's front end and then spat on the ground when

he took their money—had asked Sandy to open the glove com-

partment and pass him Mr. Cucuzza's spare pistol to hold in his

lap while he drove, and each time sounding as though he, who'd

never fired a shot in his life, wouldn't hesitate, if he had to, to pulla

the trig'.

Sandy, who once he got home drew from memory his boyhood

masterpiece—the illustrated history of their great descent into the

hard American world—admitted to having been frightened just

about all the time: frightened when they passed through cities

where Ku Klux Klansmen had to be lying in wait for any Jew fool-

hardy enough to be driving through, but no less frightened when

they were out beyond the ominous cities, beyond the faded bill-

boards and the tiny filling stations and the last of the shacks where

the poorest of people in their threadbare clothes lived—dilapi-

dated timber shacks that Sandy rendered meticulously, under-

pinned at the four corners by rickety stone piles, with cutout holes

for windows and a crudely built chimney crumbling at one end

and, on the weather-worn roof, a few scattered rocks holding down

the loose shingles—and into what my father called "the wilds."

Frightened, said Sandy, speeding past the cows and the horses and

the barns and the silos without another car in sight, frightened

making hairpin turns up in the mountains without either a shoul-

der or a guardrail at the side of the road, and frightened when the

paved road turned to gravel and the forest closed around them

as though they were Lewis and Clark. And especially frightened

because our car had no radio, and they didn't know whether the
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killing of Jews had stopped or whether they might be driving

right into the thick of the country's murderous rage against people

like us.

Seemingly the sole interlude that hadnt frightened my brother

was what had so scared my father out front of the doctor's house:

Sandy's drawing a picture of the West Virginia mountain girl

whose looks had clearly gotten him all worked up. As it turned out,

she'd been exactly the age of "the little factory girl" (as the whole

country came to know her) murdered in Atlanta some thirty years

earlier by her Jewish supervisor, a married businessman of twenty-

nine named Leo Frank. The famous 1913 case of poor Mary Pha-

gan—found dead with a noose around her neck on the floor of the

pencil factory basement after going to Frank's office on the day of

the murder to collect her pay envelope—had been all over the front

pages, North and South, at about the time my father, an impres-

sionable boy of twelve who'd only recently left school to help sup-

port the family, was at work in an East Orange hat factory, obtain-

ing a first-class education there in the commonplace libel that

linked him inextricably to the crucifiers of Christ. After Frank's

conviction (on not entirely reliable circumstantial evidence that is

all but discredited today), a fellow prison inmate became a state-

wide hero by slashing his throat and nearly killing him. One month

later, a lynch mob of respectable citizens finished the job by ab-

ducting Frank from his jail cell and—much to the satisfaction of

my father's co-workers on the factory floor—hanging "the sodom-

ite" from a tree in Marietta, Georgia (Mary Phagan's hometown),

as public warning to other "Jewish libertines" to stay the hell out of

the South and away from their women.

To be sure, the Frank case was only a part of the history that fed

my father's sense of danger in rural West Virginia on the afternoon

of October 15, 1942. It all goes further back than that.

This was how Seldon came to live with us. After their safe return to

Newark from Kentucky, Sandy moved into the sun parlor and Sel-
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don took over where Alvin and Aunt Evelyn had left off—as the

person in the twin bed next to mine shattered by the malicious in-

dignities of Lindbergh's America. There was no stump for me to

care for this time. The boy himself was the stump, and until he was

taken to live with his mother's married sister in Brooklyn ten

months later, I was the prosthesis.
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Note to the Reader

The Plot Against America is a work of fiction. This postscript is intended as a

reference for readers interested in tracking where historical fact ends and his-

torical imagining begins. The facts presented below are drawn from the fol-

lowing sources: John Thomas Anderson, Senator Burton K. Wheeler and

United States Foreign Relations (dissertation presented to the graduate fac-

ulty, University of Virginia), 1982; Neil Baldwin, Henry Ford and the Jews: The

Mass Production of Hate, 2001; A. Scott Berg, Lindbergh, 1998; Biography Re-

source Center, Newark Evening News and Newark Star-Ledger; Allen Bodner,

When Boxing Was a Jewish Sport, 1997; William Bridgwater and Seymour

Kurtz, eds., The Columbia Encyclopedia, 1963; James MacGregor Burns, Roo-

sevelt: The Soldier ofFreedom, 1970, and Roosevelt: The Lion and the Fox, 1984;

Wayne S. Cole, America First: The Battle Against Intervention, 1940-41, 1953;

Sander A. Diamond, The Nazi Movement in the United States, 1924-1941, 1974;

John Drexel, ed., The Facts on File Encyclopedia of the Twentieth Century, 1991;

Henry Ford, The International Jew: The World's Foremost Problem, vol. 3, Jew-

ish Influences in American Life, 1920-1922; Neal Gabler, Winchell: Gossip,

Power, and the Culture of Celebrity, 1994; Gale Group Publishing, Contempo-

rary Authors, vol. 182, 2000; John A. Garraty and Mark C. Carnes, eds., Amer-

ican National Biography, 1999; Susan Hertog, Anne Morrow Lindbergh: Her

Life, 1999; Richard Hofstadter and Beatrice K. Hofstadter, eds., Great Issues in

American History: From Reconstruction to the Present Day, 1864-1981, vol. 3,

1982; Joseph G. E. Hopkins, ed., Dictionary ofAmerican Biography, supple-

ments 3-9, 1974-1994; Joseph K. Howard, "The Decline and Fall of Burton K.

Wheeler," Harper's Magazine, March 1947; Harold L. Ickes, The Secret Diary

of Harold L. Ickes, vol. 3, 1954; Thomas Kessner, Fiorello H. La Guardia and
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the Making of Modern New York, 1989; Herman Klurfeld, Winchell: His Life

and Times, 1976; Anne Morrow Lindbergh, The Wave of the Future: A Confes-

sion ofFaith, 1940; Albert S. Lindemann, The Jew Accused: Three Anti-Semitic

Affairs (Dreyfus, Beilis, Frank), 1894-1915, 1991; Arthur Mann, La Guardia: A
Fighter Against His Times, 1882-1933, 1959; Samuel Eliot Morison and Henry

Steele Commager, The Growth of the American Republic, vol. 2, 1962; Charles

Moritz, ed., Current Biography Yearbook, 1988, 1988; John Morrison and

Catherine Wright Morrison, Mavericks: The Lives and Battles of Montana's

Political Legends, 1997; Random House Dictionary of the English Language,

1983; Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., The Coming of the New Deal, 1933-1935, 1958,

and The Politics of Upheaval, 1935-1936, i960 (vols. 2 and 3 of The Age ofRoo-

sevelt); Peter Teed, A Dictionary of Twentieth-Century History, 1914-1990,

1992; Walter Yust, ed., Britannica Book of the Year Omnibus, 1937-1942, and

Britannica Book of the Year, 1943; Ben D. Zevin, ed., Nothing to Fear: The Se-

lected Addresses ofFranklin D. Roosevelt, 1932-1945, 1961.

A True Chronology of the Major Figures

FRANKLIN DELANO ROOSEVELT
1882-1945

November 1920. After serving as assistant secretary of the navy under

Wilson, Roosevelt runs as vice president on Democratic ticket with Gover-

nor James M. Cox of Ohio; Democrats defeated in Harding landslide.

august 1921. Stricken with polio, which leaves him badly crippled for life.

November 1928. Elected to first of two two-year terms as Democratic

governor of New York, while national ticket, headed by ex-governor Alfred E.

Smith, loses to Herbert Hoover. As governor, Roosevelt strongly establishes

himself as a progressive liberal, an advocate of government relief for Depres-

sion victims, including unemployment insurance, and a foe of Prohibition.

After landslide 1930 gubernatorial victory, becomes Democratic presidential

front-runner.

july-November 1932. Selected as presidential candidate by Demo-

crats at July convention; in November, defeats President Hoover with 57.4

percent of vote, and Democrats sweep both houses of Congress.

march 1933. Inaugurated as president March 4; with nation paralyzed

by Depression, proclaims in inaugural address that "the only thing we have

to fear is fear itself." Quickly proposes New Deal recovery legislation for

agriculture, industry, labor, and business, and relief programs for mortgage
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holders and the unemployed. Cabinet includes Harold L. Ickes, secretary of

the interior; Henry A. Wallace, secretary of agriculture; Frances Perkins—first

ever woman cabinet appointee—secretary of labor; and Henry Morgenthau,

Jr.—the country's second Jew ever to be a cabinet member—secretary of the

Treasury (to replace the ill secretary, William Woodin, on November 17, 1933).

Begins brief national radio broadcasts from White House, known as fireside

chats, and engages reporters in informative press conferences.

November 1933-DECEMBER 1934. Recognizes Soviet Union and

soon starts rebuilding the U.S. fleet, in part owing to Japanese activities in Far

East. By '34 black voters have shifted political loyalty from Lincoln's Repub-

lican Party to Roosevelt's Democratic Party in response to president's pro-

grams for the underprivileged.

1935 . Burst of reform initiatives, referred to as "second New Deal," results

in the Social Security Act, the National Labor Relations Act, as well as the

WPA (Works Progress Administration), which employs two million workers

a month. Signs first of several neutrality measures in response to unsettled

European situation.

November 1936. Defeats Kansas Republican governor Alfred M. Lan-

don, winning every state except Maine and Vermont; Democrats enlarge

congressional lead. In inaugural address asserts, "Here is a challenge to our

democracy ... I see one-third of a nation ill-housed, ill-clad, ill-nourished."

By 1937, economic recovery well under way, but economic crisis follows and,

along with labor unrest, leads to Republican congressional victories in 1938.

september-november 1938. Apprehensive over Hitler's intentions

in Europe, appeals to Nazi leader to accept negotiated settlement in dispute

with Czechoslovakia. At September 30 Munich conference, Britain and

France capitulate to German demand for Czech Sudetenland and the dis-

memberment of Czechoslovakia; German troops, led by Hitler, enter in Oc-

tober (and, five months later, conquer the entire country, granting Slovakia

independence as a German-backed fascist republic). In November Roosevelt

orders enormous increase in production of combat airplanes.

april 1939. Asks Hitler and Mussolini to agree for a period often years

to refrain from attacking weaker European nations; Hitler replies in a Reichs-

tag speech by heaping scorn on Roosevelt and boasting of German military

might.

august-september 1939. Telegrams Hitler asking him to negotiate

settlement with Poland over territorial dispute; Hitler responds by invading

Poland on September 1. England and France declare war on Hitler, and

World War Two begins.
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September 1939. European war prompts Roosevelt to seek changes in

Neutrality Act to allow Britain and France to obtain arms from U.S. When

Hitler invades Denmark, Norway, Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxembourg,

and France in first half of 1940, Roosevelt significantly increases U.S. arms

production.

may 1940. Establishes Council of National Defense and, later, Office of

Production Management, to prepare industry and armed forces for possible

war.

September 1940. Japan, at war with China and having invaded French

Indochina (and having already annexed Korea in 1910 and occupied

Manchuria in 1931), signs triple alliance with Italy and Germany in Berlin. At

Roosevelt's urging, Congress passes first peacetime conscription bill in U.S.

history, requiring all men between twenty-one and thirty-five to register for

the draft and arranging for the induction into armed services of 800,000

draftees.

November 1940. Denounced by right-wing Republicans as a "war-

monger," and campaigning as an avowed enemy of Hitler and fascism

pledged to do everything possible to keep America out of the European war,

Roosevelt wins unprecedented third term, by 449 to 82 electoral votes, de-

feating the Republican Wendell L. Willkie in an election in which national

defense and U.S. relationship to the war are major issues; Willkie carries only

Maine, Vermont, and the isolationist Midwest.

january-march 1941. Inaugurated January 20. In March Congress

passes his Lend-Lease Act, authorizing president to "sell, transfer, lend, lease"

armaments, foodstuffs, and services to countries whose defense he deems

vital to the defense of the U.S.

april-june 1941. After German army invades Yugoslavia and then

Greece, Hitler breaks joint non-aggression pact and invades Russia. In April

U.S. takes Greenland under protection; in June Roosevelt authorizes landing

of U.S. forces in Iceland and extends Lend-Lease to Russia.

august 1941. Meeting at sea, Roosevelt and Churchill draw up Atlantic

Charter of "common principles," containing eight-point declaration of peace

aims.

September 1941. Announces that Navy has been ordered to destroy

any German or Italian submarines entering U.S. waters and threatening U.S.

defense; asks Japan to begin military evacuation of China and Indochina, but

war minister, General Tojo, refuses.

October 1941. Asks Congress to amend Neutrality Act to allow arming

of U.S. merchant ships and to permit them to enter combat zones.
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November 1941. Massive Japanese striking force secretly assembles in

Pacific while negotiations with U.S. on military and economic issues appear

to continue with arrival in U.S. of Japanese envoys for "peace talks."

December 1941. Japan launches surprise attack on U.S. possessions in

the Pacific and far eastern possessions of Great Britain; after emergency ad-

dress by president, Congress unanimously declares war on Japan the next

day. On December 11 Germany and Italy declare war on the U.S.; Congress,

in response, declares war on Germany and Italy. (Casualty figures for Japa-

nese attack on Pearl Harbor: 2,403 American sailors, soldiers, marines, and

civilians killed; 1,178 wounded.)

1942. Directing the war effort occupies president almost entirely. In his

annual message to Congress he stresses increased war production, declares

that "our objectives are clear—smashing the militarism imposed by the war-

lords on their enslaved peoples." Proposes record $58,927,000,000 budget to

accommodate war expenses. With Churchill, announces creation of unified

military command in Southeast Asia. Strategy conference with Churchill in

June results in November invasion of French North Africa by Allied troops

under command of General Dwight D. Eisenhower (German army driven

from Africa seven months later); president assures France, Portugal, and

Spain that Allies have no designs on their territories. In June asks Congress

to recognize existence of state of war against fascist regimes of Romania, Bul-

garia, and Hungary, allied with Axis powers. In July appoints commission to

try eight Nazi saboteurs arrested by federal agents after landing on U.S.

shores from enemy submarine; following secret trial, two are imprisoned and

six are executed in Washington. In September, president's emissary Wendell

Willkie received by Stalin in Moscow, where he urges second military front

in Western Europe. In October president makes secret two-week tour of war

production facilities and announces objectives are being met. Asks Congress

to expand draft to eighteen- and nineteen-year-olds.

January 1943-AUGUST 1945. European war (and Hitler's concurrent

massacre of Europe's Jews and the expropriation of their property) lasts until

1945. In April Mussolini executed by Italian partisans, and Italy surrenders.

Germany surrenders unconditionally on May 7, a week after the suicide of

Adolf Hitler in his Berlin bunker and less than a month after the sudden

death, from a cerebral hemorrhage, of President Roosevelt—then in the first

year of a fourth presidential term—and the swearing in of his successor, Vice

President Harry S. Truman. War ends in Far East when Japan surrenders un-

conditionally on August 14. World War Two is over.
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CHARLES A. LINDBERGH
1902-1974

may 1927. Charles A. Lindbergh, a twenty-five-year-old Minnesota-born

stunt flier and airmail pilot, flies the monoplane Spirit of St. Louis from New

York to Paris in thirty-three hours and thirty minutes; his completing first

nonstop transatlantic solo flight makes him a celebrity around the globe.

President Coolidge awards Lindbergh Distinguished Flying Cross and com-

missions him colonel in U.S. Army Air Corps Reserve.

may 1929. Lindbergh marries Anne Morrow, the twenty-three-year-old

daughter of U.S. ambassador to Mexico.

june 1930. Charles A. Lindbergh, Jr., born to Charles and Anne Lind-

bergh in New Jersey.

march-may 1932. Charles Jr. kidnapped from family's secluded new

house on 435 acres in rural Hopewell, New Jersey; some ten weeks later, de-

composing corpse of baby discovered by chance in nearby woods.

September 1934-MARCH 1 93 5 . A poor German immigrant carpen-

ter and ex-convict, Bruno R. Hauptmann, arrested in Bronx, New York, for

kidnap and murder of Lindbergh baby. Six-week trial in Flemington, New

Jersey, characterized by press as "trial of the century." Hauptmann found

guilty and executed in electric chair April 1936.

april 1935. Anne Morrow Lindbergh publishes first book, North to the

Orient, an account of her 1931 air adventures with Lindbergh; becomes a top

bestseller and receives the National Booksellers Award as the most distin-

guished nonfiction book of the year.

December 1935-D ecem b er 193 6. Seeking privacy, Lindberghs leave

America with their two small children and, until their return in spring 1939,

reside mainly in small village in Kent, England. At the invitation of U.S. mil-

itary, Lindbergh travels to Germany to report on Nazi aircraft development;

makes repeated visits for this purpose over the next three years. Attends 1936

Berlin Olympics, where Hitler is in attendance, and later writes of Hitler to a

friend, "He is undoubtedly a great man, and I believe has done much for the

German people." Anne Morrow Lindbergh accompanies her husband to Ger-

many and afterward writes critically of the "strictly puritanical view at home

that dictatorships are of necessity wrong, evil, unstable and no good can

come of them—combined with our funny-paper view of Hitler as a clown

—

combined with the very strong (naturally) Jewish propaganda in the Jewish-

owned papers."

October 1938. Service Cross of the German Eagle—a gold medallion
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with four small swastikas, conferred on foreigners for service to the Reich

—presented to Lindbergh, "by order of the Fiihrer," by Air Marshal Her-

mann Goring at American embassy dinner in Berlin. Anne Morrow Lind-

bergh publishes second account of her flying adventures, Listen! the Wind, a

nonfiction bestseller despite her husband's growing unpopularity among Amer-

ican antifascists and the refusal by some Jewish booksellers to stock the book.

april 1939. After Hitler invades Czechoslovakia, Lindbergh writes in

his journal, "Much as I disapprove of many things Germany has done, I be-

lieve she has pursued the only consistent policy in Europe in recent years." At

request of Air Corps chief, General "Hap" Arnold, and with approval of Pres-

ident Roosevelt—who dislikes and distrusts him—goes on active duty as

colonel in U.S. Army Air Corps.

September 1939.^ journal entries after Germany invades Poland on

September 1, Lindbergh notes the need to "guard ourselves against attack by

foreign armies and dilution by foreign races . . . and the infiltration of infe-

rior blood." Aviation, he writes, is "one of those priceless possessions which

permit the White race to live at all in a pressing sea of Yellow, Black, and

Brown." Earlier in year he notes, of a private conversation with a high-rank-

ing member of the Republican National Committee and the conservative

newsman Fulton Lewis, Jr., "We are disturbed about the effect of the Jewish

influence in our press, radio, and motion pictures ... It is too bad because a

few Jews of the right type are, I believe, an asset to any country." In an April

1939 diary entry (omitted in 1970 from his published Wartime Journals) he

writes, "There are too many Jews in places like New York already. A few Jews

add strength and character to a country, but too many create chaos. And we

are getting too many." In April 1940, speaking over the Columbia Broad-

casting System, he says, "The only reason that we are in danger of becom-

ing involved in this war is because there are powerful elements in America who

desire us to take part. They represent a small minority of the American peo-

ple, but they control much of the machinery of influence and propaganda.

They seize every opportunity to push us closer to the edge." When Idaho Re-

publican senator William E. Borah encourages Lindbergh to run for presi-

dent, Lindbergh says he prefers to take political positions as a private citizen.

October 1940. In spring America First Committee founded at Yale

University Law School to oppose FDR's interventionist policies and promote

American isolationism; in October Lindbergh addresses meeting of three

thousand at Yale, advocating that America recognize "the new powers in Eu-

rope." Anne Morrow Lindbergh publishes third book, The Wave ofthe Future,

a brief anti-interventionist tract subtitled "A Confession of Faith," which
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arouses enormous controversy and immediately becomes top nonfiction

bestseller despite denunciation by Secretary of the Interior Harold Ickes as

"the Bible of every American Nazi."

april-august 19 41. Addresses ten thousand at America First Com-

mittee rally in Chicago, another ten thousand at New York rally, prompting

his bitter enemy Secretary Ickes to call him "the No. 1 United States Nazi fel-

low traveler." When Lindbergh writes to President Roosevelt complaining

about Ickes's attacks on him, particularly for accepting the German medal,

Ickes writes, "If Mr. Lindbergh feels like cringing when he is correctly re-

ferred to as a knight of the German Eagle, why doesn't he send back the dis-

graceful decoration and be done with it?" (Earlier, Lindbergh had declined

returning the medal on grounds that it would constitute "an unnecessary in-

sult" to the Nazi leadership.) President openly questions Lindbergh's loyalty,

prompting Lindbergh to tender his resignation as Army colonel to Roo-

sevelt's secretary of war. Ickes notes that while Lindbergh is swift in re-

nouncing his Army commission, he remains adamant in refusing to return

the medal received from Nazi Germany. In May, along with Senator Burton

K. Wheeler of Montana, who is seated on the platform beside Anne Morrow

Lindbergh, Lindbergh addresses twenty-live thousand at America First rally

at Madison Square Garden; his appearance greeted with cries from the audi-

ence of "Our next president!" and his speech followed by a four-minute ova-

tion. Speaks against American intervention in European war to large audi-

ences across the country throughout spring and summer.

september-december 1941. Delivers his "Who Are the War Agita-

tors?" radio speech to an America First rally in Des Moines on September

U; audience of eight thousand cheers when he names "the Jewish race" as

among those most powerful and effective in pushing the U.S.
—

"for reasons

which are not American"—toward involvement in the war. Adds that "we

cannot blame them for looking out for what they believe to be their own in-

terests, but we also must look out for ours. We cannot allow the natural pas-

sions and prejudices of other peoples to lead our country to destruction."

Des Moines speech is attacked the next day by both Democrats and Repub-

licans, but Senator Gerald P. Nye, Republican from North Dakota and staunch

America Firster, defends Lindbergh from critics and reiterates charge against

the Jews, as do other supporters. December 10 address, scheduled for Boston

America First rally, canceled by Lindbergh after Japanese attack on Pearl

Harbor and U.S. declaration of war on Japan, Germany, and Italy. Activi-

ties of America First Committee terminated by leadership, and organization

disbands.
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january-december 1942. Travels to Washington to seek reinstate-

ment in Air Corps, but key Roosevelt cabinet members strongly oppose, as

does much of the press, and Roosevelt says no. Repeated attempts to find po-

sition in aviation industry also fail, despite a lucrative association during the

late twenties and early thirties with Transcontinental Air Transport ("the

Lindbergh Line") and as highly paid consultant with Pan American Airways.

In spring finally finds work, with government approval, as consultant to

Ford's bomber development program, outside Detroit at Willow Run, and

family moves to Detroit suburb. (The September afternoon President Roo-

sevelt visits Willow Run to inspect war production projects, Lindbergh

makes it his business to be away.) Participates in experiments at Mayo Clinic

aeromedical laboratory to decrease physical dangers of high-altitude flying;

later participates as test pilot in experiments with oxygen equipment at high

altitudes.

December 1942-juLY 1943. Takes active role in training pilots for

Navy/Marine Corps Corsair, fighter plane that he helps develop for United

Aircraft in Connecticut.

august 1943. Anne Morrow Lindbergh, now mother of four children,

publishes The Steep Ascent, a novella about a dangerous flying adventure; her

first publishing failure, largely owing to hostility of reviewers and readers to-

ward the prewar politics of the Lindbergh family.

january-september 1944. After stint in Florida testing a variety of

warplanes, including Boeing's new B-29 bomber, receives government per-

mission to go to South Pacific to study Corsairs in action; once there, begins

to fly combat and bombing runs against Japanese targets from New Guinea

base, at first as observer but soon, with great success, as enthusiastic partici-

pant. Teaches pilots how to increase combat range by conserving fuel in

flight. Having flown fifty missions—and downed a Japanese fighter plane

—returns to America in September to resume work with United Aircraft's

fighter program, and family moves from Michigan to Westport, Connecticut.

FIORELLO H. LA GUARDIA
1882-1947

November 1922. Having served congressional terms representing

Lower East Side of Manhattan just before and after World War One, La

Guardia is returned to Congress and serves five consecutive terms as Repub-

lican representative for the Italian and Jewish constituency of East Harlem.
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Leads House in opposing President Harding's sales tax and denouncing his

failure to address Depression suffering; also opposes Prohibition.

November 1924. In presidential election, outspokenly supports Pro-

gressive Party candidate Robert M. La Follette rather than the Republican,

President Coolidge.

January 1931. New York governor Franklin D. Roosevelt calls gover-

nors' conference to deal with Depression problems of unemployment; La

Guardia praises him for promoting inquiry leading to labor and unem-

ployment legislation that he himself had urged unsuccessfully on President

Hoover.

1932. As a maverick Republican—and defeated lame-duck congress-

man—is chosen by president-elect Roosevelt to introduce New Deal legisla-

tion in lame-duck Seventy-second Congress after Democrats' 1932 landslide

victory.

November 1933. Running as anti-Tammany candidate, elected Repub-

lican-Fusion (and later, in addition, American Labor Party) mayor of New
York for first of three consecutive terms; sets out as activist mayor to bring

economic recovery to Depression New York by fostering public works proj-

ects and establishing and increasing public services. Denounces fascism and

American Nazis; in response to Nazis labeling him "Jew Mayor of New York,"

quips, "I never thought I had enough Jewish blood in my veins to justify

boasting of it."

September 1938. After Hitler dismembers Czechoslovakia, La Guardia

attacks Republican isolationists and takes side of FDR in growing interven-

tionist controversy.

September 1940. Though Wendell Willkie is said to be considering

him for vice presidential running mate, La Guardia again deserts Republi-

cans, as he did in 1924; with Senator George Norris forms Independents for

Roosevelt and openly campaigns for Roosevelt third term.

august-november 1940. With war looming, Roosevelt favors La

Guardia for secretary of war but chooses Republican Henry Stimson instead,

appointing La Guardia chairman of the American side of the U.S.-Canadian

Defense Board.

april 1941. Accepts unpaid position as FDR's director of civilian de-

fense while continuing to hold office as mayor of New York.

february-april 1943. Presses Roosevelt to return him to active

Army duty as brigadier general, but Roosevelt, having failed to grant him a

cabinet position or consider him for a running mate, declines, on advice of
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intimates who consider La Guardia too provocative; the disappointed mayor

returns to his "street-cleaner's uniform."

august 1943. Wartime racial strife that previously struck Beaumont,

Mobile, Los Angeles, and Detroit—where there are thirty-four deaths in June

21 riots—erupts in New York's Harlem. After nearly three days of vandalism,

looting, and bloodshed, La Guardia praised by black leaders for strong, com-

passionate leadership during riots that leave 6 dead, 185 injured, and $5 mil-

lion in property damage.

may 1945. A month after FDR's death, announces he will not run for a

fourth term; famously, before his retirement, he reads the funnies over the

radio to New York youngsters during a newspaper strike. After leaving office,

accepts directorship of UNRRA (United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation

Administration).

WALTER WINCH ELL

1897-1972

1924. Ex-vaudevillian Walter Winchell hired by New York Evening Graphic

and soon gains popularity as Broadway reporter and columnist.

june 1929. Goes to work as columnist for William Randolph Hearst's

New York Daily Mirror, a job he will keep for over thirty years. Hearst's King

Features syndicates Winchell column nationwide; it eventually appears in

more than two thousand papers. Inventor of modern gossip column natu-

rally becomes regular at New York celebrity night spot the Stork Club.

may 1930. Makes radio debut as Broadway gossip newscaster; moves on

to great popularity with Lucky Strike Dance Hour program and, in December

1932, on Sundays at nine p.m., the program for Jergens Lotion on the NBC
Blue Network. Weekly Winchell quarter hour of insider gossip and general

news soon claims radio's largest audience, and his opening gambit
—
"Good

evening, Mr. and Mrs. America and all the ships at sea, let's go to press!"

—

becomes part of American parlance.

march 1932. Begins covering Lindbergh kidnapping case, aided in his

coverage by tips from FBI chief J. Edgar Hoover; continues to cover the case

through the arrest of Bruno Hauptmann in 1934 and the trial in 1935.

February 1933. Almost alone among public commentators and among

well-known Jews, begins public attack on Hitler and American Nazis, in-

cluding Bund leader Fritz Kuhn; continues attack on radio and in column

until outbreak ofWorld War Two; coins neologisms "razis" and "swastinkers"

to ridicule the Nazi movement.
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january-march 1935. Lauded for his work covering Hauptmann

trial by J. Edgar Hoover. Hoover and Winchell subsequently trade informa-

tion about American Nazis that winds up in Winchell's column.

1937. Support in column for Roosevelt and New Deal leads to May White

House invitation and regular communication between the president and

Winchell. Feud grows between Hearst and Winchell over Winchell's public

support of FDR. Friendship develops between Winchell and New York

neighbor, mobster Frank Costello.

1940. Winchell's combined audience for column and newscast estimated

at fifty million, more than a third of America's population; his annual salary

of $800,000 places him among highest-paid Americans. Winchell steps up

attack on pro-Nazi activities with features in his column such as "The

Winchell Column vs. The Fifth Column." Strongly endorses FDR for un-

precedented third term; writes pseudonymous columns for PM attacking

Republican candidate Willkie after Hearst censors Winchell's criticism of

Willkie in Daily Mirror.

april-may 1941. Attacks Lindbergh for isolationist and pro-German

statements; warns Nazi foreign minister von Ribbentrop that America has

the will to fight, and is then attacked by Senator Burton K. Wheeler for "blitz-

krieging the American people into this war."

September 1941. After Lindbergh's Des Moines speech charging Jews

with pushing America toward war, writes that Lindbergh's "halo has become

his noose" and repeatedly attacks Lindbergh as well as Senators Wheeler,

Nye, Rankin, and others he identifies as pro-Nazi.

December 1941-F e b rua ry 1972. After America's entrance into

World War Two, Winchell's newscasts and columns deal predominantly with

war news; as lieutenant commander in naval reserve, presses FDR for assign-

ment and is called to active duty in November 1942. With end of war, turns

to far right; becomes fierce foe of Soviet Union and anti-Communist sup-

porter of Senator Joseph McCarthy. Fades into near obscurity in mid-1950s;

at his death in 1972, funeral attended only by his daughter.

BURTON K. WHEELER
1882-1975

November 19 20-novem b e r 1 9 2 2 . After defying Montana's power-

ful giant, Anaconda Copper Mining Company, as Montana state legislator

and after opposing human rights violations committed during postwar Red

Scare, Wheeler is badly defeated in 1920 run for governor, but in 1922 elected
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as Democrat to U.S. Senate for the first of four terms with the strong back-

ing of farmers and labor. Over the years, converts Montana state government

into bipartisan Wheeler machine.

february-november 1924. Chosen to head Senate inquiry into

Teapot Dome graft scandal, which leads to resignation of President Coo-

lidge's attorney general, Harry M. Dougherty, and humiliation of Coolidge's

Justice Department. Abandons -Democrats—and Democratic ticket headed

by John W. Davis—to run for vice president on Progressive Party ticket with

Wisconsin senator Robert M. La Follette. Coolidge overwhelmingly defeats

both Democrats and Progressives, though latter party polls six million votes

nationwide and nearly forty percent of vote in Montana.

1932-1937. Prior to Democratic Convention in 1932, visits sixteen states

to promote Roosevelt nomination. Despite being the first national figure to

endorse Democratic candidate and by and large sympathetic to New Deal so-

cial reform, in 1937 Wheeler bitterly opposes the president over his legislative

proposal to enlarge Supreme Court and "pack" it with New Deal supporters;

Wheeler's leadership leads to controversial bill's defeat, and aggravates per-

sonal enmity between him and the president.

1938. Wheeler's Montana machine works to undermine his Democratic

rival, Congressman Jerry O'Connell, aiding election to the House of Jacob

Thorkelson, a right-wing Republican labeled by Walter Winchell the

"mouthpiece of the Nazi movement in Congress." Thorkelson calls Winchell

a "Jewish vilifier" and files suit against him after Winchell includes Thorkel-

son in Liberty magazine series of articles called "Americans We Can Do With-

out." Congressman O'Connell, commenting on electoral activities of

Wheeler Democrats, describes Wheeler as a "Benedict Arnold to his party

and a traitor to his president."

1940-1941. Wheeler for President club formed in Montana by influen-

tial Democrats; in his home state and elsewhere, considered a formidable

contender for Democratic nomination until Roosevelt announces his candi-

dacy for a third term. In Senate, Wheeler increasingly aligned with Republi-

cans and southern Democrats against liberal Roosevelt wing of Democratic

Party. Vociferously opposes American intervention in European war. In June

1940 threatens to bolt Democratic Party "if it is going to be a war party."

Meets that month to make plans "for countering war agitation and propa-

ganda" with Charles A. Lindbergh and a group of isolationist senators; on

Senate floor, defends Lindbergh against accusations of being pro-Nazi, and

some months later, after Roosevelt publicly compares Lindbergh to a Civil
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War "Copperhead" (a northerner who sympathized with the South), calls the

remark "shocking and appalling to every right-thinking American." Speaking

over NBC radio network, proposes an eight-point peace proposal for nego-

tiating with Hitler and receives congratulatory telegram from Lindbergh.

Meets with Yale students planning to organize America First Committee and

assumes role of unofficial adviser; along with Lindbergh, becomes most pop-

ular speaker at AFC rallies. Speaks out against draft, calling Roosevelt's

peacetime conscription proposal "a step toward totalitarianism." On Senate

floor, arguing against Lend-Lease bill, says, "If the American people want a

dictatorship—if they want a totalitarian form of government and if they

want war—this bill should be steam-rollered through Congress, as is the

wont of President Roosevelt." Claims Lend-Lease, if passed, "will plow under

every fourth American boy," prompting Roosevelt to label Wheeler's remark

"the most untruthful . . . most dastardly, unpatriotic thing . . . that has been

said in public life in my generation." Publicly—and prematurely—reveals

that U.S. is sending troops to Iceland; White House, along with Prime Min-

ister Churchill, accuses Wheeler of endangering American and British lives.

Again charged with compromising military secrecy when, in November 1941,

he leaks to isolationist Chicago Tribune a classified War Department docu-

ment disclosing U.S. strategy in the event of war.

December 1941-D ecem b e r 1 946 . Following Pearl Harbor, supports

war effort, arguing, however, that America's alliance with Soviet Union aids

survival of Communist government. In 1944, claiming "Communists are be-

hind MVA," sides against liberals and with Montana Power Company and

Anaconda Copper Company in helping defeat Missouri Valley counterpart

to Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA). Subsequently loses last of Montana De-

mocratic support and is defeated in 1946 Senate primary campaign by young

Montana liberal Leif Erickson.

1950s. Practices law in Washington, D.C. Allies himself ideologically and

politically with Senator Joseph McCarthy.

HENRY FORD

1863-1947

1903-1905. First Ford automobile, the two-cylinder, eight-horsepower

Model A, designed by Henry Ford and manufactured by his newly incorpo-

rated Ford Motor Company, appears in 1903, selling for $850. Higher-priced

models appear over next few years.
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1908. Designed for rural America, Model T Ford is introduced and, until

1927, is the only model built by the company. Makes Ford the country's pre-

mier auto manufacturer, fulfilling his plan to "build a motorcar for the great

multitude."

1910-1916. With his automotive associates, establishes a manufacturing

process of sequential production and division of labor that evolves into the

continuously moving assembly line—considered the greatest industrial ad-

vance since the advent of the Industrial Revolution—which leads to mass

production of Model T. In 1914 Ford announces a basic wage of $5 for an

eight-hour day; offer extends, in fact, to only a portion of Ford work force.

Nonetheless his advocating the "Five Dollar Day" brings Ford much praise

and fame as an enlightened businessman, if not as an enlightened thinker. "I

don't like to read books," he explains. "They muss up my mind." "History," he

declares, "is more or less bunk."

1916-1919. Name put into nomination for presidency at Republican Na-

tional Convention and gains thirty-two first-ballot votes. Moves successfully

to wield absolute power over all Ford enterprises. By 1916, company produc-

ing two thousand cars a day, with a production total to date of one million

Model T's. At outbreak of World War One becomes active as pacifist oppo-

nent of war and attacks war profiteering. Announces to meeting of Ford of-

ficials, "I know who caused the war. The German-Jewish bankers. I have the

evidence here. Facts. The German-Jewish bankers caused the war." With

American entry into war, pledges to "operate without one cent of profit" in

fulfilling government contracts, but neglects to do so. At urging of President

Wilson, runs for Senate as a Democrat—though formerly identified as a Re-

publican—and is defeated in close election. Attributes his losing to Wall

Street "interests" and "the Jews."

1920. In May, Dearborn Independent—local weekly bought by Ford in

1918—prints first of ninety-one detailed articles devoted to exposing "The

International Jew: The World's Problem"; in ensuing issues, serializes the text

of the fraudulent Protocols of the Learned Elders ofZion while claiming the

document—and its revelation of a Jewish plan for world domination—to be

authentic. Circulation rises to close to 300,000 by second year of publication;

subscriptions to paper are forced upon Ford dealers as a company product,

and the strongly anti-Semitic articles are collected in a four-volume edition,

The International Jew: The World's Foremost Problem.

1920s. Five millionth Ford car produced in 1921; more than half of cars

sold in America are Model T's. Develops huge River Rouge plant and indus-

trial city in Dearborn. Acquires forests, iron mines, and coal mines to supply
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auto company with raw materials. Diversifies Ford line of cars. His 1922 au-

tobiography, My Life and Work, is a nonfiction bestseller, and the Ford name

and legend are known throughout the world. Polls show him running ahead

of President Harding in popularity, and is spoken of as potential Republican

presidential candidate; in the fall of 1922 considers presidential run. Adolf

Hitler, in 1923 interview, says, "We look to Heinrich Ford as the leader of the

growing fascist movement in America." In mid-twenties, a suit for defama-

tion filed against him by a Chicago Jewish lawyer is settled out of court, and

in 1927, he retracts his attacks on Jews, agrees to discontinue anti-Semitic

publications, and shuts down Dearborn Independent, a deficit enterprise that

had cost him close to $5 million. When Lindbergh flies the Spirit of St. Louis

to Detroit in August 1927, he meets Ford at Ford Airport and takes him in the

famous plane for his first flight. Lindbergh interests Ford in aviation manu-

facturing. The two meet afterward numerous times, and in a 1940 Detroit in-

terview Ford explains, "When Charles comes out here, we only talk about the

Jews."

1931-1937. Competition from Chevrolet and Plymouth and impact of

Depression produce large company losses despite innovation of Ford V-8 en-

gine. Poor labor relations at River Rouge plant caused by speedup, job inse-

curity, and labor espionage. Efforts by United Auto Workers to organize

Ford, along with General Motors and Chrysler, meet with violence and in-

timidation by Ford; Detroit vigilante group beats up labor organizers at

River Rouge. Ford Company's labor policies condemned by National Labor

Relations Board and considered worst in auto industry.

1938. In July, on his seventy-fifth birthday, accepts Service Cross of the

German Eagle from Hitler's Nazi government at a birthday dinner in Detroit

for fifteen hundred prominent citizens. (Same medal awarded to Lindbergh

in October ceremony in Germany, causing Interior Secretary Ickes to tell a

December meeting of the Cleveland Zionist Society, "Henry Ford and

Charles A. Lindbergh are the only two free citizens of a free country who ob-

sequiously have accepted tokens of contemptuous distinction at a time when

the bestower of them counts that day lost when he can commit no new

crimes against humanity.") Suffers first of two strokes.

1939-1940. With outbreak of World War Two joins his friend Lindbergh

in supporting isolationism and America First Committee. Shortly after Ford

is appointed to America First executive committee, Lessing J. Rosenwald,

Jewish director of Sears, Roebuck and Company, resigns because of Ford's

anti-Semitic reputation. For a while meets regularly with anti-Semitic radio

priest Father Coughlin, whose activities Roosevelt and Ickes believe Ford is
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financing. Lends financial support to the anti-Semitic demagogue Gerald L.

K. Smith for his weekly radio broadcast and his living expenses. (Some years

later, Smith reprints Ford's International Jew in a new edition and maintains

into the 1960s that Ford "never changed his opinion of Jews")

1941-1947. Suffers second stroke. Company converts to defense produc-

tion as war approaches; during war, produces B-24 bomber at huge Willow

Run facility, where Lindbergh is hired as consulting adviser. Because of illness,

Ford no longer able to run company and resigns in 1945. Dies April 1947, and

100,000 mourners view the body. Vast fortune in company stock goes mainly

to Ford Foundation, soon the world's wealthiest private foundation.

Other Historical Figures in the Work

Bernard baruch (1870-1965) Financier and government adviser. As di-

rector of War Industries Board under Woodrow Wilson, mobilized nation's

industrial resources for World War One. Member of the White House circle

during Roosevelt administrations. Appointed by Truman as U.S. representa-

tive to U.N. Atomic Energy Commission in 1946.

ruggiero "ritchie the boot" b o i ardo (1890-1984) Newark crime

figure and local rival to racketeer Longy Zwillman; his influence strongest in

the city's Italian First Ward, where he owned a popular restaurant.

louis d. brandeis (1856-1941) Born in Louisville, Kentucky, to culti-

vated immigrant Jewish family from Prague. Public interest and labor attor-

ney in Boston. Early organizer of Zionist movement in America. Appointed

by President Wilson as associate justice of Supreme Court, but only after in-

tense four-month controversy in Senate Judiciary Committee and around

the country, which Brandeis attributed to his being first Jew nominated to

the court. Served twenty-three years, until 1939.

charles e. coughlin (1891-1979) Roman Catholic priest and pastor of

the Shrine of the Little Flower in Royal Oak, Michigan. Regarded Roosevelt

as a Communist and fervently admired Lindbergh. In the 1930s, dissemi-

nated strongly anti-Semitic ideas in a weekly nationwide radio broadcast and

his periodical Social Justice, which was barred from the U.S. Mail during the

war for violating the Espionage Act and ceased publication in 1942.

Amelia earhart (1897-1937) In 1932, set transatlantic record of four-

teen hours and fifty-six minutes for flight from Newfoundland to Ireland;

first woman to make unaccompanied flights across Atlantic and across
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Pacific from Honolulu to California. Her plane lost somewhere over the

Pacific in 1937 attempt to fly around the world with navigator Frederick J.

Noonan.

meyer ellenstein (1885-1963) After careers as a dentist and a lawyer,

chosen by fellow Newark city commissioners in 1933 to be mayor of Newark.

The city's first and only Jewish mayor, served two terms, 1933-1941.

edward flanagan (1886-1948) In 1904, emigrated from Ireland to the

U.S., where he began studies for priesthood; ordained 1912. In 1917, to pro-

vide for the welfare of homeless boys of all races and religions, founded Fa-

ther Flanagan's Home for Boys in Omaha. Became national figure in 1938 be-

cause of popular film about Boys Town, starring Spencer Tracy as Father

Flanagan.

leo frank (1884-1915) Manager of Atlanta pencil factory, found guilty of

murdering Mary Phagan, a thirteen-year-old employee, on April 26, 1913;

assaulted with a knife while prisoner and later forcibly removed from jail

by local citizens and lynched, August 1915. Anti-Semitism believed to have

played important part in dubious conviction.

felix frankfurter (1882-1965) Roosevelt-appointed associate justice

of U.S. Supreme Court, 1939-1962.

Joseph goebbels (1897-1945) An early member of the Nazi Party, in 1933

became Hitler's propaganda minister and culture czar, responsible for over-

seeing the press, radio, movies, and theater, and mounting public spectacles

such as parades and mass rallies. Among the most devoted and brutal of

Hitler's associates. In April 1945, with Germany destroyed and the Russians

entering Berlin, he and his wife killed their six young children and together

committed suicide.

Hermann goring (1893-1946) Founder and first head of the Gestapo, or

secret police, and responsible for creation of the German air force. In 1940

Hitler named him as his successor, but dismissed him near war's end. Con-

victed at Nuremberg for war crimes and sentenced to death, he committed

suicide two hours before execution.

henry (hank) green berg (1911-1986) Slugging first baseman for De-

troit Tigers in 1930s and 1940s; fell two home runs short of Babe Ruth's

record in 1938. Hero to Jewish baseball fans, he was first of two Jewish play-

ers elected to baseball's Hall of Fame.
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william Randolph hearst (1863-1951) American publisher, consid-

ered the foremost proponent of the sensational, jingoistic "yellow journal-

ism" addressed to a mass audience; his newspaper empire flourished into the

1930s. Originally aligned with Democratic populists, became increasingly

right wing and a bitter enemy of FDR's.

heinrich himmler (1900-1945) Nazi leader, commander of the SS,

which controlled concentration camps, and chief of the Gestapo; in charge

of racial "purification" programs, and second in power only to Hitler. Poi-

soned himself and died after being captured by British troops in May 1945.

j(ohn) edgar hoover (1895-1972) Director of the Federal Bureau of

Investigation (originally the Bureau of Investigation, a subsidiary of the

Department of Justice), 1924-1972.

harold l. ickes (1874-1952) A progressive Republican turned Democrat,

served nearly thirteen years as Roosevelt's secretary of the interior, making

his the second-longest tenure of any Roosevelt cabinet member. A dedicated

conservationist and an active foe of fascism.

fritz kuhn (1886-1951) German-born veteran of World War One, emi-

grated to America in 1927, and by 1938, as Bundesleiter who considered him-

self the American Fiihrer, had established the German-American Bund as

most powerful, most active, and richest Nazi group in U.S., with membership

of twenty-five thousand. Convicted of larceny in 1939, denaturalized in 1943,

deported to Germany in 1945. In 1948, convicted by German denazification

court of attempting to transplant Nazism to U.S. and of having close ties to

Hitler; sentenced to ten years at hard labor.

Herbert h. lehman (1878-1963) A partner in Lehman Brothers, bank-

ing house founded by his family. Lieutenant governor of New York under

Governor Roosevelt; succeeded Roosevelt as governor, 1932-1942. New Deal

supporter and strong interventionist. As Democratic senator from New York

(1949-1957), early opponent of Senator Joseph McCarthy.

john l. lewis (1880-1969) American labor leader. In 1935, as president of

the United Mine Workers, broke with the American Federation of Labor

(AFL) to form the new Committee for Industrial Organization, which be-

came the Congress of Industrial Organizations in 1938. Initially a supporter

of Roosevelt's, backed Republican Willkie in 1940 election and resigned CIO

presidency after Willkie's defeat. Strikes by UMW during the war led to fur-

ther enmity between Lewis and the administration.

• 382 •



POSTSCRIPT

anne spencer morrow Lindbergh (1906-2001) American author

and aviator. Born to wealth and privilege in Englewood, New Jersey; her fa-

ther, Dwight Morrow, a partner in the investment firm of J. P. Morgan and

Co., the U.S. ambassador to Mexico during the Hoover administration, and

a Republican senator from New Jersey; and her mother, Elizabeth Reeve Cut-

ter Morrow, a writer, an educator, and, briefly, the acting president of Smith

College, where Morrow received an A.B. in literature in 1928. Introduced to

Charles Lindbergh the year before, while visiting her family at the ambas-

sador's residence in Mexico City. For details of Morrow's life after that meet-

ing, see True Chronology, Charles A. Lindbergh.

henry morgenthau, j r. (1891-1967) Roosevelt-appointed secretary of

the Treasury, 1934-1945.

vincent murphy (1888-1976) Meyer Ellenstein's successor as mayor of

Newark, 1941-1949. Democratic nominee for governor of New Jersey in 1943

and dominant figure in New Jersey labor for thirty-five years after his 1933

election as secretary-treasurer of state Federation of Labor.

gerald p. nye (1892-1971) Ardently isolationist Republican senator from

North Dakota, 1925-1945.

westbrook pegler (1894-1969) Right-wing journalist whose column

"As Pegler Sees It" appeared in Hearst newspapers from 1944 to 1962. In 1941

won Pulitzer Prize for expose of labor racketeering. Fierce critic of the Roo-

sevelts and the New Deal, which he characterized as Communist-inspired,

and openly hostile toward the Jews. Close supporter and friend of Senator

Joseph McCarthy, and adviser to McCarthy's investigating committee.

Joachim prinz (1902-1988) Rabbi, author, and civil rights activist, served

as rabbi of Temple B'nai Abraham, Newark, 1939-1977.

Joachim von ribbentrop (1893-1946) Hitler's chief foreign policy ad-

viser in 1933 and minister for foreign affairs, 1938-1945. With Soviet for-

eign minister Molotov signed 1939 non-aggression pact that included secret

agreement to partition Poland. Pact opened way for World War Two. Found

guilty of war crimes at Nuremberg and, on October 16, 1946, became first of

condemned Nazis to be hanged.

eleanor roosevelt (1884-1962) Niece of Theodore Roosevelt, wife of

her distant cousin FDR, and mother of their daughter and five sons. As First

Lady, made speeches for liberal social causes, lectured on the status of mi-

norities, the underprivileged, and women, spoke out against fascism, wrote
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daily syndicated column for sixty newspapers, and during World War Two

was cochair of the Office of Civilian Defense. As U.N. delegate appointed

by President Truman, supported establishment of a Jewish state, and in 1952

and 1956 campaigned for Adlai Stevenson for president. Appointed again as

delegate to U.N. by President Kennedy, whose Bay of Pigs invasion she op-

posed.

leverett saltonstall (1892-1979) Descendant of Sir Richard Salton-

stall, an original member of the Massachusetts Bay Company who arrived in

America in 1630. Republican governor of Massachusetts, 1939-1944; Republi-

can senator, 1944-1967.

gerald l. k. smith (1898-1976) Minister and famous orator, allied first

with Huey Long and later with Father Coughlin and Henry Ford, both of

whom supported him in his unrelenting hatred of Jews. His anti-Semitic

magazine, The Cross and the Flag, blamed the Jews for causing the Depres-

sion and World War Two. In 1942, polled 100,000 votes in Michigan as Re-

publican nominee for Senate. Maintained that Roosevelt was a Jew, that The

Protocols of the Learned Elders ofZion was an authentic document, and, after

the war, that the Holocaust had never taken place.

allie stolz (1918-2000) Lightweight boxer from Jewish Newark. Won 73

of 85 fights, losing two title fights in the 1940s; the first, a controversial fif-

teen-round decision, to champion Sammy Angott; the second—leading to

his retirement in 1946—a thirteenth-round knockout, to champion Bob

Montgomery.

dorothy Thompson (1893-1961) Journalist, political activist, and col-

umnist syndicated in 170 newspapers during the 1930s. Early foe of Nazism

and Hitler and bitter critic of Lindbergh's politics. Married to novelist Sin-

clair Lewis in 1928 and divorced in 1942. Opposed Zionism and supported

Palestinian Arabs in 1940s and 1950s.

david t. wilentz (1894-1988) New Jersey attorney general (1934-1944)

whose prosecution of the Lindbergh baby kidnapping case led to the convic-

tion and execution of Bruno Hauptmann. Later, influential in New Jersey

Democratic organization and adviser to three Democratic governors of the

state.

abner "longy" zwillman (1904-1959) Newark-born Prohibition era

bootlegger who was leading New Jersey mobster from 1920s to 1940s. Mem-

ber of East Coast racketeering's "Big Six," among them Lucky Luciano, Meyer
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Lansky, and Frank Costello. Extensive criminal activities exposed by Senate

Crime Committee's televised hearings in 1951. Committed suicide eight years

later.

Some Documentation

Speech by Charles Lindbergh, "Who Are the War Agitators?" delivered at the

America First Committee's rally in Des Moines on September 11, 1941. The text

thatfollows appears at www.pbs.org/wgbh/amex/lindbergh/filmmore/reference/

primaryldesmoinesspeech.html.

It is now two years since this latest European war began. From that day in

September, 1939, until the present moment, there has been an ever-increas-

ing effort to force the United States into the conflict.

That effort has been carried on by foreign interests, and by a small mi-

nority of our own people; but it has been so successful that, today, our coun-

try stands on the verge of war.

At this time, as the war is about to enter its third winter, it seems appro-

priate to review the circumstances that have led us to our present position.

Why are we on the verge of war? Was it necessary for us to become so deeply

involved? Who is responsible for changing our national policy from one of

neutrality and independence to one of entanglement in European affairs?

Personally, I believe there is no better argument against our intervention

than a study of the causes and developments of the present war. I have often

said that if the true facts and issues were placed before the American people,

there would be no danger of our involvement.

Here, I would like to point out to you a fundamental difference between

the groups who advocate foreign war, and those who believe in an inde-

pendent destiny for America.

If you will look back over the record, you will find that those of us who

oppose intervention have constantly tried to clarify facts and issues; while the

interventionists have tried to hide facts and confuse issues.

We ask you to read what we said last month, last year, and even before the

war began. Our record is open and clear, and we are proud of it.

We have not led you on by subterfuge and propaganda. We have not re-

sorted to steps short of anything, in order to take the American people where

they did not want to go.

What we said before the elections, we say again and again, and again

today. And we will not tell you tomorrow that it was just campaign oratory.
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Have you ever heard an interventionist, or a British agent, or a member of

the administration in Washington ask you to go back and study a record

of what they have said since the war started? Are their self-styled defenders

of democracy willing to put the issue of war to a vote of our people? Do you

find these crusaders for foreign freedom of speech, or the removal of cen-

sorship here in our own country?

The subterfuge and propaganda that exists in our country is obvious on

every side. Tonight, I shall try to pierce through a portion of it, to the naked

facts which lie beneath.

When this war started in Europe, it was clear that the American people

were solidly opposed to entering it. Why shouldn't we be? We had the best

defensive position in the world; we had a tradition of independence from Eu-

rope; and the one time we did take part in a European war left European

problems unsolved, and debts to America unpaid.

National polls showed that when England and France declared war on

Germany, in 1939, less than 10 percent of our population favored a similar

course for America.

But there were various groups of people, here and abroad, whose interests

and beliefs necessitated the involvement of the United States in the war. I

shall point out some of these groups tonight, and outline their methods of

procedure. In doing this, I must speak with the utmost frankness, for in order

to counteract their efforts, we must know exactly who they are.

The three most important groups who have been pressing this country to-

ward war are the British, the Jewish and the Roosevelt administration.

Behind these groups, but of lesser importance, are a number of capitalists,

Anglophiles, and intellectuals who believe that the future of mankind de-

pends upon the domination of the British empire. Add to these the Com-

munistic groups who were opposed to intervention until a few weeks ago,

and I believe I have named the major war agitators in this country.

I am speaking here only of war agitators, not of those sincere but mis-

guided men and women who, confused by misinformation and frightened by

propaganda, follow the lead of the war agitators.

As I have said, these war agitators comprise only a small minority of our

people; but they control a tremendous influence. Against the determination

of the American people to stay out of war, they have marshaled the power of

their propaganda, their money, their patronage.

Let us consider these groups, one at a time.

First, the British: It is obvious and perfectly understandable that Great

Britain wants the United States in the war on her side. England is now in a
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desperate position. Her population is not large enough and her armies are

not strong enough to invade the continent of Europe and win the war she de-

clared against Germany.

Her geographical position is such that she cannot win the war by the use

of aviation alone, regardless of how many planes we send her. Even if Amer-

ica entered the war, it is improbable that the Allied armies could invade Eu-

rope and overwhelm the Axis powers. But one thing is certain. If England can

draw this country into the war, she can shift to our shoulders a large portion

of the responsibility for waging it and for paying its cost.

As you all know, we were left with the debts of the last European war; and

unless we are more cautious in the future than we have been in the past, we

will be left with the debts of the present case. If it were not for her hope that

she can make us responsible for the war financially, as well as militarily, I be-

lieve England would have negotiated a peace in Europe many months ago,

and be better off for doing so.

England has devoted, and will continue to devote every effort to get us

into the war. We know that she spent huge sums of money in this country

during the last war in order to involve us. Englishmen have written books

about the cleverness of its use.

We know that England is spending great sums of money for propaganda

in America during the present war. If we were Englishmen, we would do the

same. But our interest is first in America; and as Americans, it is essential for

us to realize the effort that British interests are making to draw us into their

war.

The second major group I mentioned is the Jewish.

It is not difficult to understand why Jewish people desire the overthrow of

Nazi Germany. The persecution they suffered in Germany would be suffi-

cient to make bitter enemies of any race.

No person with a sense of the dignity of mankind can condone the per-

secution of the Jewish race in Germany. But no person of honesty and vision

can look on their pro-war policy here today without seeing the dangers in-

volved in such a policy, both for us and for them. Instead of agitating for war,

the Jewish groups in this country should be opposing it in every possible way

for they will be among the first to feel its consequences.

Tolerance is a virtue that depends upon peace and strength. History shows

that it cannot survive war and devastation. A few far-sighted Jewish people

realize this and stand opposed to intervention. But the majority still do not.

Their greatest danger to this country lies in their large ownership and in-

fluence in our motion pictures, our press, our radio and our government.
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I am not attacking either the Jewish or the British people. Both races, I ad-

mire. But I am saying that the leaders of both the British and the Jewish

races, for reasons which are as understandable from their viewpoint as they

are inadvisable from ours, for reasons which are not American, wish to in-

volve us in the war.

We cannot blame them for looking out for what they believe to be their

own interests, but we also must look out for ours. We cannot allow the nat-

ural passions and prejudices of other peoples to lead our country to destruc-

tion.

The Roosevelt administration is the third powerful group which has been

carrying this country toward war. Its members have used the war emergency

to obtain a third presidential term for the first time in American history.

They have used the war to add unlimited billions to a debt which was already

the highest we have ever known. And they have just used the war to justify

the restriction of congressional power, and the assumption of dictatorial

procedures on the part of the president and his appointees.

The power of the Roosevelt administration depends upon the mainte-

nance of a wartime emergency. The prestige of the Roosevelt administration

depends upon the success of Great Britain to whom the president attached

his political future at a time when most people thought that England and

France would easily win the war. The danger of the Roosevelt administration

lies in its subterfuge. While its members have promised us peace, they have

led us to war heedless of the platform upon which they were elected.

In selecting these three groups as the major agitators for war, I have in-

cluded only those whose support is essential to the war party. If any one of

these groups—the British, the Jewish, or the administration—stops agitating

for war, I believe there will be little danger of our involvement.

I do not believe that any two of them are powerful enough to carry this

country to war without the support of the third. And to these three, as I have

said, all other war groups are of secondary importance.

When hostilities commenced in Europe, in 1939, it was realized by these

groups that the American people had no intention of entering the war. They

knew it would be worse than useless to ask us for a declaration of war at that

time. But they believed that this country could be entered into the war in

very much the same way we were entered into the last one.

They planned: first, to prepare the United States for foreign war under the

guise of American defense; second, to involve us in the war, step by step,

without our realization; third, to create a series of incidents which would
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force us into the actual conflict. These plans were, of course, to be covered

and assisted by the full power of their propaganda.

Our theaters soon became filled with plays portraying the glory of war.

Newsreels lost all semblance of objectivity. Newspapers and magazines began

to lose advertising if they carried anti-war articles. A smear campaign was in-

stituted against individuals who opposed intervention. The terms "fifth

columnist," "traitor," "Nazi," "anti-Semitic" were thrown ceaselessly at any

one who dared to suggest that it was not to the best interests of the United

States to enter the war. Men lost their jobs if they were frankly anti-war.

Many others dared no longer speak.

Before long, lecture halls that were open to the advocates of war were

closed to speakers who opposed it. A fear campaign was inaugurated. We
were told that aviation, which has held the British fleet off the continent of

Europe, made America more vulnerable than ever before to invasion. Propa-

ganda was in full swing.

There was no difficulty in obtaining billions of dollars for arms under the

guise of defending America. Our people stood united on a program of de-

fense. Congress passed appropriation after appropriation for guns and

planes and battleships, with the approval of the overwhelming majority of

our citizens. That a large portion of these appropriations was to be used to

build arms for Europe, we did not learn until later. That was another step.

To use a specific example; in 1939, we were told that we should increase

our air corps to a total of 5,000 planes. Congress passed the necessary legis-

lation. A few months later, the administration told us that the United States

should have at least 50,000 planes for our national safety. But almost as fast

as fighting planes were turned out from our factories, they were sent abroad,

although our own air corps was in the utmost need of new equipment; so

that today, two years after the start of war, the American army has a few hun-

dred thoroughly modern bombers and fighters—less in fact, than Germany

is able to produce in a single month.

Ever since its inception, our arms program has been laid out for the pur-

pose of carrying on the war in Europe, far more than for the purpose of

building an adequate defense for America.

Now at the same time we were being prepared for a foreign war, it was

necessary, as I have said, to involve us in the war. This was accomplished

under that now famous phrase "steps short of war."

England and France would win if the United States would only repeal its

arms embargo and sell munitions for cash, we were told. And then a familiar
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refrain began, a refrain that marked every step we took toward war for many

months
—

"the best way to defend America and keep out of war," we were

told, was "by aiding the Allies."

First, we agreed to sell arms to Europe; next, we agreed to loan arms to

Europe; then we agreed to patrol the ocean for Europe; then we occupied a

European island in the war zone. Now, we have reached the verge of war.

The war groups have succeeded in the first two of their three major steps

into war. The greatest armament program in our history is under way.

We have become involved in the war from practically every standpoint ex-

cept actual shooting. Only the creation of sufficient "incidents" yet remains;

and you see the first of these already taking place, according to plan—a plan

that was never laid before the American people for their approval.

Men and women of Iowa: only one thing holds this country from war

today. That is the rising opposition of the American people. Our system of

democracy and representative government is on test today as it has never

been before. We are on the verge of a war in which the only victor would be

chaos and prostration.

We are on the verge of a war for which we are still unprepared, and for

which no one has offered a feasible plan for victory—a war which cannot be

won without sending our soldiers across the ocean to force a landing on a

hostile coast against armies stronger than our own.

We are on the verge of war, but it is not yet too late to stay out. It is not

too late to show that no amount of money, or propaganda, or patronage can

force a free and independent people into war against its will. It is not yet too

late to retrieve and to maintain the independent American destiny that our

forefathers established in this new world.

The entire future rests upon our shoulders. It depends upon our action,

our courage, and our intelligence. If you oppose our intervention in the war,

now is the time to make your voice heard.

Help us to organize these meetings; and write to your representatives in

Washington. I tell you that the last stronghold of democracy and representa-

tive government in this country is in our house of representatives and our

senate.

There, we can still make our will known. And if we, the American people,

do that, independence and freedom will continue to live among us, and there

will be no foreign war.
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From Lindbergh by A. Scott Berg, 1998

Peace, Lindbergh felt, could exist only so long as "we band together to pre-

serve that most priceless possession, our inheritance of European blood, only

so long as we guard ourselves against attack by foreign armies and dilution

by foreign races." He viewed aviation as "a gift from heaven to those Western

nations who were already the leaders of their era ... a tool specially shaped

for Western hands, a scientific art which others only copy in a mediocre fash-

ion, another barrier between the teeming millions of Asia and the Grecian

inheritance of Europe—one of those priceless possessions which permit the

White race to live at all in a pressing sea of Yellow, Black, and Brown."

Lindbergh believed the Soviet Union had become the most evil empire on

earth and that Western civilization depended on repelling it and the Asiatic

powers that lay beyond its borders—the "Mongol and Persian and Moor." He

wrote that it also depended on "a united strength among ourselves; on a

strength too great for foreign armies to challenge; on a Western Wall of race

and arms which can hold back either a Genghis Khan or an infiltration of in-

ferior blood . .
." (page 394)
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